



Programa de Desarrollo de las Ciencias Básicas

Área: Biología Sub-área: Bioquímica

Tesis de Doctorado

Respuestas asociadas al déficit hídrico en leguminosas: acumulación de prolina y estrés nitro-oxidativo

Lic. Santiago Signorelli

Orientador: Dr. Omar Borsani Co-orientadores: Dr. Jorge Monza Dr. F. Javier Corpas Tribunal:

Dra. Ana Denicola Dra. Madia Trujillo Dra. Sabina Vidal

Laboratorio de Bioquímica Facultad de Agronomía – Universidad de la República

2014

Agradecimientos

Les agradezco a mis padres por brindarme las herramientas necesarias para poder estudiar y formarme en esta carrera. A su vez, por la formación personal que me dieron desde chico, donde destaco que hayan resignado a sus miedos personales para permitirme vivir con libertad, depositando su confianza en mí toma de decisiones, para que me sienta responsable y pueda aprender en función de mis aciertos y errores.

A mi hermano, por ser un compañero de vida con el que puedo contar. En especial por acompañarme en los momentos de formación inicial.

A Vero, por respetar mis tiempos de estudio y trabajo. Por bancarme las distintas veces que tuve que irme unos cuantos días al exterior y por acompañarme día a día.

A mi abuelo que siempre me apoyó con el estudio y supo acompañarme en silencio durante largas tardes para que pueda estudiar en parque del plata con tranquilidad.

A todos mis familiares, tíos, primos, etc. por el afecto que me brindan.

A Ana Ramón, quién orientó mi tesis de grado y de quién aprendí muchas cosas, que en un futuro espero poder trasmitir de igual forma a mis estudiantes.

A Jorge Monza por permitirme entrar al grupo de Bioquímica y depositar su confianza para que realice mi tesis en su grupo. Por todo lo enseñado como investigador, donde destacó el apoyo que me dio en la redacción de mi primer proyecto financiado, en la cual pude aprender muchísimas cosas. Por todo lo enseñado como docente.

A Omar Borsani por también apoyar mi ingreso al grupo y darme la oportunidad de hacer la tesis en un tema muy interesante. Por incentivarme a profundizar en el campo de las especies reactivas del nitrógeno. Por demostrarme confianza al permitirme hacer todas las actividades que se me cruzaban por la cabeza.

A Javier Corpas por recibirme en su laboratorio en distintas ocasiones y enseñarme varias técnicas que son valiosas para esta tesis.

A Pedro Díaz que me acompaño con dedicación durante mis primeros meses en el Laboratorio de Bioquímica, enseñándome las distintas técnicas que se realizaban en dicho laboratorio, varias de las cuales forman parte de esta tesis.

A Juan B. Arellano por haber entendido la importancia de re-evaluar la capacidad de la prolina en la extinción del oxígeno singulete. Por dedicar de su tiempo a ello y motivar a sus colegas noruegos para que realicen las determinaciones.

A Pablo Dans por sus contribuciones con el modelado, la redacción del artículo y la buena disposición que siempre me ha mostrado.

A Esteban Casaretto por su compañía día a día en la oficina, donde compartimos varias charlas, entre mates y maratones de corrección de parciales. Por ser una persona cálida que siempre está de buen humor y con la que se puede contar.

A todos los integrantes del laboratorio que supieron compartir jornadas de trabajo, Florencia, Pamela, Martita, Mariana, Francisco, Manuel, Andrés, entre otros que han pasado por el laboratorio.

A mis amigos, que siempre están a pesar de que muchas veces no les haya dedicado el tiempo que me hubiera gustado.

INDICE

RESUMEN	4			
INTRODUCCIÓN	5			
La familia Leguminosae incluye especies de importancia agronómica				
<i>Lotus japonicus</i> es una leguminosa modelo	5			
El estrés abiótico genera diferentes respuestas en las plantas	6			
Las plantas sobreproducen ROS/RNS en condición de sequía	6			
La sequía promueve respuestas adaptativas como la foto-inhibición	8			
Los sistemas antioxidantes protegen a las plantas del daño oxidativo	10			
El exceso de ROS/RNS produce estrés nitro-oxidativo	12			
Las leguminosas acumulan prolina en respuesta a sequía	14			
La prolina: un aminoácido con múltiples funciones en plantas				
Defensa antioxidante mediada por prolina	17			
OBJETIVOS	20			
Capítulo 1. Respuestas a sequía de leguminosas	21			
I. Evaluación de respuestas a sequía y calor mediante el uso de leguminosas	21			
forrajeras con tolerancia estival contrastante				
II. Respuestas a sequía en una leguminosa modelo	57			
1. Uso de un transgénico para evaluar la funcionalidad de la prolina	57			
Materiales y Métodos	57			
Resultados y Discusión	60			
2. Estrés nitro-oxidativo inducido por sequía en L. japonicus	78			
Capítulo 2. La prolina en la protección frente al daño nitro-oxidativo	89			
I. La prolina no extingue al oxígeno singulete	89			
II. Mecanismos de reacción entre la prolina y el radical hidroxilo	94			
III. Formación de GABA como consecuencia de las reacciones Pro - OH	112			
IV. La prolina en la protección frente al daño nitrosativo	127			
CONCLUSIONES	155			
BIBLIOGRAFÍA	156			
APÉNDICE	177			

RESUMEN

La sequía afecta el crecimiento y productividad de las plantas, y a nivel celular induce ajustes metabólicos y sobreproducción de especies reactivas del oxígeno (ROS). Entre los cambios metabólicos la acumulación de prolina (Pro) es una respuesta conservada en distintas especies de plantas frente a diferentes estreses. Hasta el momento no es claro el rol de la Pro durante el estrés, aunque durante mucho tiempo se la ha considerado un osmolito compatible con actividad antioxidante.

En el capítulo 1 de esta tesis se compararon dos leguminosas forrajeras con tolerancia estival contrastante, trébol y lotus. Estas leguminosas respondieron de manera diferente en el control de la pérdida de agua, acumulación de prolina y actividad antioxidante enzimática y del fotosistema II. En lotus en condición de sequía, se indujeron las enzimas Mn-SOD y Fe-SOD y en trébol la actividad SOD total fue inferior a la de lotus. A su vez, la combinación de sequía y calor en lotus produjo descenso en la actividad del fotosistema II y degradación de la proteína D2. Esto permite suponer que el descenso de la actividad fotosintética, sin entrar en marchites permanente, puede ser una ventaja de lotus en la disipación de la energía lumínica y en la economía del agua.

En la leguminosa modelo *Lotus japonicus* se evaluó el estrés nitro-oxidativo en condición de sequía. Los resultados evidenciaron que en hojas el estrés oxidativo es mayor que en raíces, mientras que en éstas es mayor el estrés nitrosativo, donde determinamos un patrón de proteínas nitradas específico. También se identificaron dos genes *p5cs*, que participan en la síntesis de Pro, que definimos como *Ljp5cs1*, inducible por estrés osmótico, y *Ljp5cs2* constitutivo.

En el capítulo 2 se analizó la capacidad antioxidante de la Pro. Mediante estudios *in sillico* determinamos que las barreras de reacción entre la Pro y el radical hidroxilo ($^{\circ}$ OH) son entre 3 y 9 kcal/mol. A su vez propusimos un ciclo Pro-Pro, en el cual la Pro capta $^{\circ}$ OH y rinde Pro radical, que reacciona con un segundo $^{\circ}$ OH y forma P5C que por catálisis enzimática con consumo de NADPH regenera Pro. Por otro lado también demostramos que si el $^{\circ}$ OH abstrae un H del grupo NH₂⁺ de la Pro, se produce la decarboxilación de la misma, generando un precursor del ácido γ -amino butírico (GABA), compuesto que también se acumula en condiciones de estrés.

Mediante estudios *in vitro*, demostramos que la Pro no es capaz de extinguir oxígeno singulete como se consideró durante muchos años. A su vez aportamos evidencias de que la Pro es incapaz de atenuar la nitración de proteínas mediada por peroxinitrito, superóxido, óxido nítrico y dióxido de nitrógeno. Estos resultados llevan a reconsiderar el rol antioxidante que se le ha asignado a la Pro durante varios años, y contribuyen a orientar el planteo de hipótesis en cuanto a su funcionalidad.

INTRODUCCIÓN

La familia Leguminosae incluye especies de importancia agronómica

La principal fuente de proteína en la dieta humana es de origen animal y la producción ganadera se basa en pasturas naturales o granos (*feedlot*). Entre las pasturas, varias especies de leguminosas son usadas en todo el mundo como forraje debido a su capacidad de establecer asociaciones simbióticas con bacterias capaces de fijar nitrógeno y por su alto contenido de proteínas y minerales (Ca⁺² y Mg⁺²). Por esto los cultivos de leguminosas juegan un rol importante como fuente de proteínas, principalmente en regiones con suelos de baja fertilidad.

Para aumentar la productividad de las leguminosas, un aspecto a considerar es la mejora de la tolerancia a estreses abióticos. La identificación de características fisiológicas y bioquímicas capaces de aumentar la producción de leguminosas en condiciones limitantes de crecimiento es el principal objetivo de los mejoradores de plantas para la agricultura y la ganadería. En esta tesis se propone explicar algunos mecanismos de tolerancia a estrés abiótico en leguminosas.

Lotus japonicus es una leguminosa modelo

Lotus japonicus es utilizada como leguminosa modelo, por tener un genoma simple, ciclo de vida corto y contar con la secuenciación de su genoma completo (Sandal et al., 2002; Sato et al., 2001). A su vez, una serie de recursos y herramientas genéticas como ecotipos, líneas de mutantes, mapas genéticos, RIL (*recombinant inbred lines*) y EST (*expressed sequence tags*) se han hecho disponibles (VandenBosch and Stacey, 2003).

Esta leguminosa modelo está emparentada con las leguminosas forrajeras *Lotus corniculatus, Lotus uliginosus, Lotus glaber y Lotus subbiflorus* (Choi et al., 2004; Díaz et al., 2005), ampliamente utilizadas en la producción animal. Por lo expuesto *L. japonicus* es un modelo útil para comprender y mejorar especies de uso agronómico.

El estrés abiótico genera diferentes respuestas en las plantas

Las plantas se encuentran sometidas a condiciones ambientales que generan diferentes tipos de estrés, que afectan su crecimiento, desarrollo y productividad (Boyer, 1982). Entre las condiciones ambientales que pueden generar estrés abiótico se encuentra el exceso o déficit de agua, así como niveles inadecuados de salinidad, temperatura, concentración de minerales e irradiación (Bray et al., 2000).

El déficit hídrico, o sequía, se establece cuando la tasa de transpiración excede a la de absorción de agua. La habilidad para tolerar la sequía está determinada por múltiples genes de vías bioquímicas responsables de productos o procesos que mejoran la tolerancia actuando aditivamente y a veces sinérgicamente (Bohnert et al., 1995). En general, y a diferencia del estrés biótico, la tolerancia a estreses abióticos no es el resultado de la acción de un gen específico (Zhu et al., 1997).

La sequía induce cambios morfológicos, fisiológicos y bioquímicos (Lawlor and Cornic, 2002), que tienen como consecuencia la limitación del crecimiento y desarrollo de las plantas lo que puede llevar a significantes pérdidas en la productividad y calidad de granos, así como de la producción ganadera y lechera (McClaran and Wei, 2014). A nivel celular la sequía puede resultar en el incremento de la concentración de solutos, cambios en el volumen celular y alteración del potencial de agua, entre otros (Bray, 1997). Así, la habilidad de las plantas para responder y sobrevivir a la sequía depende de mecanismos que involucran la integración de respuestas celulares a través de toda la planta (Bray et al., 2000).

Las plantas sobreproducen ROS/RNS en condición de sequía

La aclimatación de las plantas a la sequía está asociada con elevados niveles de especies reactivas del oxígeno (ROS), como el peróxido de hidrógeno (H_2O_2), radical superóxido (O_2^{--}), oxigeno singulete (1O_2) y radical hidroxilo (OH) los cuales son responsables del daño oxidativo asociado al estrés (Dat et al., 2000; Smirnoff, 1993). En las plantas, al igual que en otros organismos, en las mitocondrias y peroxisomas se producen altos niveles de ROS. A su vez, en los cloroplastos también se generan

ROS, como consecuencia de la alta concentración de oxígeno producido por la actividad fotosintética y de la excitación de electrones de pigmentos por la luz (Fig. 1). En condición de déficit hídrico y/o altas temperaturas, la actividad del ciclo de Calvin disminuye, lo que previene la oxidación de NADPH y regeneración de NADP⁺. Cuando se combina la falta de NADP⁺ con alta intensidad lumínica, los electrones de las clorofilas producen ${}^{1}O_{2}$ en los centros de reacción y el flujo de electrones acumulación de ROS (Chaves et al., 2009).



Figura 1. Producción de ROS en cloroplastos. Clr, clorofila; Clr*, clorofila excitada; FC, ficocianina; Fd, ferredoxina; FSI, fotosistema I; FSII, fotosistema II; Cit, citocromo, PQ, plastoquinona. El superóxido (O_2^{-}) puede ser producido a partir del O_2 por transferencia electrónica desde la Fd reducida, un potente agente reductor. El peróxido de hidrógeno (H_2O_2) es producido por dismutación del O_2^{-} ya sea espontánea o catalizada por la SOD cloroplástica. El radical hidroxilo ($^{\circ}OH$) se genera por homólisis del H_2O_2 en presencia de luz UV-Vis, o por reacción de Fenton en presencia de Fe³⁺. El oxígeno singulete ($^{1}O_2$) es principalmente generado por transferencia de energía de clorofilas excitadas.

Por otra parte, las especies reactivas del nitrógeno (RNS) como el óxido nítrico (·NO) y sus derivados, peroxinitrito (ONOO⁻) y dióxido de nitrógeno (·NO₂), han tomado importancia en los últimos años en la biología de plantas. Se han descrito al menos siete vías biosintéticas de ·NO en plantas, pero sólo se ha logrado caracterizar los componentes moleculares y enzimáticos de una de ellas (Gupta et al., 2011).

El 'NO y el O_2^{-} se combinan rápidamente en una reacción controlada por difusión para generar ONOO⁻. Esta molécula es un potente oxidante y su ácido, el ácido peroxinitroso (ONOOH), produce espontáneamente 'OH y 'NO₂ por homólisis (Beckman et al., 1990). Varios trabajos han demostrado que las RNS también se incrementan en diversas situaciones de estrés (Begara-Morales et al., 2013; Chaki et al., 2013; Corpas and Barroso, 2013).

La sequía promueve respuestas adaptativas como la foto-inhibición

El sistema fotosintético está diseñado para absorber grandes cantidades de energía lumínica y convertirla en energía química. La energía lumínica en exceso, puede aumentar la producción de ROS que producen daño, si no se disipa de manera segura (Asada, 1999; Horton et al., 1996; Müller et al., 2001). Para esto las plantas cuentan con mecanismos de reparación y regulación complejos (Fig. 2). En la primera línea de defensa, los carotenoides juegan un rol clave al capturar (*quenching*) rápidamente el estado excitado de las clorofilas, lo que evita la formación de ${}^{1}O_{2}$. Los carotenoides no tienen la energía suficiente para formar oxígeno singulete por lo que decaen al estado basal perdiendo la energía como calor (Fig. 2).

Otra forma de protección de la estabilidad del aparato fotosintético es la foto-inhibición, definida como la inhibición de la fotosíntesis por exceso de luz (Taiz and Zeiger, 2002). La foto-inhibición es reversible en estadios tempranos, sin embargo la inhibición prolongada resulta en el desensamblaje y reparación del centro de reacción (Melis, 1999). El principal blanco de este daño es la proteína D1 que cubre parte del centro de reacción del FSII (Fig. 1). Cuando la D1 es dañada, esta debe ser removida de la membrana y remplazada por una molécula sintetizada *de novo* (Fig. 2). Se cree que las otras piezas del fotosistema son recicladas y que solo la D1 se sintetiza de nuevo (Hu et al., 2004; Ohad et al., 1984). El daño foto-inhibitorio observado es el resultado neto del balance entre el foto-daño y la reparación (Lidholm et al., 1987; Samuelsson et al., 1985).



Figura 2. Esquema del mecanismo de protección y reparación del fotosistema II. La protección del foto-daño implica dos líneas de defensa. La primera línea corresponde a la captura del exceso de excitación como calor. En situaciones de estrés esta defensa no es suficiente y se forman productos tóxicos. La segunda línea de defensa elimina estos productos tóxicos mediante diferentes sistemas antioxidantes. Si esta línea de defensa es insuficiente, se daña la proteína D1 del FSII y se produce la foto-inhibición. La D1 es removida del centro de reacción del FSII y es degradada. Una nueva D1 es sintetizada y reinsertada en el centro de reacción del FSII para formar una unidad funcional.

La sequía favorece la foto-inhibición y la combinación con otro estrés abiótico, como la alta temperatura, potencia este proceso (Takahashi and Murata, 2008). Varios estudios han evidenciado cambios en los parámetros de fluorescencia de clorofilas en respuesta a estreses ambientales como el calor, el frío, la helada y la salinidad (Smillie and Hetherington, 1983). Otros estudios han demostrado una correlación entre el decrecimiento en el rendimiento cuántico máximo del FSII (F_V/F_M) y la disociación física del centro de reacción del FSII producido por foto-inhibición, y utilizan esta técnica para discriminar cultivares tolerantes (Bonnecarrere et al., 2011).

Los sistemas antioxidantes protegen a las plantas del daño oxidativo

Las plantas controlan los niveles de ROS mediante diferentes sistemas antioxidantes enzimáticos y no enzimáticos. En respuesta enzimática al estrés oxidativo se pueden encontrar inducidas las distintas isoformas superóxido dismutasa (SOD), la catalasa (CAT), las actividades del ciclo ascorbato-glutatión como la glutatión reductasa (GR) o la ascorbato peroxidasa (APX), quienes confieren mayor tolerancia frente a estreses ambientales específicos (Sade et al., 2011). En la figura 3 se esquematiza la acción de las principales enzimas antioxidantes y su localización sub-celular.



Figura 3. Principales enzimas antioxidantes en plantas. CAT, catalasa; SOD, superóxido dismutasa; APX, ascorbato peroxidasa, GR, glutatión reductasa; GSH, glutatión reducido; GSSG, glutatión oxidado; Prx, perredoxinas; MDA, monodehidroascorbato; MDHAR, monodehidroascorbato reductasa; DHAR, dehidroascorbato reductasa; DHA, dehidroascorbato. Clr, clorofila; CR, cadena respiratoria; FS, fotosistema.

Las actividades enzimáticas antioxidantes son analizadas comúnmente en varias especies ya que pueden ser utilizadas como marcadores de tolerancia a estrés, ya que su inducción está asociada a la aclimatación al estrés. Así, en cultivares tolerantes a sequía de trigo (Al-ghamdi, 2009), tomate (Sánchez-Rodríguez et al., 2012), alfalfa (Wang et al., 2009) y manzana (Wang et al., 2012) se ha observado una mayor inducción de estas enzimas cuando se las comparó con un cultivar sensible.

Entre los antioxidantes solubles no enzimáticos se incluye el glutatión (GSH), ascorbato, carotenos y tocoferol, que en respuesta al estrés oxidativo inducido por sequía se encuentran en niveles elevados (Feng et al., 2004). Estas moléculas son preferentemente oxidadas por especies reactivas respecto a otras biomoléculas como lípidos de membrana, proteínas, entre otros. El glutatión puede ser transformado en nitrosoglutation (GSNO) por nitrosilación de la cisteína mediada por 'NO. Dado que la nitrosilación es un proceso reversible, el nitrosoglutation es considerado un reservorio móvil de 'NO en plantas (Barroso et al., 2006). La enzima nitrosoglutatión reductasa (GSNOR) degrada el nitrosoglutatión (GSNO) en glutatión oxidado (GSSG) y NH₃ (Airaki et al., 2011). También el ascorbato puede capturar varias especies reactivas como el O_2^{--} , 'OH, RO_2^{-} y ONOO⁻ (Halliwell, 2006).

Durante muchos años se ha considerado a la prolina entre los antioxidantes no enzimáticos de bajo peso molecular (Alia et al., 1991; Chen and Dickman, 2005; Kavi Kishor and Sreenivasulu, 2014; Rejeb et al., 2014; Smirnoff and Cumbes, 1989; Szabados and Savouré, 2010). Esta función es re-evaluada y discutida a lo largo de esta tesis.

Otro aspecto a considerar en la defensa antioxidante es el abastecimiento de los equivalentes de reducción en forma de NADPH (Mateos et al., 2009). Como se observa en la figura 3 el NADPH es requerido por 2 enzimas del ciclo glutatión-ascorbato, que mantiene el ascorbato y GSH necesario para la protección contra el daño oxidativo en plantas (Corpas et al., 1998; Noctor and Foyer, 1998; Noctor, 2006).

El NADPH también es usado por la tiorredoxina reductasa en la regulación de vías metabólicas mediante la reducción de un grupo tiol (Nordman et al., 2003) y en la formación de tetrámeros de catalasa activa, donde cada monómero de enzima contiene ligado un NADPH (Kirkman and Gaetani, 2007). Por ello, la capacidad antioxidante de la célula puede estar limitada por la disponibilidad de NADPH. Las principales enzimas encargadas de generar poder reductor en forma de NADPH en

células de plantas son, a nivel citoplasmático la glucosa-6-fosfato deshidrogenasa (G6PDH) y la 6-fosfogluconato deshidrogenasa (6PGDH), ambas implicadas en la vía de las pentosas fosfato, la NADP-málica (NADP-ME) y la NADP-isocitrato deshidrogenasa (NADP-ICDH) y a nivel cloroplástico la ferredoxina-NADP reductasa (Fd-NADP) (Noctor et al., 2006; Valderrama et al., 2006).

El exceso de ROS/RNS produce estrés nitro-oxidativo

En un principio las ROS se consideraron productos tóxicos del metabolismo aeróbico, sin embargo se ha demostrado que tanto las ROS como el 'NO tienen una función en la respuesta de defensa frente a patógenos y en la señalización para producir la aclimatación a diversos estreses abióticos (Dat et al., 2000; Mittler et al., 2011; Molassiotis et al., 2010). Por ejemplo dentro de las ROS, el H₂O₂ que puede difundir a través de las membranas (Fig. 3) funciona como una de las principales moléculas señal en plantas (Miller et al., 2008). Se cree que la expresión de al menos 2% de los genes de Arabidopsis (algunos de ellos enzimas antioxidantes claves) es dependiente de H_2O_2 (Desikan et al., 2001). Entre las RNS, el NO se ha relacionado con procesos de señalización, inhibición de la germinación, movimiento estomático, senescencia, respuesta a estrés abiótico, entre otros (León et al., 2014). El rol del 'NO en el estrés abiótico como señalizador se ha destacado, ya que se demostró que al igual que el H₂O₂, está involucrado en la adaptación dado que pre-exposiciones a estas moléculas pueden inducir la tolerancia frente a sucesivos estreses más severos (Jasid et al., 2006; Tanou et al., 2009). Por ello, las especies reactivas tienen un efecto positivo cuando sus concentraciones son bajas, cuando los sistemas de defensa antioxidante proveen una adecuada protección. Sin embargo, cuando la producción de ROS y RNS supera la capacidad de los sistemas antioxidantes se establece estrés nitro-oxidativo. El daño celular causado en esta situación incluye la oxidación o nitración de lípidos de membrana, proteínas y ácidos nucleicos. Gran parte de este tipo de daño depende de la compartimentación por membranas, que ofrecen una significativa resistencia al pasaje de la mayoría de estas especies reactivas (Möller et al., 2008). Sin embargo el ¹O₂, el ·NO (Denicola et al., 1996b) y el ·NO₂ (Signorelli et al., 2011) pueden difundir a

través de las membranas y reaccionar con antioxidantes de bajo peso molecular, lípidos insaturados y proteínas de diferentes compartimentos.

Si bien nos referimos a estrés nitro-oxidativo cuando se establece una situación de estrés oxidativo y nitrosativo, estos estreses se determinan experimentalmente utilizando distintos marcadores. La peroxidación lipídica es utilizada comúnmente como marcador de estrés oxidativo, y en sequía se ha observado que la misma incrementa en varios tejidos (Sade et al., 2011). El marcador de estrés nitrosativo más usado es la nitración de residuos de tirosinas de proteínas (Corpas et al., 2007; Radi, 2004).

Se ha propuesto que la nitración de residuos de tirosinas puede causar cambios en la función de las proteínas, ya sea produciendo la pérdida de función, como ocurre con la MnSOD y la GR (Souza et al., 2008), o la ganancia de función como ocurre con la activación de la actividad peroxidatica del citocromo c (Batthyany et al., 2005).

En general, la nitración de enzimas en plantas conduce su inactivación (Corpas and Barroso, 2013). A altas temperaturas la Fd-NADP reductasa y la anhidrasa carbónica, enzimas que participan en la asimilación del carbono, se inactivan por nitración de tirosinas (Chaki et al., 2013, 2011b). También se ha observado que la nitración de la NADP-ICDH de arveja pierde actividad al ser nitrada, un proceso que ocurre comúnmente en la senescencia (Begara-Morales et al., 2014, 2013).

Otras modificaciones mediadas por las RNS son la formación de nitro-alcanos y la *S*-nitrosilación de proteínas, esta última es de particular interés debido a que puede estar involucrada en la regulación reversible de la función de proteínas, así como contribuir al daño por estrés nitrosativo (Cornwell et al., 2003; Marshall and Stamler, 2001).

Recientemente se ha demostrado que las RNS pueden tener un doble rol sobre la actividad de las enzimas, ya que si bien la APX de arveja puede ser inactivada irreversiblemente por nitración, su actividad es potenciada reversiblemente por nitrosilación (Begara-Morales et al., 2014).

13

Las leguminosas acumulan prolina en respuesta a sequía

En respuesta a la sequía las células de las plantas acumulan en el citoplasma compuestos de bajo peso molecular denominados solutos compatibles, como prolina, glicín betaina, azúcares y polioles, para controlar el balance iónico en la vacuola (Parida and Das, 2005). La acumulación de prolina también se ha reportado en condiciones alta salinidad, exposición a alta intensidad lumínica, metales pesados, estrés oxidativo y diversos estreses abióticos (Szabados and Savouré, 2010).

En plantas superiores la prolina es sintetizada principalmente a partir del glutamato que es reducido a glutamato-semialdehido (GSA) por la enzima pirrolin-5-carboxilato sintetasa (P5CS). Este se convierte espontáneamente en pirrolin-5-carboxilato (P5C) (Hu et al., 1992; Savoure et al., 1995), figura 4. Por último la enzima P5C reductasa (P5CR) reduce el P5C a prolina. Esta vía ocurre en el citosol y en el estroma del cloroplasto con consumo de NAD(P)H.H⁺. Como vía alternativa la prolina también puede ser sintetizada a partir de ornitina, la cual es transformada en GSA por acción de la ornitín-aminotransferasa (OAT), que espontáneamente dará P5C y luego éste prolina (Delauney and Verma, 1993; Roosens et al., 1998).



Figura 4. Metabolismo de prolina. A. Síntesis de prolina. P5CS, pirrolin-5-carboxilato sintetasa; P5CR, pirrolin-5-carboxilato reductasa; OAT, ornitín amino transferasa. B. Degradación de prolina. P5CDH, pirrolin-5-carboxilato deshidrogenasa; PDH, prolina deshidrogenasa. GSA, glutamato-semialdehido; P5C, pirrolin 5-carboxilato.

En la mayoría de las especies la enzima P5CS está codificada por 2 genes, mientras que la P5CR está codificada por uno (Szabados and Savouré, 2010). La acumulación de prolina en plantas es controlada por la acción de los genes P5CS, donde uno actúa como *housekeeping* y el otro es una isoforma especifica de estrés. Estos genes a pesar de ser muy similares en su secuencia la regulación transcripcional es diferente (Armengaud et al., 2004; Strizhov et al., 1997).

Con el fin de contar con una herramienta para evaluar el rol de la prolina en estrés hídrico, en el laboratorio de Bioquímica de Facultad de Agronomía se desarrolló un transgénico de *L. japonicus* con silenciamiento de un gen *p5cs* mediante RNAi. En el Capítulo 1 de esta tesis se presentarán los resultados obtenidos al evaluar el transgénico y las conclusiones sobre los genes que participan en la síntesis de prolina en *L. japonicus*.

Se ha demostrado que la mayor concentración de prolina se logra en cloroplastos, alcanzando concentraciones de 160 mM, incluso en situaciones no estresantes (Büssis and Heineke, 1998). Una explicación es que la proteína P5CS inducible por estrés se movilice hacia este organelo en dicha condición. Fusiones de *green fluorescent protein* (GFP) con la proteína P5CS1 de *A. thaliana* demostraron que en situación de estrés esta proteína se acumula en el cloroplasto (Szekely et al., 2008).

La prolina: un aminoácido con múltiples funciones en plantas

La capacidad de acumular y utilizar prolina por algunos genotipos se ha relacionado con mayor tolerancia a la sequía (Al-Sulaiti et al., 1990; Hare et al., 1998), aunque no hay evidencias sólidas de que plantas que acumulan más prolina sean más tolerantes al déficit hídrico (Choudhary et al., 2005; Samaras et al., 1995).

Si bien la acumulación de prolina en condiciones de estrés se conoce desde hace mucho tiempo (Barnnet and Naylor, 1966) y se han descrito numerosas especies vegetales que la acumulan en respuesta a diferentes estreses (Chiang and Dandekar, 1995; Delauney and Verma, 1993; Samaras et al., 1995), no se le ha podido asignar a la prolina una función en la respuesta a estrés. Por esto, se han manejado diversas hipótesis sobre funciones protectoras de la prolina, como: captador de especies reactivas, amortiguador celular del estatus redox y del pH celular, y estabilizador de estructuras subcelulares especialmente durante el estrés osmótico y salino (Szabados and Savouré, 2010).

La prolina fue considerada por mucho tiempo un osmolito compatible, capaz de proteger estructuras subcelulares y macromoléculas del estrés osmótico (Csonka et al., 1988; Hare et al., 1997; Kavi Kishor and Sreenivasulu, 2014). A su vez, se ha demostrado que la prolina funciona como una chaperona molecular capaz de proteger la integridad de proteínas e incrementar la actividad de diferentes enzimas (Szabados and Savouré, 2010).

La mayoría de los estudios en plantas en condiciones de estrés le atribuyen a la prolina funciones antioxidantes. Esta hipótesis se extiende a levaduras y otros hongos, en los que aplicaciones exógenas de prolina previenen la muerte celular programada (Chen and Dickman, 2005), y en células humanas en las que protegería frente a estrés oxidativo, potencialmente carcinogénico (Krishnan et al., 2008). En el Capítulo 2 se hará referencia en particular a las evidencias y avances referidos al rol antioxidante de la prolina en plantas.

Otros autores proponen que la clave de la acumulación de prolina estaría en su anabolismo – catabolismo, que permitirían mantener un balance redox adecuado para la planta (Sharma et al., 2011). Estos autores sugieren que la prolina se sintetiza en los tejidos fotosintéticos para regenerar NADP⁺, necesario para que ocurra la fotosíntesis, mientras que su catabolismo sería necesario en las células en expansión y meristemáticas para mantener el desarrollo de la planta mediante el aporte de NADH.H⁺ y FADH₂ a la cadena respiratoria (Hare et al., 1997; Kavi Kishor et al., 2005; Sharma et al., 2011). También se ha vinculado a la prolina con funciones regulatorias, como el control del desarrollo de las plantas y como molécula señal. En particular se cree que la prolina regula la división celular y la embriogénesis (Mattioli et al., 2009). Se ha observado que elevados niveles de prolina pueden llevar a un floración temprana y bajos niveles a retrasos o dificultades de floración (Mattioli et al., 2009, 2008).

Defensa antioxidante mediada por prolina

Una hipótesis manejada en los últimos 25 años es que la prolina actúa como captador de especies radicalarias, y hay evidencias de que es un eficiente captador de radical OH (Smirnoff & Cumbes, 1989). Sin embargo, no se conocía el mecanismo por el cual la prolina podría capturar OH, ni los posibles productos de su reacción. También desde hace años se ha propuesto que la prolina es un eficiente extintor del ¹O₂ (Alia et al., 2001, 1991; Matysik et al., 2002) pero los estudios no establecieron si la prolina actuaba por *quenching* físico o químico. En esta tesis, aprovechando los avances metodológicos, se realizaron estudios con una metodología más adecuada con el fin de responder cómo la prolina protege frente al ¹O₂.

Por otra parte, han surgido evidencias que permitieron plantear que plantas transgénicas que acumulan más prolina presentan menor daño oxidativo bajo estrés hídrico (Hong et al., 2000; Hoque et al., 2006). También se demostró que plantas mutantes en *p5cs1* que acumulan menos prolina, tienen mayor acumulación de ROS y daño oxidativo (Szekely et al., 2008). Sin embargo estas evidencias son indirectas, e insuficientes para concluir que la protección de la prolina se debe a su capacidad de reaccionar con ROS/RNS. De hecho, en algunos trabajos se sugiere que la prolina protege a enzimas antioxidantes y mantiene un elevado estatus de glutatión reducido (Hoque et al., 2008, 2007; Islam et al., 2009). A su vez, la acumulación de prolina puede contribuir con la defensa antioxidante porque en su síntesis se regenera NADP+ necesario como aceptor de electrones, lo que mantiene el flujo electrónico fotosintético disminuyendo la foto-inhibición y el daño del aparato fotosintético (Hare et al., 1997).

En oposición, otros autores proponen que la acumulación de prolina en plantas sometidas a alta temperatura puede resultar en mayor producción de ROS (Lv et al., 2011). Esta evidencia surge de pre-tratar con prolina exógena (50 mM) plantas transgénicas que sobre-expresan el gen *p5cs* en situación de estrés térmico y observar que en dicha condición produjeron más ROS. Estos autores consideran que el exceso de prolina genera la producción de ROS vía el ciclo Pro/P5C. Este ciclo es conocido en células de mamíferos y fue reportado en células de plantas (Miller et al., 2009). En la figura 5 se representa el ciclo Pro/P5C, que ayuda a mantener un equilibrio de pro-p5c que puede cumplir roles en algún proceso fisiológico (Miller et al., 2009). Cuando la prolina es sobre-producida la actividad del ciclo podría incrementar y esto aumentar la posibilidad de que un electrón generado por la oxidación de la prolina se escape del transporte de electrones mitocondrial y genere ROS (Lv et al., 2011).



Figura 5. Ciclo Pro/P5C. El P5C rinde prolina en el citoplasma por acción de la P5CR. La prolina ingresa a la mitocondria por su trasportador o por el trasportador de glutamato, y es oxidada a P5C. El poder reductor que genera esta oxidación puede entrar en la cadena de trasporte electrónico, rindiendo ATP, o salir de la cadena favoreciendo la formación de ROS. El P5C puede salir de la mitocondria (trasportador aún no identificado en plantas) y rendir nuevamente prolina. α KG, α -cetoglutarato; Orn, ornitina; PDH, Prolina deshidrogenasa; POX, prolina oxidasa; P5CR, P5C reductasa.

Debido a que el rol protector de la prolina como antioxidante aún tiene un componente especulativo alto, y no se avanzó en cómo la prolina podría reaccionar con especies reactivas ni los productos derivados de su oxidación, en esta tesis se realizaron estudios *in silico* e *in vitro* con el fin de inferir la funcionalidad de esta molécula en relación a su capacidad antioxidante.

Por otra parte, en especies de uso agronómico interesa conocer las respuestas frente al estrés nitro-oxidativo asociado a la sequía, ya que estas contribuirán con la tolerancia a esta condición. De esta forma, determinar la magnitud del estrés nitro-oxidativo generado por déficit hídrico y si la prolina tiene capacidad protectora frente a ROS/RNS, agregará evidencias sobre la habilidad que tienen las plantas de responder a la sequía.

OBJETIVOS

Objetivo general

Establecer respuestas bioquímicas que expliquen la tolerancia-sensibilidad de las plantas a la sequía.

Objetivos específicos

1. Identificar respuestas bioquímicas y/o fisiológicas en leguminosas forrajeras que expliquen la diferente tolerancia a sequía.

2. Determinar la magnitud del estrés nitro-oxidativo generado por sequía en diferentes órganos de la planta.

3. Establecer si la prolina tiene capacidad de proteger frente a diferentes especies reactivas del oxígeno y nitrógeno.

Capítulo 1. Respuestas a sequía de leguminosas

I. Evaluación de respuestas a sequía y calor mediante el uso de leguminosas forrajeras con tolerancia estival contrastante

Las respuestas mencionadas en la Introducción están bien documentadas para diversas especies de plantas sometidas a un solo tipo de estrés. Sin embargo el efecto producido por la combinación de estreses ha sido escasamente evaluado. En esta sección, que trata sobre el estrés combinado en leguminosas, se presenta un artículo (Signorelli et al., 2013*a*) y un capítulo de libro (Signorelli et al., 2015).

En general la sequía se establece principalmente en verano, por lo que las altas temperaturas acompañan al déficit hídrico en el establecimiento del estrés. En el artículo que se presenta a continuación se evaluaron las respuestas producidas por la combinación de déficit hídrico y alta temperatura en *Lotus corniculatus* (lotus) y *Trifolium pratense* (trébol), leguminosas forrajeras ampliamente utilizadas en praderas para alimentar ganado. Si bien trébol es más productivo que lotus, éste tiene mayor tolerancia estival, por lo que estas leguminosas con características diferentes se usaron como contrastantes en la respuesta a sequía y calor. Las plantas se sometieron a la combinación de déficit hídrico y alta temperatura (1 h a 42 °C) durante 5 días, para simular las condiciones de verano, y se midieron parámetros bioquímicos y fisiológicos con el fin de explicar la diferente tolerancia-sensibilidad.

Los resultados mostraron que estas leguminosas responden diferente en el control de la pérdida de agua, la acumulación de prolina, la capacidad antioxidante enzimática y la funcionalidad del fotosistema II. En lotus, a diferencia de trébol, en condición de sequía se indujeron las enzimas Mn-SOD y Fe-SOD. A su vez en trébol la actividad SOD total fue inferior a la de lotus. En este último la actividad fotosintética fue afectada por la combinación de estreses, lo que sugiere un proceso de foto-inhibición que se acompañó de la degradación de la proteína D2. Nosotros proponemos que descender la actividad fotosintética sin entrar en marchites permanente puede ser una ventaja de lotus en la disipación de la energía lumínica no utilizada y en la economía del agua, lo que le confiere más tiempo para una eventual rehidratación y así una mayor tolerancia.

Por otra parte la sequía y/o el calor indujeron la acumulación de prolina en lotus, la especie más tolerante, mientras que trébol acumuló prolina sólo cuando la sequía se estableció en ausencia de calor. En la medida que con estrés combinado lotus acumuló prolina y toleró un día más el estrés que trébol, que no acumuló, podría hacer pensar que la acumulación de prolina confiere tolerancia al estrés combinado. Sin embargo otros aspectos como la diferente área foliar, conductancia estomática, actividad del fotosistema II, entre otras, pueden explicar diferencias en la tolerancia-sensibilidad. De esta forma, es demasiado especulativo explicar la tolerancia-sensibilidad a partir de la acumulación diferencial de prolina.

Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 70 (2013) 195-203

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

Plant Physiology and Biochemistry

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/plaphy

Research article

Antioxidant and photosystem II responses contribute to explain the drought-heat contrasting tolerance of two forage legumes



Santiago Signorelli, Esteban Casaretto, Martha Sainz, Pedro Díaz, Jorge Monza, Omar Borsani^{*}

Laboratorio de Bioquímica, Departamento de Biología Vegetal, Facultad de Agronomía, Universidad de la República, Av. Garzón 780, CP 12900 Montevideo, Uruguay

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 18 January 2013 Accepted 16 May 2013 Available online 4 June 2013

Keywords: Heat stress Water stress Photoinhibition PSII proteins Proline Lotus corniculatus Trifolium pratense

ABSTRACT

Identification of metabolic targets of environmental stress factors is critical to improve the stress tolerance of plants. Studying the biochemical and physiological responses of plants with different capacities to deal with stress is a valid approach to reach this objective. Lotus corniculatus (lotus) and Trifolium pratense (clover) are legumes with contrasting summer stress tolerances. In stress conditions, which are defined as drought, heat or a combination of both, we found that differential biochemical responses of leaves explain these behaviours. Lotus and clover showed differences in water loss control, proline accumulation and antioxidant enzymatic capacity. Drought and/or heat stress induced a large accumulation of proline in the tolerant species (lotus), whereas heat stress did not cause proline accumulation in the sensitive species (clover). In lotus, Mn-SOD and Fe-SOD were induced by drought, but in clover, the SOD-isoform profile was not affected by stress. Moreover, lotus has more SOD-isoforms and a higher total SOD activity than clover. The functionality and electrophoretic profile of photosystem II (PSII) proteins under stress also exhibited differences between the two species. In lotus, PSII activity was drastically affected by combined stress and, interestingly, was correlated with D2 protein degradation. Possible implications of this event as an adaption mechanism in tolerant species are discussed. We conclude that the stress-tolerant capability of lotus is related to its ability to respond to oxidative damage and adaption of the photosynthetic machinery. This reveals that these two aspects should be included in the evaluation of the tolerance of species to stress conditions.

© 2013 Elsevier Masson SAS. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

1.1. Biochemical responses to drought

Lotus corniculatus (lotus) and Trifolium pratense (clover) are legumes used in agriculture as a forage source. These species are both perennial herbaceous plants used in temperate grassland and can

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +598 23540229; fax: +598 23562037.

be nodulated by rhizobia. Nevertheless, lotus is better suited to soils with water restriction and has a superior tolerance to drought [1].

In the field, mainly during the summer, these plants are commonly exposed to environmental stresses such as drought and high temperatures, which in fact are considered to be the most important environmental factors limiting plant growth and development [2-5].

Soil water deficits resulting in dehydration and osmotic stress may seriously affect plant growth [6]. In response to a water deficit, plant cells accumulate low-molecular-mass compounds termed compatible solutes, mainly proline, glycine betaine, sugars and polyols, in the cytoplasm to accommodate the ionic balance in the vacuoles [7]. Among these solutes, proline has been associated with different functions, such as being a free radical scavenger, a cell redox balancer, a cytosolic pH buffer and a stabilizer for subcellular structures, especially during osmotic and salt stresses [8–10].

The accumulation of proline is known to be a good indicator of drought in *L. corniculatus* [11]. However, some plants that tend to accumulate proline in drought conditions replace it with sucrose as

Abbreviations: APX, ascorbate peroxidase; BSA, bovine seroalbumin; CAT, catalase; C, control treatment; D, drought treatment; D + H, drought and heat treatment; GR, glutathione reductase; H, heat treatment; HI, hydric index; H_{2O_2} , hydrogen peroxide; hydroxyl radicals, lotus; *Lotus corniculatus*, Pro; proline, P5C; pyrroline 5 carboxylate, PSII; photosystem II, ROS; reactive oxygen species, superoxide radical; SOD, superoxide dismutase; clover, *Trifolium pratense*.

E-mail addresses: ssignorelli@fagro.edu.uy (S. Signorelli), ecasaretto@ fagro.edu.uy (E. Casaretto), msainz@fagro.edu.uy (M. Sainz), pediaz@fagro.edu.uy (P. Díaz), jmonza@fagro.edu.uy (J. Monza), oborsani@fagro.edu.uy (O. Borsani).

^{0981-9428/\$ —} see front matter @ 2013 Elsevier Masson SAS. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2013.05.028

the major osmoprotectant when subjected to a combination of drought and heat stress [12]. It is also known that proline accumulation under heat stress decreases the thermotolerance of the plant, probably because of an enhancement in the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) via the Pro/P5C cycle [13]. Additionally, drought affects the rate of photosynthesis due to an increase in photoinhibition, a process that can be enhanced when two or more types of abiotic stress coexist [14].

Under stress conditions, the possibility of overexcitation of photosystem II (PSII) increases. This can cause a decline in the photosynthetic rate as the process of photoinhibition increases due to the necessity to dissipate, through nonradiative processes, the excess of absorbed energy [14,15].

Because the capacity of photoprotection is limited, certain conditions can lead to damage and loss of active PSII reaction centres. Under severely high temperatures, stress commonly associated with a water deficit during drought, the photosynthetic apparatus has been long considered to be the primary site of damage. On the contrary, photosystem I has been shown to be more resistant to heat than PSII [16–18]. Once photoinhibition is established, the PSII reaction centre is simultaneously repaired via removal, synthesis and replacement of degraded D1 protein [19,20]. The observed photoinhibitory damage is the net result of a balance between photodamage and the repair process [21–23].

Several studies have reported a good correlation between changes in chlorophyll fluorescence parameters in response to environmental stresses, such as heat, chilling, freezing, and salinity [24–27]. Others authors have linked the decrease in the maximum quantum yield of PSII (F_V/F_M) to the physical dissociation of the PSII reaction centres that lead the photoinhibition, and they performed this technique to discriminate tolerant cultivars [28].

It is well known that the effect of a combination of different stresses on plants can be quite different from those generated when plants are subjected to individual types of stress [29], and is motive of studio.

1.2. Water-heat stress and ROS metabolism

Another effect of water and heat stress is an overproduction of ROS, such as hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), superoxide radicals (O_2^-) and hydroxyl radicals (OH), which occurs mainly in organelles such as the chloroplast, mitochondria and peroxisomes [30,31]. These species are responsible for lipid and protein oxidation, the primary consequences of ROS-mediated oxidative stress [32]. This stress can cause damage to the PSII, mainly when it occurs at the chloroplast level, leading to disassembly of the different structures through proteolysis.

In particular, the D1 protein is damaged because of intrinsic ROS generation by the PSII machinery [33], which can also impair the activity of the Calvin cycle and disrupt electron transport [34]. This situation generates metabolic limitations and, together with the stomatal restriction generated during drought conditions, leads to a decay in carbon assimilation [35–37].

The enzymatic antioxidant systems include superoxide dismutase (SOD; EC 1.15.1.1), which provides the first line of defence against ROS by dismutating O_2 ⁻ to H_2O_2 , and catalase (CAT; EC 1.11.6), which regulates H_2O_2 levels [30]. These enzymes, in combination with enzymes of the ascorbate—glutathione cycle, such as ascorbate peroxidase (APX; EC 1.11.1.11) and glutathione reductase (GR; EC 1.6.4.2), protect plant cells by reducing the generation of toxic oxygen forms. A number of studies have shown that the antioxidant defence systems are induced and up-regulated to a greater extent in water stress-tolerant cultivars compared to sensitive species such as apple [38], tomato [39] and alfalfa [40] when subjected to water stress, and the induction of these systems is associated with acclimation to water deficit conditions. The generation of oxidative stress induced by abiotic stress and mediated by ROS accumulation is widely documented [30]; however, additive or synergistic effects of two or more environmental stresses on ROS-related photo-inhibition of PSII are poorly understood.

According to Boyer (1982) [6], water shortages limit crop production in semi-arid regions more than any other factor. A better understanding of the mechanisms that enable plants to adapt to water deficits and maintain growth and productivity during drought periods will ultimately help in the selection of droughttolerant varieties.

Studies indicate that even though drought and heat stress can occur together in most regions (particularly the semi-arid tropics), the physiological or biochemical mechanisms operating to induce escape or tolerance to each of these stresses may be different. Furthermore, the characteristics of the traits associated with drought and heat stress might be different. Therefore, the selection—production of genotypes for tolerance to combined drought and heat stress must be performed under stress conditions that include both of these stresses [41].

Lotus and clover have different tolerance to drought and drought heat combination, stressing environmental conditions frequently found during the summer. We sought to explain the differences in tolerance through the evaluation of the antioxidant and PSII responses of leaves under stress conditions to contribute to the understanding of differential field drought tolerance in two forage legumes.

2. Results

2.1. Differential response to dehydration induced by drought

To confirm the differential behaviour observed between lotus and clover when they are subjected to drought, we first followed



Fig. 1. Hydric index and stomatal conductance. A. Hydric index (HI) in the 5 days of treatments. B. Stomatal conductance during the 5 days of treatments. Lotus is indicated by white diamonds (\diamond) and clover by black squares (\blacksquare). Asterisks indicate that differences in the clover values compared to the lotus values were statistically significant at $p \leq 0.05$, Tukey's test.

the water status of both species after the withdrawal of watering (Fig. 1A). The data show that clover leaves start to lose water after one day of treatment, and this continued during the next four days. However, lotus did not show evident loss of water during the first three days, and the water losses began after the third day (Fig. 1A). Stomata conductance was measured during the drought stress (Fig. 1B), and different patterns were also found in these species. It is important to note that basal conductance under control conditions was significantly different between the species. Therefore, while stomata closure was observed in clover after one day of drought, in lotus three days of drought were necessary to detect changes in stomata conductance (Fig. 1B).

Data obtained by imposing drought conditions confirm previous evidence on differences in drought tolerance observed in this species under summer field drought conditions.

However, differences between these forage legume species cannot be explained only by water status maintenance. Thus, others environmental factors should be involved in the summer drought tolerance/susceptibility response in plants, such as heat stress. In this case in particular, the drought—heat stress combination might be a key factor to analyse for proper assessment of plant stress behaviour.

2.2. Lotus and clover phenotypes under drought-heat stress

Fig. 2 shows the phenotypes of lotus and clover plants at the end of each treatment. Drought produces an evident loss of turgor in both species, but plants exposed to heat treatment did not present any visual differences compared to control plants (well-irrigated conditions). Combined treatment (drought + heat) also produced a loss of turgor in both species. However, in clover, this loss was accelerated by heat, resulting in a withered appearance one day before lotus. For this reason, clover in the combined treatment was photographed on the fourth day because on the fifth day, the clover



Fig. 2. Lotus and clover plant phenotypes and hydric index in the different treatment conditions. A. Hydric index. B. Phenotypes of lotus plants. C. Phenotypes of clover plants. C, control; D, drought; H, heat at 42 °C; D + H, drought + heat at 42 °C. Determinations were made on the last day (5) of each treatment except for *, which was measured on the fourth day of treatment.

plants were already dead. Since our goal was to assess the oxidative and photosynthetic responses to severe stress, and not at a specific time after the imposition of the stress condition, analyses were made in plants with similar water content (Fig. 2). Therefore, all of the determinations in clover in the combined treatment were performed on the fourth day, although the other treatments in both species ended on the fifth day.

2.3. Free proline accumulation as a stress response indicator

The free proline concentration was measured in leaves at the end time of each treatment (Fig. 3). Lotus accumulated proline in the drought and heat treatments, but concomitant imposition of both stresses produced a higher accumulation of the aminoacid. In contrast, clover accumulated proline in drought conditions but not under heat stress, and the imposition of the combined treatment produced only a slight increase in proline concentration.

2.4. Antioxidant enzymes and ROS metabolism

2.4.1. SOD isoforms activities and total SOD activity

The activity of SOD isoforms was evaluated in a native gel with specific inhibitors (Fig. 1S). Lotus has five SOD isoforms, including Mn-SOD, Fe-SOD and three Cu/Zn-SOD, while clover has six isoforms, including two Mn-SOD, one Fe-SOD and three Cu/Zn-SOD (Fig. 4A and Fig. 1S). In lotus, the activity of Mn-SOD and Fe-SOD increased as a consequence of drought treatment, but it did not change in the heat and combined treatments. In clover, however, no changes were observed in the activities of any SOD isoforms. In clover, the activity of SOD with 40 μ g of protein could not be clearly detected (data not shown), and for this reason we used more protein from clover than from lotus to visualise the SOD isoforms in both species (Fig. 4A). This result suggested that the total SOD activity is higher in lotus than in clover, and for this reason we quantified the total SOD activity in control and stressing conditions (Fig. 4B). The results of the quantitative enzyme activity assay confirmed that total SOD activity is 2.6 folds greater in lotus than in clover and it is affected by the stress treatments. Drought induced the activity in both legumes species; however, lotus showed a significantly increase in SOD activity respect to clover. Heat did not modify the SOD activity in lotus, but the combination with drought led the activity to same level observed in the drought treatment (Fig. 4B). Clover showed a slight increase in the SOD activity only those treatment involving heat stress (Fig. 4B).



Fig. 3. Proline concentration in leaves of lotus and clover. C, control; D, drought, H, heat; D + H, drought and heat. Data are means \pm SD of at least three biological replicate measurements. Asterisks indicate that differences from control values were statistically significant at $p \leq 0.05$, Tukey's test.



Fig. 4. SOD activity in under drought and heat–drought stress combination. A. SOD isoforms profile. C, control; D, drought; H, heat at 42 °C; D + H, drought + heat at 42 °C. 40 µg and 200 µg of protein were loaded in lotus and clover respectively. The gel is the most representative of three replicates of native-gels. B. Total *in vitro* SOD activity. C, control; D, drought; H, heat at 42 °C; D + H, drought + heat at 42 °C. One unit of SOD was defined as the amount of enzyme which inhibits the rate of cytochrome c reduction by 50%. Bars indicate the relative standard deviation (RSD).

2.4.2. Catalase and ascorbate-glutathione cycle

In lotus, catalase activity only increases in the combined treatment. However, in clover, enzyme activity increased with respect to the control in all of the treatments, although no differences were observed in between these treatments (Fig. 5). In control conditions, APX and GR activities in clover were half of those observed in lotus. The APX activity in lotus was inhibited by drought condition, while in clover this activity was inhibited only in the stress combined treatment (Fig. 5). The GR activity in lotus was negatively affected under drought and heat stress conditions (Fig. 5), however, in clover this enzyme activity was not affected by the stress treatments (Fig. 5).

2.4.3. $O_2^{\cdot-}$ and H_2O_2 accumulation

We used a qualitative technique to detect the accumulation of O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 . Both lotus and clover leaves showed staining associated with O_2^{-} accumulation only in the drought—heat combination (Fig. 6). In clover, H_2O_2 accumulation showed the same pattern; however, in lotus, the highest staining for this molecule was observed under drought conditions. Since the alterations found in CAT, APX and GR activities under stressful conditions we quantified the H_2O_2 contents using the Amplex red[®] kit. Increments of H_2O_2 concentration seem to occur in lotus and clover under drought and combined treatment, respectively, which correlate with the staining method (Fig. 6). However, these values did not differ statistically, probably because of the low reproducibility of this technique.

2.4.4. Lipid peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation was measured by thiobarbituric reactive substances (TBARS). Lotus showed an increase in TBARS content in response to all treatments (Fig. 7). Similar results were observed in clover, with the exception of the heat treatment, which did not produce any increase in TBARS content.

2.5. Photosynthesis stress response

2.5.1. Maximum quantum efficiency

In order to determine the effects of drought and heat stress on the photosynthetic activity of lotus and clover, we measured the maximum quantum efficiency, evaluated as F_V/F_M , obtained from certain chlorophyll fluorescence parameters. F_V/F_M was monitored during the five days of treatment (Table S1). Table 1 shows the summarised data including the first and the last day of each treatment. In lotus, no changes were observed in any treatment until the fifth day, when the combined treatment showed a significant decrease in the F_V/F_M parameter (Table 1). In contrast, in clover, this fluorescence parameter slightly decreased from the first day in the heat and combined treatment, but no changes were observed under drought conditions (Table S1). This ratio could not be determined on the fifth day in the combined treatment because the plants were dead.

2.5.2. Photosystem II proteins

The chloroplastic D1 and D2 proteins were studied to evaluate degradation induced by drought, heat and the combination of both stresses. The chloroplastic protein profile and the western blot analyses of D1 and D2 are shown in Fig. 8. Lotus showed a slight decrease in the amount of D1 protein after drought treatment. However, there was no decrease in the protein content when the control and heat conditions were compared. The D1-complex profile of clover was also analysed, and the western blot showed a very different result when was compared to the lotus profile. The total D1 protein content in clover did not change in any treatment, but a difference was found in the ratio between the free protein and the complex form. In the treatments where heat was involved, an increase in free D1 protein together with a decrease in the D1complex form was evident, but it should be considered that this result might be a consequence of the high hydrophobicity of these complexes, which makes their isolation difficult.

Regarding D2, in lotus the results were similar to those observed with D1; namely, when drought was present in the treatments, a reduction in the amount of D2 protein was observed. Surprisingly, in the combined treatment, the D2 protein was not detected. Another western blot with more loaded protein and a higher exposure time of the radiographic film was needed to even barely detect the complexes and D2 protein in the combined treatment (Fig. S2). In contrast, in clover, no significant changes were observed in D2 protein levels.

3. Discussion

3.1. Drought-heat phenotype

Is well known that metabolic strategies to deal with environmental abiotic stress vary by plant species and genotype [42]; however, the physiological and biochemical differences that determine contrasting seasonal drought tolerance in forage legumes are poorly understood. As reported here, lotus and clover, two forage legumes with contrasting drought tolerances [1], have



Fig. 5. CAT, APX and GR activities. C, control; D, drought; H, heat at 42 °C; D + H, drought + heat at 42 °C. Data are means \pm SD of at least three biological replicate measurements. Asterisks indicate that differences from control values were statistically significant at $p \leq 0.05$, Tukey's test.

different capacities to control water loss, and stomatal conductance was shown to be one, but not the only, differential response between the legumes. In this way, stomatal conductance is related to drought tolerant-sensitive responses in several plant species [43,44].

In this work, we propose that, for lotus, proline accumulation is a parameter that should be used as a stress marker to assess drought and heat stress conditions, as well as the combination of both. In clover, however, this parameter is useful under drought conditions, but not during a drought—heat combination. In this species, our results are in accordance with Rizhsky et al. (2004) [12], who showed that proline accumulation is not a suitable factor for use in a combined stress situation.

Taking into account that the accumulation of proline during heat stress (50 °C) increases ROS production in *Arabidopsis thaliana* [13], blocking proline accumulation might be a strategy for avoiding self-toxicity in heat-tolerant species. In our study, this hypothesis



Fig. 6. O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 accumulation. NBT and DAB staining are evidence of the presence of O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 respectively. Images are the most representative of a pool of five leaves in each treatment. Concentration of H_2O_2 in leaves is expressed in µmol/mg FW. Data are means \pm SD of at least three biological replicate measurements. Asterisks indicate that differences from control values were statistically significant at $p \le 0.05$, Tukey's test. C, control; D, drought; H, heat at 42 °C; D + H, drought + heat at 42 °C.

correlates with the lipid peroxidation estimated by TBARS, as clover does not show an increase in lipid peroxidation under heat conditions, in contrast to lotus. Moreover, clover has a lower lipid peroxidation content than lotus when drought and heat stress are combined, a treatment in which lotus accumulates the highest levels of proline.

On the other hand, it has been demonstrated that proline can act as an osmolyte under severe dehydration [45]. The nonaccumulation of proline and the greater leaf area in clover are important disadvantages of this species compared to lotus when water loss must be prevented. Clover did not survive to the fifth day under the combined stress treatment, while lotus was still alive on that day. Thus, lotus is more tolerant to drought when this stress is established in a high temperature condition. In agreement with our results, a higher dry matter yield was observed in lotus with respect to clover under field conditions subjected to summer drought [1].

3.2. ROS metabolism

Adaptation to drought may depend on different mechanisms, including the capacity to maintain high levels of antioxidants and to regenerate them through the induction of detoxification enzyme activities [46]. Moreover, a previous report on *Lotus japonicus* showed that drought induces mainly oxidative stress in the photosynthetic tissues [47]. Our results clearly show that lotus has a higher response of SOD-dependent antioxidant machinery



Fig. 7. TBARS concentration. C, control; D, drought; H, heat at 42 °C; D + H, drought + heat at 42 °C. Data are means \pm SD of at least three biological replicate measurements. Asterisks indicate that differences from control values were statistically significant at $p \leq 0.05$, Tukey's test.

Table 1 Heat and drought effects on the maximum quantum efficiency (F_V/F_M) of lotus and clover. C, control; D, drought; H, heat at 42 °C; D + H, drought and heat at 42 °C. Values are means \pm SD of at least three biological replicate measurements.

Treatment	Day	Lotus	Clover
		F _V /F _M	F_V/F_M
С	1	$\textbf{0.87} \pm \textbf{0.01}$	0.88 ± 0.01
	5	0.87 ± 0.02	0.86 ± 0.01
D	1	0.86 ± 0.01	0.86 ± 0.01
	5	0.86 ± 0.01	0.85 ± 0.02
Н	1	0.85 ± 0.02	0.83 ± 0.03
	5	0.85 ± 0.02	0.77 ± 0.04
D + H	1	0.88 ± 0.02	0.82 ± 0.03
	4	0.82 ± 0.03	0.79 ± 0.02
	5	0.47 ± 0.15	a

^a Without data because plants were dead.

because this species has higher basal activity compared with clover and also the Mn-SOD and Fe-SOD increased under drought condition. SOD is the main enzymatic system responsible for cell detoxification and is well documented in several plant species to increase in response to hydric deficit and heat stress [48,49]. In situ detection of O_2^{--} in lotus leaves showed that combined drought and heat induced significant accumulation of this radical, as was previously observed in the model legume *L. japonicus* [50]. In clover, accumulation of O_2^{--} was observed in all stress treatments and increased even more in the combined treatment. The higher SOD



Fig. 8. Photosystem II proteins of lotus and clover in the different treatment conditions. A. Chloroplastic isolated protein profile. B. D1 protein detection by western blotting. C. D2 protein detection by western blotting. Western blots were made loading 20 μ g of chloroplastic protein of each treatment. C, control; D, drought; H, heat at 42 °C; D + H, drought + heat at 42 °C. Numbers at the left indicate the corresponding kDa of the molecular weight marker.

activity in drought conditions with respect to controls (Fig. 4), would allow this species to deal with the O_2^{-} induced mainly by drought (Fig. 6). However, the increase of Mn-SOD and Fe-SOD isoform activity by drought was lost under high-temperature conditions (Fig. 4), resulting in an increase of O_2^{-} in the combined treatment (Fig. 6). In *L. japonicus* similar results were obtained with Cu/Zn-SOD, showing that deleterious effects of heat stress on SOD activity might be a general response for this legume genus [50]. Moreover, importantly the differences detected between both species are mainly explained by changes in the Cu/Zn-SOD isoforms.

The increase in the H₂O₂ levels observed in lotus as a consequence of the drought conditions is related to APX and GR activities, as these enzymes activity decreased in this stress condition, and CAT was not induced. However, the increase in the activity of CAT enzyme observed in the combined treatment (Fig. 5) was enough to keep the basal levels of H₂O₂ under control (Fig. 6). In clover, although CAT activity increased in all treatments the other peroxidase APX and the GR did not respond to the stress conditions. Even more, a reduction in the APX activity in the combined treatment resulted in the accumulation of H₂O₂, since we detected the presence of this ROS by the staining method in the stress combined condition (Fig. 6). The H₂O₂ determination with commercial kits, like Amplex red[®], has limitations mainly assigned to the extraction of H₂O₂, which are causes of problems in the reproducibility of this method (for revision see Ref. [51]). We considered that an important limitation of these techniques is the non-linear correlation between the amount of tissue extract used and the contents determined. This does not allow discriminating statistically the different treatments. For this reason we think that staining with DAB, a semi-quantitative method which avoid the extraction of H₂O₂ from the tissue, is still useful.

In drought-sensitive wheat, the increased capacity to metabolise H_2O_2 by detoxification enzymes has been reported [46], suggesting that responsiveness of these enzymes is not a guarantee of drought stress tolerance.

Regarding lipid peroxidation, it is notable that in both species, increases in the levels of either O_2^{-} or H_2O_2 that occur in the treatments involving drought are associated with increases in TBARS levels, a fact that is in accordance with many reports [52,53].

In lotus, an increase in lipid peroxidation is also observed during heat stress, while no damage was observed in clover under the same stress condition. This increase in lotus correlates with an increase in proline concentration, which could result a higher ROS production by the Pro/P5CS cycle, leading to major oxidative damage, as previously mentioned [13]. In this way, proline may play a critical role under drought-induced osmotic stress and confer an adaptive advantage to lotus, but it can provoke a deleterious effect when a heat stress condition is present. As proline antioxidant protection function on chloroplasts under stress conditions is now in discussion [54], the absence of proline accumulation in clover becomes an advantage under heat stress by avoiding the Pro/ P5CS cycle. However, proline accumulation might be critical under combined stress because the osmolyte function seems to be important when drought is established. Whether proline accumulation is a positive or negative trait in regards to drought tolerant genotypes remains to be elucidated.

3.3. Photosystem response

 F_V/F_M , the chlorophyll fluorescence parameter evaluated, showed that lotus had an important decrease in the maximum quantum efficiency at the end of the combined treatment. The low F_V/F_M ratio indicated the presence of photoinhibition, a process that can act as determinant for whether the plant will have a better

performance during a stress condition [28]. In clover, only a small decrease in the F_V/F_M values was observed from the first day and in the treatments involving heat stress.

Analysis of photosystem II proteins in the two droughtcontrasting legumes shows an effect that is stress- and speciesspecific. The D1 and D2 subunit content is decreased in lotus in both treatments involving drought (Fig. 8), showing certain adaptability in response to drought. Interestingly, the decrease in the D2 levels was pronounced in the combined treatment (Fig. 8), and this is well correlated with the decrease in the maximum quantum efficiency, suggesting the presence of a disassembling process. The D2 subunit is of particular interest because it represents the initial point for the assembly of the PSII as a whole [55-57]. It has been found that the expression of the gene which encodes the D2 subunit of the PSII reaction centre is regulated posttranscriptionally by an RNA-binding protein able to affect translation initiation of the D2 protein [58]. Modifications induced by the stress in this post-transcriptional regulation could be a possible explanation of the D2 absence in lotus subjected to the combined stress treatment.

In clover, the total content of D1 and D2 did not change, but we observed an increase in the free form of D1 in treatments involving heat (Fig. 8). One possible explanation is that turnover of D1 is taking place in the heat treatments, and this is evident by an increase of free D1 together with a reduction of the D1–D2 complex, as well as a decrease in the F_V/F_M values (Table 1).

3.4. Photosynthetic adaptation and the antioxidant system are responsible of differential tolerance to drought in forage legumes

Lotus and clover, two legumes with contrasting drought tolerance showed clear differences in their responses to dehydration. Water loss in clover was not accompanied by changes in SOD and GR activities, F_V/F_M or PSII proteins, resulting in earlier dead plants. In contrast, in lotus, the tolerant species, water loss is more controlled and significant responses were observed in all of the studied parameters, with a magnified response in the drought heat stress conditions. In this way, our work is the first report in which a drought-tolerant species decreases its photosynthetic activity, evident by F_V/F_M , due to a decline of the D2 protein of the PSII reaction centre in response to drought—heat stress.

Several studies have shown a drought-dependent decrease in photosynthetic activity by alterations in the corresponding biochemical components and processes, with PSII being the most sensitive of these components to drought stress [59].

Loggini et al. (1999) suggested that two drought-tolerant wheat cultivars had different cellular mechanisms to cope with water stress. We focused on key elements that might be responsible for drought tolerance. The study of the response of plants to drought stress has only been reported in a few studies that showed that this response is likely to be of fundamental importance for tolerance [43,46,59]. Taking into account our results, we can conclude that the tolerant capability of lotus is strongly related to its ability to sense stress and adapt to it, as in its response to oxidative damage and adaption of its photosynthetic machinery. This reveals that these two aspects should be included in the evaluation of the tolerance of species to stress conditions, especially with a combined treatment of drought and heat.

4. Materials and methods

4.1. Plant material and growth conditions

L. corniculatus cv. San Gabriel and T. pratense cv. LE116 seeds were obtained from M. Rebuffo INIA La Estanzuela (Colonia, Uruguay).

The seeds were surface sterilised as described by Orea et al. [60] and germinated at 28 °C for 2 days. Seedlings were transferred to pots containing a mix of river sand:vermiculite (1:1) as substrate, and plants were grown for 35 days under controlled conditions: 16/8 h light/dark cycle at 24/18 °C with a photosynthetic photon flux density of 200 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹. Plants were irrigated daily with Hornum's nutrient solution [61]. Drought was induced by suspension of irrigation, and measurements were made over the following 4 days without irrigation. The heat stress treatment involved transferring the plants to a growth chamber at 42 °C for 4 h each day. Leaves were harvested at the end of each treatment, frozen quickly in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C until analysed.

4.2. Protein extraction and quantification

Leaves were frozen in liquid N₂ and ground in a mortar. The powder was suspended with homogenizing-buffer composed of 50 mM Tris—HCl, pH 7.8, 0.1 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), 5 mM dithiothreitol (DTT) and 0.2% (v/v) glycerol. The ratio powder:homogenizing-buffer was 1:2 for control and heat treatments and 1:3 for treatments wherein drought was involved, because the lower water contents in these samples. Homogenates were centrifuged at 20,000× g for 20 min (4 °C) and supernatant was used immediately after purification by gel filtration using PD-10 Sephadex[®] G-25M Columns, proteins were eluted with the 3 mL of homogenizing-buffer described above. Protein concentration of extracts was measured by the Bradford method [62] using BSA as standard.

4.3. Oxidative metabolism

4.3.1. Lipid peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation was estimated using the method proposed by Minotti and Aust [63]. Lipid peroxides were detected as thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) by measurement of malonaldehyde absorbance at 532 nm, and their concentration was determined using an extinction coefficient of 156 mM⁻¹ cm⁻¹ [64]. Four replicates of each sample were assayed.

4.3.2. SOD isozyme identification and SOD total activity

Cytosolic and chloroplastic SOD (EC 1.15.1.1) isozymes were analysed on non-denaturing polyacrylamide gels, as described by Laemmli [65], but without SDS, using in-gel activity assays with isozyme-specific inhibitors previously described by Donahue et al. [66].

Total SOD activity was measured using the ferricytochrome c reduction assay, following the reduction rate of cytochrome c by O_2^{-} at 550 nm, utilizing the xanthine—xanthine oxidase system as the source for O_2^{-} as described by Flohe and Otting [67]. One unit of SOD was defined as the amount of enzyme which inhibits the rate of cytochrome c reduction by 50%. The curve was established from the data of activity in eight independent extracts with five replicates for each extracts. The curve was linearised by plotting the reciprocal absorbance change per minute versus the volume of extract and then the SOD activity was determined as described in Ref. [67].

4.3.3. CAT, APX and GR activities

All the enzyme assays were performed from protein extracts as described in 4.1.2. CAT (EC 1.11.1.6) activity was determined by measuring the disappearance of H_2O_2 , as described by Aebi [68]. APX (EC 1.11.1.11) activity was determined by monitoring oxidation of ascorbate by H_2O_2 at 290 nm [69]. GR (EC 1.6.4.2) activity was assayed by monitoring oxidation of NADPH coupled to the reduction of GSH [70]. The reaction rate was corrected for the small non-enzymatic oxidation of NADPH by glutathione disulfide (GSSG).

202

One enzymatic unit was defined as the activity that consumed 1 μ mol of cofactor or substrate per minute.

4.3.4. Superoxide and hydrogen peroxide determinations

In situ detection of superoxide (O_2^{-}) was performed as described by Jabs et al. [71]. Detached leaves were vacuum infiltrated with 10 mM potassium phosphate buffer pH 7.8, 10 mM NaN₃, 0.1% (w/v) nitro blue tetrazolium (NBT) and 0.05% (v/v) Tween 20. The detached, infiltrated and NBT-treated leaves were then maintained for 30 min under daylight conditions prior to discolouration of the leaves using the same method described above for the detection of H₂O₂.

In situ detection of H_2O_2 involved following the protocols proposed by Thordal-Christensen et al. [72]. Detached leaves were vacuum infiltrated under dark conditions with 10 mM potassium phosphate buffer, 10 mM NaN₃ and 0.1% (w/v) 3,3'-dia-minobenzidine (DAB), pH 7.8. Leaves were incubated overnight under dark conditions and then clarified with 0.15% (w/v) tri-chloroacetic acid in 4:1 (v/v) ethanol:chloroform for 48 h before being photographed.

For H₂O₂ quantification, 0.2 g of leaf tissue was homogenised in 1 mL of 0.2 M HClO₄ using a pre-cooled mortar. The homogenates were centrifuged three times at 4 °C (15 min 10,000× g) to further clarify the supernatant obtained in each case. The final supernatant obtained was neutralised to pH 7.0 with 0.2 M NH₄OH and centrifuged for 2 min at $3000 \times g$ to remove additional remaining insoluble material. Additional steps were done as described by Rao et al. [73]. H₂O₂ in the extracts was measured in triplicate using the Amplex Red Hydrogen Peroxide-Peroxidase AQ3 Assay kit[®] (Invitrogen-Molecular Probes) following the manufacturer's instructions.

4.4. Photosynthetic determinations

4.4.1. Chlorophyll fluorescence parameters

Chlorophyll fluorescence measurements were made on fully expanded leaves using an FMSI fluorometer (Hansatech Instruments Ltd., King's Lynn, UK) using saturating actinic light (8000 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) for 0.8 s. Leaves were dark adapted for 30 min prior to analysis. F_V/F_M for PSII was determined from chlorophyll fluorescence parameters, which were calculated as described by Rohácek and Barták [74].

4.4.2. Immunodetection of D1 and D2 proteins

Immunodetection of D1 and D2 was performed with cell-free protein extracts from isolated chloroplasts obtained using the CP-ISO kit (Sigma Chemical, St. Louis, MO) following the manufacturer's instructions. Aliquots containing 20 µg of protein from a given supernatant preparation were separated by electrophoresis on a 12% (w/v) sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) polyacrylamide gel [75]. The separated proteins were then electroblotted onto polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes (Immobilon P, Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA), and rinsed with TBS (20 mM Tris–HCl; 0.5 M NaCl, pH 7.5). Western blot analysis was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions (ECL Plus Western AQ2 Blotting Detection System, Amersham[®]). Antibodies against D1 (AS05 08410) and D2 (AS06 146) were obtained from Agrisera (Vännäs, Sweden).

4.5. Other determinations

4.5.1. Hydric index

To determine the hydric index (HI), fresh leaves were weighed (FW) and then dried at 80 °C. The dry weight was then measured (DW). The HI was calculated as follows: FW/DW. HI, analytical and biochemical determinations were performed with pooled samples of leaves harvested at the indicated time [76].

4.5.2. Stomatal conductance

Stomatal conductance was measured using a Porometer Model SC-1 (Decagon Device) on the abaxial surfaces of six leaves of at least three independent plants as instructed by the manufacturer.

4.5.3. Proline quantification

Proline was extracted from 100 mg of leaves with a mixture of methanol—chloroform—water (12:5:1) as described by Charest and Phan [77] and quantified according to Borsani et al. [78].

4.6. Statistical analysis

Analysis of variance was performed with data from three independent experiments, and means from the results from experiments were compared using Tukey's test at the $p \le 0.05$ level.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a grant from Universidad de la República Comisión Sectorial de Investigación Científica (CSIC I + D Grupo 418 Estrés Abiótico en Plantas), Fondo Regional de Tecnología Agropecuaria (FTG-787/2005) and Programa de Educación en Ciencias Básicas (Uruguay).

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data related to this article can be found at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2013.05.028.

References

- P.R. Peterson, C.C. Sheaffer, M.H. Hall, Drought effects on perennial forage legume yield and quality, Agron. J. 84 (1992) 774–779.
- [2] J.A. Berry, O. Bjorkman, Photosynthetic response and adaptation to temperature in higher plants, Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 31 (1980) 491–543.
- [3] I. Yordanov, R. Dilova, T. Petkova, V. Pangelova, K.-H. Goltsev, Mechanisms of the temperatures damage and acclimation of the photosynthetic apparatus, Photobiochem. Photobiophys. 12 (1986) 147–155.
- [4] D.W. Lawlor, D.C. Uperty, Effects of water stress on photosynthesis of crops and the biochemical mechanism, in: Y.P. Abrol, P. Mohanty (Eds.), Photosynthesis: Photoreactions to Plant Productivity, Oxford and IBH Publishing Co, New Delhi, 1993.
- [5] V. Sinsawat, J. Pandy, P. Leipner, P. Stamp, Y. Fracheboud, Effect of heat stress on the photosynthetic apparatus in maize (*Zea maize* L.) grown at control or high temperature, Environ. Exp. Bot. 52 (2004) 123–129.
- [6] J. Boyer, Plant productivity and environment, Science 218 (1982).
- [7] A.K. Parida, A.B. Das, Salt tolerance and salinity effects on plants: a review, Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 60 (2005) 324–349.
 [8] L. Szabados, A. Savouré. Proline: a multifunctional amino acid. Trends Plant
- [8] L. Szabados, A. Savouré, Proline: a multifunctional amino acid, Trends Plant Sci. 15 (2010) 89–97.
- [9] N. Verbruggen, C. Hermans, Proline accumulation in plants: a review, Amino Acids 35 (2008) 753–759.
- [10] M. Trovato, R. Mattioli, P. Costantino, Multiple roles of proline in plant stress tolerance and development, Rend. Lincei-Sci. Fis. 19 (2008) 325–346.
- [11] P. Díaz, O. Borsani, M. Márquez, J. Monza, Osmotically induced proline accumulation in *Lotus corniculatus* leaves affected by light and nitrogen source, Plant Growth Regul. 46 (2005) 223–232.
- [12] L. Rizhsky, H. Liang, J. Shuman, V. Shulaev, S. Davletova, R. Mittler, When defense pathways collide. The response of *Arabidopsis* to a combination of drought and heat stress, Plant Physiol. 134 (2004) 1683–1696.
- [13] W.T. Lv, B. Lin, M. Zhang, X.J. Hua, Proline accumulation is inhibitory to Arabidopsis seedlings during heat stress, Plant Physiol. 156 (2011) 1921–1933.
- [14] S. Takahashi, N. Murata, How do environmental stresses accelerate photoinhibition? Trends Plant Sci. 13 (2008) 178–182.
- [15] N.R. Baker, Chlorophyll fluorescence: a probe of photosynthesis in vivo, Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 59 (2008) 89–113.
- [16] O.H. Sayed, M.J. Earnshaw, M.J. Emes, Photosynthetic response of different varieties of wheat to high temperature. II. Effect of heat stress on photosynthetic electron transport, J. Exp. Bot. 40 (1989) 633–638.
- [17] M. Havaux, Rapid photosynthetic adaptation to heat stress triggered in potato leaves by moderately elevated temperatures, Plant Cell Environ. 16 (1993) 461–467.
- [18] Z.H. Hu, Y.N. Xu, G.Z. Jiang, T.Y. Luang, Degradation and inactivation of photosystem I complexes during linear heating, Plant Sci. 166 (2004) 1177–1183.

- [19] I. Ohad, D.J. Kyle, C.J. Arntzen, Membrane protein damage and repair: removal and replacement of inactivated 32-kilodalton polypeptides in chloroplast membranes, J. Cell Biol. 99 (1984) 481-485.
- [20] D.J. Kyle, I. Ohad, The mechanism of photoinhibition in higher plants and green algae, in: A.L. Staehelin, C.J. Arntzen (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Plant Physiology, vol. 19, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1986, pp. 468-475.
- [21] G. Samuelsson, A. Lonneborg, E. Rosenquist, P. Gustafsson, G. Oquist, Photoinhibition and reactivation of photosynthesis in the cyanobacterium Anacystis nidulans, Plant Cell Physiol. 83 (1985) 992-995.
- [22] J. Lidholm, P. Gustafsson, G. Oquist, Photoinhibition of photosynthesis and its recovery in a green alga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii, Plant Cell Physiol. 28 (1987) 1133–1140. [23] R. Shyam, P.V. Sane, Photoinhibition of photosynthesis and its recovery in low
- and high light acclimatized blue-green alga (cyanobacterium) Spirulina platensis, Biochem. Physiol. Pflanz. 185 (1989) 211-219.
- [24] R.M. Smillie, S.E. Hetherington, Stress tolerance and stress-induced injury in crop plants measured by chlorophyll fluorescence in vivo: chilling, freezing, ice cover, heat, and high light, Plant Physiol. 72 (1983) 1043-1050.
- [25] M. Yamada, T. Hidaka, H. Fukamachi, Heat tolerance in leaves of tropical fruit crops as measured by chlorophyll fluorescence, Sci. Hortic. 37 (1996) 39-48.
- [26] P. Hakam, S. Khanizadeh, J.R. DeEll, C. Richer, Assessing chilling tolerance in roses using chlorophyll fluorescence, HortScience 35 (2000) 184-186.
- [27] V. Bonnecarrére, O. Borsani, P. Díaz, F. Capdevielle, P. Blanco, J. Monza, Response to photooxidative stress induced by cold in japonica rice is genotype dependent, Plant Sci. 180 (2011) 726-732.
- [28] F. Abdullah, F. Hareri, M. Naaesan, M.A. Ammar, O. ZuherKanbar, Effect of drought on different physiological characters and yield component in different varieties of Syrian durum wheat, J. Agric. Sci. 3 (2011) 127–133.
- [29] L. Rizhsky, H. Liang, R. Mittler, The combined effect of drought stress and heat shock on gene expression in tobacco, Plant Physiol. 130 (2002) 1143-1151.
- [30] S.S. Gill, N. Tuteja, Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants, Plant Physiol. Biochem. 48 (2010) 909–930.
- [31] O. Blokhina, K.V. Fagerstedt, Oxidative metabolism, ROS and NO under oxygen deprivation, Plant Physiol. Biochem. 48 (2010) 359-373.
- [32] N. Smirnoff, The role of active oxygen in the response of plants to water deficit
- and desiccation, New Phytol. 125 (1993) 27–58.
 [33] K. Liu, J. Sun, Y.G. Song, B. Liu, Y.K. Xu, S.X. Zhang, Q. Tian, Y. Liu, Superoxide, hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl radical in D1/D2/cytochrome b-559 photosystem II reaction center complex, Photosynth. Res. 81 (2004) 41–47.
- [34] Y. Nishiyama, H. Yamamoto, S.I. Allakhverdiev, M. Inaba, A. Yokota, N. Murata, Oxidative stress inhibits the repair of photodamage to the photosynthetic machinery, EMBO J. 20 (2001) 5587–5594.
- [35] J. Flexas, H. Medrano, Drought-inhibition of photosynthesis in C3 plants: stomatal and non-stomatal limitations revisited. Ann. Bot. 89 (2002) 183-189.
- [36] G. Cornic, N.G. Bukhov, C. Wiese, R. Bligny, U. Heber, Flexible coupling between light-dependent electron and vectorial proton transport in illuminated leaves of C3 plants. Role of photosystem I-dependent proton pumping, Planta 210 (2000) 468-477.
- [37] W. Tezara, V.J. Mitchell, S.D. Driscoll, D. Lawlor, Water stress inhibits plant photosynthesis by decreasing coupling factor and ATP. Nature 401 (1999) 914-917.
- [38] S. Wang, D. Liang, C. Li, Y. Hao, F. Ma, H. Shu, Influence of drought stress on the cellular ultrastructure and antioxidant system in leaves of drought-tolerant and drought-sensitive apple rootstocks, Plant Physiol. Biochem. 51 (2012) 81 - 89.
- [39] E. Sánchez-Rodríguez, M.d.M. Rubio-Wilhelmi, B. Blasco, R. Leyva, L. Romero, J.M. Ruíz, Antioxidant response resides in the shoot in reciprocal grafts of drought-tolerant and drought-sensitive cultivars in tomato under water tress, Plant Sci. 188-189 (2012) 89-96.
- [40] W.B. Wang, Y.H. Kim, H.S. Lee, K.Y. Kim, X.P. Deng, S.S. Kwak, Analysis of antioxidant enzyme activity during germination of alfalfa under salt and drought stresses, Plant Physiol. Biochem. 47 (2009) 570-577.
- [41] P.R. Prasad, The Changing Indian Scenario: from River Basin Studies to Water Management Studies and its Scientific Rationale, vol. 323, IAHS-AISH Publication, 2008, pp. 125-138.
- [42] T.L. Setter, Analysis of constituents for phenotyping drought tolerance in crop improvement, Front. Physiol. 3 (2012) 180. [43] I. Türkan, M. Bor, F. Özdemir, H. Koca, Differential responses of lipid peroxi-
- dation and antioxidants in the leaves of drought-tolerant P. acutifolius Gray and drought-sensitive P. vulgaris L. subjected to polyethylene glycol mediated vater stress, Plant Sci. 168 (2005) 223-231.
- [44] C.Y. Yoo, H.E. Pence, P.M. Hasegawa, M.V. Mickelbart, Regulation of transpiration to improve crop water use, Crit. Rev. Plant Sci. 28 (2009) 410-431.
- [45] P. Verslues, R. Sharp, Proline accumulation in maize (Zea mays L) primary roots at low water potentials. II Metabolic source of increased proline deposition in the elongation zone, Plant Physiol. 119 (1999) 1349–1360.
- [46] B. Loggini, A. Scartazza, E. Brugnoni, F. Navari-Izzo, Antioxidative defence system, pigment composition, and photosynthetic efficiency in two wheat cultivars subjected to drought, Plant Physiol. 119 (1999) 1091–1099.
 [47] S. Signorelli, F.J. Corpas, O. Borsani, J.B. Barroso, J. Monza, Water stress induces
- a differential and spatially distributed nitro-oxidative stress response in roots and leaves of Lotus japonicus, Plant Sci. 201-202 (2013) 137-146.
- R.G. Alscher, N. Erturk, L.S. Heath, Role of superoxide dismutases (SODs) in [48] controlling oxidative stress in plants, J. Exp. Bot. 53 (2002) 1331-1341.

- [49] C. Bowler, M. Van Montagu, D. Inze, Superoxide dismutase and stress tolerance, Annu, Rev. Plant Biol, 43 (1992) 83-116.
- [50] M. Sainz, P. Díaz, J. Monza, O. Borsani, Heat stress results in loss of chloroplast Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase and increased damage to photosystem II in combined drought-heat stressed Lotus japonicus, Physiol. Plant. 140 (2010) 46 - 56.
- [51] G. Queval, J. Hager, B. Gakiere, G. Noctor, Why are literature data for H₂O₂ contents so variable? A discussion of potential difficulties in the quantitative assay of leaf extracts, J. Exp. Bot. 59 (2008) 135-146.
- [52] R.K. Mishra, G.S. Singhal, Function of photosynthetic apparatus of intact wheat leaves under high light and heat stress and its relationship with peroxidation of thylakoid lipids, Plant Physiol. 98 (1992) 1-6.
- [53] T. Demiral, I. Türkan, Comparative lipid peroxidation, antioxidant defense systems and proline content in roots of two rice cultivars differing in salt tolerance, Environ. Exp. Bot. 53 (2005).
- [54] S. Signorelli, J.B. Arellano, T.B. Melø, O. Borsani, J. Monza, Proline does not quench singlet oxygen: evidence to reconsider its protective role in plants, Plant Physiol. Biochem. 64 (2013) 80-83.
- [55] C. de Vitry, J. Olive, D. Drapier, M. Recouvreur, F.A. Wollman, Posttranslational events leading to the assembly of photosystem II protein complex: a study using photosynthesis mutants from Chlamydomonas reinhardtii, J. Cell Biol. 109 (1989) 991-1006.
- [56] J. Komenda, V. Reisinger, B.C. Muller, M. Dobakova, B. Granvogl, L.A. Eichacker, Accumulation of the D2 protein is a key regulatory step for assembly of the photosystem II reaction center complex in Synechocystis PCC 6803, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 48620-48629.
- [57] L. Minai, K. Wostrikoff, F.A. Wollman, Y. Choquet, Chloroplast biogenesis of photosystem II cores involves a series of assembly-controlled steps that regulate translation, Plant Cell 18 (2006) 159-175.
- [58] C. Schwarz, I. Elles, J. Kortmann, M. Piotrowski, J. Nickelsen, Synthesis of the D2 protein of photosystem II in Chlamydomonas is controlled by a high molecular mass complex containing the RNA stabilization factor Nac2 and the translational activator RBP40, Plant Cell 19 (2007) 3627-3639
- [59] I. Sperdouli, M. Moustakas, Interaction of proline, sugars, and anthocyanins during photosynthetic acclimation of Arabidopsis thaliana to drought stress, J. Plant Physiol. 169 (2012) 577-585.
- [60] A. Orea, P. Pajuelo, E. Pajuelo, C. Quidiello, J.M. Romero, A.J. Márquez, Isolation of photorespiratory mutants from *Lotus japonicus* deficient in glutamine synthetase, Physiol. Plant. 115 (2002) 352–361.
- [61] K. Handberg, J. Stougaard, Lotus japonicus, an autogamous, diploid legume species for classical and molecular genetics, Plant J. 2 (1992) 487-496.
- [62] M. Bradford, A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding, Anal. Biochem, 72 (1976) 248-254.
- [63] G. Minotti, S.D. Aust, The requirement for iron (III) in the initiation of lipid peroxidation by iron (II) and hydrogen peroxide, J. Biol. Chem. 262 (1987) 1098-1104.
- [64] C. Rusterucci, V. Stallaert, M.L. Milat, A. Pugin, P. Ricci, J.P. Blein, Relationship between active oxygen species, lipid peroxidation, necrosis, and phytoalexin production induced by Elicitins in Nicotiana, Plant Physiol, 111 (1996) 885–891.
- [65] U.K. Laemmli, Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4, Nature 227 (1970) 680-685.
- [66] J.L. Donahue, C.M. Okpodu, C.L. Cramer, E.A. Grabau, R.G. Alscher, Responses of antioxidant to paraquat in pea leaves, Plant Physiol. 113 (1997) 249-257.
- [67] L. Flohe, F. Otting, Superoxide dismutase assays, Methods Enzymol. 105 (1984) 93-104.
- [68] H. Aebi, Catalase in vitro, Methods Enzymol. 105 (1984) 121-126.
- [69] M. Hossain, K. Asada, Ascorbate-regenerating enzymes in chloroplasts, Indian . Biochem. Bio 24 (Suppl. 52-56) (1987)
- [70] E.A. Edwards, S. Rawsthone, P.M. Mullineaux, Subcellular distribution of multiple forms of glutathione reductase in leaves of pea (Pisum sativum L.), Planta 180 (1990).
- [71] T. Jabs, R.A. Dietrich, J.L. Dangl, Initiation of runaway cell death in an Arabidopsis mutant by extracellular superoxide, Science 273 (1996) 1853-1856.
- [72] H. Thordal-Christensen, Z. Zhang, Y. Wei, D.B. Collinge, Subcellular localization of H₂O₂ in plants. H₂O₂ accumulation in papillae and hypersensitive response during the barley-powdery mildew interaction, Plant J. 11 (1997) 1187–1194. [73] M.V. Rao, H.-I. Lee, R.A. Creelman, J.E. Mullet, K.R. Davis, Jasmonic acid
- signaling modulates ozone-induced hypersensitive cell death, Plant Cell 12 (2000) 1633-1646.
- [74] K. Rohácek, M. Barták, Technique of the modulated chlorophyll fluorescence: basic concepts useful parameters, and some applications, Photosynthetica 37 (1999) 339 - 363.
- [75] J. Sambrook, E. Fritsch, T. Maniatis, in: C. Nolan (Ed.), Molecular Cloning, A Laboratory Manual, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, 1989.
- [76] H.H. Chiang, A.M. Dandekar, Regulation of proline accumulation in Arabidopsis thaliana (L.) Heynh during development and in response to desiccation, Plant Cell Environ. 18 (1995) 1280-1290.
- C. Charest, C. Phan, Cold acclimation of wheat (Triticum aestivum): properties [77] of enzymes involved in proline metabolism, Physiol. Plant. 80 (1990) 159-168.
- [78] O. Borsani, P. Díaz, J. Monza, Proline is involved in water stress responses of Lotus corniculatus nitrogen fixing and nitrate fed plants, J. Plant Physiol. 155 (1999) 269-273.

Supplementary information



Figure S1. SOD isoforms profile under drought and heat-drought stress combination with (KCN and H_2O_2) and without inhibitors. C, Control; D, Drought; H, Heat at 42°C; D + H, Drought + Heat at 42°C. 40 µg and 200 µg of protein were loaded in lotus and clover respectively.



Figure S2. D2 proteins of lotus subjected to stress conditions. Western blots were performed by loading 30 μ g of chloroplastic protein of each treatment. C, Control; D, Drought; H, Heat at 42 °C; D + H, Drought + Heat at 42 °C. Numbers on the left side indicate molecular weight in kDa.

Table S1. Heat and drought effects on the maximum quantum efficiency (F_v/F_m) of lotusand clover. C, Control; D, Drought; H, heat at 42 °C; D + H, Drought and heat at 42 °C. ND: No data. Values are means \pm SD of at least three biological replicate measurements.

		Lotus	Clover
Treatment	Day	Fv/Fm	Fv/Fm
С	1	0.87 ± 0.01	0.88 ± 0.01
	2	0.87 ± 0.01	0.86 ± 0.01
	3	0.87 ± 0.02	0.87 ± 0.02
	4	0.85 ± 0.02	0.87 ± 0.01
	5	0.87 ± 0.02	0.86 ± 0.01
D	1	0.86 ± 0.01	0.86 ± 0.01
	2	0.86 ± 0.01	0.87 ± 0.02
	3	0.86 ± 0.01	0.86 ± 0.02
	4	0.85 ± 0.01	0.85 ± 0.03
	5	0.86 ± 0.01	0.85 ± 0.02
Н	1	0.85 ± 0.02	0.83 ± 0.03
	2	0.85 ± 0.02	0.80 ± 0.05
	3	0.86 ± 0.01	0.80 ± 0.03
	4	0.85 ± 0.01	0.77 ± 0.08
	5	0.85 ± 0.02	0.77 ± 0.04
D+H	1	0.88 ± 0.02	0.82 ± 0.03
	2	0.86 ± 0.01	0.76 ± 0.08
	3	0.86 ± 0.01	0.75 ± 0.03
	4	0.82 ± 0.03	0.79 ± 0.02
	5	0.47 ± 0.15	ND

Chapter 6 Combined Abiotic Stress in Legumes

Santiago Signorelli, Esteban Casaretto, Jorge Monza and Omar Borsani

1 6.1 Legume Family: Agronomic Relevance

A major source of protein in the human diet is of animal origin. The production of beef and mutton is based on natural pastures or supplementation based on grains (feedlot). Sown pastures can be monospecific or may be ultrasimple, simple or complex of different species of the same botanical family or a family of different botanical blends. Within the latter group, are mixtures of grasses and legumes.

From the point of view of human and animal consumption, legumes belonging to the subfamily Papilonideae are relevant. This includes seeds and forage legumes such as peanut, beans, chickpea, broad beans, lentils, soybean, among others. Some species of the genus *Medicago, Lotus* and *Adesmia* can be used as forage or green manure, thus enhancing the contents of nitrogen in the soils.

Forage legumes have been widely spread in the world due to the great agronomic importance that they possess. The species of this plant family are an invaluable component of pastures, mainly due to their ability to fix atmospheric nitrogen through symbiotic association with several bacteria collectively called *rhizobia*. Second, legumes have a high nutritional value, especially proteins and minerals (Ca^{+2} and Mg^{+2}), which makes them essential for the production of forage. Legume crops also play a critical role as main protein sources in vegetarian diets. Tolerance

E. Casaretto e-mail: ecasaretto@fagro.edu.uy

J. Monza e-mail: jmonza@fagro.edu.uy

O. Borsani e-mail: oborsani@fagro.edu.uy

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 R. Mahalingam (ed.), *Combined Stresses in Plants*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-07899-1 6 1

Book ID: 321770_1_En ChapterID: 6 Dispatch Date: 08/10/2014 ProofNo: 1

S. Signorelli (🖂) · E. Casaretto · J. Monza · O. Borsani

Laboratorio de Bioquímica, Departamento de Biología Vegetal, Facultad de Agronomía, Universidad de la República, Av. E. Garzón 780, 12900 Montevideo, Uruguay e-mail: ssignorelli@fagro.edu.uy

Author's Proof

19 20

21

22

23

24 25 2

to environmental abiotic stress is one of the ways to improve the productivity of legumes and aid in harnessing their potential nutritional value. Identification of biochemical and physiological characters which contribute to improve the yield in legumes under limiting conditions is a main objective of plant breeders for agricultural and cattle-rearing regions. Thus, this chapter intends to provide an understanding of the mechanisms involved in the combined stress-tolerance responses in legumes.

6.2 Environmental Stresses Induce Varied Plant Responses

Plants are frequently subjected to stress—environmental condition that adversely affects the growth, development and productivity thereof. Biotic stress can be imposed by organisms such as viruses, bacteria and fungi, while abiotic stress can be due to an excess or deficit in some environmental factor. Among the environmental conditions that cause damage are excess water, water deficit, soil salinity, extreme temperatures, insufficient mineral nutrients in the soil and high- or low-light radiation (Bohnert and Sheveleva 1998; Bray et al. 2000).

Resistance or susceptibility to stress depends on the species, genotype and stage 35 of development of the plant. Resistance mechanisms can be grouped into two cat-36 37 egories—those that prevent exposure to stress and the other that results in tolerance. 38 Certain morphological features such as sunken stomata and deep roots are examples of resistance mechanism that can prevent stress. However, other mechanisms of 39 resistance are achieved by acclimation, i.e. the maintenance of internal homeostasis 40 41 of the various organelles in response to changing environmental factors (Bray et al. 2000). 42

Plants acclimate to manage the different types of stress triggering a wide range of responses from the perception of stress at the cellular level, leading to the activation of a very large number of genes. Key components of the stress response are the stimulus itself, transducers, signal molecules, transcription regulators, responsive genes that trigger morphological, biochemical and physiological adaptation involved in this situation. In turn, the duration and severity with which stress is imposed determine how the plant will respond (Pastori and Foyer 2002; Bray et al. 2000).

50 Unlike resistance to biotic factors, resistance to water stress and other abiotic 51 factors, despite being clearly genetic, is not a result of the action of a specific gene 52 (Zhu et al. 1997). The ability of plants to withstand water stress is a multigenic trait 53 and biochemical pathways responsible for products or processes that improve the 54 overall strength can act additively, and also synergistically (Bohnert et al. 1995).

It is reported that several genes responsive to water stress not only perform their functions protecting cells by producing metabolically important proteins under water deficit but also in the regulation of genes involved in signal transduction in response to stress. Thus, these gene products are classified into two groups: The first group includes proteins that are involved in stress tolerance such as channel

Book ID: 321770_1_En ChapterID: 6 Dispatch Date: 08/10/2014 ProofNo: 1

60

61

62

63

64

65

6 Combined Abiotic Stress in Legumes

proteins involved in the movement of water across membranes, enzymes necessary for the biosynthesis of osmolytes, proteases and macromolecules that can protect membranes, among others. The second group includes factors involved in the regulation of signal transduction and gene expression, such as protein kinases, transcription factors and 14-3-3 proteins, among others (Bray 1997; Shinozaki and Yamaguchi-Shinozaki 1997).

Higher temperatures primarily affect photosynthesis, in particular CO_2 assimilation because Rubisco activation is inhibited. Plants exposed to excessive temperatures have specific metabolic cellular response characterized by low protein synthesis, and induction of the synthesis of heat shock proteins (HSPs). In addition to altering the pattern of gene expression, the high temperature can damage cellular structures such as organelles and cytoskeleton (Bray et al. 2000; Tang et al. 2007).

Water stress and high temperatures interact strongly with each other and have 73 opposite effects on photosynthesis. For example, in response to high temperature, 74 plants open their stomata to cool their leaves by transpiration, but if there is also 75 water deficit condition, plants would not be able to open the stomata and hence leaf 76 temperature will increase (Rizhsky et al. 2002). While both types of stress have 77 78 been extensively studied individually, few studies (Lu and Zhang 1999; Rizhsky et al. 2002; Rizhsky et al. 2004) focused on impacts of combined heat and water 79 stress-a common situation prevailing under field conditions. It is possible that 80 combination of these stress factors can alter the metabolism of the plant differently, 81 compared to when a single stress is imposed (Xu and Zhou 2006). 82

83 6.2.1 Plants Response to Water Stress

Water deficit is one of the most widespread environmental factor stresses that occurs when the transpiration rate exceeds the absorption of water from the root system. Water deficit at the cellular level may result in an increase of solute concentration, changes in cell volume, disruption of water potential gradient, turgor loss, loss of membrane integrity and protein denaturation. The ability of the plant to respond to water deficit and survive depends on mechanisms that involve the integration of cellular responses throughout the plant (Bray et al. 2000).

Water deficit is a common plant environmental stress that dramatically limits 91 growth and development. Water stress can trigger a significant decrease in crop 92 productivity and quality, especially evident in grain and forage legumes. Lotus 93 japonicus is a well-established model legume closely related to forage legumes 94 such as Lotus corniculatus, Lotus tenuis and Lotus uliginosus (Choi et al. 2004; 95 Díaz et al. 2005a). Alfalfa is a legume species with great plasticity that can suc-96 ceed in semiarid, subhumid and humid regions and for that reason is called the 97 "queen of forage legumes". However, it requires well-aerated and deep soils and 98 is morphologically and physiologically adapted to withstand prolonged water defi-99 ciencies. In marked contrast to their drought-tolerant nature, these plants are very 100 sensitive to a lack of oxygen that is common in flooding soils. 101

Book ID: 321770_1_En ChapterID: 6 Dispatch Date: 08/10/2014 ProofNo: 1
Legumes are typically subjected to a variety of different environmental stresses 102 103 such as water stress. At the cellular level, this stress induces overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS; Fig. 6.1), such as hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), superoxide 104 radical $(O_2^{\bullet-})$ and hydroxyl radical ($^{\bullet}OH$), which are responsible for oxidative dam-105 age associated with stress (Dat et al. 2000). Plants respond to stress using differ-106 ent enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant systems. Oxidative stress responses 107 may involve increased activity of superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT) 108 and ascorbate-glutathione cycle activities such as glutathione reductase (GR) or 109 ascorbate peroxidase (APX), which can confer greater tolerance against a specific 110 environmental stress (Sade et al. 2011). Increased levels of non-enzymatic soluble 111 antioxidants including glutathione (GSH), ascorbic acid and tocopherols are also 112 113 produced in response to water stress-induced oxidative stress (Feng et al. 2004). Plant antioxidant defence systems normally provide adequate protection against 114 ROS damage under optimal growth conditions. The generation of higher levels of 115 ROS may overcome the defence provided by these systems and result in oxida-116 tive stress (Mittler 2002; Noctor and Foyer 1998; Valderrama et al. 2006). Cellular 117 damage caused by oxidative stress includes lipid peroxidation, which increases in 118 various tissues during water stress and is also a common marker of oxidative stress 119 120 (Sade et al. 2011).

In response to water deficit, plant cells also accumulate low-molecular-mass compounds termed compatible solutes, mainly proline, glycine betaine, sugars and polyols, in the cytoplasm to control the ionic balance in the vacuoles (Parida and Das 2005). Among these solutes, proline has been associated with different



Fig. 6.1 ROS production in the chloroplast. *Chl* chlorophyll, *Chl** excited chlorophyll. *PSI* photosystem I, *PSII* photosystem I. *Cyt* cytochrome, *PQ* plastoquinone, *PC* plastocyanin. Superoxide $(O_2^{\bullet-})$ can be produced by electron transfer to oxygen. Hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) is produced from superoxide by spontaneous dismutation or SOD activity. Hydroxyl radicals (•OH) are produced from hydrogen peroxide by homolysis or Fenton reaction in the presence of Fe³⁺. Singlet oxygen is generated from oxygen by energy transfer from excited chlorophylls

6 Combined Abiotic Stress in Legumes

functions, such as being a free radical scavenger, a cell redox balancer, a cytosolic
 pH buffer and a stabilizer for subcellular structures, especially during osmotic and
 salt stresses (Szabados and Savouré 2010).

During drought establishment, plants exhibit a decrease in stomatal conductance 128 with the consequent decrease in CO₂ assimilation. Stomatal closure has been con-129 sidered as the main reason for the inhibition of photosynthesis under drought. How-130 ever, it was demonstrated that limiting stomatal water losses is not so important 131 to maintain photosynthetic activity. For example, it has been observed in leaves 132 of various species, reductions in photosynthesis occur without apparent effects on 133 stomatal conductance (Teskey et al. 1986; Hutmacher and Krieg 1983), suggest-134 135 ing that factors independent of stomatal behaviour impact photosynthesis in plants subjected to drought. 136

The use of split root system has helped in gaining knowledge about the impact 137 of drought on the process of nodulation in legumes (Larrianzar et al. 2014). Nod-138 ule number is mainly regulated at the systemic level through a signal which is 139 140 produced by nodule/root tissue, translocated to the shoot and transmitted back to the root system. This process involves shoot Leu-rich repeat receptor-like 141 kinases. In contrast, local and systemic mechanisms regulate nitrogenase activ-142 ity in nodules (Esfahani et al. 2014). Under drought and heavy metal stress, the 143 regulation is mostly local, whereas the application of exogenous nitrogen seems 144 to exert a regulation of nitrogen fixation both at the local and systemic levels 145 (Marino et al. 2007). 146

147 6.2.2 Response of Plants to Heat Stress

High temperature at early sowing resulted in poor crop establishment due to failure of seed germination, emergence and reduced vigour (Khalaffalla 1985; Weaich
et al. 1996). In such situations, avoidance mechanisms, such as transpiration, leaf
rolling, hairiness or wax layers, may play a role in dissipating the heat load. However, in general, transpiration is the most important heat-dissipating system through
latent heat loss (Kramer 1983).

Plants exposed to high temperatures, at least 5°C above their optimal growing 154 conditions, exhibit cellular and metabolic responses required for the plants to 155 survive under this condition (Guy 1999). These effects include changes in the 156 organization of organelles, cytoskeletal reorganization and membrane functions, 157 accompanied by a decrease in the synthesis of some proteins and overexpression 158 of HSPs, the production of phytohormones such as abscisic acid (ABA) and 159 antioxidants and other protective molecules (Bita and Gerats 2013; Maestri et al. 160 2002; Bray et al. 2000). Under heat stress, about 5% of plant transcripts (~1500 161 genes) are up regulated, twofold or more (Rizhsky et al. 2004; Larkindale and 162 Vierling 2008; Finka et al. 2011). A significant fraction of these transcripts encode 163 heat-induced chaperones. For example, 88 out of 1780 in Arabidopsis thaliana, and 164 117 out of 1509 in wheat, are associated with HSP-based protection mechanism 165 (Liu et al. 2008; Ginzberg et al. 2009; Bokszczanin and Fragkostefanakis 2013). 166

Book ID: 321770_1_En ChapterID: 6 Dispatch Date: 08/10/2014 ProofNo: 1

5

There are many transcripts-encoding proteins involved in calcium signalling; 167 protein phosphorylation; phytohormone signalling; sugar and lipid signalling and 168 metabolism; RNA metabolism; translation, primary and secondary metabolisms; 169 transcription regulation and responses to different biotic and abiotic stresses 170 (Mittler et al. 2012; Huve et al. 2011). Changes in ambient temperature are sensed 171 by plant sensors positioned in various cellular compartments. The increased fluidity 172 of the membrane leads to activation of lipid-based signalling cascades and to an in-173 creased Ca²⁺ influx. Signalling by these routes leads to the production of osmolytes 174 175 and antioxidants as a response to heat stress. This stress also brings about changes in respiration and photosynthesis and thus leads to a shortened life cycle and dimin-176 ished plant productivity (Barnabás et al. 2008). 177

The early effects of heat stress comprise of structural alterations in chloroplast-178 protein complexes and reduced activity of enzymes (Ahmad et al. 2010). The photo-179 chemical modifications in the carbon flux of the chloroplast stroma and those of the 180 thylakoid membrane system are considered the primary sites of heat injury (Wise 181 182 et al. 2004), as photosynthesis and the enzymes of the Calvin–Benson cycle, including ribulose 1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase (Rubisco) and Rubisco activase are 183 very sensitive to low increases of temperature, and it is suggested to be one of the 184 primary determinants of heat-dependent reduction in photosynthesis (Maestri et al. 185 2002; Morales et al. 2003). Heat inactivation of Rubisco is reversible (Salvucci and 186 Crafts-Brandner 2004; Kim and Portis 2005). However, moderate heat stress has 187 been shown to alter the thylakoid permeability and electron transport (Schrader 188 et al. 2007; Zhang and Sharkey 2009), and this inhibition of electron transport is 189 associated with enhanced membrane permeability, disorganization of photosystem 190 II (PSII) and antenna tertiary structure, and disruption of the water splitting and 191 192 oxygen evolving system (Huve et al. 2011). Other specific responses of heat stress on photosynthetic membranes include the swelling of grana stacks and an aberrant 193 stacking. Such structural changes are accompanied by ion leakage from leaf cells 194 195 exposed to heat and changes in energy allocation to the photosystems (Wahid and Shabbir 2005; Allakhverdiev et al. 2008). The maintenance of cellular membrane 196 function under heat stress is thus essential for sustained photosynthetic and respira-197 tory performance (Chen et al. 2010). The detrimental effects of heat on chlorophyll 198 and the photosynthetic apparatus are also associated with the production of ROS 199 (Guo et al. 2007). By increasing chlorophyllase activity and decreasing the amount 200 of photosynthetic pigments, heat stress ultimately reduces the plant photosynthetic 201 and respiratory activity (Sharkey and Zhang 2010). 202

Homeostasis, in general, including biosynthesis and compartmentalization of
 metabolites, is disturbed in high-temperature-challenged plant tissues (Maestri et al.
 2002). Among the primary metabolites, accumulating in response to heat stress are
 proline, glycine betaine or soluble sugars (Wahid 2007).

Heat stress results in the misfolding of newly synthesized proteins and the denaturation of existing proteins. Protein thermostability is provided in part by chaperones (Ellis 1990). In this sense, the exacerbation of combined heat and other stress could be due to the loss of function of some enzymes that are overexpressed in response to other stress.

213

6.3 Effect of Water Stress-Heat Stress Combination on Different Plant Processes

L. corniculatus and Trifolium pratense are legumes used in agriculture as a forage 214 source. These species are both perennial herbaceous plants used in temperate grass-215 land and can be nodulated by *rhizobia*. Nevertheless, lotus is better suited to soils 216 217 with water restriction and has a superior tolerance to water stress (Peterson et al. 1992). In the field, mainly during summer, these plants are commonly exposed to 218 environmental stresses such as water stress and high temperatures, which in fact are 219 considered to be the most important environmental factors limiting plant growth 220 and development (Berry and Bjorkman 1980; Yordanov et al. 1986; Sinsawat et al. 221 222 2004).

223 6.3.1 Proline Accumulation

The accumulation of proline is known to be a good indicator of water stress in 224 L. corniculatus (Díaz et al. 2005b). However, the responses to combination of 225 226 stresses are not a mere additive effect of the single stresses. For example, some plants that tend to accumulate proline in water stress conditions replace it with 227 228 sucrose as the major osmoprotectant when subjected to a combination of water stress and heat stress (Rizhsky et al. 2004). In L. corniculatus water stress and 229 230 heat individually produce proline accumulation, but concomitant imposition of 231 both stresses produced a higher accumulation of proline. In contrast, Trifolium Pratense-accumulated proline in water stress conditions but not under heat stress 232 and the imposition of the combined stress produced only a slight increase in pro-AQ1 line concentration compared to unstressed plants (Signorelli et al. 2013). Thereby, 235 for L. corniculatus, proline accumulation is a parameter that can be used as a stress 236 marker to assess water stress and heat stress conditions, as well as the combination of both. However, proline accumulation in legumes cannot always be considered a 237 good indicator of stress condition when two or more stresses are present. It is also 238 known that proline accumulation under heat stress decreases the thermotolerance 239 240 of the plant, probably because of an enhancement in the production of ROS via the Pro/P5C cycle (Ly et al. 2011). In T. pratense, it was suggested that blocking 241 proline accumulation might be a strategy to avoid self-toxicity during heat stress 242 (Signorelli et al. 2013). This hypothesis correlated with the lipid peroxidation esti-243 244 mated by thiobarbituric reactive substances (TBARS), as *T. pratense* did not show an increase in lipid peroxidation under heat conditions. Moreover, T. pratense has 245 246 a lower lipid peroxidation content than L. corniculatus when water stress and heat stress are combined-a treatment in which L. corniculatus accumulates the highest 247 248 levels of proline.

On the other hand, it has been demonstrated that proline can act as an osmolyte under severe dehydration (Verslues and Sharp 1999). The non-accumulation of proline and the greater leaf area of *T. pratense* are important disadvantages of

this species compared to *L. corniculatus* when water loss must be prevented. In a comparative analysis of *L. corniculatus* and *T. pratense* subjected to water stress and heat, it was observed that *T. pratense* did not survive 5 days of combined stress, while lotus was still alive (Signorelli et al. 2013c). In concordance, higher drymatter yield was observed in lotus compared to *T. pratense* under field conditions subjected to summer water stress (Peterson et al. 1992).

258 6.3.2 Oxidative Stress

Most stresses induce ROS and alter the antioxidant–enzymatic response (Mahalingam and Fedoroff 2003). However, little is known about how two or more stresses affect the ROS production and the antioxidant response. In the model, legume *L. japonicus* (Sainz et al. 2010) and the forage legumes *L. corniculatus* and *T. pratense* was investigated how water stress and heat modify the antioxidant response and oxidative damage (Signorelli et al. 2013).

SOD is the main enzymatic system responsible for cell detoxification and is well 265 266 documented in several plant species to increase in response to water deficit and heat stress (Alscher et al. 2002). In L. corniculatus, the activity of Mn-SOD and Fe-SOD 267 increased as a consequence of water stress and combined stress (Fig. 6.2), but it did 268 not change under heat stress (Fig. 6.2). In the related model specie L. japonicus, 269 Cu/Zn-SOD immunodetection and the isoenzyme-specific activity assays con-270 firmed that high-temperature treatment provoked a reduction in the Cu/Zn-SOD 271 protein content and activity. This is consistent with a failure to convert O^{2.-} to H₂O₂ 272 in the combined heat-drought condition. Additionally, in spite of the decreased $\tilde{C}u/$ 273 ZnSOD in the high-temperature treatment, the accumulation of O^{2.-} remains low, 274



Fig 6.2 SOD activity under drought and combined heat and drought stress. **a** SOD isoforms profile. *C* control; *D* drought; *H* heat at $42 \,^{\circ}$ C; D+H drought+heat at $42 \,^{\circ}$ C. 40 and 200 mg of protein were loaded in *L. corniculatus* and *T. pratense*, respectively. The gel is the most representative of three replicates of native gels. **b** Total in vitro SOD activity. *C* control; *D* drought; *H* heat at $42 \,^{\circ}$ C. One unit of SOD was defined as the amount of enzyme that inhibits the rate of cytochrome c reduction by 50%. *Bars* indicate the relative standard deviation. (Figure modified from Signorelli et al. 2013)

Book ID: 321770_1_En ChapterID: 6 Dispatch Date: 08/10/2014 ProofNo: 1

8

252

253

254

255 256

257

41

6 Combined Abiotic Stress in Legumes

and this is likely because high temperature does not induce accumulation of this ROS (Sainz et al. 2010).

In T. pratense, however, no changes were observed in the activities of any SOD 277 278 isoforms. The results of the quantitative enzyme activity assay demonstrated that 279 total SOD activity is 2.6-fold greater in L. corniculatus than in T. pratense, and it is affected by the stress treatments. Heat did not modify the SOD activity in L. cor-280 niculatus, but the combination with water stress led to same level activity observed 281 under water stress (Fig. 6.2). T. pratense showed a slight increase in the SOD activ-282 ity by heat stress and combined stress (Fig. 6.2). In this case, for both legumes the 283 response of SOD activity in the combined stress was the addition of responses in the 284 285 individuals' stresses. It could be concluded that if one of the stresses that produce the induction of SOD activity is present, the induction of SOD activity will be war-286 ranted in the combined stress. In L. japonicus, heat stress led to a decrease on Cu/ 287 Zn-SOD contents, which also was observed under a combination of heat and water 288 deficit (Sainz et al. 2010). 289

In L. corniculatus, CAT activity only increases during the combination of wa-290 ter stress and heat. However, in T. pratense, CAT enzyme activity increased with 291 reference to control in response to water deficit, heat stress and combined stress, 292 although no differences were observed among these stresses. In T. pratense, it was 293 observed that any stress was able to induce CAT activity and the combination of 294 both stresses did not lead to an additive effect on the enzyme activity. For L. cor-295 niculatus, it seems that any individual stress is not sufficient to induce CAT activ-296 ity; however, the combination of stresses led to the induction of CAT, suggesting 297 that more than one signal is required to induce this enzyme. In L. japonicus, the 298 combination of heat and water deficit led to an increase in CAT activity, that was 299 much higher than the activity observed when the stressors were imposed individu-300 ally (Sainz et al. 2010). 301

Interestingly, the APX activity in L. corniculatus was inhibited by water stress 302 303 condition, while in T. pratense, this activity was inhibited only in the combined stress treatment. This enzyme is inactivated by nitration (Begara-Morales et al. 304 2014), which is reported to occur under several abiotic stresses (Corpas et al. 2013). 305 For example, for *L. japonicus*, a closely related species, it was observed that water 306 deficit induces a nitro-oxidative stress that was also reducing APX activity (Si-307 gnorelli et al. 2013c). We speculate that the different stressful situations are also 308 inducing nitro-oxidative stress in these plants, and this could explain the decay in 309 enzyme activity. 310

Both L. corniculatus and T. pratense leaves showed O₂^{•-} accumulation only in 311 the water deficit-heat stress combination, as was previously observed in the model 312 legume L. japonicus (Sainz et al. 2010). The higher SOD activity in water stress 313 conditions with respect to controls, would allow this species to deal with the O₂. 314 induced mainly by water stress. However, the increase of Mn-SOD and Fe-SOD 315 isoform activity by water stress was lost under high-temperature conditions, result-316 ing in an increase of O₂^{•-} in the combined treatment. In L. japonicus, similar results 317 were obtained with Cu/Zn-SOD, showing that deleterious effects of heat stress on 318 SOD activity might be a general response for this legume genus (Sainz et al. 2010). 319

The differences detected between both species are mainly explained by changes 320 in the Cu/Zn- SOD isoforms. In T. pratense, H₂O₂ accumulation showed the same 321 pattern; however, in L. corniculatus, the highest accumulation of ROS was observed 322 under water deficit. These results clearly demonstrate that combination of stress 323 situations cannot be always considered the additive responses of individual stresses. 324 L. corniculatus showed an increase in TBARS content as a consequence of water 325 deficit, heat stress and a combination of these. But T. pratense did not produce any 326 increase in TBARS content under heat stress. The absence of proline accumulation 327 in T. pratense may be an advantage under heat stress by avoiding the Pro/P5CS cy-328 cle which, as previously mentioned, could result in higher ROS production via the 329 Pro/P5CS cycle (Lv et al. 2011). However, proline accumulation might be critical 330 under combined stress because the osmolyte function seems to be important when 331 water stress is established. 332

333 6.3.3 Photosynthesis

Water stress and heat combination affects the rate of photosynthesis due to an 334 increase in photoinhibition, a process that can be enhanced when more types of 335 abiotic stress coexist (Takahashi and Murata 2008). Under stress conditions, the 336 possibility of overexcitation of PSII increases. This can cause a decline in the 337 photosynthetic rate as the process of photoinhibition increases due to the neces-338 sity to dissipate, through nonradiative processes, the excess of absorbed energy 339 (Takahashi and Murata 2008; Baker 2008). Because the capacity of photopro-340 tection is limited, certain conditions can lead to damage and loss of active PSII 341 reaction centres. Under severely high temperatures, in combination with water 342 stress, the photosynthetic apparatus is the primary site of damage. On the con-343 trary, photosystem I is more resistant to heat than PSII (Sayed et al. 1989; Hu 344 et al. 2004; Havaux 1993). Once photoinhibition is established, the PSII reaction 345 centre is simultaneously repaired via removal, synthesis and replacement of de-346 graded D1 protein (Ohad et al. 1984; Kyle and Ohad 1986), a protein of reaction 347 centre of PSII (Fig. 6.1). The observed photoinhibitory damage is the net result of 348 349 a balance between photodamage and the repair process (Samuelsson et al. 1985; Lidholm et al. 1987; Shyam and Sane 1989). Several studies have reported a good 350 correlation between changes in chlorophyll fluorescence parameters in response 351 to environmental stresses, such as heat, chilling, freezing and salinity (Bonnecar-352 rére et al. 2011; Smillie and Hetherington 1983; Yamada et al. 1996; Hakam et al. 353 2000). Others authors have linked the decrease in the maximum quantum yield 354 of PSII (F_v/F_M) to the physical dissociation of the PSII reaction centres that lead 355 to photoinhibition, and this assay was used to identify tolerant wheat cultivars 356 (Abdullah et al. 2011). 357

In *L. corniculatus*, no changes of the maximum quantum efficiency, evaluated as F_V/F_M , were observed in any treatment until the 5th day, when the combined treatment showed a significant decrease in the F_V/F_M parameter. In contrast, in *T*.

6 Combined Abiotic Stress in Legumes

pratense, this fluorescence parameter slightly decreased from the 1st day in the heat and combined treatment, but no changes were observed under water stress conditions.

L. corniculatus showed a slight decrease in the amount of D1 protein after water 364 stress treatment. However, there was no decrease in the protein content when the 365 control and heat conditions were compared. The D1-complex profile of T. pratense 366 was also analysed, and the western blot showed a very different result when com-367 pared with the L. corniculatus profile. The total D1 protein content in T. pratense 368 369 did not change in any treatment, but a difference was found in the ratio between the free protein and the complex form. In the treatments where heat was involved, an 370 371 increase in free D1 protein together with a decrease in the D1-complex form was evident, but it should be considered that this result might be a consequence of the 372 high hydrophobicity of these complexes, which makes their isolation difficult. Re-373 garding D2, in L. corniculatus, the results were similar to those observed with D1; 374 namely, when water stress was present in the treatments, a reduction in the amount 375 of D2 protein was observed. Surprisingly, in the combined treatment, the D2 protein 376 was not detected. In contrast, in T. pratense, no significant changes were observed 377 in D2 protein levels. 378

The chlorophyll fluorescence parameter that was evaluated showed that *L. corniculatus* had a significant decrease in the maximum quantum efficiency at the end of the combined treatment. The low F_V to F_M ratio indicated photoinhibition, a process that can act as determinant of plant performance during a stress condition (Abdullah et al. 2011). In *T. pratense*, only a small decrease in the F_V/F_M values was observed from the 1st day and in the treatments involving heat stress.

Analysis of PSII proteins in the two legumes with contrasting water stress 385 responses shows an effect that is stress- and species-specific. The D1 and D2 386 subunit content is decreased in L. corniculatus in both treatments involving water 387 stress, showing certain adaptability in response to water stress. Interestingly, the 388 389 decrease in the D2 levels was pronounced in the combined treatment, and this is well correlated with the decrease in the maximum quantum efficiency, suggesting 390 the presence of a disassembling process. The D2 subunit is of particular interest 391 because it represents the initial point for the assembly of the PSII as a whole (de 392 Vitry et al. 1989; Komenda et al. 2004; Minai et al. 2006). The expression of the 393 gene that encodes the D2 subunit of the PSII reaction centre is regulated post-394 transcriptionally by an RNA-binding protein (Schwarz et al. 2007). Modifications 395 induced by the stress in this post-transcriptional regulation could be a possible 396 explanation for the absence of D2 in L. corniculatus subjected to the combined 397 stress treatment. 398

In *T. pratense*, the total content of D1 and D2 did not change, but we observed an increase in the free form of D1 in treatments involving heat. One possible explanation is that the turnover of D1 is taking place in the heat treatments, and this is evident based on the increase of free D1 together with a reduction of the D1–D2 complex, as well as a decrease in the F_V/F_M values.

Book ID: 321770_1_En ChapterID: 6 Dispatch Date: 08/10/2014 ProofNo: 1

361

362

363

11

405

Author's Proof

6.4 Waterlogging and Salinity: A Combined Stress in Legumes

Salt stress is certainly one of the most serious environmental factors limiting the productivity of crop plants (Ashraf and O'Leary1999). Salinity reduces the ability of plants to take up water, causing rapid reductions in growth rate, along with an array of metabolic changes identical to those caused by water stress (Munns 2002).

410 High salt concentration in the external solution of plant cells produces several 411 deleterious consequences. First, salt stress causes an ionic imbalance (Niu et al. 1995). The homeostasis of not only Na⁺ and Cl⁻ but also K⁺ and Ca⁺² ions is dis-412 turbed (Rodriguez-Navarro 2000; Hasegawa et al. 2000; Serrano et al. 1999). As a 413 414 result, plant survival and growth will depend on adaptations that re-establish ionic homeostasis, thereby reducing the duration of cellular exposure to ionic imbalance. 415 Second, high concentrations of salt impose a hyperosmotic shock by decreasing 416 water and causing loss of cell turgor. This negative effect in the plant cell is thought 417 418 to be similar to the effects caused by drought. Third, reduction of chloroplast stromal volume and generation of ROS, in salt-induced water stress, are also thought to 419 420 play important roles in inhibiting photosynthesis (Price and Hendry 1991). On the molecular level, these responses are manifested as changes in the pattern of gene 421 expression (Maggio et al. 2002). 422

The process of salinization results from the interaction between climate, geomorphology, hydrology, land use and surface water properties and dynamics of the salts. Regions with salinity are frequently associated with geographical localization with inundation events; thus it is not infrequent that salt and flood stress occurs simultaneously.

Salinity and waterlogging interact adversely to reduce production of crops and
pastures, as very few species used in agriculture can tolerate the combination of
both stresses (Barrett-Lennard 2003). Moreover, annual pasture legumes are particularly sensitive to combined salinity and waterlogging (Bennett et al. 2009).

One of the most important consequences of energy limitation under anoxia is 432 altered redox state of the cell. Under low oxygen pressure conditions, the interme-433 diate electron carriers in electron transport chain become reduced, affecting redox-434 active metabolic reactions. Therefore, for maintaining redox homeostasis cells need 435 to regulate NADH to NAD ratio under flooding (Chirkova et al. 1992). Saturated 436 electron transport components, the highly reduced intracellular environment and 437 low-energy supply are the factors favourable for ROS generation. The consequenc-438 es of ROS formation depend on the intensity of the stress as well as on the physico-439 chemical conditions in the cell (i.e. antioxidant status, redox state and pH). As was 440 mentioned for other stresses, ROS accumulation may cause damage to different cell 441 structures and biomolecules. H₂O₂ production during O₂ deprivation was observed 442 in the plant cells (Blokhina et al. 2001), and its degradation was found to play an 443 important role in waterlogging tolerance in non-legume plants (Lin et al. 2004). 444

A trait that is essential for root survival during water logging or flooding is the development of aerenchyma (Armstrong 1979). Aerenchymas are cortical airspaces

that provide a low-resistance internal pathway for the movement of O_2 from the shoots to the roots, where it is consumed in respiration and may also reoxidize the rhizosphere (Armstrong 1970; Armstrong 1971, 1979). In legumes, aerenchyma may also be important for supplying O_2 and N_2 to root nodules (Walker et al. 1983; James et al. 1992; Zook et al. 1986; Pugh et al. 1995). Tolerance of *Melilotus siculus* to waterlogging is associated with the production of a highly porous phellem, a type of secondary aerenchyma, on taproots and upper lateral roots (Verboven et al. 2011).

Studies with plant species sensitive or tolerant to flooding-salt stress combina-454 tion have shown that the rate of transport of Na^+ and Cl^- to the shoot is critical to 455 define the response. The ions transport rate increases significantly under combined 456 457 stress in comparison with salinity alone (Barrett-Lennard 2003). For more tolerant species, there is only small or even no increase in shoot Na⁺ and Cl⁻ in response to 458 combined salinity and waterlogging (Colmer and Flowers 2008), presumably due 459 to better root aeration. Moreover, in perennial legumes such as Trifolium repens L. 460 (Rogers and West 1993) and *Liolaemus tenuis* (Teakle et al. 2007), high root po-461 462 rosity was associated with better shoot ion regulation under combined salinity and waterlogging. Comparisons of annual pasture legumes in growth, ion regulation and AQ3 root porosity demonstrate that *M. siculus* has exceptional tolerance to combinations 465 of salinity and waterlogging (Teakle et al. 2012). Enhanced root aeration would avoid energy deficits that could impair ion transport processes in roots, which de-466 termines delivery of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ to shoots via the xylem (Barrett-Lennard 2003; 467 Teakle et al. 2007; Colmer and Flowers 2008). Thus, traits of importance for toler-468 ance to combined salinity and waterlogging are likely to include high root porosity, 469 470 leading to decreased shoot Na⁺ and Cl⁻ concentrations.

471 6.5 Metabolic Changes in Responses to Stress 472 Combination

473 It is well known that the effect of a combination of different stresses on plants 474 can be quite different from those generated when plants are subjected to individual 475 types of stress (Rizhsky et al. 2002). Table 6.1 represents a summary of how the 476 combination of different stresses affects some parameters in legumes.

With reference to antioxidant responses, different patterns are observed when 477 more than one stress is imposed. However, it seems that in most cases the addition 478 of other stress did not alter the response. It implies that the signal molecules that 479 induce the expression of antioxidant enzymes probably are the same in different 480 stresses and so the imposition of both stresses is redundant. In other cases, the effect 481 of simultaneous stresses produces deleterious effects. For example, for APX and 482 CAT, one stress produces the induction of the activity (or at least a normal level of 483 activity), but the imposition of two stresses could produce a more nitrosative condi-484 tion in the cell leading to the nitration of the enzyme, which is known to decrease 485 the activity of these enzymes. 486

Book ID: 321770_1_En ChapterID: 6 Dispatch Date: 08/10/2014 ProofNo: 1

13



Table 0.1 Effects of stress combination on main parameters studied in regum	Table 6.1	ffects of stress combination on main param	neters studied in legumes
---	-----------	--	---------------------------

			Respo	onse	
	Evaluated parameter	Negative correlation	Unchanged	Additive response	Synergistic effect
	APX				Ar.
	SOD				
Antioxidant enzymes	CAT				
	GR				
	POX				
	H_2O_2				
Oxidative stress	TBARS				
	Electrolyte leakage				
	O ₂ °-			SE	
Photosynthetic activity	F_V/F_M				
	CP47	1			
	D1				
	D2			-	
Metabolites	Proline		/		
	Ascorbic acid				

Darker shading indicates that the particular response is supported by more evidence. Data obtained from following legume species under various combined stresses: *L. corniculatus, T. pratense* subjected to combined drought and heat (Signorelli et al. 2013a), *L. japonicus* subjected to combined drought and heat (Sainz et al. 2010), *Vigna unguiculata* subjected to combined CO₂, UV-B radiation and temperature stress (Singh et al. 2010), *Vigna radiata* (Siddiqui 2013) and *Phaseolus vulgaris* subjected to combined zinc and high irradiance stress (Michael and Krishnaswamy 2011).

APX ascorbate peroxidase, *SOD* superoxide dismutase, *CAT* catalase, *GR* glutathione reductase, H_2O_2 hydrogen peroxide, *TBARS* thiobarbituric reactive substances, $O_2^{\bullet-}$ superoxide radical, $F_{\sqrt{F_M}}$ photosystem II

Among the oxidative stress markers, synergistic effect was the most 487 commonly observed response. Most stresses are accompanied by an increment 488 of ROS production, and the source of ROS is different for different stresses 489 490 (Mahalingam and Fedoroff 2003; Wrzaczek et al. 2013). Thus, when more than 491 one stress is present, it induces ROS from different organelles, and hence the total ROS tends to be higher in combined stress scenarios. Less commonly, a 492 493 negative correlation or an unchanged response is observed. In one case of negative correlation observed for H2O2, it was suggested that the reduction in SOD activity 494 in combined stress as opposed to in single stress was responsible for the lower H2O2 495 in the former. In the other case, induction of CAT activity only in the combination 496 497 of stress was suggested to be the cause of lower H2O2 levels.

Photosynthetic activity does not show a defined pattern, maybe due to lack 498 499 of information. Even with the limited data, it can be seen that in all the cases examined, D1 was unchanged by the imposition of combined stresses. D2 protein 500 had a synergistic effect in combined stress. It is important to point out that in 501 drought and heat stress were considered in these studies, and some of these respons-502 es were observed in T. pratense and in two related species such as L. japonicus 503 and L. corniculatus. Other species should be evaluated to see the conservation 504 in the response of D2, which is suggested to disassemble to induce inhibition of 505 photosystem activity, and protect cells from oxidative damage caused by its own 506 activity. 507

508 6.6 Forage Legumes Field Productivity and Combined 509 Environmental Stress

Legumes have a high level of productive diversification and flexible utilization. The same species can be usefully exploited for different purposes such as soil protection from erosion; green manure crop; mulching; cover crop in vineyards, orchards and firebreak lines; high quality honey production; landscape enhancement and medicinal use. Consequently, forage legumes were adapted to a wide range of soil types, climatic conditions and management systems (Sánchez-Díaz 2001).

Legumes, as many other crops, have been bred to maximize productivity (forage or grain). But this productivity is always affected by adverse environmental factors. Perennial forage legumes are a good model to analyse the responses of adaptability of plants under field conditions. This is because during the whole plant growth and development cycle, plants are subjected to various types of abiotic stresses, both singly and in combinations.

Low temperatures and periods of water saturation in soils are common during the winters in many regions and in the other side periods of low water regime combined with high temperatures are common during summers. To these we must add other combinations of stresses such as periods of high radiation or toxic ions (Na⁺ or heavy metals) produced by changes in the physicochemical conditions of the soils.

Further, abiotic stress can affect the legume plants at different developmental stages. So legumes growing under field conditions must have adaptation process triggered by stress in seedling, vegetative or reproductive stages. For example, for seedling emergence, the optimal conditions in the field are established at the end of winter (Fig. 6.3).

Legumes are adapted to different environmental conditions by setting the developmental stages, such as reseedling capacity that is an important characteristic for the perpetuation of *L. corniculatus*. Yield of *L. corniculatus* during 3 years with seed set and without seed set, reveal the importance in reseedling (Fig. 6.4, Ayala and Carámbula 2009).

Book ID: 321770_1_En ChapterID: 6 Dispatch Date: 08/10/2014 ProofNo: 1

15



Fig. 6.4 Seasonal dry matter production of *L. corniculatus* under two-seed set management. With seed set (*solid line*) and without seed set (*dashed line*). (Ayala and Carámbula 2009)

This suggests that the tolerance in reproductive stages should be accompanied by physiological responses to deal with water restriction and high temperatures. Another key physiological mechanism in the survival of legumes is their ability to mobilize carbohydrates to storage tissues that can be located on the crown, root or rhizome (Castillo et al. 2012). However, it is critical that the photosynthetic activity remains active during the stress period to achieve significant accumulation of sugars allowing regrowth of the shoot after stress.

545 6.7 Breeding Approaches for Improving Tolerance 546 to Combined Abiotic Stresses

547 Selection for one abiotic stress tolerance in the field is very challenging due to in-548 teractions among the different stresses. Thus, the only strategy to identify the traits 549 to be applied in field for breeding tolerant genotypes is by performing experiments

6 Combined Abiotic Stress in Legumes

under controlled environment conditions. Regardless of the screening method, a 550 key objective for plant breeders is to develop an effective set of stress combination 551 markers that can be used to improve legume crop species. Controlled environmental 552 conditions allow the dissection of each one of different stress effect and the identi-553 fication of principal targets affecting plant tolerance. Breeding for stress tolerance 554 requires efficient screening procedures, identification of key traits in diverse donor 555 or tolerant lines and understanding their inheritance and molecular genetics. Statis-556 tical package applied to plant breeding will facilitate the identification of markers 557 in a multi-trait multi-environment way (Malosetti et al. 2004).

Several quantitative trait loci (QTL) studies relating to various abiotic stress tolerances have already been reported showing it is possible to improve and accelerate the breeding process in plant species without sequenced genomes (Chandra et al. 2004). In order to transfer these traits, classical breeding requires the establishment of rapid and cost-effective screening procedures and implementing these using breeding approaches such as association mapping or genomic selection procedures.

For the complete sequencing of the different important legumes, genome opens the possibility of fine mapping of the QTLs. In this perspective, gene identification for combined stress tolerance in legumes using genetic map information and genome data is an achievable goal (Heffner et al. 2009; Hirayama and Shinozaki 2010).

Phenotypic and physiological characterization along with RNA sequencing anal-571 vsis of plants subjected to drought, heat, salt, flooding stress or their combination 572 would confirm that the simultaneous imposition of different types of stress pres-573 ents unique but varied aspects that includes alteration of respiration rate, decreased 574 575 photosynthesis, stomatal closure, high leaf temperature and redox homeostasis. Thus, deep phenotyping methodologies, genome-based selection and massive RNA 576 sequencing technologies emerge as a promising avenue for the development of mul-577 578 tiple abiotic stress-tolerant crops.

579 **References**

580	Abdullah F, Hareri F, Naaesan M, Ammar MA, ZuherKanbar O. Effect of drought on different
581	physiological characters and yield component in different varieties of Syrian durum wheat. J
582	Agric Sci. 2011;3(3):127–33.
583	Ahmad A, Diwan H, Abrol YP Global climate change, stress and plant productivity. In: Pareek A,
584	Sopory KS, Bohnert HJ, Govindjee, editors. Abiotic stress adaptation in plants: physiological,
585	molecular and genome foundation. Dordrecht: Springer; 2010. p. 503-21.
586	Allakhverdiev SI, Kreslavski VD, Klimov VV, Los DA, Carpentier R, Mohanty P. Heat stress: an
587	overview of molecular responses in photosynthesis. Photosynth Res. 2008;98(1-3):541-50.
588	Alscher RG, Erturk N, Heath LS. Role of superoxide dismutases (SODs) in controlling oxidative
589	stress in plants. J Exp Bot. 2002;53(372):1331-41.
590	Armstrong W. Rhizosphere oxidation in rice and other species: a mathematical model based on the
591	oxygen flux component. Physiol Plant. 1970;23:623-30.
592	Armstrong W. Radial oxygen loss from intact rice roots as affected by distance from the apex,
593	respiration and waterlogging. Physiol Plant. 1971;25:192-7.

Author's Proof

18

594

597

598

599

600

601

602

603

604

605

606

S. Signorelli et al.

- Armstrong W. Aeration in higher plants. Adv Bot Res. 1979;7:225-332.
- Ashraf M, O'Leary JW. Changes in soluble proteins in spring wheat stressed with sodium chloride.
 Biol Plant. 1999;42:113–7.
 - Ayala W, Carámbula M El valor agronómico del género *Lotus*. Unidad de Comunicación y Transferencia de Tecnología de INIA, Montevideo, Uruguay; 2009.
 - Baker NR. Chlorophyll fluorescence: a probe of photosynthesis in vivo. Annu Rev Plant Biol. 2008;59:89–113.
 - Barnabás B, Jager K, Feher A. The effect of drought and heat stress on reproductive processes in cereals. Plant Cell Environ. 2008;31(1):11–38.
 - Barrett-Lennard EGT. The interaction between waterlogging and salinity in higher plants: causes, consequences and implications. Plant Soil. 2003;253:35–54.
 - Begara-Morales JC, Sanchez-Calvo B, Chaki M, Valderrama R, Mata-Perez C, Lopez-Jaramillo J, Padilla MN, Carreras A, Corpas FJ, Barroso JB. Dual regulation of cytosolic ascorbate peroxidase (APX) by tyrosine nitration and S-nitrosylation. J Exp Bot. 2014;65(2):527–38.
- peroxidase (APX) by tyrosine nitration and S-nitrosylation. J Exp Bot. 2014;65(2):527–38.
 Bennett SJ, Barrett-Lennard EG, Colmer TD. Salinity and waterlogging as constraints to saltland
 pasture production: a review. Agric Ecosyst Environ. 2009;129:349–60.
- Berry JA, Bjorkman O. Photosynthetic response and adaptation to temperature in higher plants.
 Ann Rev Plant Phys Plant Mol Biol. 1980;31:491–543.
- Bita CE, Gerats T. Plant tolerance to high temperature in a changing environment: scientific funda mentals and production of heat stress-tolerant crops. Front Plant Sci. 2013;4:273.
- Blokhina OB, Chirkova TV, Fagerstedt KV. Anoxic stress leads to hydrogen peroxide formation in plant cells. J Exp Bot. 2001;52(359):1179–90.
- Bohnert HJ, Sheveleva E. Plant stress adaptations-making metabolism move. Curr Opin Plant
 Biol. 1998;1(3):267-74.
- Bohnert HJ, Nelson DE, Jensen RG. Adaptations to environmental stresses. Plant Cell.
 1995;7(7):1099–111.
- Bokszczanin KL, Fragkostefanakis S. Perspectives on deciphering mechanisms underlying plant
 heat stress response and thermotolerance. Front Plant Sci. 2013;4:315.
- Bonnecarrére V, Borsani O, Díaz P, Capdevielle F, Blanco P, Monza J. Response to photoxidative
 stress induced by cold in japonica rice is genotype dependent. Plant Sci. 2011;180(5):726–32.
 Bray FA, Plant responses to water definit. Trands Plant Sci. 1007;2:48–54.
- Bray EA. Plant responses to water deficit. Trends Plant Sci. 1997;2:48–54.
- Bray EA, Bailey-Serres J, Weretilnyk E Responses to abiotic stresses. In: Buchanan BB, Gruis sem W, Jones RL, editors. Biochemistry and molecular biology of plants. Rockville: American
 society of plant physiologists; 2000. P. 1158–1203.
- Castillo A, Rebuffo M, Dalla Rizza M, Folle G, Santiñaque F, Borsani O, Monza J. Generation
 and characterization of interspecific hybrids of *Lotus uliginosus x Lotus corniculatus*. Crop
 Sci. 2012;52:1572–82.
- Chandra S, Buhariwalla HK, Kashiwagi J, Harikrishna S, Rupa Sridevi K, Krishnamurthy L, Ser raj R, Crouch JH Identifying QTL-linked markers in markers-deficient crops. In: Fisher T,
 Turner N, Angust J et al., editors. Proceeding of the fourth international crop science congress.
 The Regional Institute Ltd., Gosford, Australia; 2004.
- Chen J, Wang P, Mi HL, Chen GY, Xu DQ. Reversible association of ribulose-1, 5-bisphosphate
 carboxylase/oxygenase activase with the thylakoid membrane depends upon the ATP level and
 pH in rice without heat stress. J Exp Bot. 2010;61(11):2939–50.
- Chirkova TV, Zhukova TM, Bugrova MP. Redox reactions of plant cells in response to short-term
 anaerobiosis. Vestnik SPBGU. 1992;3:82–6.
- Choi HK, Mun JH, Kim DJ, Zhu H, Baek JM, Mudge J, Roe B, Ellis N, Doyle J, Kiss GB, Young
 ND, Cook DR. Estimating genome conservation between crop and model legume species. Proc
 Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(43):15289–94.
- 643 Colmer TD, Flowers TJ. Flooding tolerance in halophytes. New Phytol. 2008;179(4):964-74.
- Corpas FJ, Palma JM, Del Rio LA, Barroso JB. Protein tyrosine nitration in higher plants grown
 under natural and stress conditions. Front Plant Sci. 2013;4:29.
- Dat J, Vandenabeele S, Vranova E, Van Montagu M, Inze D, Van Breusegem F. Dual action of the
 active oxygen species during plant stress responses. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2000;57(5):779–95.

649 650

651

652

653

654

655

657

658

659

6 Combined Abiotic Stress in Legumes

de Vitry C, Olive J, Drapier D, Recouvreur M, Wollman FA. Posttranslational events leading to the assembly of photosystem II protein complex: a study using photosynthesis mutants from *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. J Cell Biol. 1989;109(3):991–1006.

- Díaz P, Borsani O, Monza J Lotus-related species and their agronomic importance. In: Márquez AJ, editor. Lotus japonicus handbook. Heidelberg: Springer; 2005a. p. 25–37.
- Díaz P, Borsani O, Márquez M, Monza J. Osmotically induced proline accumulation in Lotus corniculatus leaves affected by light and nitrogen source. Plant Growth Regul. 2005b;46:223–32.

Ellis RJ. Molecular chaperones: the plant connection. Science. 1990;250(4983):954–9.

- Esfahani MN, Sulieman S, Schulze J, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K, Tran LS (2014) Mechanisms of physiological adjustment of N2 fixation in chickpea (*Cicer arientum* L.) during early stages of water deficit: Single or multi-factor controls? Plant J doi:1111/ tpj.12599.
- tpj.12599.
 Feng Z, Jin-Kui G, Ying-Li Y, W en-LiangH, Li-Xin Z. Changes in pattern of antiozidant enzyma
 in wheat wxposed to water deficit and rewatering. Acta Physiol Plant. 2004;26:345–52.
- Finka A, Mattoo RU, Goloubinoff P. Meta-analysis of heat- and chemically upregulated chaperone
 genes in plant and human cells. Cell Stress Chaperones. 2011;16(1):15–31.
- Ginzberg I, Barel G, Ophir R, Tzin E, Tanami Z, Muddarangappa T, de Jong W, Fogelman E. Transcriptomic profiling of heat-stress response in potato periderm. J Exp Bot. 2009;60(15):4411–21.
- Guo TR, Zhang GP, Zhang YH. Physiological changes in barley plants under combined toxicity of
 aluminum, copper and cadmium. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces. 2007;57(2):182–8.
- 670 Guy C. Molecular responses of plants to cold shock and cold acclimation. J Mol Microbiol Bio-671 technol. 1999;1(2):231–42.
- Hakam P, Khanizadeh S, DeEll JR, Richer C. Assessing chilling tolerance in roses using chloro phyll fluorescence. Hortscience. 2000;35(2):184–6.
- Hasegawa M, Bressan R, Zhu J-K, Bhonert H. Plant cellular and molecular responses to high salin ity. Annu Rev Plant Physiol. 2000;51:493–9.
- Havaux M. Rapid photosynthetic adaptation to heat stress triggered in potato leaves by moderately
 elevated temperatures. Plant Cell Environ. 1993;16:461–7.
- Heffner EL, Sorrells ME, Jannink JL. Genomic selection for crop improvement. Crop Sci.
 2009;49:1–12.
- Hirayama T, Shinozaki K. Research on plant abiotic stress responses in the post-genome era: past,
 present and future. Plant J. 2010;61:1041–52.
- Hu ZH, Xu YN, Jiang GZ, Luang TY. Degradation and inactivation of photosystem I complexes
 during linera heating. Plant Sci. 2004;166:1177–83.
- Hutmacher RB, Krieg DR. Photosynthetic rate control in cotton: stomatal and nonstomatal factors.
 Plant Physiol. 1983;73(3):658–61.
- Huve K, Bichele I, Rasulov B, Niinemets U. When it is too hot for photosynthesis: heat-induced
 instability of photosynthesis in relation to respiratory burst, cell permeability changes and H(2)
 O(2) formation. Plant Cell Environ. 2011;34(1):113–26.
- James EK, Minchin FR, Sprent JI. The physiology and nitrogen-fixing capability of aquatically
 and terrestrially grown *Neptunia plena*: the importance of nodule oxygen supply. Ann Bot
 1992;69:181–7.
- Khalaffalla AM. Effect of sowing date, ridge direction, plant orientation and population on faba
 grain yield. FABIS Newslett. 1985;12:11–2.
- Kim K, Portis AR Jr. Temperature dependence of photosynthesis in *Arabidopsis* plants with modi fications in Rubisco activase and membrane fluidity. Plant Cell Physiol. 2005;46(3):522–30.
- Komenda J, Reisinger V, Muller BC, Dobakova M, Granvogl B, Eichacker LA. Accumulation
 of the D2 protein is a key regulatory step for assembly of the photosystem II reaction center
 complex in *Synechocystis* PCC 6803. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(47):48620–9.
- 699 Kramer PJ. Water relations of plants. Orlando: Academic; 1983.
- Kyle DJ, Ohad I. The mechanism of photoinhibition in higher plants and green algae. In: Stae helin AL, Arntzen CJ, editors. Encyclopedia of plant physiology. Berlin:Springer; 1986;Vol.
- 702 19:pp. 468–75.

707

708

709

20

- Larkindale J, Vierling E. Core genome responses involved in acclimation to high temperature.
 Plant Physiol. 2008;146(2):748–61.
 Larrainzar E, Gil-Quintana E, Arrese-Igor C, Gonzalez EM, Marino D Split-root systems applied
 - Larrainzar E, Gil-Quintana E, Arrese-Igor C, Gonzalez EM, Marino D Split-root systems applied to the study of the legume-rhizobial symbiosis: what have we learned? J Integr Plant Biol. 2014. doi:10.1111/jipb.12231.
 - Lidholm J, Gustafsson P, Oquist G. Photoinhibition of photosynthesis and its recovery in a green alga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. Plant Cell Physiol. 1987;28:1133–40.
- Lin KHR, Weng CC, Lo HF, Chen JT. Study of the root antioxidative system of tomatoes and eggplants under waterlogged conditions. Plant Sci. 2004;167:355–65.
- Liu HT, Gao F, Li GL, Han JL, Liu DL, Sun DY, Zhou RG. The calmodulin-binding protein
 kinase 3 is part of heat-shock signal transduction in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant J.
 2008;55(5):760–73.
- Lu C, Zhang J. Effects of water stress on photosystem II photochemistry and its thermostability in
 wheat plants. J Exp Bot. 1999;50:1199–206.
- Lv WT, Lin B, Zhang M, Hua XJ. Proline accumulation is inhibitory to *Arabidopsis* seedlings dur ing heat stress. Plant Physiol. 2011;156(4):1921–33.
- 719Maestri E, Klueva N, Perrotta C, Gulli M, Nguyen HT, Marmiroli N. Molecular genetics of heat720tolerance and heat shock proteins in cereals. Plant Mol Biol. 2002;48(5-6):667–81.
- Maggio A, Miyazaki S, Veronese P, Fujita T, Ibeas JI, Damsz B, Narasimhan ML, Hasegawa PM,
 Joly RJ, Bressan RA. Does proline accumulation play an active role in stress-induced growth
 reduction? Plant J. 2002;31(6):699–712.
- Mahalingam R, Fedoroff NV Stress response, cell death and signalling: the many faces of ROS.
 Physiol Plant. 2003;119:56–68.
- Malosetti M, Voltas J, Romagosa I, Ullrich SE, van Eeuwijk FA. Mixed models including
 environmental covariables for studying QTL by environment interaction. Euphytica.
 2004;137:139–45.
- Marino D, Frendo P, Ladera R, Zabalza A, Puppo A, Arrese-Igor C, Gonzalez EM. Nitrogen
 fixation control under drought stress. Localized or systemic. Plant Physiol. 2007;143:1968–74.
- Michael PI, Krishnaswamy M. The effect of zinc stress combined with high irradiance stress
 on membrane damage and antioxidative response in bean seedlings. Environ Exp Bot.
 2011;74:171–7.
- Minai L, Wostrikoff K, Wollman FA, Choquet Y. Chloroplast biogenesis of photosystem II
 cores involves a series of assembly-controlled steps that regulate translation. Plant Cell.
 2006;18(1):159–75.
- 737 Mittler R. Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. Trends Plant Sci. 2002;7(9):405–10.
- Mittler R, Finka A, Goloubinoff P. How do plants feel the heat? Trends Biochem Sci. 2012;37(3):118–25.
- Morales D, Rodríguez P, Dell'Amico J, Nicolas E, Torrecillas A, Sánchez-Blanco MJ. High tem perature preconditioning and thermal shock imposition affects water relations, gas exchange
 and root hydraulic conductivity in tomato. Biol Plant. 2003;47:203–8.

Munns R. Comparative physiology of salt and water stress. Plant Cell Environ. 2002;25(2):239–
 50.

- Niu X, Bressan RA, Hasegawa PM, Pardo JM. Ion homeostasis in NaCl stress environments. Plant
 Physiol. 1995;109(3):735–42.
- Noctor G, Foyer CH. Ascorbate and glutathione: keeping active oxygen under control. Annu Rev
 Plant Phys. 1998;49:249–79.
- Ohad I, Kyle DJ, Arntzen CJ. Membrane protein damage and repair: removal and replace ment of inactivated 32-kilodalton polypeptides in chloroplast membranes. J Cell Biol.
 1984;99(2):481–5.
- Parida AK, Das AB. Salt tolerance and salinity effects on plants: a review. Ecotoxicol Environ
 Safe. 2005;60(3):324–49.
- Pastori GM, Foyer CH. Common components, networks, and pathways of cross-tolerance to stress. The central role of "redox" and abscisic acid-mediated controls. Plant Physiol.
- 756 2002;129(2):460–8.

758

759

760

761

762

763

764

6 Combined Abiotic Stress in Legumes

Peterson PR, Sheaffer CC, Hall MH. Drought effects on perennial forage legume yield and quality. Agron J. 1992;84(5):774–9.

- Price AH, Hendry GAF. Iron-catalyzed oxygen radical formation and its possible contribution to drought damage in nine native grasses and three cereals. Plant Cell Environ. 1991;14:477–84.
- Pugh R, Witty JF, Mytton LR, F.R. M. The effect of waterlogging on nitrogen fixation and nodule morphology in soil grown white clover (*Trifolium repens* L.). J Exp Bot. 1995;46:285–90.
- Rizhsky L, Liang H, Mittler R. The combined effect of drought stress and heat shock on gene expression in tobacco. Plant Physiol. 2002;130(3):1143–51.
- Rizhsky L, Liang H, Shuman J, Shulaev V, Davletova S, Mittler R. When defence pathways
 collide. The response of *Arabidopsis* to a combination of drought and heat stress. Plant Physiol.
 2004;134(4):1683–96.
- Rodriguez-Navarro A. Potassium transport in fungi and plants. Biochim Biophys Acta.
 2000;1469(1):1–30.
- Rogers ME, West DW. The effects of rootzone salinity and hypoxia on shoot and root growth in
 Trifolium species. Ann Bot. 1993;72:503–9.
- 572 Sade B, Soylu S, Yetim E. Drought and oxidative stress. Afr J Biotechnol. 2011;10(54):11102–9.
- Sainz M, Diaz P, Monza J, Borsani O. Heat stress results in loss of chloroplast Cu/Zn superoxide
 dismutase and increased damage to photosystem II in combined drought-heat stressed Lotus
 japonicus. Physiol Plant. 2010;140(1):46–56.
- Salvucci ME, Crafts-Brandner SJ. Inhibition of photosynthesis by heat stress: the activation state
 of Rubisco as a limiting factor in photosynthesis. Physiol Plant. 2004;120(2):179–86.
- Samuelsson G, Lonneborg A, Rosenquist E, Gustafsson P, Oquist G. Photoinhibition and reac tivation of photosynthesis in the cyanobacterium Anacystis nidulans. Plant Cell Physiol.
 1985;83:992–5.
- Sánchez-Díaz M Adaptation of legumes to multiple stresses in Mediterranean-type environments.
 In: Delgado I, Lloveras J, editors. Quality in lucerne and medics for animal production. vol
 Options Méditerranéennes: Série A. Séminaires Méditerranéens. CHIEAM, Zaragoza, 2001.
 p. 145–151.
- Sayed OH, Earnshaw MJ, Emes MJ. Photosynthetic response of different varieties of wheat to
 high temperature. II. Effect of heat stress on photosynthetic electron transport. J Exp Bot.
 1989;40:633–8.
- Schrader SM, Kleinbeck KR, Sharkey TD. Rapid heating of intact leaves reveals initial effects of stromal oxidation on photosynthesis. Plant Cell Environ. 2007;30(6):671–8.
- Schwarz C, Elles I, Kortmann J, Piotrowski M, Nickelsen J. Synthesis of the D2 protein of
 photosystem II in Chlamydomonas is controlled by a high molecular mass complex con taining the RNA stabilization factor Nac2 and the translational activator RBP40. Plant Cell.
 2007;19(11):3627–39.
- Serrano R, Mulet JM, Ríos G, Márquez JA, de Larriona IF, Leube MP, Mendizabal I, Pascual Ahuir A, Proft MRR, Montesinos C. A glimpse of the mechanism of ion homeostasis during
 salt stress. J Exp Bot. 1999;50:1023–36.
- Sharkey TD, Zhang R. High temperature effects on electron and proton circuits of photosynthesis.
 J Integr Plant Biol. 2010;52(8):712–22.
- Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. Gene expression and signal transduction in water-stress
 response. Plant Physiol. 1997;115(2):327–34.
- Shyam R, Sane PV. Photoinhibition of photosynthesis and its recovery in low and high light acclimatized blue-green alga (Cyanobacterium) Spirulina platensis. Biochem Physiol Pflanz. 1989;185;211–9.
- Siddiqui ZS. Effects of double stress on antioxidant enzyme activity in *Vigna radiata* (L.) Wilczek.
 Acta Bot Croat. 2013;72(1):145–56.
- Signorelli S, Arellano JB, Melo TB, Borsani O, Monza J. Proline does not quench singlet oxygen:
 evidence to reconsider its protective role in plants. Plant Physiol Biochem. 2013a;64:80–3.
- Signorelli S, Casaretto E, Sainz M, Diaz P, Monza J, Borsani O. Antioxidant and photosystem II
 responses contribute to explain the drought-heat contrasting tolerance of two forage legumes.
 Plant Physiol Biochem. 2013b;70C:195–203.

Book ID: 321770_1_En ChapterID: 6 Dispatch Date: 08/10/2014 ProofNo: 1

21

S. Signorelli et al.

22

811	Signorelli S, Corpas FJ, Borsani O, Barroso JB, Monza J. Water stress induces a differential and
812	spatially distributed nitro-oxidative stress response in roots and leaves of Lotus japonicus.
813	Plant Sci. 2013c;201–202:137–46.
814	Singh SK, Kakani VG, Surabhi G-K, Reddy KR () Cowpea (Vigna unguiculata [L.] Walp.) geno-
815	types response to multiple abiotic stresses. J Photochem Photobiol B: Biol. 2010;100:135–46.
816	Sinsawat V, Pandy J, Leipner P, Stamp P, Fracheboud Y. Effect of heat stress on the photosynthetic
817	apparatus in maize (Zea maize L.) grown at control or high temperature. Environ Exp Bot.
818	2004;52:123–9.
819	Smillie RM, Hetherington SE. Stress tolerance and stress-induced injury in crop plants measured
820 821	by chlorophyll fluorescence in vivo: chilling, freezing, ice cover, heat, and high light. Plant Physiol. 1983;72(4):1043–50.
822	Szabados L, Savouré A. Proline: a multifunctional amino acid. Trends Plant Sci. 2010;15(2):89-97.
823	Takahashi S, Murata N. How do environmental stresses accelerate photoinhibition? Trends Plant
824	Sci. 2008;13(4):178–82.
825	Tang Y, Wen X, Lu Q, Yang Z, Cheng Z, Lu C. Heat stress induces an aggregation of the
826	light-harvesting complex of photosystem II in spinach plants. Plant Physiol. 2007;143(2):629-38.
827	Teakle N, Flowers T, Real D, Colmer T. Lotus tenuis tolerates the interactive effects of salinity
828	and waterlogging by 'excluding' Na+ and Cl- from the xylem. J Exp Bot. 2007;58(8):2169-80.
829	Teakle NL, Bowman S, Barrett-Lennard EG, Real D, Colmer TD. Comparisons of annual pasture
830	legumes in growth, ion regulation and root porosity demonstrate that Melilotus siculus has
831	exceptional tolerance to combinations of salinity and waterlogging. Environ Exp Bot.
832	2012;77:175–84.
833	Teskey RO, Fites JA, Samuelson LJ, Bongarten BC Stomatal and nonstomatal limitations to
834	net photosynthesis in Pinus taeda L. under different environmental conditions. Tree Physiol.
835	1986;2(1_2_3):131–142.
836	Valderrama R, Corpas FJ, Carreras A, Gomez-Rodriguez MV, Chaki M, Pedrajas JR, Fernandez-
837	Ocana A, Del Rio LA, Barroso JB. The dehydrogenase-mediated recycling of NADPH is a key
838	antioxidant system against salt-induced oxidative stress in olive plants. Plant Cell Environ.
839	2000,29(7).1449-J9. Verboven D. Dedersen O. Herremans F. He OT. Nicolai DM. Colmar TD. Teakle N. Poet coration
840	via aerenchymatous nhellem: three-dimensional micro-imaging and radial O2 profiles in
841	Malilotus signilus New Phytol 2011;103(2):420-31
842	Verslues P Sharn R Proline accumulation in maize (<i>Zea mays</i> I) Primary roots at low water
843	notentials. II Metabolic source of increased proline deposition in the elongation zone. Plant
844	Physiol 1999:119:1349-60
845	Wahid A Physiological implications of metabolite biosynthesis for net assimilation and heat-stress
840	tolerance of sugarcane (<i>Saccharum officinarum</i>) sprouts. I Plant Res. 2007;120(2):219–28
847	Wahid A Shabhir A Induction of heat stress tolerance in harley seedlings by pre-sowing seed
040	treatment with olycinebetaine Plant Growth Regul 2005:46:133-41
850	Walker BA Pate IS Kuo I Nitrogen fixation by nodulated roots of Viminaria juncea (Schrad &
850	Wendl) Hoffmans (Fabaceae) when submerged in water Aust I Plant Physiol 1983:10:409–21
852	Weaich K. Briston KL. Cass A. Modeling preemergent maize shoot growth. II. High temperature
853	stress conditions. Agron J. 1996:88:391–7.
854	Wise R. Olson A. Schrader S. Sharkey T. Electron transport is the functional limitation of pho-
855	tosynthesis in field-grown pima cotton plants at high temperature. Plant Cell Environ.
856	2004:27:717-24.
857	Wrzaczek M. Brosche M. Kangasiarvi J. ROS signalling loops—production, perception, regula-
858	tion. Curr Opin Plant Biol. 2013:16:575–582.
859	Xu ZZ, Zhou GS. Combined effects of water stress and high temperature on photosynthesis,
860	nitrogen metabolism and lipid peroxidation of a perennial grass Levmus chinensis. Planta.
861	2006;224(5):1080–90.
862	Yamada M, Hidaka T, Fukamachi H. Heat tolerance in leaves of tropical fruit crops as measured
863	by chlorophyll fluorescence. Sci Hortic. 1996;37:39-48.

865 866

867

868

869

6 Combined Abiotic Stress in Legumes

Yordanov I, Dilova R, Petkova T, Pangelova V, Goltsev K-H. Mechanisms of the temperatures damage and acclimation of the photosynthetic apparatus. Photobiochem Photobiophys. 1986;12:147–55.

Zhang R, Sharkey TD. Photosynthetic electron transport and proton flux under moderate heat stress. Photosynth Res. 2009;100(1):29–43.

- Zhu JK, Hasagawa PM, Bressan RA. Molecular aspects of osmotic stress in plants. Crit Rev Plant Sci. 1997;163:253–77.
- Sci. 1997;163:253–77.
 Zook DM, Erwin DC, Stolzy LH. Anatomical, morphological, and physiological responses of alfalfa to flooding. Plant Soil. 1986;96:293–6.

option of the second

II. Respuestas a sequía en una leguminosa modelo

1. Uso de un transgénico para evaluar la funcionalidad de la prolina

El utilizar mutantes o silenciantes para genes que participan en la biosíntesis de prolina es una aproximación más concreta que la comparación de distintas especies para evaluar la participación de esta molécula en el estrés. Para eso en nuestro laboratorio se generó un transgénico de *L. japonicus* (Sainz et al., 2008) con el fin de silenciar un gen *p5cs* y de este modo impedir la acumulación de prolina. La secuencia que se insertó para generar el RNAi fue obtenida a partir de un *blast* de una secuencia p5cs de *Arabidopsis thaliana* sobre el genoma de *L. japonicus*.

Materiales y Métodos

Material vegetal

Las semillas de *L. japonicus* (Regel) Larsen cv. Gifu fueron cedidas por la Ing. Agr. M. Rebuffo, INIA La Estanzuela, Uruguay. Las 12 líneas transgénica silenciantes de *L. japonicus* fueron cedidas por la Dra. Martha Sainz (Sainz et al., 2008). Los transgénicos llevan una construcción para generar un RNAi del gen *p5cs*, bajo el promotor constitutivo 35S del virus del mosaico del coliflor. En la figura 6 se esquematiza la construcción insertada en el plásmido.



Figura 6. Construcción de silenciamiento. El vector binario pH7GWIWG2(I),o lleva fragmentos del gen *p5cs* de *L. japonicus* bajo el promotor fuerte 35S, genes de resistencia a higromicina (Hyg), estreptomicina (Sm) y espectinomicina (SpR). LB y RB (borde izquierdo y derecho del transposón respectivamente) y el intrón de la chalcona sintasa.

Condiciones de crecimiento

Las semillas se esterilizaron superficialmente en alcohol 96° GL durante 1 min, con un enjuague con agua estéril, seguido por 3 min en hipoclorito de sodio al 20% (v/v), y 5 lavados sucesivos de 5 min en agua estéril. Las semillas germinaron a 25°C por 5 días en placas de Petri con agar-agua al 0,7 %, estéril. Las plantas crecieron en macetas que contenían arena:vermiculita (1:1) y solución nutritiva Rigaud y Puppo (Rigaud and Puppo, 1977) estéril cuya composición aparece a continuación. Las plantas crecieron durante 35 días en condiciones controladas con ciclos de 18/8 h luz/oscuridad y una densidad de flujo de fotones de 200 µmol · m⁻² · s⁻¹.

La solución Rigaud y Puppo (1977) se preparó de la siguiente forma:

Macroelementos	(g/L)	Microelementos	(mg/L)
K_2SO_4	0,174	EDTA-Fe	25
KH ₂ PO ₄	0,068	$Na_2MoO_4.2H_2O$	0,11
K ₂ HPO ₄	0,044	H_3BO_3	2,85
MgSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	0,123	$CuSO_{4.5}H_{2}O$	0,2
CaSO ₄	0,120	$ZnSO_4.7H_2O$	0,55
KNO ₃	0,505	$MnSO_4.H_2O$	3,07

Se ajustó a pH 7,5.

Imposición de déficit hídrico

El déficit hídrico se impuso por inmersión de los foliolos en una solución de polietilenglicol 8000 (PEG) al 30% en agua destilada (p/v). Esta solución genera un potencial hídrico de -1,5 Mpa. Como control se incubaron foliolos en placas de Petri con agua destilada. Los foliolos se mantuvieron durante 18 y 24 h en ambas condiciones, y se lavaron con agua destilada para remover el PEG inmediatamente antes de realizar las extracciones de ARN y prolina.

Extracción y cuantificación de Prolina

La extracción se realizó según (Chares and Phan, 1990) con modificaciones. Los foliolos se congelaron en nitrógeno líquido y se molieron en mortero. Se tomaron entre 50-100 mg de muestra y se maceró en microtubos con 800 μ L de metanol-cloroformo-agua (MCA, 12:5:1). El homogeneizado se centrifugó a 5.000 x *g*

2 min a temperatura ambiente. Al sobrenadante se le adicionó 200 µL de cloroformo, 300 µL de agua destilada y se centrifugó a 5.000 x g 1 min. La fase superior (acuosa) se usó para la determinación de prolina, que se determinó según (Troll and Lindsley, 1955) con modificaciones. La totalidad del volumen de la fase acuosa se pasó a un tubo con tapa y se agregó 1 mL de ácido acético y 1 mL de ninhidrina ácida, consistente en H₃PO₄ 6 M, ácido acético 12,6 M y ninhidrina 0,14 M. Se calentó en baño de agua a 90 °C durante 1 h y se dejó enfriar a temperatura ambiente. Seguidamente se adicionó 1 mL de tolueno, se agitó vigorosamente durante 5 min y se dejó decantar aproximadamente 12 h, hasta la formación de dos fases. Para cuantificar la prolina se tomaron muestras de la fase superior y se leyó la absorbancia a 515 nm. Como blanco se utilizó tolueno. La curva patrón se construyó con soluciones de prolina entre 0 y 120 nmoles \cdot mL⁻¹. Las determinaciones se realizaron por triplicado de cada réplica biológica.

Expresión de genes por qRT-PCR

Los foliolos congelados en nitrógeno líquido se molieron en mortero y el ARN se extrajo según las instrucciones del fabricante del kit "*Isolate RNA kits*" (Bioline) para ARN de plantas.

Para eliminar el ADN las muestras se trataron con DNAsa (*New England Biolabs*). Para ello se resuspendió 10 µg de RNA en 1X "*DNase I Reaction Buffer*" hasta un volumen final de 100 µL. Se agregó 2 unidades de DNAsa, se mezcló suavemente y se incubó a 37° C 10 min. Se agregó 1 µl de EDTA 0,5 M (concentración final, 5 mM) y se incubó a 75° C durante 10 min para inactivar la DNAsa. Para la obtención de cDNA a partir del RNA se siguieron las instrucciones del fabricante del kit "*SuperScript*TM *III First-Strand Synthesis System for RT-PCR*" (Invitrogen).

Para la PCR en tiempo real cuantitativa (qRT-PCR) se siguieron las instrucciones del fabricante del kit "*QuantiFast SyBR Green RT-PCR*" (QIAGEN).

Los primers utilizados fueron:

LjUBC4 (housekeeping) chr5.CM0956.27F TTCACCTTGTGCTCCGTCTTC chr5.CM0956.27R AACAACAGCACACAGACAATCC

LjP5CS1	
chr1.CM0147.99F	CCCGTGGCCCTGTAGGAGT
chr1.CM0147.99F	TCCCGTCCCTCTCAATATCCA

LjP5CS2

chr2.CM0011.16F	GACAGTGCGGCTGTTTTTCAC
chr2.CM0011.16R	GTCCGAATAGTGCCCCATCA

Análisis estadístico

Se realizó el análisis de varianza de los resultados utilizando el test de Tukey's a un nivel de p \leq 0,05.

Resultados y Discusión

Identificación de potenciales secuencias *p5cs* en el genoma de *L*. *japonicus*

Para estudiar la expresión de los genes p5cs en L. japonicus primero se debió analizar las posibles proteínas P5CS en la base de datos. Para ello se identificaron en el NCBI (National Center for Biotechnology Information) las secuencias proteicas para P5CS A y P5CS B de A. thaliana. Estas secuencias se alinearon con las secuencias proteicas de L. japonicus a través de un Blastp y se obtuvieron 10 secuencias para cada Blastp (ver apéndice). Estas 10 secuencias eran las mismas en ambos blastp y sólo diferían en el score de similitud. A partir de las secuencias proteicas se buscó la secuencia de nucleótidos en el ADN que codificaba para estas proteínas, así como su localización cromosómica. Al analizar las secuencias se observó que 8 de ellas eran EST que pertenecían a las otras 2 secuencias encontradas con mayor score de similitud (ver apéndice). A la secuencia de L. japonicus que alineó mejor con la p5cs A inducible de A. thaliana se la llamamos Ljp5cs 1 y a la que alineó mejor con la p5cs B constitutiva de A. thaliana la llamamos Ljp5cs 2. Estos resultados indican que cada gen p5cs de A. thaliana tiene su homólogo en L. japonicus. Para cuantificar el nivel de expresión de estos genes por qRT-PCR se diseñaron primers específicos. En el apéndice se encuentran las secuencias de las proteínas y la secuencia de nucleótidos de Ljp5cs 1 y Ljp5cs 2 de L. japonicus.

Expresión de genes p5cs en plantas transgénicas

De las distintas líneas transgénicas construidas para silenciar el gen *p5cs* por RNAi, se seleccionaron 3 líneas para este análisis. Dos de ellas fueron elegidas por ser las que acumulaban menos prolina (líneas 15 y 16) y la otra por ser de las pocas líneas cuyas plantas no presentaban problema para producir semillas (línea 33), lo que permitiría seguir trabajando con ella.

Los foliolos de las líneas seleccionadas y del salvaje se sometieron a déficit hídrico impuesto por PEG 30 % y se determinó la concentración de prolina acumulada a 18 y 24 h. La figura 7 muestra el aumento de la concentración de prolina a las 18 y 24 h después de imponer el déficit hídrico.



Figura 7. Concentración de prolina en foliolos. Condición control (C) y déficit hídrico (PEG) a 18 y 24 h. wt, salvaje; 15, 16 y 33 líneas transgénicas. Los asteriscos indican diferencias significativas con el wt correspondiente al mismo tratamiento, para 3 medidas de una misma réplica biológica.

A partir de los datos obtenidos, se decidió estudiar los niveles de expresión de las 2 *p5cs* encontradas en *L. japonicus* en control y PEG a las 24 h. Los valores de expresión de los genes para la P5CS 1 y la P5CS 2 se muestran en la figura 8. Como se puede observar el gen *Ljp5cs1* es inducible por déficit hídrico produciéndose un incremento en la expresión de 4 veces. En las líneas transgénicas también se indujo ese gen, sin embargo las cantidades fueron menores en ambas condiciones. Por lo tanto y como se esperaba, la P5CS 1 de *L. japonicus*, homóloga a la P5CS A de *Arabidopsis*, también es inducible.

La P5CS 2 no es inducible por déficit hídrico, ya que tanto en el salvaje como en las líneas transgénicas su expresión no se incrementó en PEG 30 % (Fig. 8). Esto se podía predecir porque el gen con mayor similitud en *A. thaliana* también es constitutivo. A su vez se observó que los valores de expresión en las líneas transgénicas son muy inferiores a los del salvaje, lo que evidencia que el RNAi silenció efectivamente el gen.



Figura 8. Expresión de los genes *Ljp5cs1* y *Ljp5cs2*. La expresión se determinó en condición control (C) y déficit hídrico a las 24 h (PEG_{24}). Los asteriscos indican diferencias significativas con el wt correspondiente al mismo tratamiento, para 3 medidas de una misma réplica biológica.

La tabla 1 muestra el porcentaje de silenciamiento obtenido en cada línea. En *Ljp5cs2* el silenciamiento promedio fue del 94 % tanto en condición control como en PEG 24 h. Esos valores de silenciamiento son mayores a los obtenidos para *Ljp5cs1*, que llegó a un 32 % en situación control y un 41% en PEG 24 h. Esta diferencia se debió a que la secuencia del RNAi usado era la del gen *Ljp5cs2*, por lo que silencia eficientemente a este gen, pero en menor grado al gen *Ljp5cs1* ya que tiene una similitud del 80%.

		% Silenciamiento				
	_	Ev.15	Ev.16	Ev.33	Media	
Linzaci	CRL	39.7	36.3	31.7	31.7	
LJP5CSI	PEG 24	63.9	19.1	41.3	41.3	
Linzaco	CRL	87.7	97.5	95.9	93.7	
LJP5C82	PEG 24	93.6	89.2	98.2	93.7	

Tabla 1. Silenciamiento de los genes p5cs1 y p5cs2 en las transgénicas.

Si se compara la expresión de los dos genes *Ljp5cs* se observa que la expresión de *Ljp5cs1* es mayor al de *Ljp5cs2*, figura 9. Esto hace que el efecto del silenciamiento

sea poco relevante, ya que no solo se silencia el gen constitutivo, sino que es el gen que menos se expresa de ambos. De esta forma, se pudo concluir que la enzima P5CS1 en *L. japonicus* es la principal responsable de la acumulación de prolina y por esto los transgénicos también acumularon prolina.



Figura 9. Expressión de *Ljp5cs1* y *Ljp5cs2*. Las expressiones son relativas al control de *Ljp5cs1*. C, Control; PEG_{24} , PEG_{30} % durante 24 h.

Estos resultados forman parte de un capítulo de libro que figura a continuación (Díaz et al., 2014).

Conclusiones

- *L. japonicus* cuenta con 2 genes *p5cs*, uno inducible al que denominamos *Ljp5cs1* y otro constitutivo al que denominamos *Ljp5cs2*.
- La imposición de estrés osmótico por PEG al 30 % durante 24 horas es suficiente para producir la inducción del gen *Ljp5cs1* y este es el responsable de la acumulación de prolina observada en ese periodo.
- Una similitud del 82% entre la construcción de RNAi y el gen a silenciar no es suficiente para obtener un silenciamiento adecuado.
- Estas líneas transgénicas de *L. japonicus* no son adecuadas como herramienta para explicar el rol de la prolina en respuesta a estrés.

4 Amino Acids and Drought Stress in Lotus: Use of Transcriptomics and Plastidic Glutamine Synthetase Mutants for New Insights in Proline Metabolism

Pedro Díaz¹, Marco Betti², Margarita García-Calderón², Carmen M. Pérez-Delgado², Santiago Signorelli¹, Omar Borsani¹, Antonio J. Márquez^{2*} and Jorge Monza¹ ¹Biochemistry Laboratory, Department of Vegetal Biology, Agronomy Faculty, Research group: Plant Abiotic Stress, Av. E. Garzón 780, CP 12900 Montevideo, Uruguay; ²Department of Plant Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Chemistry Faculty, University of Seville, Apartado 1203, 41071-Sevilla, Spain

4.1 The Relationship between Nitrogen Metabolism and Drought Stress

Legumes are second only to the Graminae in importance to humans. In fact, legumes are widely used as a source of food, feed for livestock and raw materials for industry. Unfortunately, cultivated legumes are poorly suited for genomic research since several of them are tetraploids, have large genomes and are recalcitrant to transformation. For this reason, *Lotus japonicus* and *Medicago truncatula*, that have smaller and simpler genomes, have been adopted as models for legume research (Graham and Vance, 2003; Udvardi *et al.*, 2005; Stacey *et al.*, 2006). One of the ideas behind the use of model legumes is to exploit the synteny between model and cultivated species. This approach requires that the target genome region should contain the same genes in approximately the same position in model and crop species. Recent advances in comparative genomics confirm that the discoveries produced in M. truncatula and L. japonicus can frequently be extended to other legumes, including most members of the large and agriculturally important Papilionoid subfamily (Young et al., 2005). Moreover, model legumes have the particular attraction that they can carry out a symbiotic relationship with nitrogen-fixing bacteria (Udvardi et al., 2005; Stacey et al., 2006); something that is not possible for other well exploited model species such as Arabidopsis thaliana. Since the beginning of the work with L. japonicus (Handberg and Stougaard, 1992), a great amount of physiological, biochemical and genetic studies have been carried out using this model legume (Márquez, 2005; Udvardi et al.,

^{*} Corresponding author, e-mail: cabeza@us.es

[©] CAB International 2014. *Plant Adaptation to Environmental Change* (eds N.A. Anjum, S.S. Gill and R. Gill)

	Control	Drought stress
NR+EDTA ^a	100 ± 10	40 ± 8
NR+Mg ^{2+ a}	90 ± 11	35 ± 15
Nitrate concentration ^b	160 ± 10	170 ± 9

 Table 4.1. In vitro nitrate reductase (NR) activity and nitrate concentration in L. corniculatus roots.

NR activity was determined in the presence of either EDTA or Mg²⁺. Data are the mean ± standard deviation of three biological replicates. ^a Expressed in µmol NO₂⁻ mg⁻¹ prot. h⁻¹. ^b Expressed in µmol NO₃⁻ g⁻¹ DW. Adapted from Sainz (2006).

2005). The use of *L. japonicus* is of particular interest, and also *L. filicaulis and L. burtii* as models for the study of a number of cultivated *Lotus* species of great economic importance such as *L. corniculatus*, *L. uliginosus*, *L. tenuis* and *L. sub-biflorus*, which have been domesticated and improved by plant breeding (Blumenthal and McGraw, 1999; Díaz *et al.*, 2005a; LOTASSA, 2010). This should promote the isolation and comparative characterization of genes from the less characterized cultivated *Lotus* species (LOTASSA, 2010; Castillo *et al.*, 2012).

Two of the factors that mostly limit the productivity of Lotus are drought stress and nitrogen availability (Borsani et al., 1999; Márquez et al., 2005). These two limiting factors are strictly interconnected. In fact, the metabolic pathways for nitrate and ammonium assimilation are affected by drought stress. Nitrate is reduced to ammonia by a two-step process catalysed by the enzymes nitrate reductase (NR) and nitrite reductase. Results from our groups have shown that drought stress results in a decrease of NR activity in L. corniculatus leaves and roots. However, NR activation state and nitrate content in both organs were not affected under the same conditions. As shown in Table 4.1, the presence of either Mg²⁺ or EDTA did not affect NR activity level under both control and drought conditions. This could indicate that the interaction between NR and 14-3-3 proteins was not modified by drought.

The main route for the assimilation of ammonia is the glutamine synthetase (GS)/glutamate synthase (GOGAT) pathway, while a minor assimilatory role may be played by glutamate dehydrogenase (GDH). The enzymes for ammonium assimilation were differently affected



Fig. 4.1. Western blot analysis of GS in *L. corniculatus* leaves. The days spent by the plants under drought stress conditions are indicated.

by drought stress in Lotus. Western blot analysis showed that drought stress resulted in increased levels of the cytosolic GS (GS1) isoform but did not affect the levels of the plastidic GS (GS2) polypeptide in L. corniculatus leaves (Fig. 4.1). On the other hand, the total GS activity was not modulated by drought in L. japonicus. This was determined by the quantification of the synthetase, transferase and biosynthetic activities of GS. However, the GS2 polypeptide content decreased while the GS1 content was increased in this Lotus species (unpublished results). The increase in GS1 content could be related with the re-assimilation of the ammonium derived from collateral proteolysis processes that are induced by drought (Skopelitis et al., 2006). Most of the work carried out in leaves has not defined the specific contributions of GS1 and GS2 to total GS activity under osmotic stress conditions (Lutts et al., 1999; Santos et al., 2004) and, depending on the plant species analysed, total GS activity may decrease, increase or be unaffected by drought (Bernard and Habash, 2009).

A similar pattern of response to drought in different *Lotus* species was observed for Fd-GOGAT. The Fd-GOGAT activity was increased in response to drought in nodulated and nitrate-fed *L. corniculatus* plants (Borsani *et al.*, 1999; Díaz *et al.*, 2005c) while in *L. japonicus* Fd-GOGAT activity was increased in nitrate-fed plants but not in ammonium-fed plants under water deprivation (Díaz, 2011). This indicated that the modulation of Fd-GOGAT activity under drought is related with the nitrogen source available to the plant.

A role for GDH in ammonium assimilation has been proposed by several groups (Masclaux-Daubresse et al., 2002; Skopelitis et al., 2006). The authors suggested that the GDH aminating activity may be important during senescence and under abiotic stress conditions, situations where the ammonium concentration may be increased. In these conditions GDH may assimilate the ammonium produced, acting as a detoxification system. GS, GOGAT and GDH contribute to the maintaining of the glutamate and glutamine pools, which are the precursor of several compounds that accumulate under abiotic stress. For example, proline, gamma amino butyric acid (GABA) and asparagine are increased under water deprivation (Chiang and Dandekar, 1995). The metabolic pathways implicated in the synthesis of these molecules are drought-responsive and are highly dependent on glutamate and glutamine metabolism. Several of these compounds are called compatible solutes: small molecules that play several protective roles such as to maintain cell turgor and to scavenge reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Bartels and Sunkar, 2005).

4.2 Proline and Drought Stress in Lotus

Four *Lotus* species have been domesticated and improved by plant breeding: *L. corniculatus, L. uliginosus, L. tenuis* and *L. subbiflorus* (Blumenthal and McGraw, 1999; Díaz *et al.*, 2005a). All these cultivated species, as well as the models *L. japonicus, L. burtii* and *L. filicaulis* accumulate high levels of proline derived from *de novo* synthesis in response to drought stress (Díaz *et al.*, 2005c). On the other hand, in *L. corniculatus* leaves the decrease in proline degradation also contributes to the accumulation of this amino acid under drought (Borsani et al., 1999). Proline is one of the most common compounds produced in plant cells in response to different kinds of abiotic stresses (Szabados and Savouré, 2010). Multiple roles have been proposed for this amino acid that may explain this conserved response. Among the roles proposed for proline are the ones of compatible osmolyte, C-N storage compound for recovery after stress, scavenger of ROS, regulator of redox potential and modulator of gene expression between others (Szabados and Savouré, 2010; Vendruscolo et al., 2007). Proline also appears to be a very good marker of drought stress in several Lotus species. In fact, a strong correlation between proline accumulation and hydric deficit was observed in *L. japonicus* and *L.* corniculatus (Díaz et al., 2005d; Díaz et al., 2010). In Lotus, proline accumulation is detected at early stages of drought imposition, when the variation in tissue water content is yet very low. Increases of 20% in hydric deficit (HD) are enough to trigger proline accumulation in Lotus plant tissues (Table 4.2). For this reason, we propose that proline may act as an early and sensitive drought stress indicator in Lotus. Moreover, proline accumulation is also a common response to salt stress in different Lotus species (Sánchez et al., 2011a).

The combination of drought and heat stress has a synergistic effect on proline accumulation in *L. japonicus* plants (Sainz, 2009). Similar results were obtained with *L. corniculatus* and *L. uliginosus*. Moreover, interspecific hybrids obtained by Castillo *et al.* (2012) using these last two species as parents showed a synergistic effect of drought and heat stress on proline accumulation.

It has been observed that proline content is affected by the nitrogen source available to the plants. In fact, *L. corniculatus* plants grown with ammonium accumulated at least twice as much proline than nodulated or nitrate-fed plants (Borsani *et al.*, 1999; Díaz *et al.*, 2005c). A similar dependence of proline accumulation from the nitrogen source under drought conditions has been observed also in *L. japonicus*. Moreover, *L. corniculatus* roots and *L. japonicus* nodules also accumulated proline in response to drought and salt stress respectively (López *et al.*, 2008; Sainz, 2009).

The content of other molecules related to proline metabolism, like hydroxyproline and pyroglutamate was also increased in WT *L. japonicus*

	Control		Drought stress	
Genotype	HD ^a	PC ^b	HD	PC
L. corniculatus	20 ± 5	5.5 ± 1.5	41 ± 5*	65.0 ± 7.3*
L. tenuis	1 9 ± 4	4.0 ± 1.3	$43 \pm 4^{*}$	57.9 ± 5.1*
L. japonicus	21 ± 3	10.0 ± 2.5	$38 \pm 6^{*}$	$61.2 \pm 3.5^{*}$

Table 4.2. Hydric deficit (HD) and proline concentration (PC) in cultivated and model *Lotus* species under drought stress.

a calculated as [turgid weight - fresh weight] / [turgid weight - dry weight] x 100.

^b expressed in µmol g⁻¹ dry weight. The results are mean of three replicates.

* indicate significant differences between control and drought stress at 5% Tukey's test



Fig. 4.2. Changes in nitrogen compounds under drought stress in WT (white bars) and *LjgIn2-2* mutant plants (black bars). Values indicate the fold-change of metabolite levels under drought stress with respect to the control. The compounds quantified by GC-MS were arginine (arg), ornithine (orn), proline (pro), glutamine (gln), gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), asparagine (asn), glutamate (glu), hydroxyproline (hpro) and pyroglutamate (pglu). The results are average of at least three repetitions. *Means significant difference with the control at 5% according to Student's t test. (Adapted from Díaz, 2011.)

plants under drought stress conditions (Fig. 4.2, white bars). These molecules could be produced by the reaction of proline with ROS (Matysik *et al.*, 2002). However, Sánchez *et al.* (2008) found that while proline concentration increases, hydroxy-proline concentration decreased in salt-stressed *L. japonicus* plants. This indicates that different kinds of abiotic stress have different effects on proline metabolism.

Recently, a novel connection between plastidic glutamine synthetase and proline biosynthesis under drought stress was discovered by our group (Díaz *et al.*, 2010). For this reason, it was of particular interest to determine also the content of several molecules related to proline metabolism in response to drought in the *L. japonicus* plastidic

GS mutant Ljgln2-2 (Orea et al., 2002; Betti et al., 2006, 2012). The levels of proline in the mutant were lower than the WT in response to drought (Fig. 4.2, black bars), confirming that plastidic GS is important in supporting the stress-induced biosynthesis of proline. On the other hand, hydroxyproline content diminished in the mutant as a consequence of water deprivation. This was surprising since hydroxyproline is produced by the reaction of proline and hydroxyl radicals (Matysik et al., 2002), and the Ljgln2-2 mutant showed higher levels of oxidative stress under drought compared to the WT (Díaz et al., 2010). Further metabolic studies should be carried out in order to clarify the role of this metabolite under drought conditions in the plastidic GS mutant.

The lower proline levels observed in the mutant under drought were accompanied by small or no changes in hydroxyproline and pyroglutamate concentrations respectively (Fig. 4.2). This indicates that GS2 deficiency, not only affects proline synthesis, but also the metabolites related to it.

The plastidic GS isoform produces glutamine, precursor for proline biosynthesis in the plastid, whereas cytosolic GS is responsible for the same contribution in the cytoplasm (Szabados and Savouré, 2010). The *Ljgln2-2* mutant has normal levels of GS1 polypeptide and activity (Orea *et al.*, 2002), so the glutamine for proline biosynthesis is probably provided by GS1 (Díaz *et al.*, 2010). Nevertheless, glutamate, glutamine and ornithine concentrations, precursors of proline synthesis, were not changed both in the *Ljgln2-2* and the WT genotype under drought stress (Fig. 4.2). For this reason, the minor proline accumulation observed in the mutant could not be assigned to precursor deficiency.

4.3 Proline and Drought Stress in Lotus: Transcriptomic Analysis

Proline accumulation under stress may result from a stimulation of proline biosynthesis, an inhibition of its oxidation or both (Szabados and Savouré, 2010). Proline is mainly synthesized from glutamate by the sequential action of pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CS) and pyrroline-5-carboxylate reductase (P5CR) (Székely et al., 2008). This pathway is present in both the cytosol and the chloroplast (Szabados and Savouré, 2010). Alternatively, proline can be produced from ornithine by the action of ornithine- δ -aminotransferase (OAT), following the conversion of arginine into ornithine by the action of arginase (Delauney et al., 1993). The degradation of proline occurs in the mitochondria and involves oxidation to pyrroline-5-carboxylate (P5C) by proline dehydrogenase (PDH), and subsequent conversion into glutamate by pyrroline-5- carboxylate dehydrogenase (P5CDH) (Székely et al., 2008 and references therein).

The expression of the genes for both proline biosynthesis and degradation was studied in the mark of a transcriptomic experiment using both WT plants and the previously mentioned *Ljgln2-2* mutant from L. japonicus. For this, we used the newly developed Affymetrix® Lotus1a520343 Genechip that includes a total of 52,000 probesets that encompassed the major part of the L. japonicus genes (a probeset is an oligonucleotide designed to measure the expression of a known or predicted sequence of mRNA). RNA was extracted from well-watered plants and drought-stressed plants (with a RWC of 65%) and the genes modulated by drought were identified using a statistical cut-off of < 5% and applying a false discovery rate (FDR). Transcriptional analysis of the response of the L. japonicus genes for proline metabolism showed that the main pathway that involves glutamate as precursor was induced under drought conditions in both genotypes (Table 4.3). In particular, the biosynthetic P5CS gene was highly induced, especially in the Ljgln2-2 mutant. Similar results were obtained by Sánchez et al. (2008) for L. japonicus WT plants under different salt stress conditions. In the alternative pathway, the expression of the arginase gene (LjArg) was induced only in the mutant (Table 4.3). No changes in the expression levels of the LjOAT gene were detected by the Affychips (Table 4.3). However, quantification of the corresponding transcript by qRT-PCR revealed a 3-fold induction of LjOAT exclusively in the mutant (Díaz et al., 2010). For the other genes of proline metabolism, data from Affychip and qRT-PCR analysis were in good agreement (Díaz et al., 2010).

The results presented here suggest that the OAT alternative pathway is not contributing in a relevant way to proline accumulation in WT L. japonicus plants, but may support the main pathway in the plastidic GS mutant. This mutant in fact accumulates a lower amount of proline in response to drought (Fig. 4.2), probably as a consequence of its lower proline biosynthetic capacity due to the absence of plastidic GS. Moreover, the higher level of induction of the P5CS genes in the mutant under drought may represent another compensatory mechanism (Díaz et al., 2010). The increase in P5CS gene expression may also indicate that this is a regulation point of the pathway, with minor incidence of the availability of the precursor glutamate and ornithine.

Among the genes for proline degradation, the *P5CDH* gene generally shows a basal expression that is induced by exogenous application of proline (Deuschle *et al.*, 2001). In *L. japonicus*, *P5CDH* gene expression was up-regulated in the

The data obtained with the Ljgln2-2 mutant under drought stress (Díaz et al., 2010), as well as studies in L. corniculatus using inhibitors of photosynthetic electron chain (Díaz et al., 2005c) showed that about 50% of the total proline accumulated under drought was synthesized in the chloroplasts, while the other 50% is probably synthesized in the cytosol. In agreement with our data, Brugière et al. (1999) found that in tobacco plants submitted to salt stress about 50% of the proline accumulated depended on the cytosolic GS isoform. Moreover, studies carried out in Arabidopsis showed that proline biosynthesis under control conditions is mainly cytosolic, whereas this synthesis is chloroplastic under drought stress conditions (Székely et al., 2008).

A detailed sequence analysis revealed that the eight probesets that compose the groups P5CS2 and P5CS3 defined by Díaz et al. (2010) corresponded to the same gene located on chromosome 1 of L. japonicus. From now on we will call this gene LjP5CS1 since it is homologous to the stress-responsive P5CS1 gene of A. thaliana. On the other hand, the probesets corresponding to the P5CS1 group defined by Díaz et al. (2010) corresponded to a gene located on chromosome 2, which we now name LjP5CS2 since it is homologous to the constitutive P5CS2 gene of A. thaliana (Strizhov et al., 1997; Székely et al., 2008). Expression analysis of these two genes in L. japonicus, shows that P5CS1 expression is induced by osmotic stress while P5CS2 is not (Table 4.4), in a similar way to the corresponding A. thaliana homologous genes. Also, the basal expression of the inducible gene is higher than the constitutive gene. The probesets selected for the expression analysis were chr1.CM147.99 and chr2.CM0011.16 for LjP5CS1 and LjP5CS2 respectively because these probesets lead to high PCR efficiency. This is probably due to the fact that these sequences have a 100% of identity with the chromosomal sequence, while the other probesets were designed based on EST sequences.

4.4 Plastid GS Deficiency and Drought Stress: Transcriptomic Analysis

The modulation of the expression of the genes for proline biosynthesis hinted to more widespread transcriptional changes. In fact, a total of 2608 and 7915 probesets were modulated by water deprivation in the WT and Ljgln2-2 mutant respectively (Díaz et al., 2010). These modulated genes were classified into functional categories using the program Genebins (Goffard and Weiller, 2007). It was found that about 40% of the elicited genes had a known function in both genotypes, while about 60% of them were unclassified (Figure 4.3). Among the genes with known function, several were involved in important processes for the response to drought like membrane transport (3% and 2% in WT and mutant respectively) and amino acid metabolism (12% and 10% in WT and mutant respectively), with the latter category including genes involved in compatible osmolyte biosynthesis, among others. The group of genes related to signal transduction (8% in both genotypes) is also worthy of consideration since it may include the genes related with stress perception and signalling.

Several photosynthetic genes were repressed in the plastidic GS mutant under drought conditions. This regulation may have important consequences on the chloroplast metabolism. GS2

Table 4.4. Expression of *P5CS* genes under osmotic stress in *L. japonicus*. The expression levels were standardized to the ones of the *P5CS1* gene under control conditions, taken as 1. Osmotic stress was established by incubating the leaves in 30% PEG 8000 (-1.5 MPa) for 24 h.

Gene	Probeset	Control	Drought stress
LjP5CS1	chr1.CM0147.99	1.00 ± 0.07	4.13 ± 0.34
LjP5CS2	chr2.CM0011.16	0.51 ± 0.04	0.60 ± 0.17

PCR conditions and primer sequences for the *LjP5CS1*, *LjP5CS2* and the housekeeping *LjUBC10* that was used as internal standard were described by Díaz *et al.* (2010). Only PCR reactions with efficiencies higher than 90% were considered. Data are the mean ± standard deviation of three biological replicates.



Fig. 4.3. Classification of the *L. japonicus* genes modulated by drought stress into non-redundant functional categories in the WT (black bars) and *Ljgln2-2* mutant plants (white bars). The functional classification was obtained using the Genebins program (Goffard and Weiller, 2007). a: Unclassified without homology; b: Unclassified with homology; c: Other cell functions; d: Cell motility, growth and death; e: Signal transduction and communication; f: Membrane transport; g: Replication, transcription and translation; h: Other metabolisms; i: Amino acids metabolism; and j: Nucleotides, carbohydrates and lipids metabolism.

 Table 4.5.
 Expression of genes of the photorespiratory C2 cycle under drought stress in WT and Ljgln2-2 mutant plants.

Gene	Probeset	Wild type	Ljgln2-2
C2 cycle			
LjGDCH2	Ljwgs_087246.1	1.8	5.3
LjGO1	Ljwgs_013523.1	2.2	8.6
LjGO2	Ljwgs_143630.1	-1.9	-3.9
LjHPR	Ljwgs_011418.2	-1.7	-4.4

The number represents the difference in relative expression levels of the reported genes between drought conditions and normal watering. Data are obtained from the mean of three independent hybridization of Affychips for each condition/genotype. Number in bold is the mean significant difference (FDR < 0.05). The genes reported encode for the H subunit of glycine decarboxylase (*LjGDH2*), two glycolate oxidase isoforms (*LjGO1* and *LjGO2*) and for hydroxypyruvate reductase (*LjHPR*).

deficiency was associated to a major repression of these genes, which is probably a symptom of higher levels of stress in this genotype (Díaz *et al.*, 2010). The minor proline concentration found in the mutant may be a reflex of lower plastidic proline biosynthesis in the absence of GS2. However, the repression of photosynthetic genes in the mutant would also result in a decrease of NADPH availability. Since high levels of NADPH are needed for massive accumulation of proline, the repression of photosynthetic metabolism in the *Ljgln2-2* mutant may also explain the lower accumulation of proline showed by this genotype. As was mentioned before, the application of propanil (3'4'- dichloropropioanilid) an inhibitor of photosynthetic electron flux to *L. corniculatus* leaves under osmotic stress conditions inhibited NADPH production. This resulted in a drop of proline accumulation of about 50%. This difference was assigned to the minor availability of reductant power derived from photosynthesis (Díaz *et al.*, 2005c).

Several genes of the photorespiratory C2 cycle were also induced in both genotypes, including glycine decarboxylase and the *LjGO1* isoform of glycolate oxidase, while others like hydroxypyruvate reductase and the *LjGO2* isoform of glycolate oxidase were repressed (Table 4.5).

This suggests a coordinate regulation of the photorespiratory genes under drought stress conditions in *L. japonicus*.

4.5 Nitrogen Nutrition and Proline Metabolism in Lotus

As mentioned before, several responses of *Lotus* species to water deficit depend on the nitrogen source available. In order to get further insight into this dependence, *L. japonicus* plants were cultivated with ammonium or nitrate as the unique nitrogen source. The plants were then subjected to drought stress by withholding watering and the transcript levels of the genes and enzymatic activities for proline metabolism and ammonium assimilation were quantified. Proline accumulation under drought conditions was observed both for the nitrate- and the ammonium-fed plants. However, proline levels under drought conditions were higher in the case of the ammonium-fed plants with respect to those of the nitrate-fed

plants. In agreement with data obtained with other *Lotus* species, no changes in total protein and total amino acid were observed under both nitrogen nutritions (Díaz *et al.*, 2005b). The difference in proline levels observed between nitrate and ammonium-fed plants could not be assigned to a different water status since the RWC was the same for drought-stressed plants grown under nitrate or ammonium.

It was also observed that glutamate concentration decreased in response to drought stress in nitrate-fed plants but not in ammonium-fed plants. Under saline stress, Rhodes *et al.* (1999) and Sánchez *et al.* (2008) also observed a decrease of glutamate concentration and increase of proline concentration.

In order to explain the differential proline accumulation found in ammonium- and nitratefed plants, the activity of P5CS and OAT, the enzymes involved in the main and alternative proline biosynthetic pathway, was determined. A significant increase of P5CS activity in response to hydric deficit under both nitrogen regimens was observed (Fig. 4.4). Moreover, ammonium-fed



Fig. 4.4. Schematic representation of the change in the activity of the enzymes for proline biosynthesis in leaves of nitrate- and ammonium-fed *L. japonicus* plants subjected to drought stress. The activities of GOGAT, aminating glutamate dehydrogenase (GDH), ornithine amino transferase (OAT) and pyrroline 5 carboxylate synthetase (P5CS) were measured under control and drought conditions. Solid arrows represent enzyme activities that are induced by drought. The width of the solid arrows is proportional to the increase in the activity. Dashed arrows represent enzymes whose activity is not changed by drought. Also glutamate and proline concentration were determined. The font size indicates the different concentration of the amino acid.

plants showed higher P5CS activity with respect to the nitrate-fed ones (Díaz, 2011) under both control and drought conditions. On the other hand, OAT enzyme activity was not changed in response to drought under both nitrogen regimens (Fig. 4.4).

Under drought stress conditions, *Arabidopsis* plants grown under both nitrate and ammonium showed a clear regulation of the *P5CS1* gene (Székely *et al.*, 2008). In a similar way, the expression analysis in *L. japonicus* showed that under drought stress the *LjP5CS1* gene is induced by both nitrogenous sources while no changes were observed in *LjP5CS2* gene. The increase of the P5CS1 transcript under drought stress may lead to increased P5CS enzyme activity in order to produce proline from the glutamate derived by the GOGAT (Rhodes *et al.*, 1999) and GDH activities (Skopelitis *et al.*, 2006).

In L. japonicus nitrate-fed plants, Fd-GOGAT activity increased in response to drought stress, but the expression of the correspondent gene was decreased (Díaz, 2011). An increase in Fd-GOGAT activity was observed in different species in response to different types of stress (Berteli et al., 1995; Borsani et al., 1999; Díaz et al., 2005c), and it might serve to ensure the supply of glutamate. Contrarily to what is observed for L. japonicus, in Phaseolus vulgaris (Becker et al., 1986) and Zea mays (Sengar et al., 1995) drought-stressed plants both GOGAT activity and gene expression were diminished. These results suggest that different mechanisms of regulation of GOGAT are operative in different plant species under abiotic stress (Srivastava et al., 2002; Márquez et al., 2005).

Another source of glutamate that should be taken into consideration is that derived from the aminating activity of GDH. The GDH aminating activity increased in response to drought stress in L. japonicus exclusively in ammonium-fed plants (Fig. 4.4). An increase in GDH aminating activity was also observed in tobacco plants and wheat seedling submitted to salt stress (Skopelitis et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2007). Additionally, Fd-GOGAT activity was higher in ammonium-fed than in nitrate-fed plants under both control and drought conditions (Fig. 4.4). Thus, it is possible that both GDH aminating and Fd-GOGAT activities may provide the glutamate necessary for proline accumulation in ammonium-fed plants. This is in agreement with the increased proline biosynthetic capacity under drought shown by the ammonium-fed plants with respect to the nitratefed ones.

Glutamine, one of the GOGAT substrates, is produced exclusively by GS. In ammonium- or nitrate-fed plants, GS activity was not changed as a consequence of drought (not shown). In agreement with this, the expression levels of the three genes encoding for cytosolic GS that were found in the L. japonicus genome were not significantly modulated by drought with the exception of LjGS1-2, which was slightly induced by drought in the mutant (Table 4.3). On the other hand, the LjGln2 gene that encodes for the plastidic GS isoform was repressed under water deprivation. The results available in the bibliography about the response of GS activity to osmotic stress conditions do not allow the identification of a common pattern since changes in GS enzyme activity and gene expression are very species-specific (Bernard and Habash, 2009). However, from the data reported here it can be concluded that in ammonium-fed L. japonicus plants both the GS/GOGAT cycle and the aminating activity of GDH contribute to generate the glutamate for proline production. On the other hand the increase in Fd-GOGAT activity may support proline accumulation in nitrate-fed plants under drought conditions (Fig. 4.4).

Summarizing, the activity of the enzymes for nitrogen and proline metabolism, more than precursor availability seem responsible for the major proline accumulation observed in ammonium-fed plants. Additionally, we have presented evidence that supports the role of GDH to support proline biosynthesis under drought stress conditions, particularly under ammonium nutrition.

4.6 Role of Other Amino Acids in Drought Stress in Lotus

Proline is not the only nitrogen molecule that is accumulated by plants under abiotic stress. GABA is a ubiquitous, non-protein amino acid that accumulates rapidly in plants in response to environmental stress. GABA at high concentrations is able to stabilize and protect isolated thylakoids against freezing damage in the presence of salt, exceeding the cryoprotective properties of proline (Bouché and Fromm, 2004). In addition,
GABA possesses *in vitro* hydroxyl-radical scavenging activity that exceeds the ones of proline and glycine betaine at similar concentrations (Shelp *et al.*, 1999). However, this evidence comes from indirect experimental approaches.

A. thaliana mutants deficient in GABA-shunt are more sensitive to environmental stresses because they are unable to scavenge hydrogen peroxide (Bouché *et al.*, 2003). In *L. japonicus* plants, GABA concentration and glutamate decarboxylase (GDC) transcripts were increased under drought conditions (Fig. 4.2, Table 4.3). GABA was increased under drought stress also in *L. uliginosus* (Díaz *et al.*, 2005b).

The *LjGDC* gene was more up-regulated in *Ljgln2-2* mutant than in the WT under water deprivation (Table 4.3). Despite this, GABA concentration was lower in the mutant (Fig. 4.2). In the light of these results, it may be possible there exists a compensatory mechanism similar to that mentioned in the case of proline metabolism. As GABA could participate in the scavenging of ROS (Shelp *et al.*, 1999), the lower amount of GABA accumulated by the *Ljgln2-2* mutant may also explain the higher oxidative damage shown by this genotype under water deprivation (Díaz *et al.*, 2010).

The kinetics of GABA accumulation in plants reveals a stress-specific pattern that is consistent with a physiological role for GABA in stress mitigation. Stress results in cytosolic acidification and leads to an activation of GDC in a pHdependent manner that results in increased GABA synthesis. Also a rapid increase of cellular levels of Ca2+ stimulates calmodulin-dependent GDC and therefore increases GABA synthesis. The different expression patterns of GDC genes and proteins suggest that GDC activity is transcriptionally and translationally regulated (Shelp et al., 1999). Rapid accumulation of GABA in stressed tissue may provide a critical link in the chain of events leading from the perception of environmental stresses to timely physiological responses (Bouché and Fromm, 2004).

Asparagine is another nitrogen compound that accumulates in response to abiotic stress. Despite this, little attention has been paid to the accumulation of asparagine in comparison with proline and GABA. Some abiotic stresses enhance protein degradation and produce concomitant ammonium accumulation in the plant. Under such circumstances, the synthesis of free amino acids, and especially of the amide asparagine, is increased possibly to re-assimilate the nitrogen released in order to prevent ammonium toxicity (Herrera-Rodríguez *et al.*, 2007). Under severe drought stress asparagine increased markedly in soybean (Fukutoku and Yamada, 1984), *L. corniculatus* and *L. uliginosus* leaves (Díaz *et al.*, 2005b). Salt stress also leads to an increase of asparagine in *L. japonicus* MG20, *L. filicaulis, L. burtii* and *L. glaber* and was related with a higher tolerance to salinity. These results suggest that asparagine may play a pivotal role in salt tolerance by supporting core nitrogen metabolism (Sánchez *et al.*, 2011b).

The glutamine dependent asparagine synthetase (AS) enzyme is the major route for asparagine biosynthesis in plants. Therefore, a positive response of AS gene expression to stress conditions could be expected. The expression of sunflower AS genes is regulated and correlated with asparagine levels in tissues under osmotic stress (Herrera-Rodríguez *et al.*, 2004). Studies of gene expression under stress showed an increase in AS transcripts in barley and wheat under osmotic and salt stress respectively (Ueda *et al.*, 2004; Wang *et al.*, 2005).

Experiments carried out with the *Ljgln2-2* mutant revealed that the asparagine concentration increased in response to drought stress (Fig. 4.2). This indicates that the synthesis of asparagine is supported mainly by the glutamine produced by GS1. However, it has to be pointed out that since asparagine could be transported to other plant organs, increases in asparagine concentration may not necessarily result from increased gene expression or enzyme activity in the tissue analysed.

AS and asparaginase are responsible for maintaining the asparagine pool. In wheat and sunflower it was found that the AS genes are induced by osmotic stress (Wong *et al.*, 2004; Herrera-Rodríguez *et al.*, 2007) and this is considered a general response to the osmotic stress condition (Gaufichón *et al.*, 2010). On the other hand, one asparaginase gene was also induced by thermal or osmotic stress in soybean (Cho *et al.*, 2007). Transcriptomic analysis showed that in both WT and *Ljgln2-2* mutant the *L. japonicus* asparaginase *LjNSE2* gene was induced under the drought stress condition, whereas one of the two genes encoding for AS, *LjAS2*, was induced by drought only in the mutant (Table 4.6). This could

Gene	Probeset	Wild type	Ljgln2-2	
Asparagine metabolism				
LjNSE1	chr5.CM0096.107	1.4	2.8	
LjNSE2	Ljwgs_021574.1	3.9	4.6	
LjNSE3	TM1930.50	n.d	n.d.	
LjAS1	gi897770	1.4	1.9	
LjAS2	gi897772	1.8	2.9	

 Table 4.6.
 Expression of genes of asparagine metabolism under drought stress in WT and Ljgln2-2 mutant plants.

The number represents the difference in relative expression levels of the reported genes between drought conditions and normal watering. Data are obtained from the mean of three independent hybridization of Affychips for each condition/genotype. Number in bold is the mean significant difference (FDR < 0.05). The genes reported encode for three asparaginase isoforms (*LjNSE1*, *LjNSE2* and *LjNSE3*) and two asparagine synthetase isoforms (*LjAS1* and *LjAS2*). n.d.: not detected.

be a reflection of the major levels of stress perceived/received by the mutant with respect to WT. The differential response to drought stress found for AS and asparaginase genes, could be explained because these genes are expressed in distinct plant tissues (Waterhouse *et al.*, 1996; Credali, 2011; Credali *et al.*, 2011).

Asparagine is a major nitrogen transport and storage amino acid during germination, nitrate assimilation and nitrogen fixation in plants (Girousse *et al.*, 1996; Waterhouse *et al.*, 1996). Although it has been well documented that asparagine is implicated in the response of plants to abiotic stress, the precise function of this amino acid in stress remains unclear. Results from some studies suggested that asparagine may detoxify the ammonia produced under abiotic stress conditions (Herrera-Rodríguez *et al.*, 2007).

The concentration of compatible osmolytes and nitrogen compounds is not necessarily the direct result of gene expression or enzyme activity. Other regulatory actors that participate in the drought stress responses could be involved. The results exposed in this chapter evidence the necessity to realize genetic, biochemical and metabolic analyses simultaneously, in order to improve our knowledge about plants metabolic network under drought stress condition.

Acknowledgements

The authors are thankful for funding from joint research projects from LOTASSA (UE 517617), CSIC-UDELAR Proyecto Grupo 418, ANII and PEDECIBA-UDELAR (Uruguay), as well as financial support given by Consejería de Economía, Innovación y Ciencia de la Junta de Andalucía (Spain) (research project CVI-P07-3026 from P.O. FEDER D007-2013, CVI-P10-6368 and BIO163). CMP acknowledges a PIF fellowship from University of Seville. PD, OB and JM are PEDECIBA-UDELAR investigators.

References

- Bartels, D. and Sunkar, R. (2005) Drought and salt tolerance in plants. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 24, 23–58.
- Becker, T. Hoppe, M. and Fock, H. (1986) Evidence for the participation of dissimilatory process in maintaining high carbon fluxes through the photosynthetic carbon reduction and oxidation cycles in water stressed *Phaseolus* leaves. *Photosynthetica* 20, 153–157.
- Bernard, S. and Habash, D. (2009) The importance of cytosolic glutamine synthetase in nitrogen assimilation and recycling. *New Phytologist* 182, 608–620.
- Berteli, F., Corrales, E., Guerrero, C., Ariza, M., Pliego, F. and Valpuesta, V. (1995) Salt stress increases ferrodoxin-dependent glutamate synthase activity and protein level in the leaves of tomato. *Physiologia Plantarum* 93, 259–264.

- Betti, M., Arcondéguy, T. and Márquez, A. (2006) Molecular analysis of two mutants from *Lotus japonicus* deficient in plastidic glutamine synthetase: functional properties of purified GLN2 enzymes. *Planta* 224, 1068–1079.
- Betti, M., García-Calderón, M., Pérez-Delgado, C., Credali, A., Estivill, G., Galván, F., Vega, J.M. and Márquez, A.J. (2012) Glutamine synthetase in legumes: recent advances in enzyme structure and functional genomics. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* doi:10.3390/ijms13077994.
- Blumenthal, M. and McGraw, R. (1999) *Lotus* adaptation, use and management. In: Beuselinck, P. (ed.) *Trefoil: The science and technology of Lotus*. American Society of Agronomy, pp. 97–120.
- Borsani, O., Díaz, P. and Monza, J. (1999) Proline is involved in water stress responses of Lotus corniculatus nitrogen fixing and nitrate fed plants. Journal of Plant Physiology 155, 269–273.
- Borsani, O., Zhu, J., Verslues, P., Sunkar, R. and Zhu, J. (2005) Endogenous siRNAs derived from a pair of natural cis-antisense transcripts regulates salt tolerance in *Arabidopsis. The Cell* 123, 1279–1291.
- Bouche, N. and Fromm, H. (2004) GABA in plants: just a metabolite? *Trends in Plant Sciences* 9,110–115.
 Bouche, N., Lacombe, B. and Fromm, H. (2003) GABA signalling: a conserved and ubiquitous mechanism. *Trends in Cell Biology* 13, 607–610.
- Brugiere, N., Dubois, F., Limami, A., Lelandais, M., Roux, Y., Sangwan, R. and Hirel, B. (1999) Glutamine synthetase in the phloem plays a major role in controlling proline production. *The Plant Cell* 11, 1995–2011.
- Castillo, A., Rebuffo, M., Dalla Rizza, M., Folle, G., Santiñaque, F., Borsani, O. and Monza, J. (2012) Generation and characterization of inter-specific hybrids of *Lotus uliginosus* x *L. corniculatus. Crop Science* 52, 1572–1582.
- Chiang, H. and Dandekar, M. (1995) Regulation of proline accumulation in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (L.) Heynh during development and in response to desiccation. *Plant Cell Environment* 18, 1280–1290.
- Cho, C., Lee, H., Chung, E., Kim, K., Heo, J., Kim, J., Chung, J., Ma, Y., Fukui, K., Lee, D., Kim, D., Chung, Y. and Lee, J. (2007) Molecular characterization of the soybean L. asparaginase gene induced by low temperature stress. *Molecular Cells* 23, 280–286.
- Credali, A. (2011) Metabolismo de la asparragina en *Lotus japonicus*. Estructura-función de L-asparraginasas. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Seville, Spain.
- Credali, A., Díaz-Quintana, A., García-Calderón, M., De la Rosa, M., Márquez, A. and Vega, J. (2011) Structural analysis of K⁺ dependence in L. asparaginases from *Lotus japonicus*. *Planta* 234, 109–122.
- Delauney, A., Hu, C., Kishor, P. and Verma, D. (1993) Cloning of ornithine delta aminotransferase cDNA from Vigna aconitifolia by trans-complementation in Eschericia coli and regulation of proline biosynthesis. Journal of Biological Chemistry 268, 18673–18678.
- Deuschle, K., Funk, D., Hellman, H., Däschner, K., Binder, S. and Frommer, W. (2001) A nuclear gene encoding mitochondrial pyrroline 5 carboxylate dehydrogenase and its potential role in protection from proline toxicity. *Plant Journal* 27, 345–355.
- Díaz, P. (2011) Asimilación de amonio y acumulación de osmolitos nitrogenados en condiciones de déficit hídrico en la leguminosa modelo *Lotus japonicus*. Ph.D. Thesis. University of Montevideo, Uruguay. PEDECIBA p.102.
- Díaz, P., Borsani, O. and Monza, J. (2005a) Lotus-related species and their agronomic importance. In: Márquez, A. (ed.) Lotus japonicus Handbook. Springer, pp. 25–37.
- Díaz, P., Borsani, O., Márquez, A. and Monza, J. (2005b) Nitrogen metabolism in relation to drought stress responses in cultivated and model *Lotus* species. *Lotus Newsletter* 35, 83–92.
- Díaz, P., Borsani, O., Márquez, A. and Monza, J. (2005c) Osmotically induced proline accumulation in Lotus corniculatus leaves is affected by light and nitrogen source. Plant Growth Regulation 46, 223–232.
- Díaz, P., Monza, J. and Márquez, A. (2005d) Drought and saline stress. In: Márquez, A. (ed) Lotus japonicus Handbook. Springer, pp. 39–50.
- Díaz, P., Betti, M., Sánchez, D., Udvardi, M., Monza, J. and Márquez, A. (2010) Deficiency in Plastidic glutamine synthetase alters proline metabolism and transcriptomic response in *Lotus japonicus* under drought stress. *New Phytologist* 188, 1001–1013.
- Fukutoku, Y. and Yamada, Y. (1984) Sources of proline-nitrogen in water stressed soybean (*Glycine max*). II. Fate of ¹⁵N-labelled protein. *Physiologia Plantarum* 61, 622–628.
- Funck, D., Stadelhofer, B. and Koch, W. (2008) Ornithine-δ-aminotransferase is essential for arginine catabolism but not for proline biosynthesis. *BMC Plant Biology* 8, 40–53.
- Gaufichon, L., Reisdorf-Cren, M., Rothstein, S., Chardón, F. and Suzuki, A. (2010) Biological functions of asparagine synthesase in plants. *Plant Science* 179, 141–153.

- Girossue, C., Bournoville, R. and Bonnemain, J. (1996) Water deficit induce changes in concentration in proline and some other amino acids in phloem sap of alfalfa. *Plant Physiology* 111, 109–113.
- Goffard, N. and Weiller, G. (2007). Genebins: a database for classifying gene expression data, with application to plant genome arrays. *BMC Bioinformatics* 8, 87–91.
- Graham, P.H. and Vance, C.P. (2003) Legumes: Importance and constraints to greater use. *Plant Physiology* 131, 872–877.
- Handberg, K. and Stougaard, J. (1992) *Lotus japonicus*, an autogamous, diploid legume species for classical and molecular genetics. *Plant Journal* 2, 487–496.
- Herrera-Rodríguez, M., Maldonado, J. and Pérez-Vicente, R. (2004) Light and metabolic regulation of HAS1, HAS1.1 and HAS2, three asparagine synthetase genes in Helianthus annuus. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 42, 511–518.
- Herrera-Rodríguez, M., Pérez-Vicente, R. and Maldonado, J. (2007) Expression of asparagine synthetase genes in sunflower (*Helianthus annuus*) under various environmental stresses, *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 45, 33–38.
- López, M., Herrera-Cervera, J., Iribarne, C., Tejera, N. and Lluch, C. (2008) Growth and nitrogen fixation in Lotus japonicus and Medicago truncatula NaCl stress: nodule carbon metabolism. Journal of Plant Physiology 165, 641–650.
- LOTASSA (2010) Bridging genomics and pastures in the XXI century. Sanjuan, J. and Rebuffo, M. (eds). PROCISUR-Montevideo: IICA. 69 pp.
- Lutts, S., Majerus, V. and Kinet, J. (1999) NaCl effects in proline metabolism in rice (*Oryza sativa*) seedlings. *Physiologia Plantarum* 105, 450–458.

Márquez, A. (2005) Lotus japonicus Handbook. Springer, Dordrecht, the Netherlands. 384 pp.

- Márquez, A., Betti, M., García-Calderón, M., Pal'Ove-Balang, P., Díaz, P. and Monza, J. (2005) Nitrate assimilation in *Lotus japonicus. Journal of Experimental Botany* 56, 1741–1749.
- Masclaux-Daubresse, N., Valadier, M., Carrayol, F., Reisdorf-Cren, M. and Hirel, B. (2002) Diurnal changes in the expression of glutamate dehydrogenase and nitrate reductase are involved in the C/N balance of tobacco source leaves. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 25, 1451–1462.
- Matysik, J., Alia, A., Bhalu, B. and Mohanty, P. (2002) Molecular mechanisms of quenching of reactive oxygen species by proline under stress in plants. *Current Science* 82, 525–532.
- Orea, A., Pajuelo, P., Pajuelo, E., Quidiello, C., Romero, J. and Márquez, A. (2002) Isolation of photorespiratory mutants from *Lotus japonicus* deficient in glutamine synthetase. *Physiologia Plantarum* 115, 352–361.
- Rhodes, D., Verslues, P. and Sharp, R. (1999) Role of amino acids in abiotic stress resistance. In: Singh, B.K. (ed.) *Plant Amino Acids: Biochemistry and Biotechnology*. Marcel Dekker, pp. 319–356.
- Sainz, M. (2006) Asimilación de nitrato por plantas de *Lotus corniculatus* bajo condición de estrés hídrico. Undergraduate Thesis. University of Montevideo, Uruguay. 42 pp.
- Sainz, M. (2009) El fotosistema II como blanco del estrés abiótico en *Lotus* sp. Master's dissertation. University of Montevideo, Uruguay. PEDECIBA. 82 pp.
- Sánchez, D., Lippold, F., Redestig, H., Hannah, M., Erban, A., Kraemer, U., Kopka, J. and Udvardi, M. (2008) Integrative functional genomics of salt acclimatation in the model legume *Lotus japonicus*. *Plant Journal* 53, 973–987.
- Sánchez, D., Pieckenstain, F., Escaray, F., Erban, A., Kraemer, U., Udvardi, M. and Kopka, J. (2011a) Comparative ionomics and metabolomics in extremophile and glycophytic Lotus species under salt stress challenge the metabolomic pre-adaptation hypothesis. *Plant Cell and Environment* 34, 605–617.
- Sánchez, D., Pieckenstain, F., Szymanski, J., Erban, A., Bromke, M., Hannah, A., Kraemer, U., Kopka, J. and Udvardi, M. (2011b) Comparative functional genomics of salt stress in related model and cultivated plants identifies and overcomes limitations to translational genomics. *PloS One* 6, 1–11.
- Santos, C., Pereira, A., Pereira, S. and Texeira, J. (2004) Regulation of glutamine synthetase expression in sunflower cells exposed to salt and osmotic stress. *Scientia Horticulturae* 103, 101–111.
- Sengar, R., Pant, R., Singh, R. and Srivastava, R. (1995) Role and regulation of glutamine synthetase and glutamate synthase in higher plants. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 22, 89–100.
- Shelp, B., Bown, A. and McLean, M. (1999) Metabolism and functions of gamma amino butyric acid. Trends in Plant Sciences 4, 446–452.
- Skopelitis, D., Paranychinakis, N., Paschalidis, A., Pliakonis, E., Delis, I., Yakoumakis, D., Kouvarakis, A., Papadakis, A., Stephanou, E. and Robelakis-Angelakis, K. (2006) Abiotic stress generates ROS that signal expression and anionic glutamate dehydrogenase to form glutamate for proline synthesis in tobacco and grapevine. *The Plant Cell* 18, 2767–2781.

- Srivastava, H., Shankar, N. and Yamaya, T. (2002) Role and regulation of glutamate synthases in higher plants. *Physiology Molecular Biology Plants* 8, 39–60.
- Stacey, G., Libault, M., Brechenmacher, L., Wan, J. and May, G.D. (2006). Genetics and functional genomics of legume nodulation. *Current Opinion Plant Biology* 9, 110–121.
- Strizhov, N., Abraham, E., Okresz, L., Blickling, S., Zilberstein, A., Schell, J., Koncz, C. and Szabados, L. (1997) Differential expression of two *P5CS* genes controlling proline accumulation during salt-stress requires ABA and is regulated by *ABA1*, *ABI1* and *AXR2* in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Journal* 12, 557–569.
- Szabados, L. and Savouré, A. (2010) Proline: a multifunctional amino acid. *Trends in Plant Sciences* 15, 89–97.
- Székely, G., Ábraham, E., Cséplő, A., Rigó, G., Zsigmond, L., Csiszár, J., Ayaydin, F., Strizhov, N., Jásik, J. and Schmelzer, E. (2008) Duplicated P5CS genes of Arabidopsis play distinct roles in stress regulation and developmental control of proline biosynthesis. *The Plant Journal* 53, 11–28.
- Udvardi, M.K., Tabata, S., Parniske, M. and Stougaard, J. (2005) *Lotus japonicus*: Legume research in the fast lane. *Trends in Plant Sciences* 10, 222–228.
- Ueda, A., Kathiresan, A., Inada, M., Narita, Y., Nakamura, T., Shi, W., Takabe, T. and Bennett, J. (2004) Osmotic stress in barley regulates expression of a different set of genes than salt stress does. *Journal Experimental Botany* 55, 2213–2218.
- Vendruscolo, E., Schuster, I., Pileggi, M., Scapim, C., Molinari, H., Marur, C. and Vieira, L. (2007) Stress induced synthesis of proline confers tolerance to water deficit. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 164, 1367–1376.
- Wang, H., Liu, D., Sun, J. and Zhang, A. (2005) Asparagine synthetase gene TaASN1 from wheat is up regulated by salt stress osmotic stress and ABA. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 142, 81–89.
- Wang, Z., Yuan, Y., Qu, J., Lin, Q. and Zhang, C. (2007) Glutamine synthetase and glutamate dehydrogenase contribute differentially to proline accumulation in leaves of wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) seedlings exposed to different salinity. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 164, 695–701.
- Waterhouse, R., Smyth, A., Massonneau, A., Prosser, I. and Clarkson, D. (1996) Molecular cloning and characterisation of asparagine synthetase from *Lotus japonicus*: Dynamics of asparagine synthesis in N-sufficient conditions. *Plant Molecular Biology* 30, 883–897.
- Wong, H., Chan, H., Coruzzi, G. and Lam, H. (2004) Correlation of ASN2 gene expression with ammonium metabolism in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology* 134, 332–338.
- Young, N., Cannon, S., Sato, S., Kim, D., Cook, D., Town, C., Roe, B. and Tabata, S. (2005) Sequencing the genespaces of *Medicago truncatula* and *Lotus japonicus*. *Plant Physiology* 137, 1174–1181.

2. Estrés nitro-oxidativo inducido por sequía en L. japonicus

En esta tesis se caracterizó el estrés nitro-oxidativo que se genera en las líneas transgénicas de L. japonicus y el salvaje con el fin de determinar si la prolina protege frente al daño oxidativo, como es considerado en la literatura. Los resultados no mostraron diferencias en el daño nitro-oxidativo ni en la respuesta antioxidantes entre las líneas transgénicas y el salvaje. De todas formas no se pudo descartar la participación de la prolina en la defensa antioxidante porque las líneas transgénicas igualmente la acumularon. Sin embargo, los resultados relacionados al estrés nitro-oxidativo inducidos por la seguía en el modelo L. japonicus son de interés y forman parte del próximo artículo que se presenta (Signorelli et al., 2013b). Este artículo incluyó la evaluación del estrés nitro-oxidativo en raíz, un órgano poco estudiado que podría tener un rol importante en la percepción de la sequía. Los resultados muestran que la sequía produce un estrés nitro-oxidativo donde el estrés nitrosativo es mayor en raíces que en hojas y el estrés oxidativo es mayor en hojas que raíces. Esto se observó posteriormente en plantas de tomate sometidas a estrés salino (Manai et al., 2014). En ambos órganos se evidenció la acumulación de prolina en respuesta a estrés, probablemente por la sobreexpresión del gen Lip5cs1 como se demostró en esta tesis. Las actividades de las enzimas GR, CAT y APX también se indujeron en ambos órganos a excepción de la APX en raíz cuya actividad disminuyó. Nuevas evidencias demostraron que la APX citosólica de arveja se inactiva al ser nitrada (Begara-Morales et al., 2014). Considerando esto y que determinamos nitración de proteínas en raíces de L. japonicus, es posible que el descenso de la actividad APX se deba a su nitración.

Author's personal copy

Plant Science 201-202 (2013) 137-146

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect







journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/plantsci

Water stress induces a differential and spatially distributed nitro-oxidative stress response in roots and leaves of *Lotus japonicus*

Santiago Signorelli^a, Francisco J. Corpas^b, Omar Borsani^a, Juan B. Barroso^c, Jorge Monza^{a,*}

^a Laboratorio de Bioquímica, Departamento de Biología Vegetal, Facultad de Agronomía, Universidad de la República, CP 12900 Montevideo, Uruguay ^b Departamento de Bioquímica, Biología Celular y Molecular de Plantas, Estación Experimental del Zaidín, Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas (CSIC), Apartado 419,

E-18080 Granada, Spain

^c Grupo de Señalización Molecular y Sistemas Antioxidantes en Plantas, Unidad Asociada al CSIC, Área de Bioquímica y Biología Molecular, Universidad de Jaén, E-23071 Jaén, Spain

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 2 October 2012 Received in revised form 4 December 2012 Accepted 5 December 2012 Available online 13 December 2012

Keywords: Drought NADP-dehydrogenases Nitric oxide Lotus japonicus Protein nitration ROS RNS

ABSTRACT

Water stress is one of the most severe problems for plant growth and productivity. Using the legume *Lotus japonicus* exposed to water stress, a comparative analysis of key components in metabolism of reactive nitrogen and oxygen species (RNS and ROS, respectively) were made. After water stress treatment plants accumulated proline 23 and 10-fold in roots and leaves respectively, compared with well-watered plants. Significant changes in metabolism of RNS and ROS were observed, with an increase in both protein tyrosine nitration and lipid peroxidation, which indicate that water stress induces a nitro-oxidative stress. In roots, •NO content was increased and S-nitrosoglutathione reductase activity was reduced by 23%, wherein a specific protein nitration pattern was observed. As part of this response, activity of NADPH-generating dehydrogenases was also affected in roots resulting in an increase of the NADPH/NADP⁺ ratio. Our results suggest that in comparison with leaves, roots are significantly affected by water stress inducing an increase in proline and •NO content which could highlight multiple functions for these metabolites in water stress adaptation, recovery and signaling. Thus, it is proposed that water stress generates a spatial distribution of nitro-oxidative stress with the oxidative stress component being higher in leaves whereas the nitrosative stress component is higher in roots.

© 2013 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Water stress is a common plant environmental stress that dramatically limits growth and development. Water stress can trigger a significant decrease in crop productivity and quality, and is especially evident in forage legumes since it accompanies loss in milk production and livestock. A number of different species of *Lotus* are widely used in dairy production and animal husbandry. While not as productive as clover or alfalfa, *Lotus* plants have higher animal nutrition values and very importantly do not provoke bloating in ruminants, as do other forage legumes [1]. *Lotus japonicus* (lotus) is a well-established model legume closely related to forage legumes such as *Lotus corniculatus*, *Lotus tenuis*

* Corresponding author at: Garzón 780, 12900 Montevideo, Uruguay.

Tel.: +598 2354022; fax: +598 2354022.

E-mail address: jmonza@fagro.edu.uy (J. Monza).

and *Lotus uliginosus* [2,3]. These legumes are typically subjected to a variety of different environmental stresses such as high salinity, drastic temperature changes, high solar radiation, atmospheric pollution and water stress [4].

At the cellular level water stress induces overproduction of ROS, such as hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), superoxide radical ($O_2^{\bullet-}$) and hydroxyl radical (•OH), which are responsible for oxidative damage associated with stress [5,6]. Plants respond to stress using different enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant systems. Previous studies have shown that these antioxidant defense systems are induced in water stress tolerant cultivars of wheat [7], tomato [8] or alfalfa [9], and the induction of these antioxidant systems was associated with water stress acclimation. Oxidative stress responses may involve increased activity of SOD, CAT and ascorbate-glutathione cycle activities such as GR or APX, which can confer greater tolerance against a specific environmental stress [10]. Increased levels of non-enzymatic soluble antioxidants including glutathione (GSH), ascorbic acid and tocopherols are also produced in response to water stress-induced oxidative stress [11]. Plant antioxidant defense systems normally provide adequate protection against ROS damage under optimal growth conditions. The generation of higher levels of ROS may overcome defense provided by these systems to result in oxidative stress [6,12,13]. Cellular damage caused by

Abbreviations: APX, ascorbate peroxidase; CAT, catalase; G6PDH, glucose-6phosphate dehydrogenase; GR, glutathione reductase; GSNOR, S-nitrosoglutathione reductase; ICDH, isocitrate dehydrogenase; ME, malic enzyme; •NO, nitric oxide; 6PGDH, 6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase; RNS, reactive nitrogen species; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SNOs, nitrosothiols; SNP, sodium nitroprusside; SOD, superoxide dismutase; TBARS, thiobarbituric acid reactive substances.

^{0168-9452/\$ –} see front matter © 2013 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2012.12.004

oxidative stress includes lipid peroxidation, which increases in various tissues during water stress and is also a commonly marker of oxidative stress [10].

RNS include •NO, nitrogen dioxide (•NO₂), S-nitrosothiols (SNOs) and peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻), and accumulation of these species can result in nitrosative stress [14]. A great deal of free radical oxidizing damage is subjected to compartmentalization by lipid membranes, which offer significant resistance to the passage of most reactive species [15]. However, some of these molecules can diffuse freely across lipid membranes, like •NO [16] and •NO₂ [17], to react with low molecular weight antioxidants, unsaturated lipids and proteins in different compartments. Nitration of tyrosine residues can result in a change in protein function resulting in inactivation, i.e. CAT, MnSOD and GR [18,19], or gain of function, such as activation of the peroxidatic activity of cytochrome c [20]. Nitration of protein tyrosines has been established as a potential biomarker for nitrosative stress in plants [21,22]. Another modification mediated by RNS is S-nitrosylation of protein, and this process is of particular interest because it may enable reversible regulation of protein function as well as contribute to nitrosative stress [23-26]. Reduced glutathione is the most abundant intracellular non-protein thiol, and can easily be S-nitrosylated by •NO to form S-nitrosoglutathione (GSNO). The principal compounds thought to nitrosylate cellular proteins are thus nitric oxide and GSNO. GSNOR activity decomposes GSNO to GSSG and NH3 and therefore can indirectly modulate •NO cell content [27]. Under different stress conditions such as biotic stress, heat stress, wounding, GSNOR decreases both at the level of gene expression and enzyme activity, thereby leading to increased cellular GSNO and SNOs [28-31].

There is very limited information available on plant metabolism of •NO under water stress conditions. Therefore, the main goal of our study is to analyze occurrence, distribution and metabolism of key components of both RNS and ROS under water stress using model legume *L. japonicus*. We also wished to address the issue of how these two classes of stress metabolites (ROS and RNS) might interact during water stress and acclimation for tolerance. Our results demonstrate that water stress results in a differential nitro-oxidative stress response in roots and leaves in lotus.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Plant materials and growth conditions

L. japonicus (Regel) Larsen cv. Gifu seeds were obtained from Ing. Agr. M. Rebuffo, INIA La Estanzuela, Uruguay. Seeds were surface-sterilized first by immersion in absolute ethanol for 1 min, washed once with sterile water, followed by 3 min in sodium hypochlorite 20% (v/v), and finally five successive washes with sterile water. Seeds were germinated at 25 °C for 2 days. Plants were grown for 35 days under controlled conditions: 16/8 h light/dark cycle at 24/18°C with photosynthetic photon flux density of $250\,\mu\text{mol}\,\text{m}^{-2}\,\text{s}^{-1}$. Plants were grown in Leonard jars containing a mix of sand:vermiculite (1:1) as substrate and supplied with Rigaud and Puppo nutrient solution supplemented with 1 mM KNO₃ [32]. Water stress was induced by removing the nutrient solution from the Leonard jars. The plants were kept in the jars, sealed with Parafilm[®] to prevent the excessive dehydration of the root system. The moisture in the jars declined slowly producing a slow water stress evident after 5 days of treatment. The weight of the pots were monitored during the treatment to determinate the humidity of the sand:vermiculite substrate. Relative humidity to weight (RHW) was determined as follows: RHW = (Weight of H₂O in the substrate \times 100)/Dry weight of substrate [33]. At the moment of the sampling, the RHW was around 48% and 9%, in control and stressed plants, respectively.

2.2. Plant crude extracts

Sampled leaves were selected from the first to the seventh expanded leaf and in the root system, all lateral growing roots were used. Selected leaves and roots were frozen in liquid N₂ and ground in a mortar. The powder was suspended in a homogenizing medium composed of 50 mM Tris–HCl, pH 7.8, 0.1 mM ethylenediamine-tetraacetic acid (EDTA), 5 mM dithiothreitol (DTT) and 0.2% (v/v) glycerol. Homogenates were centrifuged at 20,000 × g for 20 min (4 °C) and supernatant was used immediately for assays.

2.3. Enzyme assays

All the enzyme assays were performed from crude extracts. CAT (EC 1.11.1.6) activity was determined by measuring the disappearance of H₂O₂, as described by Aebi [34]. APX (EC 1.11.1.11) activity was determined by monitoring oxidation of ascorbate by H₂O₂ at 290 nm [35]. GR (EC 1.6.4.2) activity was assayed by monitoring oxidation of NADPH coupled to the reduction of GSH [36]. The reaction rate was corrected for the small non-enzymatic oxidation of NADPH by glutathione disulfide (GSSG). GSNOR (EC 1.2.1.1) activity was assayed spectrophotometrically at 25 °C by monitoring the oxidation of NADH at 340 nm [37]. G6PDH (EC 1.1.1.49) activity was determined spectrophotometrically by monitoring the reduction of NADP at 340 nm. Assays were performed at 25 °C in a reaction mixture (1 mL) containing 50 mM 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES), pH 7.6, 2 mM MgCl₂ and 0.8 mM NADP⁺. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 5 mM glucose-6-phosphate. For the determination of 6PGDH (EC 1.1.1.44) activity, the reaction mixture was like that described for G6PDH, but the substrate was 5 mM 6-phosphogluconate [38]. NADP-ICDH (EC 1.1.1.42) activity was also measured by following NADP⁺ reduction, but including 10 mM 2R,3S-isocitrate as substrate [39]. NADP-ME (EC 1.1.1.40) activity was also determined by recording the reduction of NADP⁺ using the same reaction mixture, but was initiated by addition of 1 mM L-malate [40]. One enzymatic unit was defined as the activity that consumed 1 µmol of cofactor or substrate per minute.

2.4. SOD isozymes

SOD isozymes present in crude extracts were separated by non-denaturing polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE) on 10% acrylamide gels as described by [41], and activity was visualized using a photochemical nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT) reduction method [42]. To identify the type of SOD isozyme activity present in a gel, specific isozyme inhibitors were included in the activity stain. Gels were incubated separately at 25 °C for 30–45 min in 50 mM Kphosphate, pH 7.8, in the presence or absence of either 2 mM KCN or 5 mM H₂O₂. CuZn-SOD is inhibited by KCN and H₂O₂, Fe-SOD is inhibited by H₂O₂ but not by KCN, whereas Mn-SOD is not inhibited by either KCN or H₂O₂ [38].

2.5. Immune-detection of nitrotyrosine

Sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) was done according to the method of Laemmli [43] in 10% acrylamide slab gels. For Western blot analysis, proteins were transferred to PVDF membranes with a semi-dry Trans-Blot cell (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). After transfer, membranes were used in cross-reactivity assays with a rabbit polyclonal antibody against 3-nitrotyrosine [28] diluted 1:10,000. For immuno-detection, an affinity-purified goat anti-(rabbit IgG)-horseradish peroxidase conjugate (Bio-Rad) and an enhanced chemiluminescence kit (ECL PLUS, Amersham, Piscataway, NJ, USA) were used. Commercially prepared nitrated bovine serum albumin (BSA) was used as positive control (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA).

2.6. Spectrofluorometric detection of •NO

Freshly prepared crude extract suspensions of roots or leaves were mixed with 4,5-diaminofluorescein (DAF-2) to a final concentration of 10 μ M. Reaction mixtures were incubated at 37 °C in the dark for 2 h, and fluorescence was measured in a QuantaMasterTM QM-4 fluorescent spectrophotometer (PTI[®] Photon Technology International, Lawrenceville, NJ, USA) at excitation and emission wavelengths of 485 and 515 nm, respectively [44].

2.7. Detection of •NO by confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM)

•NO was detected in lateral root tips with 10μ M 4aminomethyl-2',7'-difluorofluorescein diacetate (DAF-2 DA, Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) prepared in 10 mM Tris–HCl (pH 7.4) as described elsewhere [22]. Roots were examined with a confocal laser scanning microscope (Leica TCS SL, Leica Microsystems, Heidelberg GmbH, Wetzlar, Germany).

2.8. Relative water content

To determine the relative water content (RWC), fresh roots and leaves were weighed (FW), then these were hydrated with distilled water for 24 h and turgent weight was determined (TW), and finally these roots and leaves were dried at 80 °C in an oven and dry weight was determined (DW). The RWC was calculated as follows: $100 \times (FW - DW)/(TW - DW)$.

2.9. Histochemical assays for ROS and lipid peroxidation

Eight lateral root tips and eight selected leaves from the first to the seventh expanded leaf were employed to histochemical assays. The three most representative images were shown.

2.9.1. Hydrogen peroxide

In situ detection of H_2O_2 was done following the protocol proposed by Thordal-Christensen et al. [45]. Detached leaves were vacuum infiltrated under dark conditions with 10 mM potassium phosphate buffer, 10 mM NaN₃ and 0.1% (w/v) 3,3'diaminobenzidine (DAB), pH 7.8. Leaves were incubated overnight under dark conditions and then clarified with 0.15% (w/v) trichloroacetic acid in 4:1 (v/v) ethanol:choloroform for 48 h before being photographed.

2.9.2. Superoxide radical

In situ detection of superoxide radical ($O_2^{\bullet-}$) was done essentially as described by Jabs et al. [46]. Detached leaves were vacuum infiltrated with 10 mM potassium phosphate buffer pH 7.8, 10 mM NaN₃, 0.1% (w/v) nitro blue tetrazolium (NBT) and 0.05% (v/v) Tween 20. The detached, infiltrated and NBT-treated leaves were then maintained for 30 min under daylight conditions, prior to discoloration of the leaves using the same method described above for detection of H₂O₂.

2.9.3. Lipid peroxidation

Histochemical detection of lipid peroxidation was done with Schiff's reagent, which detects aldehydes that can be generated from lipid peroxides [47]. Roots and leaves were incubated in Schiff's reagent for 20 min and 60 min, respectively. Then roots were washed by immersing in distilled water until appearance of red/purple color for determination of aldehydes indicating lipid peroxidation. Leaves were incubated in Schiff's reagent for 60 min and then were bleached by immersing in boiling ethanol during 60 min.

2.10. Determination of NADPH and NADP+ content

Roots and leaves selected as it was mentioned in Section 2.2 were frozen in liquid N₂ and ground in a mortar. Aliquots of the different homogenates were suspended in hot 0.1 N NaOH or 0.1 N HCl solutions (1/3, w/v). NADPH is stable in the alkaline solution, while NADP⁺ is stable in the acid solution. The extracts were centrifuged at 12,000 × g for 5 min. The supernatants were used to quantify the nucleotides, according to the enzyme cycling method [48].

2.11. Determination of proline, TBARS and proteins

Proline was extracted from 100 mg of tissue with methanol-chloroform-water (12:5:1) and quantified according to Borsani et al. [49]. Lipid peroxides were detected as TBARS by measurement of malonaldehyde absorbance at 532 nm and concentration was determined using an extinction coefficient of $156 \text{ mM}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1}$ [50]. The proline and TBARS were determined in plant tissues obtained as described in Section 2.2. Four replicates of each sample were assayed.

Protein concentration was determined using the Bio-Rad protein assay using BSA as standard.

2.12. Statistical analysis

Analysis of variance was performed with data from at least three independent experiments, and means from the results from experiments were compared using Tukey's test at the $p \le 0.05$ level.

3. Results

3.1. Phenotype of L. japonicus under water stress

Plants were subjected to water stress as described in Section 2, and the phenotype of 35-day-old plants grown under control conditions or exposed to water stress for 5 days is shown in Fig. 1(a). Water stress caused a marked loss of turgor in both stems and leaves and dehydration of roots was evident in stressed plants compared with control plants and confirmed by relative water content (RWC), Fig. 1(b). Proline content was also determined in roots and leaves as a marker of plant water stress. Free proline content was notably higher in roots (23-fold) than in leaves (10-fold) of plants subjected to water stress versus plants maintained under control conditions (Fig. 1(c)), indicating that water stress was well established.

3.2. Effect of water stress on the metabolism of ROS

To verify potential ROS damage in *L. japonicus* exposed to water stress, different approaches were used. Histochemical detection techniques performed in root and leaves showed an accumulation of superoxide radical, hydrogen peroxide and aldehydes derived from lipid peroxidation in these organs subjected to water stress conditions (Fig. 2). Roots did not accumulate significantly levels of superoxide radical or hydrogen peroxide as consequence of water stress. However, leaves showed an increase in both ROS, and in case of superoxide radical, this increase was more evident in main and secondary veins (Fig. 2). A histochemical method employing Schiff's reagent was used to detect aldehydes normally generated from lipid peroxides. With this method a red/purple color that developed on tissue corresponds to the presence of aldehyde derived from oxidized lipid. Thus, Fig. 2(c) shows that treatment of roots of stressed plants exhibited a relatively intense red color throughout

S. Signorelli et al. / Plant Science 201-202 (2013) 137-146



Fig. 1. Phenotype, relative water content (RCW) and proline accumulation of 35-day-old plants of *L. japonicus* exposed to water stress for 5 days. (a) Phenotype of 35-day-old plants exposed to water stress for 5 days, control plants (left) and water stress treatment (right). (b) Relative water content of roots and leaves in control and water stress condition. (a) Proline accumulation in plants subjected to water stress versus control conditions. Data are means \pm SD of at least three biological replicates. Asterisks indicate that differences from control values were statistically significant at $p \le 0.05$.

primary roots compared with controls. The Schiff's reagent assay in leaves showed a higher increase in the red/purple color compared with those obtained in roots (Fig. 2(c)), suggesting that the formation of aldehydes as consequence of water stress is higher in leaves than in roots. A quantitative analysis of lipid peroxidation measured as thiobarbituric reactive substances (TBARS) confirmed the damage in roots and leaves observed with Schiff's reagent. Fig. 3 shows a significant increase in the content of lipid peroxidation in stressed roots and leaves being 1.6 and 3.3-fold higher, respectively, compared with controls. These results are in agreement with the result presented in Fig. 2(c). As per these results, the increased lipid peroxidation in water stress plants suggested the existence of an oxidative stress.

Analysis of key antioxidant enzymes, including CAT, SOD and representative enzymes of the ascorbate–glutathione cycle was done to determine the extent of modulation of these enzymes

82



Fig. 2. ROS and lipid peroxidation in roots and leaves of 35-day-old plants subjected to water stress. (a) Superoxide in situ staining by NBT. (b) Hydrogen peroxide in situ staining by DAB. (c) Histochemical detection of aldehydes derived from lipid peroxidation. The red/purple color indicates the presence of lipid peroxidation detected with Schiff's reagent.

S. Signorelli et al. / Plant Science 201-202 (2013) 137-146



Fig. 3. Lipid peroxidation analysis of 35-day-old plants of *L. japonicus* exposed to water stress. TBARS concentration in roots and leaves. Data are means \pm SD of at least three replicate measurements. Asterisks indicate that differences from control values were statistically significant at $p \le 0.05$.

during water stress. Fig. 4(a) shows that during water stress CAT activity increased 1.7-fold in roots and 1.4-fold in leaves. Similarly, GR activity was increased 2-fold in both organs (Fig. 4(b)). In contrast, no significant changes were observed in APX activity in roots, however in leaves this activity increased 1.3-fold in response to water stress (Fig. 4(c)). Fig. 4(d) shows a native PAGE analysis of SOD activity in roots and leaves of *L. japonicus*. Based on the use of isozyme-specific inhibitors, one MnSOD, one FeSOD and two CuZn-SOD (I and II) were found in roots. In leaves, the same isozymes pattern were identified as previously reported for *L. japonicus* [51], with the exception of the FeSOD. Most root SOD isozymes showed a slight increase under water stress, with the exception of Fe-SOD that was not detected under this stress. No changes were observed in the activity of three SOD isozymes in leaves.

Table 1

NADPH and NADP⁺ content in roots and leaves. NADPH and NADP⁺ content are expressed as nmol g⁻¹ DW. Data are the mean \pm SD of at least three different experiments. *Differences from control values were significant at p < 0.05. DW, dry weight.

Plant organ	Metabolite	Control	Stress
Roots	NADPH	90.6 ± 7.2	$27.3\pm2.0^{\ast}$
	NADP ⁺	83.9 ± 5.4	$18.6\pm2.1^*$
	NADPH/NADP	1.08	1.47
Leaves	NADPH	23.3 ± 1.0	$17.4\pm1.1^*$
	NADP*	30.3 ± 2.9	$23.1\pm1.3^*$
	NADPH/NADP	0.77	0.75

Considering that NADPH is required for the ascorbate-glutathione cycle which is also essential for maintenance of cellular redox state, activity of the main NADPHgenerating enzymes was assayed including: G6PDH, 6PGDH, ME and ICDH. Fig. 5 shows that these activities were significantly affected in roots during water stress. Whereas activity of G6PDH and ICDH were reduced 6.5-fold and 1.5-fold, respectively (Fig. 5(a) and (c)), 6PGDH and ME increased 1.5-fold and 1.3-fold, respectively (Fig. 5(b) and (d)). In most cases, response of leaf enzymes to water stress was almost negligible in comparison with root enzymes. None of the leaf NADP-dehydrogenases seemed to be affected with the exception of G6PDH that was decreased ca. 50% under water stress (Fig. 5(a)). Additionally, the contents of NADPH and NADP⁺ were also determined as good indicators of the redox state of cells. In general, the contents of NADPH and NADP⁺ were significantly higher in roots than in leaves (Table 1) which is well correlated with the higher activity detected for the different NADP-dehydrogenase. Under stress conditions, the contents of NADPH and NADP⁺ in roots were reduced 3.3-fold and 4.5-fold, respectively which provoked a rise in the NADPH/NADP+ ratio (Table 1). However, the contents of NADPH and NADP+ in leaves



Fig. 4. Analysis of ROS metabolism in roots and leaves of 35-day-old plants subjected to water stress. (a) CAT activity, (b) GR activity, and (c) APX activity. Data are means \pm SD of at least three biological replicates. Asterisks indicate that differences from control values were statistically significant at $p \le 0.05$. (d) Analysis of SOD isozymes. SOD isozymes were separated by native-PAGE and stained by a photochemical method using 30 μ g of protein per lane. The arrows indicate the SOD isozymes previously identified in leaves of *L japonicus* by specific inhibitors [51].

Author's personal copy

S. Signorelli et al. / Plant Science 201-202 (2013) 137-146



Fig. 5. Analysis of NADP-dehydrogenase activities in roots and leaves of 35-day-old plants subjected to water stress. (a) G6PDH, (b) 6PGDH, (c) NADP-ICDH, and (d) ME. Data are means of \pm SD three biological replicates. Asterisks indicate that differences from control values were statistically significant at $p \le 0.05$.

were 1.3-fold reduced for both nucleotides. Consequently, the NADPH/NADP⁺ ratio was more affected in roots than in leaves.

3.3. Effect of water stress on the metabolism of RNS

Fig. 6(a) shows that NO content increased 1.8-fold in roots and 1.3-fold in leaves under water stress. Fig. 6(b) shows that whereas the GSNOR activity decreased 23% in roots, no significant changes were observed in leaves. Root NO content was considerably affected by water stress, and this was supported by visualization of NO localization in roots using confocal laser scanning microscopy with DAF-2 DA as fluorescent probe. Fig. 7(a) shows that the distribution of NO in a root tip of plants maintained under control conditions was distributed uniformly in the root. Likewise, under water stress NO was similarly distributed, but a large increase in root NO content was evident (Fig. 7(b)). Tyrosine nitration of protein is a wellestablished consequence of NO accumulation and thus a marker for nitrosative stress. Fig. 8 shows an immunoblot analysis of protein tyrosine nitration in roots and leaves of water stressed plants. A distinct protein nitration profile was found in roots and leaves. Moreover, there was a dramatic increase in nitration of at least three polypeptides of 41 kDa, 35 kDa and 28 kDa in roots of water stressed plants versus control plants, and no bands were observed under control conditions. Protein tyrosine nitration in leaves was evident in both water stressed and control plants. There was an increase in nitration of two immunoreactive bands of 53 kDa and 43 kDa in leaves of water stressed plants versus control plants, and the 43 kDa band was not detected in control plants.

4. Discussion

Water stress in plants remains one of the most significant factors affecting plant growth and productivity worldwide. Welldocumented strategies for adaptation and recovery from conditions of water stress include: reduction in leaf size and water use, stomatal closure, and root proliferation [52–55]. Water stress is also well-known to be accompanied by oxidative stress, however, much less is known about the participation of RNS and NO metabolism. The main goal of this study was to analyze the potential relationship between RNS and ROS metabolism in roots and leaves under water stress and establish if this environmental stress is accompanied by a nitro-oxidative stress using specify markers such as: increased levels of proline, lipid peroxidation and protein tyrosine nitration.

4.1. Water stress induces an oxidative stress mainly in leaves

A general response of plant cells to water deficit is to accumulate low-molecular-mass compounds such as proline, glycine betaine, sugars and polyols in the cytoplasm to maintain ion balance in vacuoles [56]. In the case of proline, experimental data have shown that proline accumulation can be used as an indicator of water stress in L. corniculatus [57] and in L. japonicus [58]. In this study, leaves and roots of water stress-stressed plants showed significant increases in proline, particularly in roots. This amino acid is relevant in the mechanism of response against water stress and it has been suggested that proline is synthesized in the aerial part to regenerate NADP⁺ and then is translocated to roots where the catabolism of proline is required for growth at low water potential [59]. However, proline seems to have additional roles including its ability to act as a molecular chaperone able to protect protein integrity as well as to enhance activities of specific enzymes [60,61]. Water stress also resulted in increased oxidative stress by ROS accumulation in both organs but more in leaves than in roots. Oxidative stress lead to cellular damage, in our experimental conditions both aldehyde and lipid peroxidation content, were markedly higher in stressed leaves compared with roots. Similar behavior of increased activity by water stress in leaves and roots were found for antioxidant enzymes such as CAT, GR and APX, however, higher activities and levels of induction were found in leaves compared with roots. S. Signorelli et al. / Plant Science 201-202 (2013) 137-146



Fig. 6. Analysis of RNS metabolism in roots and leaves of 35-day-old plants subjected to water stress. (a) NO content determination by spectrofluorometric assay using DAF-2 as fluorescence probe. The fluorescence produced is expressed as arbitrary units relative to mg protein. (b) GSNOR activity. Data are means \pm SD of at least three biological replicates. Asterisks indicate that differences from control values were statistically significant at $p \le 0.05$.

SOD isozymes, in contrast, exhibited different patterns of activity in roots and leaves of water stress-stressed plants. Adaptation of roots under water stress resulted in complete down-regulation of FeSOD, whereas CuZnSOD increased significantly. Similar drought adaptation responses have been described for other plants, i.e. in Medicago truncatula water stress resulted in an increase in oxidative damage accompanied by an increase in gene expression of antioxidant enzymes including CAT, cytosolic APX, CuZnSOD, and FeSOD. A clear demonstration of adaptation was illustrated by this plant specie, since drought-induced oxidative damage responses were reversed following watering [62]. Progressive drought stress of Vigna radiata resulted in specific up regulation of CuZnSOD when analyzed by proteomic methods [63]. In the same way, analysis of detached maize leaves (Zea mays) treated with polyethylene glycol, which simulates drought stress, resulted in increased activity of chloroplastic and cytosolic anti-oxidant enzymes: SOD, APX, and GR [64].

NADPH is a key cofactor in cellular redox homeostasis and is also involved in detoxification processes [65,66]. Processes leading to regeneration of cellular NAPDH can therefore be considered potential secondary defense systems [13,67]. However, it should be also considered that an excessively high NADPH/NADP+ ratio can cause a shortage of electron acceptors in the chloroplast and increased ROS production. Regarding enzyme activities that can modulate NAPDH levels, a different response was observed in the two organs where NADP-dehydrogenase activities were more affected in roots than in leaves under water stress in L. japonicus. Thus, whereas G6PDH and ICDH were found to be decreased in roots under water stress; 6PGDH and ME were induced. In leaves, however, only the G6PDH was slightly inhibited by water stress. Considering the total contribution of NADP-dehydrogenase activity of all enzymes evaluated we propose that while roots exhibit an increase of NADP-dehydrogenase activity, in leaves a slight decrease was observed. Although the contents of NADPH and NADP⁺ were clearly affected under water stress in leaves and roots, it must be pointed out that the NADPH/NADP+ ratio in root systems increased which is in agreement with the behavior of the NADP-dehydrogenase activities in this organ contributing to mitigation of the oxidative stress damages in comparison to leaves. In contrast with our study involving several NADP-dehydrogenases and two organs (leaves and roots) under a specific stress, previous studies have been usually focused in one organ or in one specific NADP-dehydrogenase.



Fig. 7. Representative images illustrating CLSM detection of NO in apex of roots of 35-day-old plants subjected to water stress. The bright green fluorescence corresponds to the detection of NO in different longitudinal root sections using the fluorescence probe DAF-2 DA. (a) NO in roots of control plants. (b) NO in roots of plants under water stress. The images are representative of seven roots visualized.

Author's personal copy

S. Signorelli et al. / Plant Science 201-202 (2013) 137-146



Fig. 8. Representative immunoblots showing protein tyrosine nitration in roots and leaves of 35-day-old plants subjected to water stress. Roots (20 µ.g protein per lane) and leaves (60 µ.g protein per lane) samples were separated by SDS-PAGE and analyzed on Western blots. (a) Coomassie staining. (b) Western blot anti-nitrotyrosine. Commercial nitrated BSA (NO₂-BSA) was used as a positive control.

For example, in leaves of olive plants grown with 200 mM NaCl which provokes an oxidative stress, a 30–50% increase in activity of all NADP-dehydrogenases was found [13]. *Arabidopsis* seedlings exposed to 100 mM NaCl induced oxidative stress, and analysis of NADP-dehydrogenases showed that with the exception of 6PGDH, other dehydrogenases were significantly increased in activity. ICDH had the highest relative specific activity (1.9-fold) under salinity conditions in that study [67]. Taken together, the antioxidant enzymes and NADP-dehydrogenase from roots and leaves showed a differential mechanism of response against water stress in leaves and roots being the leaves the organ apparently most affected for a process of oxidative stress.

4.2. Water stress provokes a nitrosative stress mainly in roots

Protein tyrosine nitration was increased by water stress in both roots and leaves, but was more pronounced in roots. Unlike leaves, in roots there was a strong induction in nitration of at least three proteins that were not detected under control conditions. This result possibly suggests that the root proteins either become more susceptible to nitration or nitration of these proteins plays a role in protection from nitro-oxidative stress. In this sense, an increase of protein nitration has been observed under different stress conditions which were accompanied by a nitrosative stress [22,29,68,69]. A recently work in citrus plants, showed also the presence of nitrated proteins in roots and leaves subjected to salt stress [70]. In the same work, they also studied the carbonylated and S-nitrosylated proteins, and interestingly they observed a higher numbers of carbonylated proteins in leaves than in roots, as consequence of the oxidative stress, and a more number of nitrated and nitrosylated proteins in roots than in leaves, as consequence of nitrosative stress [70]. As per the results, they also found that under salinity conditions, roots are more affected by a nitrosative stress whereas leaves are more affected by oxidative stress.

In addition, we showed that water stress results in an increase in NO content and a reduced GSNO reductase activity, especially in roots. The consequence is a rise of GSNO and nitrosothiols (SNOs) cellular contents that, under oxidative stress conditions could stimulate protein tyrosine nitration. Similar observations relating reduced GSNOR activity, increased SNOs levels and protein tyrosine nitration have been also described under other stress conditions such as high temperature and mechanical wounding in pea leaves and sunflower hypocotyls [22,29,68] or low temperature in pepper leaves [69]. On the other hand, there are only few reports in which NO metabolism has been studied in response to

water stress and most of them are using sodium nitroprusside (SNP) as an exogenous source of NO. Thus, water stress resulted in an increase in water retention induced by stomatal closure of detached leaves of wheat seedlings pre-treated with 150 µM SNP [71]. In the same way, leaves of Poncirus trifoliata seedlings pre-treated with 100 µM SNP that were then subjected to water stress exhibited: less water loss, lower electrolyte leakage and ROS accumulation, higher antioxidant enzyme activity and smaller stomatal apertures compared with controls [72]. Water stress induces a simultaneous accumulation of •NO and proline in rice, but NO is not essential for water stress-induced proline accumulation in leaves. Foliar spray of SNP increases endogenous 'NO content, induces stomatal closure, decreases transpiration rate and enhances the adaptive responses against water stress in rice [73]. Similar pharmacological approaches using an •NO donor, scavenger or an inhibitor of nitric oxide synthase activity in maize suggest that 'NO is part of a signaling component in a mechanism of water stress tolerance in maize seedlings [74]. In addition, in Cynodon dactylon, ABA treatment improves water stress tolerance since ABA induces production of H₂O₂ and •NO to mediate enhanced antioxidant enzyme activities such as CAT and SOD. In that study it was suggested that •NO acts downstream of H₂O₂ [75].



Fig. 9. Model for interactive oxidative and nitrosative components in response to water stress. Nitrosative stress is based in the increase of protein Tyr nitration and oxidative stress is based in the increased of TBARS.

In summary, it is proposed that water stress in *L. japonicus* causes nitro-oxidative stress which supports the increased lipid oxidation and protein Tyr nitration. A differential distribution of the severity of oxidative and nitrosative components accompanying water stress was observed whereas the oxidative stress was higher in leaves, and the nitrosative stress was higher in roots (Fig. 9). The results obtained by Tanou et al. in citrus plants subjected to salt stress [70] also support this idea. Therefore, the differential spatial distribution of oxidative and nitrosative stress opens new perspectives for understanding potential interconnections between these classes of reactive species that accompany water stress, where proline and •NO could act as signal molecules.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by Agencia Nacional de Investigación e Innovación [Project FCE_2009_1_2804], Comisión Sectorial de Investigación Científica-Universidad de la República [Project I+D Grupo 418] and Programa de Educación en Ciencias Básicas in Uruguay, and by ERDF co-financed grants from the Ministry of Science and Innovation [Projects BIO2009-12003-C02-01 and BIO2009-12003-C02-02] and Junta de Andalucía [group BIO 286 and BIO 192] in Spain. Valuable technical help of Dra. María J. Lorite, Mr. Carmelo Ruíz-Torres and Miss Tamara Molina-Márquez is appreciated.

References

- O. Borsani, P. Díaz, F. Agius, V. Valpuesta, J. Monza, Water stress generates an oxidative stress through the induction of a specific Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase in *Lotus corniculatus* leaves, Plant Sci. 161 (2001) 757–763.
- [2] H.K. Choi, J.H. Mun, D.J. Kim, H. Zhu, J.M. Baek, J. Mudge, B. Roe, N. Ellis, J. Doyle, G.B. Kiss, N.D. Young, D.R. Cook, Estimating genome conservation between crop and model legume species, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101 (2004) 15289–15294.
- [3] P. Díaz, O. Borsani, J. Monza, Lotus-related species and their agronomic importance, in: A.J. Márquez (Ed.), Lotus japonicus Handbook, Springer, Dordrecht, Netherlands, 2005, pp. 25–37.
- Netherlands, 2005, pp. 25–37.
 [4] P. Díaz, J. Morza, A.J. Márquez, Drought and saline stress, in: A.J. Márquez (Ed.), Lotus japonicus Handbook, Springer, 2005, pp. 39–50.
- [5] J. Dat, S. Vandenabeele, E. Vranova, M. Van Montagu, D. Inze, F. Van Breusegem, Dual action of the active oxygen species during plant stress responses, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 57 (2000) 779–795.
- [6] R. Mittler, Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance, Trends Plant Sci. 7 (2002) 405-410.
- [7] A.A. Al-ghamdi, Evaluation of oxidative stress tolerance in two wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) cultivars in response to drought, Int. J. Agric. Biol. 11 (2009) 7–12.
- [8] E. Sánchez-Rodríguez, M.d.M. Rubio-Wilhelmi, B. Blasco, R. Leyva, L. Romero, J.M. Ruíz, Antioxidant response resides in the shoot in reciprocal grafts of drought-tolerant and drought-sensitive cultivars in tomato under water stress, Plant Sci. 188–189 (2012) 89–96.
- [9] W.B. Wang, Y.H. Kim, H.S. Lee, K.Y. Kim, X.P. Deng, S.S. Kwak, Analysis of antioxidant enzyme activity during germination of alfalfa under salt and drought stresses, Plant Physiol. Biochem. 47 (2009) 570–577.
- [10] B. Sade, S. Soylu, E. Yetim, Drought and oxidative stress, Afr. J. Biotechnol. 10 (2011) 11102–11109.
- [11] Z. Feng, G. Jin-Kui, Y. Ying-Li, H.W. en-Liang, Z. Li-Xin, Changes in pattern of antioxidant enzymes in wheat exposed to water deficit and rewatering, Acta Physiol. Plant. 26 (2004) 345–352.
- [12] G. Noctor, C.H. Foyer, Ascorbate and glutathione: keeping active oxygen under control, Annu. Rev. Plant Phys. 49 (1998) 249–279.
- [13] R. Valderrama, F.J. Corpas, A. Carreras, M.V. Gómez-Rodríguez, M. Chaki, J.R. Pedrajas, A. Fernandez-Ocaña, L.A. del Río, J.B. Barroso, The dehydrogenase-mediated recycling of NADPH is a key antioxidant system against salt-induced oxidative stress in olive plants, Plant Cell Environ. 29 (2006) 1449–1459.
 [14] F.J. Corpas, M. Leterrier, R. Valderrama, M. Airaki, M. Chaki, J.M. Palma, J.B. Bar-
- [14] F.J. Corpas, M. Leterrier, R. Valderrama, M. Airaki, M. Chaki, J.M. Palma, J.B. Barroso, Nitric oxide imbalance provokes a nitrosative response in plants under abiotic stress, Plant Sci. 181 (2011) 604–611.
- [15] M.N. Möller, J.R. Lancaster Jr., A. Denicola, The interaction of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species with membranes, in: S. Matalon (Ed.), Free Radical Effects on Membranes, Academic Press Inc., 2008, pp. 23–43.
 [16] A. Denicola, J.M. Souza, R. Radi, E. Lissi, Nitric oxide diffusion in membranes
- [16] A. Denicola, J.M. Souza, R. Radi, E. Lissi, Nitric oxide diffusion in membranes determined by fluorescence quenching, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 328 (1996) 208–212.
- [17] S. Signorelli, M.N. Moller, E.L. Coitiño, A. Denicola, Nitrogen dioxide solubility and permeation in lipid membranes, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 512 (2011) 190–196.
- [18] D. Clark, J. Durner, D.A. Navarre, D.F. Klessig, Nitric oxide inhibition of tobacco catalase and ascorbate peroxidase, Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 13 (2000) 1380–1384.

- [19] J.M. Souza, G. Peluffo, R. Radi, Protein tyrosine nitration-functional alteration or just a biomarker? Free Radic. Biol. Med. 45 (2008) 357–366.
- [20] C. Batthyany, J.M. Souza, R. Duran, A. Cassina, C. Cervenansky, R. Radi, Time course and site(s) of cytochrome c tyrosine nitration by peroxynitrite, Biochemistry 44 (2005) 8038–8046.
- [21] F.J. Corpas, L.A. del Río, J.B. Barroso, Need of biomarkers of nitrosative stress in plants, Trends Plant Sci. 12 (2007) 436–438.
- [22] F.J. Corpas, M. Chaki, A. Fernández-Ocaña, R. Valderrama, J.M. Palma, A. Carreras, J.C. Begara-Morales, M. Airaki, L.A. del Río, J.B. Barroso, Metabolism of reactive nitrogen species in pea plants under abiotic stress conditions, Plant Cell Physiol. 49 (2008) 1711–1722.
- [23] T.L. Cornwell, E.K. Ceaser, J. Li, K.L. Marrs, V.M. Darley-Usmar, R.P. Patel, Snitrosothiols inhibit uterine smooth muscle cell proliferation independent of metabolism to NO and cGMP formation, Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 284 (2003) C1516–C1524.
- [24] J. Astier, A. Kulik, E. Koen, A. Besson-Bard, S. Bourque, S. Jeandroz, O. Lamotte, D. Wendehenne, Protein S-nitrosylation: what's going on in plants? Free Radic. Biol. Med. 53 (2012) 1101–1110.
- [25] H.E. Marshall, J.S. Stamler, Inhibition of NF-kappa B by S-nitrosylation, Biochemistry 40 (2001) 1688–1693.
- [26] J.S. Stamler, A. Hausladen, Oxidative modifications in nitrosative stress, Nat. Struct. Biol. 5 (1998) 247–249.
- [27] M. Leterrier, M. Chaki, M. Airaki, R. Valderrama, J.M. Palma, J.B. Barroso, F.J. Corpas, Function of S-nitrosoglutathione reductase (GSNOR) in plant development and under biotic/abiotic stress, Plant Signal. Behav. 6 (2011) 789–793.
- [28] M. Chaki, A.M. Fernández-Ocaña, R. Valderrama, A. Carreras, F.J. Esteban, F. Luque, M.V. Gomez-Rodriguez, J.C. Begara-Morales, F.J. Corpas, J.B. Barroso, Involvement of reactive nitrogen and oxygen species (RNS and ROS) in sunflower-mildew interaction, Plant Cell Physiol. 50 (2009) 265–279.
- [29] M. Chaki, R. Valderrama, A.M. Fernández-Ocaña, A. Carreras, M.V. Gómez-Rodriguez, J.R. Pedrajas, J.C. Begara-Morales, B. Sánchez-Calvo, F. Luque, M. Leterrier, F.J. Corpas, J.B. Barroso, Mechanical wounding induces a nitrosative stress by down-regulation of GSNO reductase and an increase in S-nitrosothiols in sunflower (*Helianthus annuus*) seedlings, J. Exp. Bot. 62 (2011) 1803–1813.
- [30] M. Díaz, H. Achkor, E. Titarenko, M.C. Martínez, The gene encoding glutathionedependent formaldehyde dehydrogenase/GSNO reductase is responsive to wounding, jasmonic acid and salicylic acid, FEBS Lett. 543 (2003) 136–139.
- [31] A. Feechan, E. Kwon, B.W. Yun, Y. Wang, J.A. Pallas, G.J. Loake, A central role for S-nitrosothiols in plant disease resistance, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102 (2005) 8054–8059.
- [32] J. Rigaud, A. Puppo, Effect of nitrite upon leghemoglobin and interaction with nitrogen fixation, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 497 (1977) 702–706.
- [33] P.J. Kramer, Plant and Soil Water Relationships, a modern synthesis, McGraw-Hill Series in Organismic Biology, New York, 1969.
- [34] H. Aebi, Catalase in vitro, Methods Enzymol. 105 (1984) 121–126.
- [35] M. Hossain, K. Asada, Ascorbate-regenerating enzymes in chloroplasts, Indian J. Biochem. Biophys. 24 (1987), Suppl 52–56.
- [36] E.A. Edwards, S. Rawsthone, P.M. Mullineaux, Subcellular distribution of multiple forms of glutathione reductase in leaves of pea (*Pisum sativum L.*), Planta 180 (1990) 278–284.
- [37] J.B. Barroso, F.J. Corpas, A. Carreras, M. Rodríguez-Serrano, F.J. Esteban, A. Fernandez-Ocaña, M. Chaki, M.C. Romero-Puertas, R. Valderrama, L.M. Sandalio, L.A. del Río, Localization of S-nitrosoglutathione and expression of S-nitrosoglutathione reductase in pea plants under cadmium stress, J. Exp. Bot. 57 (2006) 1785–1793.
- [38] F.J. Corpas, J.B. Barroso, L.M. Sandalio, S. Distefano, J.M. Palma, J.A. Lupiáñez, L.A. del Río, A dehydrogenase-mediated recycling system of NADPH in plant peroxisomes, Biochem. J. 330 (Pt 2) (1998) 777–784.
- [39] F.J. Corpas, J.B. Barroso, L.M. Sandalio, J.M. Palma, J.A. Lupiáñez, L.A. del Río, Peroxisomal NADP-dependent isocitrate dehydrogenase. Characterization and activity regulation during natural senescence, Plant Physiol. 121 (1999) 921–928.
- [40] R.M. Mateos, D. Bonilla-Valverde, L.A. del Río, J.M. Palma, F.J. Corpas, NADPdehydrogenases from pepper fruits: effect of maturation, Physiol. Plant. 135 (2009) 130–139.
- [41] B.J. Davis, Disc electrophoresis. II: method and application to human serum proteins, Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 121 (1964) 404–427.
 [42] C. Beauchamp, I. Fridovich, Superoxide dismutase: improved assays and an
- [42] C. Beauchamp, I. Fridovich, Superoxide dismutase: improved assays and an assay applicable to acrylamide gels, Anal. Biochem. 44 (1971) 276–287.
- [43] U.K. Laemmli, Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4, Nature 227 (1970) 680–685.
 [44] N. Nakatsubo, H. Kojima, K. Kikuchi, H. Nagoshi, Y. Hirata, D. Maeda, Y. Imai, T.
- [44] N. Nakatsubo, H. Kojima, K. Kikuchi, H. Nagoshi, Y. Hirata, D. Maeda, Y. Imai, T. Irimura, T. Nagano, Direct evidence of nitric oxide production from bovine aortic endothelial cells using new fluorescence indicators: diaminofluoresceins, FEBS Lett. 427 (1998) 263–266.
- [45] H. Thordal-Christensen, Z. Zhang, Y. Wei, D.B. Collinge, Subcellular localization of H₂O₂ in plants. H₂O₂ accumulation in papillae and hypersensitive response during the barley-powdery mildew interaction, Plant J. 11 (1997) 1187–1194.
- [46] T. Jabs, R.A. Dietrich, J.L. Dangl, Initiation of runaway cell death in an Arabidopsis mutant by extracellular superoxide, Science 273 (1996) 1853–1856.
- [47] Y. Yamamoto, Y. Kobayashi, H. Matsumoto, Lipid peroxidation is an early symptom triggered by aluminum, but not the primary cause of elongation inhibition in pea roots, Plant Physiol. 125 (2001) 199–208.
 [48] H. Matsumura, S. Miyachi, Cycling assay for nicotinamide adenine dinu-
- [48] H. Matsumura, S. Miyachi, Cycling assay for nicotinamide adenine dinucleotides, Methods Enzymol. 69 (1980) 465–470.

Author's personal copy

146

S. Signorelli et al. / Plant Science 201-202 (2013) 137-146

- [49] O. Borsani, P. Díaz, J. Monza, Proline is involved in water stress responses of *Lotus corniculatus* nitrogen fixing and nitrate fed plants, J. Plant Physiol. 155 (1999) 269–273.
- [50] C. Rusterucci, V. Stallaert, M.L. Milat, A. Pugin, P. Ricci, J.P. Blein, Relationship between active oxygen species, lipid peroxidation, necrosis, and phytoalexin production induced by *Elicitins* in *Nicotiana*, Plant Physiol. 111 (1996) 885–891.
- [51] M. Melchiorre, G.E. Quero, R. Parola, R. Racca, V.S. Trippi, R. Lascano, Physiological characterization of four model Lotus diploid genotypes: *L. japonicus* (MG20 and Gifu), *L. filicaulis*, and *L. burttii* under salt stress, Plant Sci. 177 (2009) 618–628.
- [52] A.A. Covarrubias, J.L. Reyes, Post-transcriptional gene regulation of salinity and drought responses by plant microRNAs, Plant Cell Environ. 33 (2010) 481–489.
- [53] A. Ramachandra Reddy, K.V. Chaitanya, M. Vivekanandan, Drought-induced responses of photosynthesis and antioxidant metabolism in higher plants, J. Plant Physiol. 161 (2004) 1189–1202.
- [54] D.H. Sánchez, F. Schwabe, A. Erban, M.K. Udvardi, J. Kopka, Comparative metabolomics of drought acclimation in model and forage legumes, Plant Cell Environ. 35 (2012) 136–149.
- [55] I. Yordanov, V. Velikova, T. Tsonev, Plant responses to drought and stress tolerance, Bulg. J. Plant Physiol. 38 (2) (2003) 187–206.
- [56] A.K. Parida, A.B. Das, Salt tolerance and salinity effects on plants: a review, Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 60 (2005) 324–349.
- [57] P. Díaz, O. Borsani, M. Márquez, J. Monza, Osmotically induced proline accumulation in *Lotus corniculatus* leaves affected by light and nitrogen source, Plant Growth Regul. 46 (2005) 223–232.
- [58] P. Díaz, M. Betti, D.H. Sánchez, M.K. Udvardi, J. Monza, A.J. Márquez, Deficiency in plastidic glutamine synthetase alters proline metabolism and transcriptomic response in *Lotus japonicus* under drought stress, New Phytol. 188 (2010) 1001–1013.
- [59] S. Sharma, J.G. Villamor, P.E. Verslues, Essential role of tissue-specific proline synthesis and catabolism in growth and redox balance at low water potential, Plant Physiol. 157 (2011) 292–304.
- [60] L. Szabados, A. Savouré, Proline: a multifunctional amino acid, Trends Plant Sci. 15 (2010) 89–97.
- [61] I. Sperdouli, M. Moustakas, Interaction of proline, sugars, and anthocyanins during photosynthetic acclimation of *Arabidopsis thaliana* to drought stress, J. Plant Physiol. 169 (2012) 577–585.
- [62] P. Filippou, C. Antoniou, V. Fotopoulos, Effect of drought and rewatering on the cellular status and antioxidant response of *Medicago truncatula* plants, Plant Signal. Behav. 6 (2011) 270–277.
- [63] D. Sengupta, M. Kannan, A. Reddy, A root proteomics-based insight reveals dynamic regulation of root proteins in *Vigna radiata* (L.) Wilczek, Planta 233 (2011) 1111–1127.

- [64] J. Sang, M. Jiang, F. Lin, S. Xu, A. Zhang, M. Tan, Nitric oxide reduces hydrogen peroxide accumulation involved in water stress-induced subcellular antioxidant defense in maize plants, J. Integr. Plant Biol. 50 (2008) 231–243.
- [65] J.B. Barroso, J. Peragon, C. Contreras-Jurado, L. García-Salguero, F.J. Corpas, F.J. Esteban, M.A. Peinado, M. De La Higuera, J.A. Lupiáñez, Impact of starvationrefeeding on kinetics and protein expression of trout liver NADPH-production systems, Am. J. Physiol. 274 (1998) R1578–R1587.
- [66] G. Noctor, G. Queval, B. Gakiere, NAD(P) synthesis and pyridine nucleotide cycling in plants and their potential importance in stress conditions, J. Exp. Bot. 57 (2006) 1603–1620.
- [67] M. Leterrier, J.B. Barroso, R. Valderrama, J.M. Palma, F.J. Corpas, NADPdependent isocitrate dehydrogenase from *Arabidopsis* roots contributes in the mechanism of defence against the nitro-oxidative stress induced by salinity, ScientificWorldJournal 2012 (2012) 1–9.
- [68] M. Chaki, R. Valderrama, A.M. Fernández-Ocaña, A. Carreras, M.V. Gómez-Rodríguez, J. López-Jaramillo, J.C. Begara-Morales, B. Sanchez-Calvo, F. Luque, M. Leterrier, F.J. Corpas, J.B. Barroso, High temperature triggers the metabolism of S-nitrosothiols in sunflower mediating a process of nitrosative stress which provokes the inhibition of ferredoxin–NADP reductase by tyrosine nitration, Plant Cell Environ. 34 (2011) 1803–1818.
- [69] M. Airaki, M. Leterrier, R.M. Mateos, R. Valderrama, M. Chaki, J.B. Barroso, L.A. del Río, J.M. Palma, F.J. Corpas, Metabolism of reactive oxygen species and reactive nitrogen species in pepper (*Capsicum annuum L.*) plants under low temperature stress, Plant Cell Environ. 35 (2012) 281–295.
- [70] G. Tanou, P. Filippou, M. Belghazi, D. Job, G. Diamantidis, V. Fotopoulos, A. Molassiotis, Oxidative and nitrosative-based signaling and associated post-translational modifications orchestrate the acclimation of citrus plants to salinity stress, Plant J. 72 (2012) 585–599.
- [71] C. García-Mata, L. Lamattina, Nitric oxide induces stomatal closure and enhances the adaptive plant responses against drought stress, Plant Physiol. 126 (2001) 1196–1204.
- [72] Q.-J. Fan, J.-H. Liu, Nitric oxide is involved in dehydration/drought tolerance in *Poncirus trifoliata* seedlings through regulation of antioxidant systems and stomatal response, Plant Cell Rep. 31 (2012) 145–154.
- [73] J. Xiong, L. Zhang, G. Fu, Y. Yang, C. Zhu, L. Tao, Drought-induced proline accumulation is uninvolved with increased nitric oxide, which alleviates drought stress by decreasing transpiration in rice, J. Plant Res. 125 (2012) 155–164.
- [74] G.P. Hao, Y. Xing, J.H. Zhang, Role of nitric oxide dependence on nitric oxide synthase-like activity in the water stress signaling of maize seedling, J. Integr. Plant Biol. 50 (2008) 435–442.
- [75] S. Lu, W. Su, H. Li, Z. Gou, Abscisic acid improves drought tolerance of triploid bermuda grass and involves H₂O₂- and NO-induced antioxidant enzyme activities, Plant Physiol. Biochem. 47 (2009) 132–138.

Capítulo 2. La prolina en la protección frente al daño nitro-oxidativo

Debido a las limitaciones encontradas para evaluar la funcionalidad de la prolina mediante el uso de las líneas transgénicas, se recurrió a diferentes aproximaciones como el modelado químico y experimentos *in vitro*.

I. La prolina no extingue al oxígeno singulete

Con el fin de establecer si la prolina protege frente al oxígeno singulete (${}^{1}O_{2}$) inactivándolo por *quenching* físico o reaccionando con éste por *quenching* químico, se evaluó si había consumo de O₂ al poner a reaccionar prolina con ${}^{1}O_{2}$, lo que indicaría que hay *quenching* químico. Esta determinación se hizo con un *Oxygraph* (Hansatech Instruments) que consiste en un electrodo de oxígeno polarográfico de tipo Clark. Al no observa consumo de oxígeno por esta técnica, se infería que se trataba de *quenching* físico. Sin embargo al hacer un ensayo de competitividad y ver que el la presencia de prolina no afectaba el consumo de oxígeno por un *quencher* químico, nuestros resultados sugerían que no había ningún tipo de *quenching*. Con técnicas más directas se logró verificar que la prolina no protege del ${}^{1}O_{2}$ como se creía. Adicionalmente se logró dar una explicación a los resultados que llevaron a una interpretación incorrecta.

Los resultados de este trabajo se presentan en el siguiente artículo (Signorelli et al., 2013*c*).

Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 64 (2013) 80-83

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/plaphy

Short communication

Proline does not quench singlet oxygen: Evidence to reconsider its protective role in plants

Santiago Signorelli^{a,*,1}, Juan Bautista Arellano^{b,1}, Thor Bernt Melø^c, Omar Borsani^a, Jorge Monza^a

^a Laboratorio de Bioquímica, Departamento de Biología Vegetal, Facultad de Agronomía, Universidad de la República, Av. E. Garzón 780, CP 12900 Montevideo, Uruguay ^b Instituto de Recursos Naturales y Agrobiología de Salamanca (IRNASA-CSIC), Apdo. 257, 37071 Salamanca, Spain ^c Department of Physics, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, N-7491 Trondheim, Norway

bepartment of thysics, norwegian oniversity of sectice and reenhology, it that thought in

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 22 November 2012 Accepted 31 December 2012 Available online 17 January 2013

Keywords: Antioxidant Scavenger ROS Environmental stress Proline accumulation Singlet oxygen

ABSTRACT

Plants are commonly subjected to several environmental stresses that lead to an overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS). As plants accumulate proline in response to stress conditions, some authors have proposed that proline could act as a non-enzymatic antioxidant against ROS. One type of ROS aimed to be quenched by proline is singlet oxygen ($^{1}O_{2}$)-molecular oxygen in its lowest energy electronically excited state—constitutively generated in oxygenic, photosynthetic organisms. In this study we clearly prove that proline cannot quench $^{1}O_{2}$ in aqueous buffer, giving rise to a rethinking about the antioxidant role of proline against $^{1}O_{2}$.

© 2013 Elsevier Masson SAS. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Plants are subjected to environmental stresses that bring together an overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) responsible for cellular oxidative damage and (programmed) cell death [1]. Plants accumulate proline (Pro) in response to water stress conditions [2] and different hypotheses have been put forward to explain the role of Pro under this type of stress and others that also result in Pro accumulation. However, none of these hypotheses has been incontrovertibly demonstrated [3,4]. One hypothesis is that Pro could non-enzymatically react with ROS and prevent essential molecules from (photo)oxidative damage [5–7]. Smirnoff and Cumbes evidenced that Pro was an effective hydroxyl radical (•OH) scavenger [6] and a rate constant of $4.8 \times 10^8 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ for this reaction was determined [8]. In addition, Matysik and coworkers (2002) [9] proposed a role of singlet oxygen (¹O₂)

scavenger for Pro in plants, but the rate constant for the reaction of Pro with ¹O₂ is still unknown. The ¹O₂ is generated with high UV doses or visible light in the presence of photosensitizers in vitro (or chlorophylls in green tissues of plants) and its deactivation may occur by phosphorescence emission or radiationless processes including electronic-to-vibrational energy transfer, charge transfer and electronic energy transfer [10]. Alia and co-workers (2001) [7] proposed that Pro could deactivate ¹O₂ by physical quenching or by forming products such as superoxide radical (O_2^{\cdot}) or peroxide anion $[O-O]^{2-}$. Since then, the protective role of Pro against ${}^{1}O_{2}$ has been widely considered by the scientific community. Nevertheless, the study by Alia and co-workers (2001) [7] was performed in ethanol and did not unambiguously elucidate if Pro could act as a physical or chemical quencher. If Pro reacted with ¹O₂ producing O_2^{-} or $[O-O]^{2-}$, Pro should not be regarded as an efficient nonenzymatic antioxidant in plants because its reaction with ¹O₂ yielded other types of ROS and, additionally, Pro would be rapidly depleted. However, if Pro could physically quench ¹O₂, it would not be consumed nor would it yield any additional ROS.

Direct detection of the phosphorescence emission of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ at 1270 nm is nowadays the only technique that allows researchers to establish unambiguously whether ${}^{1}O_{2}$ is produced in their system under study or whether the presence of additional compounds can affect its phosphorescence quantum yield or temporal profile. Because the quantum yield of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ emission in an aqueous or biological system





Abbreviations: CAT, catalase; EPR, electron paramagnetic resonance; FFA, furfuryl alcohol; LED, light-emitting diode; NaPB, 20 mM sodium phosphate pH 7.2; MB, methylene blue; Pro, proline; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SOD, superoxide dismutase; TEMP, 2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine; TEMPO, 2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxyl.

Corresponding author. Tel.: +598 2 3553938; fax: +598 23562037.

E-mail addresses: ssignorelli@fagro.edu.uy, ssignorelli@fcien.edu.uy (S. Signorelli). ¹ These authors contributed equally.

^{0981-9428/\$ -} see front matter © 2013 Elsevier Masson SAS. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2012.12.017

is as low as 10^{-6} – 10^{-7} and its lifetime rather short, from few microseconds to few hundreds nanoseconds [10,11], researchers engaged in ¹O₂ detection use indirect methods to monitor ¹O₂ production and quenching instead. In these latter cases, ¹O₂ production and quenching is followed by monitoring the accumulation of a new product that reacts with ¹O₂ or the consumption of molecular oxygen with spectrophotometric, spectrofluorometric, polarographic or EPR spin trapping techniques [7,12-14]. The combination of direct and indirect methods can be useful for a better understanding of this issue, particularly when other ROS can come into play.

In our attempt to elucidate the bimolecular rate constants for the quenching of ¹O₂ by Pro in neutral aqueous solutions, we reach the conclusion that Pro is, in fact, an inefficient ¹O₂ scavenger.

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Direct detection of ${}^{1}O_{2}$

The temporal profile of the phosphorescence emission by ¹O₂ at 1270 nm produced by riboflavin in the presence and absence of Pro under oxygen atmosphere is depicted in Fig. 1. The observed kinetic traces were fit well to the biexponential function $I(t) = a(k_1 - k_2)^{-1}[\exp(-k_2t) - \exp(-k_1t)]$, where a > 0, and the larger and smaller of the two rate constants determine the rise and decay of the emission signal respectively; here k_1 is identified with the larger rate constant and vice versa. Before the analysis of the rate constants in 20 mM sodium phosphate pH 7.2 (NaPB), experiments with NaN3 or under a stream of N2 were performed to unambiguously correlate the origin of the kinetic traces with ${}^{1}O_{2}$ emission (data not shown). The temporal profile of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ emission showed that $\tau_1 \equiv 1/k_1 = 0.7 \ \mu s$. A value that agrees with the expected value under oxygen atmosphere [11], where the concentration of dissolved oxygen is found to be \sim 3.2 times larger [15,16]. The decay time constant $\tau_2 \equiv 1/k_2$ was slightly larger in 20 mM NaPB (4.5 µs) than that previously determined in pure water (3.7 µs) [15]. When Pro was added up to a concentration of 150 mM, mimicking the average natural accumulation of Pro in aqueous compartments of plant cells in response to adverse



Fig. 1. Temporal profile of ¹O₂ phosphorescence in the presence and absence of Pro. ¹O₂ was photosensitized by riboflavin in 20 mM NaPB with no further additions (black traces) and 90 mM Pro (red traces) under oxygen atmosphere. The absorbance of riboflavin was 0.9 at 445 nm. The phosphorescence emission was measured at 1270 nm. The number of averaged scans was 128. The residuals are also shown for both experiments. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

environmental stresses, neither the intensity of the ¹O₂ emission nor the rise and decay constants changed within experimental error (Fig. 1), indicating that first Pro does not affect triplet-triplet energy transfer from riboflavin to molecular oxygen and second Pro does not efficiently deactivate ¹O₂. Similar conclusions were reached when lumiflavin or toluidine blue in 20 mM NaPB or ethanol were used as ¹O₂ photosensitizers instead of riboflavin (data not shown).

2.2. Oxygen consumption

The putative reaction of Pro with ¹O₂ was also investigated indirectly in a Clark-type electrode, keeping a nearly constant concentration of ¹O₂ while exciting methylene blue (MB) with a red light-emitting diode (LED) source. In this experiment, the formation and deactivation of ¹O₂ and, presumably, other types of ROS were investigated. Fig. 2 shows that the addition of 100 mM Pro did not bring together any consumption of oxygen after the dark-tolight shift, indicating that ¹O₂ photosensitized by MB is simply deactivated by H₂O molecules. In contrast, the addition of furfuryl alcohol (FFA)—a well-known chemical quencher of ¹O₂ [17]—at a concentration of 0.4 µM consumed oxygen with a rate of 2.0 μ M s⁻¹. The rate of oxygen uptake by FFA decreased to ~40% of its initial value when a physical quencher such as NaN3 at a concentration of 1 mM was present. In contrast, the combined addition of 100 mM Pro and 0.4 µM FFA did not affect the oxygen uptake by FFA, confirming that Pro is both an inefficient physical and chemical quencher of ¹O₂. Increasing the lifetime of ¹O₂ by replacing H₂O by D₂O (*i.e.*, 20 mM potassium phosphate pD 7.2) did not enhance the quenching properties of Pro (data not shown). To establish unambiguously that the oxygen consumption observed in the Clark-type electrode was due to ¹O₂ photosensitization, but not to the production of O2'- or H2O2, further experiments were performed in the presence of enzymatic antioxidants (i.e., superoxide dismutase, SOD, and catalase, CAT). Fig. 2 shows that the addition of 500 U mL⁻¹ of SOD or CAT did not induce any change in the photoinduced rate of oxygen uptake, even when 100 mM Pro was present in the medium, indicating that Pro does not react to produce O_2^{-} or $[O-O]^{2-}$ either.



Fig. 2. Oxygen uptake in the Clark-type electrode chamber using MB as 102 photosensitizer, and Pro and FFA as ¹O₂ quenchers. Experiments were carried out in 20 mM NaPB. FFA at a concentration of 0.4 μ M was present in all the experiments except when indicated. The absorbance of MB was 0.15 at 665 nm, S&C represents 500 U mL⁻¹ of SOD and CAT. Arrows with on and off indicate when the red LED source was turned on and off respectively. * SD = ± 0.06 .

2.3. Deactivation by electronic-to-vibrational energy transfer

82

The results presented above show that the encounter of Pro with ¹O₂ does not follow any process where an exciplex with partial charge transfer character becomes deactivated by intersystem crossing (physical quenching) or chemical reaction. To explore whether Pro could compete with H₂O for the deactivation of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ by electronic-to-vibrational energy transfer, the energy of the highest frequency mode vibration of Pro was compared with that of H₂O in liquid state. The water molecules in liquid state have stretch vibrations in the 3100-3600 cm⁻¹ range and this vibration band has associated a rate constant for ${}^{1}O_{2}$ deactivation of ~2900 M $^{-1}$ s $^{-1}$ [10]. The highest frequency mode vibration ($v_{\rm NH}$) of Pro in water is 3057 cm^{-1} [18] and has a rate constant for $^{1}\text{O}_{2}$ deactivation of \sim 1530 M⁻¹ s⁻¹ [10], approximately half of the value for the stretching of water. These values show that Pro cannot efficiently compete with H₂O for ¹O₂ deactivation through electronic-tovibrational energy transfer in (cellular) aqueous media, based simply on the above values for the rate constants and the remarkable difference in concentration between the solute and the solvent.

2.4. Effect of Pro on TEMPO accumulation

The lines of evidence presented above prove that Pro cannot quench ${}^{1}O_{2}$. To better understand why our results differed from those observed by Alia and co-workers (2001) [7], ${}^{1}O_{2}$ production by toluidine blue was followed by electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) spectroscopy under continuous illumination of the sample in the EPR cavity. The oxidation product of 2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxyl (TEMPO) grew continuously with the course of time in the absence of Pro; however, TEMPO accumulated slower in the first instance and turned down after several minutes in the presence of 25 mM Pro (Fig. 3). Additionally, the bandwidth of the EPR signal became narrower. This suggests that Pro do not prevent the oxidation of 2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine (TEMP) by ${}^{1}O_{2}$, but the increase of TEMPO, indicating that the spin adduct with ${}^{1}O_{2}$ undergoes a change.



Fig. 3. Effect of Pro on TEMPO accumulation. The EPR signal was monitored in the absence of Pro (black squares and solid line) and 25 mM Pro (red circles and dotted line). A reaction mixture containing 1 mM toluidine blue and 10 mM TEMP was continuously irradiated with a 50 W Tungsten lamp with an optical fiber connected to the cavity (0.3 mW cm⁻²) and the EPR signal of TEMPO monitored at different intervals. The inset shows the normalized EPR signal in the presence and absence of Pro for the comparison of the EPR bandwidth. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

2.5. Possible role of Pro in plants under stress

Pro accumulates in cytosol and chloroplast stroma [19]; where isoforms of the Δ -1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase enzyme are localized [20]. Taking into account our results, together with the fact that Pro accumulates in aqueous compartments of cells, but not in thylakoid membranes, where ¹O₂ is constitutively produced by the photosystem II and largely damages lipids and membrane proteins under photoinhibition before diffusing into the surrounding medium, we propose that the Pro does not play any significant role in the scavenging of ¹O₂ in plants. Several studies have concluded that oxidative damage is lower when Pro accumulates in plants under stress [21], but this protective effect must then be related to the scavenging of other ROS, for example •OH [6], but not ¹O₂. In addition, Pro can play other protective roles; it can act as a compatible osmolyte [22,23] or the Pro synthesis and catabolism can play essential role in redox balance [24]. Probably, both Pro itself and Pro synthesis and catabolism play combined functions in the stress adaptation of plants.

3. Conclusions

In brief, we determine that Pro does not quench ${}^{1}O_{2}$ either chemically or physically using methods that include the direct detection of the ${}^{1}O_{2}$ emission, oxygen consumption in a Clark-type electrode or EPR spin trapping. Moreover, stretching vibrations of Pro do not exceed the water vibrations and so the presence of Pro in the medium does not increase the ability to quench ${}^{1}O_{2}$ by electronic-to-vibrational energy transfer. On the basis of these facts, we conclude that Pro accumulation does not play any significant role in the scavenging of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ in plants under stress and that other roles in osmoprotection, •OH scavenging or contribution in redox homeostasis should be considered.

4. Methods

4.1. Time-resolved ¹O₂ measurements

Time-resolved emission of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ at 1270 nm was studied in 20 mM NaPB under oxygen atmosphere at room temperature. Further details about the experimental setup have already been described in sufficient detail in Arellano et al. (2007) and Li et al. (2012). An absorbance of 0.9 at 445 nm for riboflavin was used to photosensitize ${}^{1}O_{2}$ in the assay buffer. The concentration of Pro ranged from 0 to 150 mM.

4.2. Oxygen consumption

Oxygen uptake by ${}^{1}O_{2}$ scavengers was measured polarographically using a Chlorolab 2 system (Hansatech Instruments, England) at 20 °C. Samples were buffered at pH 7.2 with 20 mM NaPB and contained MB with an absorbance of 0.15 at 665 nm to photosensitize ${}^{1}O_{2}$. When needed, 0.4 μ M FFA or 500 U mL $^{-1}$ of SOD or CAT were added to scavenge ${}^{1}O_{2}$, O_{2} $\dot{-}$ or H₂O₂. All samples were incubated in the dark for 1 min before the red LED source was switched on. The light irradiance in the electrode chamber was 2 mE m $^{-2}$ s $^{-1}$.

4.3. ${}^{1}O_{2}$ detection by spin trapping EPR

A reaction mixture containing 1 mM toluidine blue and 10 mM TEMP was continuously irradiated with a 50 W Tungsten lamp with an optical fiber connected to the cavity (0.3 mW cm^{-2}) and the EPR signal of TEMPO monitored at different intervals, in the absence or presence of 25 mM Pro. EPR measurements were done using a JEOL free radical monitor machine (JES-FR30) with a cylindrical cavity (TE011 mode) working in the 9.1–9.5 GHz range. The receiver gain of the EPR instrument was 200, modulation width 0.2 mT and

power 4 mW. Experiments were done at room temperature and in ethanol as a solvent.

Acknowledgment

This research has financial support from ANII and PEDECIBA (Uruguay), the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness and the Research Council of Norway.

References

- [1] S.S. Gill, N. Tuteja, Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants, Plant Physiol. Biochem. 48 (2010) 909–930.
- J. Barnet, A. Naylor, Amino acid and protein metabolism in bermuda grass during water stress, Plant Physiol. 11 (1966) 1222–1230. M. Trovato, R. Mattioli, P. Costantino, Multiple roles of proline in plant stress tolerance and development, Rend. Lincei. 19 (2008) 325–346. [2]
- [3]
- L. Szabados, A. Savouré, Proline: a multifunctional amino acid, Trends Plant [4] Sci. 15 (2010) 89-97.
- C. Chen, M.B. Dickman, Proline suppresses apoptosis in the fungal pathogen Collectotrichum trifolii, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (2005) 3459–3464.
- [6] N. Smirnoff, Q.J. Cumbes, Hydroxyl radical scavenging activity of compatible solutes, Phytochemistry 28 (1989) 1057-1060.
- Alia, P. Mohanty, J. Matysik, Effect of proline on the production of singlet oxygen, Amino Acids 21 (2001) 195–200. [7]
- [8] M.J. Davies, The oxidative environment and protein damage, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1703 (2005) 93-109.
- [9] J. Matysik, A. Alia, B. Bhalu, P. Mohanty, Molecular mechanisms of quenching of reactive oxygen species by proline under stress in plants, Curr. Sci. 82 (2002) 525-532.
- [10] C. Schweitzer, R. Schmidt, Physical mechanisms of generation and deactivation of singlet oxygen, Chem. Rev. 103 (2003) 1685-1757.
- [11] A.A. Gorman, M.A. Rodgers, Current perspectives of singlet oxygen detection in biological environments, J. Photochem. Photobiol. B 14 (1992) 159-176.

[12] I. Kraljic, S.E. Mohsni, New method for detection of singlet oxygen in aqueous-

83

- solutions, Photochem. Photobiol. 28 (1978) 577–581. [13] S. Nonell, L. Moncayo, F. Trull, F. Amatguerri, E.A. Lissi, A.T. Soltermann, S. Criado, N.A. Garcia, Solvent influence on the kinetics of the photodynamic degradation of trolox, a water-soluble model-compound for vitamin E, Photochem. Photobiol. B 29 (1995) 157-162.
- [14] E. Hideg, A comparative study of fluorescent singlet oxygen probes in plant leaves, Cent. Eur. J. Biol. 3 (2008) 273–284.
 [15] J.B. Arellano, Y.A. Yousef, T.B. Melo, S.B. Mohamad, R.J. Cogdell, K.R. Naqvi,
- Formation and geminate quenching of singlet oxygen in purple bacterial reaction center, J. Photochem. Photobiol. B 87 (2007) 105–112.
- [16] H. Li, T.B. Melo, J.B. Arellano, K. Razi Naqvi, Temporal profile of the singlet oxygen emission endogenously produced by photosystem II reaction centre in an aqueous buffer, Photosynth. Res. 112 (2012) 75–79.
- F.E. Scully Jr., J. Hoigne, Rate constants for reactions of singlet oxygen [17] with phenols and other compounds in water, Chemosphere 16 (1987) 681-694.
- J. Kápitan, V. Baumruk, P. Bour, Demonstration of the ring conformation in [18] polyproline by the Raman optical activity, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128 (2006) 2438-2443.
- [19] D. Büssis, D. Heineke, Acclimation of potato plants to polyethylene glycolinduced water deficit. II. Contents and subcellular distribution of organic solutes, J. Exp. Bot. 49 (1998) 1361–1370.
- [20] G. Szekely, E. Abraham, A. Cseplo, G. Rigo, L. Zsigmond, J. Csiszar, F. Ayaydin, N. Strizhov, J. Jasik, E. Schmelzer, C. Koncz, L. Szabados, Duplicated P5CS genes of Arabidopsis play distinct roles in stress regulation and developmental control of proline biosynthesis, Plant J. 53 (2008) 11–28.
- [21] M. Ashraf, M.R. Foolad, Roles of glycine betaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance, Environ. Exp. Bot. 59 (2007) 206-216
- E.A. Bray, Molecular responses to water deficit, Plant Physiol. 103 (1993) [22] 1035-1040.
- [23] H. Chiang, M. Dandekar, Regulation of proline accumulation in Arabidopsis thaliana (L.) Heynh during development and in response to desiccation, Plant Cell. Environ. 18 (1995) 1280-1290.
- S. Sharma, J.G. Villamor, P.E. Verslues, Essential role of tissue-specific proline [24] synthesis and catabolism in growth and redox balance at low water potential, Plant Physiol. 157 (2011) 292-304.

II. Mecanismos de reacción entre la prolina y el radical hidroxilo

Debido a la alta reactividad del radical hidroxilo ([·]OH), realizamos estudios *in silico* a nivel cuántico para establecer los mecanismos de reacción entre este radical y la prolina y determinar los posibles derivados estables. Para ello se consideraron los ataques del [·]OH sobre los átomos de C del anillo de la prolina, ya que en distintos trabajos se propone que la reacción genera hidroxiprolina.

En esta sección se presenta un artículo (Signorelli et al., 2014) que demuestra que el [•]OH reacciona con la prolina, principalmente por abstracción de H formando agua y produciendo prolina radical. Las diferentes abstracciones tienen barreras energéticas muy bajas, lo que concuerda con la rápida constante de reacción determinada de 4,8 x 10⁸ dm³ · moL⁻¹ · s⁻¹ (Davies, 2005). Por otra parte los resultados demuestran que el [•]OH ataca a la prolina preferentemente por la cara del grupo carboxilo. La prolina radical puede reaccionar con otro [•]OH, esta posibilidad fue evaluada para probar la factibilidad de la formación de hidroxiprolina. Nuestro trabajo concluye que efectivamente la producción de hidroxiprolina puede darse por la adición directa del [•]OH y la prolina radical. También demostramos que una segunda abstracción de H puede ocurrir en presencia de [•]OH, y la barrera más baja fue encontrada cuando ocurre sobre el grupo NH₂⁺. Esta abstracción puede llevar a la formación de P5C el cual es convertido enzimáticamente a prolina. Esto nos llevó a proponer un ciclo Pro-Pro donde una prolina reacciona con 2 [•]OH y se transforma nuevamente en prolina con consumo de NADPH por la enzima P5CR.

Si bien el [•]OH puede reaccionar con un amplio espectro de moléculas, la co-localización en el cloroplasto de éste con la prolina, la que alcanza la mayor concentración en dicho organelo (Büssis and Heineke, 1998), favorece el encuentro entre ambos y así las reacciones propuestas.

El ciclo Pro-Pro apoya a dos de los roles que se le han asignado a la prolina, el proteger frente a ROS y el de amortiguador redox por consumo de NADPH en tejido fotosintético. De este modo nuestra evidencia acompaña a la propuesta actual sobre las múltiples funciones de la prolina.

Molecular Mechanisms for the Reaction Between *OH Radicals and Proline: Insights on the Role as Reactive Oxygen Species Scavenger in Plant Stress

Santiago Signorelli,*^{,†} E. Laura Coitiño,^{*,‡} Omar Borsani,[†] and Jorge Monza[†]

[†]Laboratorio de Bioquímica, Departamento de Biología Vegetal, Facultad de Agronomía, Universidad de la República, Av. E. Garzón 780, CP 12900 Montevideo, Uruguay

[‡]Laboratorio de Química Teórica y Computacional (LQTC), Instituto de Química Biológica, Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad de la República, Iguá 4225, Montevideo 11400, Uruguay

S Supporting Information



ABSTRACT: The accumulation of proline (**Pro**) and overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by plants exposed to stress is well-documented. In vitro assays show that enzyme inactivation by hydroxyl radicals (°OH) can be avoided in the presence of **Pro**, suggesting this amino acid might act as a °OH scavenger. Although production of hydroxyproline (**Hyp**) has been hypothesized in connection with such antioxidant activity, no evidence on the detailed mechanism of scavenging has been reported. To elucidate whether and how **Hyp** might be produced, we used density functional theory calculations coupled to a polarizable continuum model to explore 27 reaction channels including H-abstraction by °OH and °OH/H₂O addition. The structure and energetics of stable species and transition states for each reaction channel were characterized at the PCM-(U)M06/ 6-31G(d,p) level in aqueous solution. Evidence is found for a main pathway in which **Pro** scavenges °OH by successive H-abstractions ($\Delta G^{\ddagger,298} = 4.1$ and 7.5 kcal mol⁻¹) to yield 3,4- Δ -**Pro**. A companion pathway with low barriers yielding Δ^1 -pyrroline-5-carboxylate (**PSC**) is also supported, linking with 5-**Hyp** through hydration. However, this connection remains unlikely in stressed plants because **PSC** would be efficiently recycled to **Pro** (contributing to its accumulation) by **PSC** reductase, hypothesis coined here as the "Pro-Pro cycle".

1. INTRODUCTION

When plants are exposed to biotic and/or abiotic stress, damage on cellular components (proteins, lipids, carbohydrates, and DNA) is induced as a result of the overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), superoxide anion ($O_2^{\bullet-}$), and hydroxyl radicals ($^{\bullet}OH$).¹⁻³ The latter is the most reactive species among ROS and can be generated in vivo both by Fenton's reaction or through homolysis of H_2O_2 under UV radiation, to which plants are highly exposed. Hydrogen abstraction, addition, and electrontransfer processes are the most common reaction channels for $^{\bullet}OH$, leading to new radicals or closed-shell species with lower reactivity.⁴ Cellular defense against ROS involves both enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidant systems.^{1-3,5} Superoxide dismutase, catalase, and peroxidase are representative enzymes whose induction is associated to stress acclimation.⁵ Glutathione, ascorbic acid, and tocopherols are common examples of nonenzymatic systems involved in the antioxidant plant's defense,¹ a category to which some authors also ascribe proline.⁶

Accumulation of proline up to 100 times the normal level in stressed plants has been a well-known fact for more than 40 years,⁷ reaching cytosol concentrations of 120–230 mM (see Ashraf and Foolad⁸ and references therein). Accumulation by de novo synthesis observed under drought and high salinity conditions, UV/vis irradiation, oxidative stress, in presence of heavy metals, or as a response to different kinds of biotic stresses⁹

Received:	August 3, 2013		
Revised:	December 11, 2013		
Published:	December 14, 2013		



© 2013 American Chemical Society

37

dx.doi.org/10.1021/jp407773u | J. Phys. Chem. B 2014, 118, 37-47

has been reported to be a feature shared by a wide variety of organisms including bacteria, fungi, and plants.¹⁰ Whereas some authors have proposed that proline could act as a compatible osmolyte,^{11,12} others hypothesized it might act as a nonenzymatic antioxidant⁶ maintaining the redox potential in the cell¹³ and scavenging ROS such as [•]OH^{14,15} and singlet oxygen $({}^{1}O_{2})^{16}$ (albeit for the latter some of us recently showed proline does not quench singlet oxygen¹⁷). Other authors also proposed alternative roles for the species, such as stabilizing protein structure¹⁸ or acting as C/N storage.¹⁹ Early in 1989, Sminorff and Cumbes showed that enzyme inactivation by 'OH can be avoided in vitro in the presence of Pro, proposing the molecule might act as a [•]OH scavenger.¹⁴ In vivo assays conducted by Jain et al. on callus subjected to saline stress showed its accumulation decreases lipid peroxidation, suggesting that proline might contribute to the antioxidant defense.²⁰ Moreover, indirect evidence also emerges in comparing oxidative damage under stress on genetically engineered plants containing transgenes for production of proline; whereas transgenics with increased accumulation under saline conditions suffer less oxidative damage,^{21,22} those unable to accumulate proline exhibit a significantly lower tolerance to stress compared to wild-type plants.23,24

Although the concept of proline acting as an antioxidant has been frequently referenced during the last 20 years (more than 600 citations of the original article by Smirnoff and Cumbes¹⁴), proposals on a detailed mechanism of its reaction with *OH and the physicochemical features of the species involved along the possible reaction paths are still lacking. The absence of experimental evidence is possibly due to the high reactivity of the radical, a feature that makes use of experimental approaches difficult. The only suggestion currently advanced is that proline could react with 'OH mainly forming 5-hydroxyproline (5-Hyp),¹⁵ but no clear evidence of the presence of this molecule under plant stress has been reported yet. In this scenario, computational modeling by quantum methods such as those based on the density functional theory (DFT) appears as a very valuable approach to explore the features of possible pathways with atomic and electronic levels of detail.

Ab initio post-Hartree-Fock and DFT calculations have already been applied with success to characterize structural features of the most stable isomers both for neutral proline in vacuo^{25–29} and for zwitterionic/ionized proline in solution.^{30–35} Four stable isomers displaying internal hydrogen bond (HB) between the -C(=O)OH and -N(H) moieties have been found in the gas phase, resulting from the combination of two possible N"H-O/N-H"O=C HB patterns with the C^r endoand exo-like puckering conformations relative to -COOH.² The main species in aqueous solution at near-physiological pH corresponds to the zwitterionic form. According to DFT/PCM calculations³¹ the structure also displays an internal CO2-"H-NH⁺ interaction with a HB distance of 1.85 Å (1.91 Å in a second ring-puckered conformer) which is lengthened by 0.05 Å when three explicit waters are included in the model. These findings are consistent with neutron scattering and Raman experiments pointing out hydration favors a transition from neutral to zwitterionic species through strong interactions with water molecules.³⁶ FTIR data suggests there are at most three HBs per molecule, with no evidence for extended HB networking.³⁷ Two ring-puckering down/up conformations of the zwitterion, respectively corresponding to C^{γ} and the C=O group lying on the same/opposite side of the C^{α} -N- C^{δ} plane were also found to be shallow minima on the molecular potential energy surface

(PES). A barrier of 1.72–2.08 kcal mol⁻¹ (hysteretic dependence of energy on the angle was found) for interconverting them via ring twists was reported at the B3LYP/6-311++G** COSMO-(H₂O) level by Bouř and co-workers,³³ suggesting both conformers would be present under physiological conditions. Approximately equal Boltzmann populations are predicted at 298–300 K and pH 6.8–7.2 from several NMR-based analyses and computational modeling, with the down (C^{γ} endo) conformer slightly preferred in terms of energy (<1 kcal mol⁻¹).^{32–34,38} Ionization state, conformational preferences, and HB are all elements that must be considered in properly describing how conditions resembling those in the cell of a stressed plant may modulate the reactivity of the amino acid and the susceptibility of each of the target sites toward radical attack (i.e., captodative effects³⁹ stabilizing C^{α} radicals are not present in a zwitterion).

Despite a considerable body of information has been built on studies of the primary steps for the reaction of $^{\bullet}OH$ with amino acids in peptides and proteins,^{40–53} quite less is known at a detailed level for the H-abstraction from *free* amino acids, with a series of studies available in gas phase 54-57 and in aqueous solution.⁵⁸⁻⁶⁴ These reactions are fast, in the near-diffusion limit, with an overall rate constant of $6.5 \times 10^8 \, \text{M}^{-1} \, \text{s}^{-1}$ determined for proline in aqueous solution at pH 6.8 and 298.15 K.58 The fate of the process over free amino acids is determined by the strength of the C-H bonds targeted by 'OH and the stability of the radicals thus produced as the main controlling factors⁴² combined with the outcome of a subtle balance among attractive and repulsive interactions the approaching hydroxyl radical establishes with the carboxylate moiety. 47,49,65 Any possible H-atom abstraction is expected to be strongly exergonic, because the O-H bond dissociation energy (BDE) in H₂O (ca. 119.3-118.8 kcal mol^{-1})^{66,67} is higher than the BDEs for any C–H bond in proline zwitterion. Moore and Julian⁶⁸ coupled DFT calculations with isodesmic reactions to evaluate on an equal footing BDEs for X-H bonds (X = C, N, O, S) along the 20 common amino acids as being in a peptide backbone. Values of 84.3, 98.7, 99.1, and 93.9 \pm 2.4 kcal mol⁻¹ were found for the C–H homolytic cleavage at the α , β , γ , and δ sites, respectively, in *N*-acetylproline amide. A significant increase in the C^{α} -H BDE is expected for free proline in the zwitterionic form, as replacement at the N-terminus of the acetyl cap by an amine and its protonation are opposite effects that globally destabilize radicals both at the backbone C^{α} and (to a smaller extent) at the adjacent side-chain carbon. Assuming transferability across amino acids for the overall magnitude of these effects $(+12.8 \text{ kcal mol}^{-1} \text{ for alanine}^{68})$, a final value of 97.1 kcal mol⁻¹ might in principle be expected for the C^{α} position in free proline, leading to the following ordering of C–H BDEs: δ $(C5) < \alpha (C2) < \beta (C3) \cong \gamma (C4)$, following now the numbering shown in Scheme I. However, only side-chain radicals were found in an early ESR characterization of the spin-trapped free radicals produced by reaction of *OH with proline in aqueous solution.⁶⁰ From that study, Rustgi et al.⁶⁰ inferred that (as other authors have also done^{40,42}) the short-lived species with the unpaired electron at C5 would be the most stable product for the primary step of the reaction. Although some controversies are still open on the relative reactivity toward H-atom abstraction at each site of the side-chain,⁶¹ those first findings excluding C2 proline radicals as an outcome of the reaction with *OH were further confirmed by more recent mass spectrometry⁶⁹ and ²H/¹H NMR^{47,61} studies. On the basis of some of that evidence, Matysik et al. hypothesized that 5-Hyp could be the main product of the [•]OH scavenging activity of proline.¹⁵ Here we Scheme I. Possible Reaction Pathways Explored in the Attempt to Explain Formation of Hyp through [•]OH Scavenging by the Zwitterionic Species in Aqueous Solution^{*a*}



^aAtom numbering scheme is depicted over **Pro** in blue characters.

intend to shed light on these controversial aspects relying on computational models capable to find evidence, if any, in support for such scavenger activity by exploring the features of feasible reaction channels connected with the formation of hydroxyproline.

2. MATERIAL MODELS AND COMPUTATIONAL METHODS

2.1. Molecular Systems. Several reaction pathways starting with H-atom abstractions by •OH from the most stable conformer of the zwitterionic form of proline in aqueous solution (**Pro** hereafter) were extensively explored. A comparison with the features of the neutral species displaying an internal HB as conducted at the same level of theory is included as Figure S1 in the Supporting Information.

As depicted in Scheme I, the primary step in the reaction of •OH with **Pro** (identified as Step 1) was characterized for all the possible H-atom abstractions by radical attack from both faces of the pyrrolidine ring (i.e., from the side of the carboxylate group or from the opposite one, respectively labeled s and o channels) at C3, C4, and C5 in the side-chain as well as at C2 in the backbone. Two competitive channels of reaction starting from each of the stable carbon-centered radicals (**Pro**[•]) produced through Step 1 were further explored: the direct addition of [•]OH to generate **Hyp** (Step 2a) and a second H-atom abstraction from

Pro[•] at the different alkyl sites adjacent to each center bearing the unpaired spin (Step 2b) leading to dehydroproline stable species (Δ -Pro in Scheme I) previously identified as intermediates in the H-abstraction of **Pro** by radicals, Δ^1 -pyrroline-5-carboxylate (**P5C**) in particular.^{42,69,70} Once again s and o labeling is used to distinguish among 'OH attack to Pro' approaching the pyrrolidine ring from the same and opposite side of the carboxylate group, respectively. In closure of a mechanism capable of explaining hydroxyproline formation from Δ -Pro intermediates, two final competitive addition processes on the unsaturated C=C moieties were examined as follows: unassisted and assisted water addition eventually leading to production of Hyp (Step 3a) and unassisted and assisted •OH addition on the same target sites (Step 3b) eventually leading to distinct Hyp[•] radicals that finally would be able to generate Hyp by H-atom reabstraction (Step 3c) from protective species present in the cellular environment such as ascorbate, glutathione, α -tocopherol, carotenoids, and flavonoids.

2.2. Level of Theory. The geometrical structure of each stable species (reactants, products, and prereactive intermediate complexes IC) and transition states (TS) was fully optimized in aqueous solution at the (U)M06/6-31G(d,p) level⁷¹ integrated with the IEF-PCM polarizable continuum model⁷²⁻⁷⁴ without imposing symmetry restrictions and using solute cavities adapted to the molecular shape and constructed with Bondi radii.⁷⁵ An ultrafine pruned grid having 99 radial shells and 590 angular points per shell was employed for numerical integration in all M06 calculations to ensure small errors in reaction energies and barriers.⁷⁶ Expectation values of the spin operator \tilde{S}^2 were checked to be below 0.76/2.01 for all the open-shell species to ensure minimal spin contamination. The nature of each stationary point was carefully verified by inspection of the eigenvalues of the analytic Hessian in aqueous solution. Thermochemistry was evaluated at 298.15 K relying on the standard treatment for assessing thermal contributions (rigid rotor, harmonic vibrations with no scale factor, etc.) as implemented in the Gaussian09 program.⁷⁷ Nonelectrostatic contributions (cavitation, dispersion, and repulsion)^{78,79} to the solvent free energy were also evaluated at 298 K. The reaction coordinate associated to each transition state (TS) was inspected by animation of the eigenvector associated to the imaginary frequency. Intrinsic reaction coordinate (IRC) minimum energy reaction paths⁸⁰ toward reactants and products were generated with the Hessian-based predictor-corrector (HPC) algorithm⁸¹ including 45 steps for each side with a step size of 2 bohr amu $^{-1/2}$. Representative structures obtained from each side of the reaction path were thus used as the starting point for optimizing the structure of the corresponding intermediate complexes (ICs). UCCSD/cc-pVDZ geometry optimization in aqueous solution was also performed for the species involved in Step 3b which exhibited significant spin contamination at the DFT level. All the calculations were performed using Gaussian09, revision A.1.77

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1. First H-Atom Abstraction from Proline by ·OH: Regioselectivity of the Initial Attack. Figure 1 collects the structural features and free energy profiles in aqueous solution at 298.15 K for reactants, TSs, and products for six of the seven reaction channels explored for Step 1, including attack at C3, C4, and C5 from both sides of the pyrrolidine ring (s and o channels). H-abstraction from C2 (not shown) was also characterized for the only possible o-face of attack.



Figure 1. First H-atom abstraction from Pro in aqueous solution. (A) Structures for the reactants, TSs, and product radicals, considering both the attack from the carboxyl group side (s-face) and the opposite side of the ring (o-face). Intermediate complexes (IC1s) characterized are not shown here for the sake of clarity; their structures are displayed as Figure S2 in the Supporting Information. (B) Gibbs free energy profiles in aqueous solution relative to reactants for each reaction channel.

As previously anticipated based upon the BDEs values for the forming and breaking of bonds involved in the reaction coordinate for each of these channels, all of them are quite exoergic (and strongly exothermic, see Table S1 in the Supporting Information for the detailed set of data). Side-chain abstraction leading to C3/C4-centered radicals are thermodynamically preferred by ~ 2 kcal mol⁻¹ over H extraction from C2/ C5. Activation barriers are in the 4-9 kcal mol⁻¹ range, corresponding to the picture of near-diffusion controlled extremely fast processes, even without considering tunneling effects^{82,83} typical of this type of reaction. S-face attack is favored over the o-face one in all cases, as the result of differential stabilizing interactions (mainly HB and dipole-dipole alignments) between the approaching $^{\circ}OH$ and the $-CO_2^{-}$ moiety in the former plane of approach. Abstraction on C2/C5 ($\Delta G^{\dagger} = 6.9$ kcal mol^{-1} for hydrogen removal at C2, not shown in Figure 1) requires surmounting activation barriers 2 kcal mol⁻¹ higher with respect to the attack on C3/C4. This kinetic preference toward β/γ channels agrees both with the observed side-chain selectivity and with the reduced site-specificity typical of processes involving highly reactive molecules such as *OH. Whereas thermodynamics mirrors kinetics for s-face H removal (the more exoergic the attack, the lower the barrier height) not a clear trend emerges from the o-face H-abstraction channels, pointing out the relevancy of the interactions established between the carboxylate group and 'OH in defining the fate of the process. No basis is found here in support of the assumption that the relative reactivity of the H-abstraction sites in Pro would correlate their BDEs ordering, as previously proposed by several authors. Prereactive complexes characterized for these channels are found to be stable in terms of enthalpy relative to reactants by amounts of the order of 7 and 1-2 kcal mol⁻¹ for s-attack and o-attack orientations, respectively. Once again this results from differential stabilizing interactions established between *OH and the carboxylate moiety (see the structures of both types of encounter complexes in Figure S2 of the Supporting Information). Unfavorable entropic contributions turn all these prereactive complexes unstable in terms of free energy at 298 K by 1.5-6.6 kcal mol⁻¹ (Table S1 of the Supporting Information), providing evidence to discard an eventual role for these intermediate species acting as kinetic traps, a result recently found by Scheiner and Kar⁴⁹ for encounter complexes intermediating H-abstraction by [•]OH from a leucine dipeptide defining the selectivity and specificity of such a H-abstraction.

C-centered **Pro**[•] radical species obtained as the outcome of Step 1 in zwitterionic form are considerably more stable (20.7– 22.8 kcal mol⁻¹, see Figure 1B) than the isolated reactants, with a clear thermodynamic preference toward production of C3/C4 radicals. This fact debilitates in principle the hypothesis previously advanced by several authors^{15,61} assuming that **5**-**Pro**[•] would be the most stable product for the first H-abstraction. On the other hand, these results are more in line with the conclusions of Nukuna et al.⁶¹ on the preferred reaction sites of **Pro** derived from ²H NMR detection of ¹H/²H exchange induced by [•]OH radicals. The γ (C4)-hydrogen atoms are shown to be more prone to exchange than the δ (C5)-H atoms, which in turn would exchange in a larger extent than the β (C3)-H, whereas α (C2)-H exchange is absent.⁶¹

Looking for clues to reconcile all these observations, the data collected in Table 1 clearly show an ordering in stability among

Table 1. Relative Stability^{*a*} of the C-Centered Pro[•] Radicals (Neutral and Zwitterion Hydrogen-Bonded Forms) and Reactivity of the Zwitterionic (zw) Species^{*b*}

Pro•	relative ΔG^{298}		hardness (η)	
	neutral	zw	ZW	
C2	0.0	17.0	0.1509	
C3	16.7	16.9	0.1322	
C4	16.5	16.7	0.1292	
C5	13.0	18.7	0.1388	

^{*a*}Gibbs free energies calculated at the PCM(water)/UM06/6-31G- $(d_{,p})$ level and 298.15 K with respect to the most stable C-centered **Pro**[•] radical isomer, in kilocalories per mole. ^{*b*}Hardness was calculated as in the conceptual DFT framework from the energies of the Kohn–Sham frontier orbitals calculated at the same level, in a.u.



Figure 2. Second H-atom abstraction from **Pro**[•] C-centered radicals in aqueous solution. (A) Structures for the reactants, TSs, and unsaturated products considering both the attack from the carboxylate side (s-face) and the opposite side of the ring (o-face). Intermediate complexes (IC2s) are not shown here for the sake of clarity; their structures are displayed as Supporting Information in Figure S3. (B) Energetic profiles in aqueous solution are relative to reactants for each of the ten reaction channels considered.

such short-lived open-shell zwitterions that can be significantly altered in passing to the corresponding neutral counterparts through an internal proton transfer that retains the intramolecular HB. Recalling concepts such as the captodative effect³⁹ and -N(H) lone-pair delocalization in the neutral form makes it possible to explain the differential stabilization of neutral C2-**Pro**[•] and **C5-Pro**[•], which become the most stable radicals in such a form. Variations in pH and ionic strength in environments typical of stressed plants could be influencing the preference among each pair of neutral and zwitterion radical species making difficult a direct comparison of experiments. This could be a key aspect to keep in mind in order to reconcile observations and conclusions coming from different fields.

Concerning further reactivity of these species, in a similar way Gly[•] and Ala[•] amino acid radicals produced by [•]OH attack have been recently shown by Owen et al.⁵³ to reconvert into their corresponding closed-shell species by H reabstraction from H_2O_2 (involving barriers of ca. 17 kcal mol⁻¹), **Pro[•]** species might be turned back into **Pro** as follows:

$$\mathbf{Pro}^{\bullet} + \mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}_2 \to \mathbf{Pro} + \mathrm{HO}_2^{\bullet} \tag{1}$$

At physiological pH, the hydroperoxyl radical (HO₂[•], the weak conjugated acid of O₂^{•-} with a pK_a value of 4.8) obtained as an intermediate in eq 1 is able to promote superoxide dismutation through both spontaneous and superoxide dismutase catalyzed pathways (with respective rate constants of approximately 2 × 10^5 and 2 × 10^9 M⁻¹ s⁻¹)⁸⁴ as follows:

$$O_2^{\bullet-} + HO_2^{\bullet} + H^+ \to H_2O_2 + O_2$$
⁽²⁾

acting thus H_2O_2 as a catalyst for the consumption of \textbf{Pro}^{\bullet} and $O_2^{\bullet-}$ as shown in eq 3:

$$O_2^{\bullet-} + \mathbf{Pro}^{\bullet} + \mathbf{H}^+ \to \mathbf{Pro} + O_2$$
 (3)

41

Finally, C-centered **Pro**[•] radicals might also be repaired by Hatom donation from -SH groups or might react with O₂ under aerobic conditions to produce peroxyl radicals that can further dehydrate to yield the expected species hydroxyproline.^{42,85}

3.2. Going Further Pro[•] Radicals: Successive H-Abstraction Routes Leading to Relevant Species Pro Metabolism in Stressed Plants. Our exhaustive search on the triplet and singlet potential energy surfaces in aqueous solution conducted from both sides of attack by [•]OH over every C-centered radical obtained from Step 1 was unable to locate any TS structure for these processes globally identified as Step 2a in Scheme I. Assisted paths including one and two explicit water molecules acting as catalysts were also explored with the same outcome. In spite of that, as this kind of radical-radical recombination process is expected to display very low barriers and to be strongly exothermic, reaction free-energy values of respectively –85.9, –84.6, and –88.1 kcal mol⁻¹ obtained for the favored s-face attacks by [•]OH over C3, C4, and C5 Pro[•] radicals suggest a first feasible channel leading to Hyp.

The goal of transforming the highly reactive C-centered radicals into less deleterious species can also be reached by a successive H-abstraction process from C or N atoms adjacent to the initial radical site, giving place to spontaneous formation of unsaturated cyclic species (Scheme I, Step 2b). Figure 2 collects the structural features and energetic profiles for reactants, TSs, and products (3,4- Δ -Pro, 4,5- Δ -Pro, and P5C) for each of the ten reaction channels explored as Step 2b, including °OH attack at adjacent positions from C3-Pro°, C4-Pro°, and C5-Pro° from both faces of approaching the pyrrolidine ring (s and o channels). Taking into account the higher barrier obtained for a first H-abstraction at C2 and the fact that the present study focuses on the search of a possible link between the protective role of proline and the generation of Hyp, successive H-abstractions from C2 radical are not further discussed here.

Article



Figure 3. Structure and energetics of the species involved in hydration of Δ -Pro. (A) Structure for the reactants and TSs and hydroxyproline isomers (3-Hyp, 4-Hyp, and 5-Hyp/Hyp_n) corresponding for the attack from the carboxylate group side of the ring (s-face). Encounter complexes (IC3s) are not shown here for the sake of clarity; their structures are displayed as Supporting Information in Figure S5. (B) Gibbs free energy profiles in aqueous solution at 298.15 K are relative to reactants for each of the five channels explored.

Concerning the prereactive complexes (IC2), those corresponding to the second H-abstraction by [•]OH approaching from the s-face are fairly more stable than those corresponding to the o-face attack (see details in Figure S3 and Table S1 in the Supporting Information). This is mainly due to [•]OH… carboxylate hydrogen-bonding present in all the s-face encounter complexes but in IC2Ns_5. In spite of this observation, and as for IC1 complexes in Step 1, the stabilization gained in forming IC2s is completely overcome by the unfavorable entropic cost of arranging reactants in more organized structures. For this reason all the barrier heights reported in Figure 2B and discussed here correspond to the bimolecular processes, calculated with respect to the reactant separated at the infinite.

The activation barriers obtained for the second H-abstraction are now in the 1.5-16.9 kcal mol⁻¹ range, showing a more pronounced variability among different channels. Once again, sface processes are all favored with respect to the corresponding oface reaction paths. This remarks the relevance of establishing intermolecular HBs for achieving a differential stabilization of the TSs that leads to reduced heights at the corresponding barriers. Starting from the major products from Step 1 (4-Pro• and 3-**Pro**[•]) the kinetically preferred path leads to formation of $3,4-\Delta$ -Pro with an associated barrier of 7.5 kcal mol⁻¹ at 298.15 K in aqueous solution. This value competes well against the mechanistic alternative for converting Pro[•] back to Pro under H_2O_2 catalysis (with values of $\Delta G^{\dagger} = 10.7$ kcal mol⁻¹ and $\Delta G_{rxn} =$ -10.9 kcal mol⁻¹ for the process of reconverting **4-Pro**[•], as the main product from Step 1; see the structure of the species involved in this channel in Figure S4 in the Supporting Information) emerging here as a more favorable channel that enables the envisioning of another feasible route to reach the eventual production of **Hyp** isomers.

Even if obtained as a secondary product from Step 1, a very interesting mechanistic alternative emerges from the **5-Pro**[•] zwitterion: a successive H abstraction at the N-protonated site produces Δ^1 -pyrrolidin-5-carboxylate (P5C) through a near-barrierless •OH attack ($\Delta G^{\ddagger} = 1.5 \text{ kcal mol}^{-1}$). P5C is a well-known precursor in the biosynthesis of proline,^{9,86,87} also recently identified by Kenttämaa and co-workers as a product of two consecutive H-abstractions initiated by charged phenyl radicals on this amino acid.⁷⁰ Moreover, conversion of P5C into **Pro** is known to be efficiently catalyzed by pyrroline 5-carboxylate reductase (P5CR, EC 1.5.1.2),⁸⁸ an enzyme induced under stress conditions in plants^{9,89,90} that consumes one **NADPH** molecule per P5C (see Scheme II in Section 3.4).

3.3. Finding the Missing Link toward Hyp: Is It Produced by $H_2O/^{\circ}OH$ Addition on Δ -Pro? Aiming to find evidence for a plausible mechanistic proposal linking the protective role of proline and the hypothesized production of 5-Hyp under plant stress, we explored several channels for hydration of Δ -Pro species by direct addition of water on the C=C and C=N unsaturation (identified as Step 3a in Scheme I). On the basis of the marked preference toward s-face attacks shown by Pro and Pro[•] in Steps 1 and 2b, this face was the only one systematically explored in this case. Figure 3 displays the structural features and energetic profiles for reactants, TSs, and products (3-Hyp, 4-Hyp, and 5-Hyp zwitterions and neutral species; see explanation below) for each of the five reaction channels explored as Step 3a, resulting from considering both water asymmetric additions on C3=C4 and C4=C5 and a single addition on C5=N.

Scheme II. Feasibility of the Pathways Explored for Assessing Proline Activity As a *OH Scavenger. The Main Reactions Consuming *OH by Both Proline (Pro) and Its Derivatives (Pro*, Δ -Pro/P5C, and Hyp) are Identified by Horizontal and Vertical Blue Labels



Hydration by direct addition of a water molecule on the C=C bonds is associated to very high barrier heights (ca. 54-66 kcal mol^{-1}), making it possible to discard these reactions as feasible in the absence of a catalyst. On the other hand, direct hydration on the C=N bond in P5C appears as a strongly favored reaction channel with a low activation barrier of 10.9 kcal mol⁻¹. This provides the mechanistic missing link we sought for the connection of 'OH scavenging by Pro with formation of 5hydroxyproline (5-Hyp_n in Figure 3A). Notice that in contrast with the rest of the processes studied as Step 3a (for which the zwitterionic form of Hyp is the only outcome for direct hydration on both Δ -Pro species) 5-hydroxyproline happens to be obtained in the neutral form from this path. A closer inspection on the nature of the reactants, transition states characterized for each hydration channel, and their corresponding IRC reaction paths can be useful to shed light on the differences in the mechanism of each reaction described at a very detailed level.

In the first place, water addition over C=N at P5C zwitterion can be depicted as a process assisted by the proximal COO⁻ moiety acting as a Brönsted base which captures a proton from the approaching H₂O molecule while the emerging hydroxyl anion attacks C5 in a concerted way. This enables the protonated imino moiety to develop a lone pair on N as the reaction proceeds breaking the C=N double bond, while the initial intermolecular hydrogen bond HOH…⁻O(C=O) evolves to an intramolecular C5-(H)O…HO(C=O) HB as in 5-Hyp_n (see Figure 3A, bottom) once the coupled proton transfer/HO⁻ addition are completed. Second, concerning the reaction of water on C=C at the different Δ -Pro zwitterions, all four channels here characterized (see Figure 3A) correspond to a concerted process, with a water molecule simultaneously attacking the two adjacent $C(sp^2)$ atoms in order to form two new bonds $[C(sp^2)\cdots$ O(H) and $C\cdots H$] while one H-O bond in H₂O is broken. Reactants and Hyp zwitterionic products are thus interconnected, passing through cyclic 4-centered transition state structures, which are quite tensioned and extremely unstable, a fact reflected in the high values obtained for the corresponding barrier heights (see Figure 3B). Taking into account that assistant water molecules acting as bifunctional catalysts have been shown to accelerate hydration and related condensation processes on unsaturated moieties,⁹¹⁻⁹³ alternative channels including one ancillary water in the reaction coordinate were also explored. Thus, four more relaxed 6-centered cyclic TSs were located, still resulting in associated to noncompetitive barrier heights (50 kcal mol $^{\widetilde{-1}}$ or higher, see the last four rows in Table S1 and Figure S6 in the Supporting Information) with respect to hydration of P5C linking to 5-Hyp.

In closing the mechanistic exploration here undertaken, addition of *****OH on C=C Δ -**Pro** derivatives (Scheme I, Step 3b) was also examined to assess whether **Hyp** production might be feasible through this alternative pathway as a way of further scavenging *****OH. Only a couple of first-order saddle points could be found at the DFT level on the doublet potential energy surface corresponding to the approach of *****OH to C3/C5 from the s-face to yield **3-Hyp***/**5-Hyp*** radicals, and both of them were affected by significant spin contamination (expected values for S² \geq 0.77–0.78). Considering these structures and their associated energetics untrustworthy, a more rigorous characterization of the

step and type of reaction	species in the main path	$\Delta G^{\ddagger b}$	$\Delta G_{\rm rxn}^{\ c}$	species in the secondary path	$\Delta G^{\ddagger b}$	$\Delta G_{\mathrm{rxn}}^{c}$
1: H abstraction	3-Pro*/4-Pro*	4.6/4.1	-22.6/-22.8	5-Pro*	6.7	-20.7
2a: Pro •/•OH assoc.	3-Hyp _{zw} /4-Hyp _{zw}	$-^d$	-85.9/-84.6	5-Hyp _{zw}	- ^d	-88.1
2b: H abstraction	3,4- Δ -Pro	7.5	-80.4	P5C	1.5	-87.0
3a: hydration	-	-	-	5-Hyp _n	10.9	-2.6

^aRelative Gibbs free energies calculated at the DFT/PCM level taken with respect to reactants for each step separated to the infinite. ^bActivation barrier height. ^cReaction free energy. ^dBarrierless radical-radical association processes.

species involved in these two channels was conducted at the PCM(water)/UCCSD/cc-pVDZ level. No first-order saddle points were localized at this level for °OH addition on both C3 and C5. At the same time, it is worth recalling that these Δ -Pro derivatives are likely to exert their antioxidant role through interactions of their π -electron density with other ROS such as ${}^{1}O_{2}$ or $O_{2}^{\bullet-}$, forming carbonyls and hydroperoxides.

3.4. Overall Mechanism for *OH Scavenging by Proline, Biological Significance in Plant Stress, and a Pro-Pro Cycle Proposal. Key aspects emerging from the extended mechanistic analysis here conducted are summarized in Scheme II. The scheme discriminates among feasible and not feasible reaction channels in a physicochemical and biological context and depicts main structural features of the species interconnected in the *OH scavenging network. A selection of data on energetics for the most relevant channels and intermediates is also collected in Table 2.

The mechanistic evidence collected here based upon DFT/ PCM modeling of a network of reaction pathways provides strong support to the concept advanced earlier by Smirnoff and Cumbes¹⁴ on proline having a protective role in stressed plants by acting as a •OH scavenger. This would be accomplished through a complex mechanism which in overview involves consumption of a minimum of two hydroxyl radicals per amino acid molecule and enables the recovery of the original **Pro** by enzymatic recycling of chemically produced **P5C**.

Such an activity would take place in the cellular environment through three main kinds of chemical transformations, including (a) initiation by H-abstraction from **Pro** by **•**OH with the evidence supporting kinetic and thermodynamic preference toward production of **4-Pro•**/**3-Pro•** that can be promptly terminated by **Pro•**/**•**OH radical-pair association, mainly leading to **3-Hyp**_{zw}/**4-Hyp**_{zw}/**5-Hyp**_{zw}; (b) a successive H-abstraction step from the intermediate **Pro•** radicals, competitive with termination, with the evidence supporting kinetic and thermodynamic preference toward production of **3,4-Δ-Pro** as a main path, accompanied by a secondary pathway relevant to chemical production of **PSC** passing through **5-Pro•**; and (c) direct hydration of **PSC** back to **Pro** as catalyzed by **PSCR/NADPH**.

Through this series of transformations, a molecule of **Pro** would be intrinsically successful in progressively converting deleterious [•]OH radicals into less-harmful species (**Pro**, Δ -**Pro**, **Hyp**_{zw/n}, and water), exerting a protective role in general terms.

To consider all these findings in a proper biological perspective, completing the scenario for an antioxidant activity of proline in stressed plants would require keeping in mind that whereas •OH is one of the most reactive, and thus one of the least selective, radical species with a relatively narrow range of rate constants ($k = 10^7 - 10^{10} \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$) for reacting with amino acids,^{85,94} under normal conditions **Pro** is one of the least

abundant of them. In a first glance, this might induce one to think that Pro would not be the best candidate for exerting an antioxidant activity against *OH. Two more key elements have to be taken into account in composing the picture for sustaining such an activity. The first one is the aforementioned increase in Pro concentration experienced by plants under any kind of stress (raising up to 80% of the total pool of amino $acids^{7-9,15}$); the second one is colocalization of both species in the cytosol and chloroplasts, where 'OH is commonly produced as a consequence of disruption in the electron transport of photosystems. At these locations Pro accumulation reaches, even under nonstressful conditions, concentrations of at least 160 mM,^{8,95} becoming considerably more abundant than every other common antioxidant (i.e., 1-5 mM for glutathione and 5-20 mM for ascorbato).^{1,2,9} Moreover, cytosol and chloroplasts also are subcellular compartments where Pro biosynthesis enzymes such as P5CR are localized.^{9,96} All these elements provide solid significance to our mechanistic findings in the precise context of proline's accumulation in stressed plants.

Article

Finally, we propose here for the first time a **Pro-(P5C)-Pro** cycle as depicted in Figure 4, where the efficiency of the



Figure 4. Pro-Pro cycle. Proline captures a first [•]OH by H-abstraction on C5, followed by a second H-abstraction which also captures [•]OH, yielding P5C. P5C is then recycled back to Pro by the action of the P5CR/NADPH enzymatic system.

enzymatic action exerted by **P5CR** in converting toxic **P5C** back into **Pro**⁹⁷ is coupled to the tandem of very fast chemical reactions (in the near-diffusion limit) capturing •OH by **Pro/5C**-**Pro**• to yield **P5C** and two water molecules. As for other enzymes in the biosynthetic pathway of proline, under osmotic stress in which **Pro** accumulation takes place, **P5CR** is also overexpressed^{9,90} and **NADPH** is accumulated as a result of inhibition of the Calvin cycle.⁹⁸ The enhanced activity of **P5CR** under plant stress will thus extremely favor a prompt recovery of **Pro** from **P5C** originated through chemical scavenging of •OH, acting as a driving force increasing the relevance of this cycle. Although production of **5-Hyp**_n by **P5C** hydration is characterized here as a very fast chemical process, because toxic **P5C** would be present in very low concentrations by the effect of this cycle, this channel

dx.doi.org/10.1021/jp407773u | J. Phys. Chem. B 2014, 118, 37-47

The Journal of Physical Chemistry B

would yield a very low amount of 5-hydroxyproline, a fact that might explain the lack of experimental evidence of its formation.

4. CONCLUSIONS

Mechanistic evidence was collected here by using DFT/PCM models to sustain a role for proline as a protective *OH scavenger under stress in plants. At least two 'OH radicals are consumed per Pro molecule, leading to less deleterious species through strongly exothermic and exergonic channels with very low reaction barriers (mostly in the near-diffusion limit). A clear preference for attacking Pro from the carboxylate face (s-face) is noticed, explained by inter- and intramolecular hydrogen-bond interactions that differentially stabilize the corresponding transition states. Our global mechanistic proposal includes two transformation pathways, a main one connecting Pro to $3,4-\Delta$ -Pro through two consecutive H-abstraction processes, the second one in competition with a chance of early termination through barrierless and strongly exothermic radical-radical associative processes leading to Hypzw. A secondary path connects to P5C as an intermediate capable of evolving to 5-Hyp_n by hydration, although the action of the P5CR/NADPH system (overexpressed under plant stress and colocalized at the same compartment where 'OH is produced and Pro is accumulated) reconverts P5C to Pro. Such an enzymatic process elicits P5C toxicity in the cell, contributing to the reinforcement of Pro accumulation and turning hydration leading to 5-Hyp a quite unlikely channel in photosynthetic tissues. All this evidence gives a solid base for hypothesizing a Pro-(P5C)-Pro cycle, emerging from this study as an original proposal of impact in the field of research in plant stress, whereas consumption of NADPH by this cycle would contribute to support a role for Pro in maintaining redox homeostasis.

ASSOCIATED CONTENT

Supporting Information

Full Gaussian09 reference; differences between neutral and zwitterionic **Pro**; structure of the intermediate complexes for Steps 1, 2b, and 3a; complete table of relative energetics (enthalpy and free energy); structure and energetics for the species involved in reconverting **4C-Pro**[•] to **4C-Pro** by H-abstraction from H_2O_2 and in the water-assisted hydration of Δ -**Pro** species (Step $3a_w$). This material is available free of charge via the Internet at http://pubs.acs.org.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Authors

*E.L.C.: Laboratorio de Química Teórica y Computacional, Instituto de Química Biológica, Facultad de Ciencias, UdelaR, Iguá 4225, Montevideo 11400, Uruguay; e-mail, laurac@fcien. edu.uy; phone, (+598) 2525 2186; fax, (+598) 2525 0749.

*S.S.: Laboratorio de Bioquímica, Depto. de Biología Vegetal, Facultad de Agronomía, UdelaR, Av. E. Garzón 780, CP 12900 Montevideo, Uruguay; e-mail, ssignorelli@fagro.edu.uy; phone, (+598) 2355 3938; fax, (+598) 2356 2037.

Author Contributions

S.S. and E.L.C. designed the strategy of modeling, performed calculations, and interpreted the physicochemical results. S.S., O.B., and J.M. contributed the biological background of the problem. The manuscript was written through contributions of all authors. All authors have given approval to the final version of the manuscript.

45

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the uruguayan National Agency of Research and Innovation (ANII, Uruguay; Project FCE_2009_1_2804), CSIC-UdelaR (Project I+D, Group 418), and PEDECIBA. S.S. is very grateful for receiving a graduate bursary granted by ANII (POS_2011_1_3352, M.Sc. in Biology, 2011-2013). The authors are all active members of the National System of Researchers (SNI-ANII, Uruguay).

REFERENCES

(1) Mittler, R. Oxidative Stress, Antioxidants and Stress Tolerance. *Trends Plant Sci.* **2002**, *7*, 405–410.

(2) Noctor, G.; Foyer, C. H. Ascorbate and Glutathione: Keeping Active Oxygen under Control. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.* **1998**, 49, 249–279.

(3) Szarka, A.; Tomasskovics, B.; Bánhegyi, G. The Ascorbate-Glutathione- α -Tocopherol Triad in Abiotic Stress Response. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2012**, *13*, 4458–4483.

(4) Halliwell, B.; Gutteridge, J. M. C. Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine, 4th ed.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, U.K., 2007.

(5) Zhang, F.; Guo, J.-K.; Yang, Y.-L.; He, W.-L.; Zhang, L.-X. Changes in Pattern of Antioxidant Enzymes in Wheat Exposed to Water Deficit and Rewatering. *Acta Physiol. Plant.* **2004**, *26*, 345–352.

(6) Chen, C.; Dickman, M. B. Proline Suppresses Apoptosis in the Fungal Pathogen *Colletotrichum trifolii*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 2005, 102, 3459–3464.

(7) Barnett, N. M.; Naylor, A. W. Amino Acid and Protein Metabolism in Bermuda Grass During Water Stress. *Plant Physiol.* **1966**, *11*, 1222– 1230.

(8) Ashraf, M.; Foolad, M. R. Roles of Glycine Betaine and Proline in Improving Plant Abiotic Stress Resistance. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* **2007**, *59*, 206–216M.

(9) Szabados, L.; Savouré, A. Proline: A Multifunctional Amino Acid. *Trends Plant Sci.* **2010**, *15*, 89–97.

(10) Chiang, H.-H.; Dandekar, A. M. Regulation of Proline Accumulation in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (L.) Heynh During Development and in Response to Desiccation. *Plant, Cell Environ.* **1995**, *18*, 1280–1290.

(11) Bray, E. A. Molecular Responses to Water Deficit. *Plant Physiol.* **1993**, *103*, 1035–1040.

(12) Hare, P. D.; Cress, W. A.; van Staden, J. Dissecting the Roles of Osmolyte Accumulation During Stress. *Plant, Cell Environ.* **1998**, *21*, 535–553.

(13) Sharma, S.; Villamor, J. G.; Verslues, P. E. Essential Role of Tissue-Specific Proline Synthesis and Catabolism in Growth and Redox Balance at Low Water Potential. *Plant Physiol.* **2011**, *157*, 292–304.

(14) Smirnoff, N.; Cumbes, Q. J. Hydroxyl Radical Scavenging Activity of Compatible Solutes. *Phytochemistry* **1989**, *28*, 1057–1060.

(15) Matysik, J.; Ali; Bhalu, B.; Mohanty, P. Molecular Mechanisms of Quenching of Reactive Oxygen Species by Proline Under Stress in Plants. *Curr. Sci. India* **2002**, *82*, 525–532.

(16) Alia; Mohanty, P.; Matysik, J. Effect of Proline on the Production of Singlet Oxygen. *Amino Acids* **2001**, *21*, 195–200.

(17) Signorelli, S.; Arellano, J. B.; Melo, T. B.; Borsani, O.; Monza, J. Proline Does Not Quench Singlet Oxygen: Evidence to Reconsider Its Protective Role in Plants. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* **2013**, *64*, 80–83.

(18) Paleg, L. G.; Stewart, G. R.; Bradbeer, J. W. Proline and Glycine Betaine Influence Protein Solvation. *Plant Physiol.* 1984, 75, 974–978.
(19) Samaras, Y.; Bressan, R.; Csonka, M.; García-Ríos, R.; D'Urzo, P.; Rhodes, D. Proline accumulation during drought and salinity. In *Environment and Plant Metabolism: Flexibility and Acclimation*; Smirnoff,

N., Ed.; Bios Scientific Publisher: UK, 1995; pp 161–186. (20) Jain, M.; Mathur, G.; Koul, S.; Sarin, N. B. Ameliorative Effects of Proline on Salt Stress-Induced Lipid Peroxidation in Cell Lines of Groundnut (*Arachis Hypogaea L.*). *Plant Cell Rep.* **2001**, *20*, 463–468.

dx.doi.org/10.1021/jp407773u | J. Phys. Chem. B 2014, 118, 37-47

The Journal of Physical Chemistry B

(21) Hong, Z.; Lakkineni, K.; Zhang, Z.; Verma, D. P. Removal of Feedback Inhibition of Δ^1 -Pyrroline-5-Carboxylate Synthetase Results in Increased Proline Accumulation and Protection of Plants from Osmotic Stress. Plant Physiol. 2000, 122, 1129-1136.

(22) Nanjo, T.; Fujita, M.; Seki, M.; Kato, T.; Tabata, S.; Shinozaki, K. Toxicity of Free Proline Revealed in an Arabidopsis T-DNA-Tagged Mutant Deficient in Proline Dehydrogenase. Plant. Cell Physiol. 2003, 44, 541-548.

(23) Nanjo, T.; Kobayashi, M.; Yoshiba, Y.; Kakubari, Y.; Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K.; Shinozaki, K. Antisense Suppression of Proline Degradation Improves Tolerance to Freezing and Salinity in Arabidopsis thaliana. FEBS Lett. 1999, 461, 205-210.

(24) Xin, Z.; Browse, J. eskimol Mutants of Arabidopsis Are Constitutively Freezing-Tolerant. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1998, 95, 7799-7804.

(25) Stepanian, S. G.; Reva, I. D.; Radchenko, E. D.; Adamowicz, L. Conformers of Nonionized Proline. Matrix-Isolation Infrared and Post-Hartree-Fock ab Initio Study. J. Phys. Chem. A 2001, 105, 10664-10672.

(26) Allen, W. D.; Czinki, E.; Csaszar, A. G. Molecular Structure of Proline. Chem.-Eur. J. 2004, 10, 4512-4517.

(27) Tian, S. X.; Yang, J. Effects of Intramolecular Hydrogen Bonding on the Ionization Energies of Proline. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 2069 - 2072.

(28) Plekan, O.; Feyer, V.; Richter, R.; Coreno, M.; de Simone, M.; Prince, K. C.; Carravetta, V. Investigation of the Amino Acids Glycine, Proline, and Methionine by Photoemission Spectroscopy. J. Phys. Chem. A 2007, 111, 10998-11005.

(29) Mata, S.; Vaquero, V.; Cabezas, C.; Peña, I.; Pérez, C.; López, J. C.; Alonso, J. L. Observation of Two New Conformers of Neutral Proline. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2009, 11, 4141-4144.

(30) Pecul, M.; Ruud, K.; Rizzo, A.; Helgaker, T. Conformational Effects on the Optical Rotation of Alanine and Proline. J. Phys. Chem. A 2004, 108, 4269-4276.

(31) Cappelli, C.; Monti, S.; Rizzo, A. Effect of the Environment on Vibrational Infrared and Circular Dichroism Spectra of (S)-Proline. Int. J. Quantum Chem. 2005, 104, 744-757.

(32) Kundrat, M. D.; Autschbach, J. Time Dependent Density Functional Theory Modeling of Chiroptical Properties of Small Amino Acids in Solution. J. Phys. Chem. A 2006, 110, 4115-4123.

(33) Kapitan, J.; Baumruk, V.; Bouř, P. Demonstration of the Ring Conformation in Polyproline by the Raman Optical Activity. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 2438-2443.

(34) Aliev, A. E; Courtier-Murias, D. Conformational Analysis of L-Prolines in Water. J. Phys. Chem. B 2007, 111, 14034-14042.

(35) Qiu, S.; Li, G.; Wang, P.; Zhou, J.; Feng, Z.; Li, C. pH-Dependent Chirality of L-Proline Studied by Raman Optical Activity and Density Functional Theory Calculation. J. Phys. Chem. A 2011, 115, 1340-1349.

(36) Zhang, P.; Han, S.; Zhang, Y.; Ford, R. C.; Li, J. Neutron Spectroscopic and Raman Studies of Interaction between Water and Proline. Chem. Phys. 2008, 345, 196-199.

(37) Contineanu, I.; Neacşu, A.; Zgîrian, R.; Tănăsescu, S.; Perişanu, S. The Standard Enthalpies of Formation of Proline Stereoisomers. Thermochim. Acta 2012, 31-35.

(38) Haasnoot, C. A. G.; De Leeuw, F. A. A. M.; De Leeuw, H. P. M.; Altona, C. Relationship between Proton-Proton NMR Coupling Constants and Substituent Electronegativities. III. Conformational Analysis of Proline Rings in Solution Using a Generalized Karplus Equation. Biopolymers 1981, 20, 1211-1245.

(39) Viehe, H. G.; Janousek, Z.; Merényi, R.; Stella, L. The Captodative Effect. Acc. Chem. Res. 1985, 18, 148-154.

(40) Davies, M. J.; Dean, R. T. Radical-Mediated Protein Oxidation: From Chemistry to Medicine; Oxford University Press: New York, 1998.

(41) Gosche, M. B.; Chen, Y. H.; Anderson, V. E. Identification of the Sites of Hydroxyl Radical Reaction with Peptides by Hydrogen/ Deuterium Exchange: Prevalence of Reactions with the Side Chains. Biochemistry 2000, 39, 1761-1770.

(42) Xu, G.; Chance, M. R. Hydroxyl Radical-Mediated Modification of Proteins as Probes For Structural Proteomics. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 3514-3543.

(43) Morgan, P. E.; Pattison, D. I.; Davies, M. J. Quantification of Hydroxyl Radical-Derived Oxidation Products in Peptides Containing Glycine, Alanine, Valine, and Proline. Free Radical Biol. Med. 2012, 52, 328-339.

(44) Lu, H.-F.; Li, F.-Y.; Lin, S. H. Site Specificity of α -H Abstraction Reaction among Secondary Structure Motif-An Ab Initio Study. J. Comput. Chem. 2007, 28, 783-794.

(45) Liessmann, M.; Hansmann, B.; Blachly, P. G.; Francisco, J. S.; Abel, B. Primary Steps in the Reaction of OH Radicals with Amino Acids at Low Temperatures in Laval Nozzle Expansions: Perspectives from Experiment and Theory. J. Phys. Chem. A 2009, 113, 7570-7575.

(46) Francisco-Márquez, M.; Galano, A. Role of the Sulfur Atom on the Reactivity of Methionine toward OH Radicals: Comparison with Norleucine. J. Phys. Chem. B 2009, 113, 4947-4952.

(47) Watts, Z. I.; Easton, C. J. Peculiar Stability of Amino Acids and Peptides from a Radical Perspective. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 11323-11325.

(48) Doan, H. Q.; Davis, A. C.; Francisco, J. S. Primary Steps in the Reaction of OH Radicals with Peptide Systems: Perspective from a Study of Model Amides. J. Phys. Chem. A 2010, 114, 5342-5357.

(49) Scheiner, S.; Kar, T. Analysis of the Reactivities of Protein C-H Bonds to H Atom Abstraction by OH Radical. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2010, 132, 16450-16459.

(50) Lin, R.-J.; Jang, S.; Wu, C.-C.; Liu, Y.-L.; Li, F.-Y. Site Specificity of OH α -H Abstraction Reaction for a β -Hairpin Peptide: An ab Initio Study. J. Comput. Chem. 2011, 32, 3409-3422.

(51) Galano, A. Mechanism and Kinetics of the Hydroxyl and Hydroperoxyl Radical Scavenging Activity of N-Acetylcysteine Amide. Theor. Chem. Acc. 2011, 130, 51-60.

(52) Chen, H.-Y.; Jang, S.; Jin, T.-R.; Chang, J.-Y.; Lu, H.-F.; Li, F.-Y. Oxygen Radical-Mediated Oxidation Reactions of an Alanine Peptide Motif. Density Functional Theory and Transition State Theory Study. Chem. Cent. J. 2012, 6, 33-41.

(53) Owen, M. C.; Szori, M.; Csizmadia, I. G.; Viskolcz, B. Conformation-Dependent OH/H2O2 Hydrogen Abstraction Reaction Cycles of Gly and Ala Residues: A Comparative Theoretical Study. J. Phys. Chem. B 2012, 116, 1143-1154.

(54) Galano, A.; Alvarez-Idaboy, J. R.; Montero, L. A.; Vivier-Bunge, A. OH Hydrogen Abstraction Reactions from Alanine and Glycine: A Quantum Mechanical Approach. J. Comput. Chem. 2001, 22, 1138-1153.

(55) Galano, A.; Alvarez-Idaboy, J. R.; Cruz-Torres, A.; Ruiz-Santoyo, M .E. Kinetics and Mechanism of the Gas-Phase OH Hydrogen Abstraction Reaction from Methionine: A Quantum Mechanical Approach. Int. J. Chem. Kinet. 2003, 35, 212-221.

(56) Galano, A.; Alvarez-Idaboy, J. R.; Agacino-Valdés, E.; Ruiz-Santoyo, M. E. Quantum Mechanical Approach to Isoleucine + OH Gas Phase Reaction. Mechanism and Kinetics. J. Mol. Struct. (Theochem) 2004, 676, 97-103.

(57) Cruz-Torres, A.; Galano, A.; Alvarez-Idaboy, J. R. Kinetics and Mechanism of the β -Alanine + OH Gas Phase Reaction: A Quantum Mechanical Approach. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2006, 8, 285-292.

(58) Masuda, T.; Nakano, S.; Kondo, M. Rate Constants for the Reactions of OH Radicals with the Enzyme Proteins as Determined by the p-Nitrosodimethylaniline Method. J. Radiat. Res. 1973, 14, 339-345J.

(59) Pruetz, W. A.; Vogel, S. Specific Rate Constants of Hydroxyl Radical and Hydrated Electron Reactions Determined by the RCL Method. Z. Naturforsch., B 1976, 31B, 1501-1510.

(60) Rustgi, S.; Joshi, A.; Moss, H.; Riesz, P. ESR of Spin-Trapped Radicals in Aqueous Solutions of Amino Acids: Reactions of the Hydroxyl Radical. Int. J. Radiat. Biol. 1977, 31, 415-440.

(61) Nukuna, B. N.; Goshe, M. B.; Anderson, V. E. Sites of Hydroxyl Radical Reaction with Amino Acids Identified by ²H NMR Detection of Induced ¹H/²H Exchange. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 1208-1214.

dx.doi.org/10.1021/jp407773u | J. Phys. Chem. B 2014, 118, 37-47

Article

(62) Štefanić, I.; Bonifacic, M.; Asmus, K.-D.; Armstrong, D. A. Absolute Rate Constants and Yields of Transients from Hydroxyl Radical and H Atom Attack on Glycine and Methyl-Substituted Glycine Anions. J. Phys. Chem. A 2001, 105, 8681–8690.

(63) Galano, A.; Cruz-Torres, A. OH Radical Reactions with Phenylalanine in Free and Peptide Forms. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* **2008**, *6*, 732–738.

(64) Lin, R.-J.; Wu, C.-C.; Jang, S.; Li, F.-Y. Variation of Reaction Dynamics for OH Hydrogen Abstraction from Glycine between *Ab Initio* Levels of Theory. *J. Mol. Model.* **2010**, *16*, 175–182.

(65) O'Reilly, R. J.; Chan, B.; Taylor, M. S.; Ivanic, S.; Bacskay, G. B.; Easton, C. J.; Radom, L. Hydrogen Abstraction by Chlorine Atom from Amino Acids: Remarkable Influence of Polar Effects in Regioselectivity. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133*, 16553–16559.

(66) Berkowitz, J.; Ellison, G. B.; Gutman, D. Three Methods to Measure RH Bond Energies. J. Phys. Chem. 1994, 98, 2744–2765.

(67) Luo, Y.-R. Comprehensive Handbook of Chemical Bond Energies; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, 2007.

(68) Moore, B. N.; Julian, R. R. Dissociation Energies of X-H Bonds in Amino Acids. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **2012**, *14*, 3148–3154.

(69) Ly, T.; Julian, R. R. Residue-Specific Radical-Directed Dissociation of Whole Proteins in Gas Phase. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 351-358.

(70) Pates, G. O.; Guler, L.; Nash, J. J.; Kenttämaa, H. I. Reactivity and Selectivity of Charged Phenyl Radicals toward Amino Acids in a Fourier Transform Ion Cyclotron Resonance Mass Spectrometer. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2011**, *133*, 9331–9342.

(71) Zhao, Y.; Truhlar, D. G. Density Functionals with Broad Applicability in Chemistry. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2008**, *41*, 157–167.

(72) Miertuš, S.; Tomasi, J. Approximate Evaluations of the Electrostatic Free Energy and Internal Energy Changes in Solution Processes. *Chem. Phys.* **1982**, *65*, 239–245.

(73) Cancès, E.; Mennucci, B.; Tomasi, J. A New Integral Equation Formalism for the Polarizable Continuum Model: Theoretical Background and Applications to Isotropic and Anistropic Dielectrics. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1997**, *107*, 3032–3041.

(74) Tomasi, J. Selected Features of the Polarizable Continuum Model for the Representation of Solvation. *Wiley Interdiscip. Rev.: Comput. Mol. Sci.* **2011**, *1*, 855–867.

(75) Bondi, A. Van der Waals Volumes and Radii. J. Phys. Chem. 1964, 68, 441–452.

(76) Wheeler, S. E.; Houk, K. N. Integration Grid Errors for Meta-GGA-Predicted Reaction Energies: Origin of Grid Errors for the M06 Suite of Functionals. J. Chem. Theory Comput. **2010**, *6*, 395–404.

(77) Frisch, M. J.; Trucks, G. W.; Schlegel, H. B. et al., Gaussian 09, Rev. A.1; Gaussian Inc.: Wallingford, CT, 2009. See the complete reference in the Supporting Information.

(78) Floris, F.; Tomasi, J.; Pascual-Ahuir, J. L. Dispersion and Repulsion Contributions to the Solvation Energy: Refinements to a Simple Computational Model in the Continuum Approximation. *J. Comput. Chem.* **1991**, *12*, 784–791.

(79) Floris, F.; Tomasi, J. Evaluation of the Dispersion Contribution to the Solvation Energy. A Simple Computational Model in the Continuum Approximation. J. Comput. Chem. **1989**, *10*, 616–627.

(80) Fukui, K. The Path of Chemical Reactions—The IRC Approach. Acc. Chem. Res. 1981, 14, 363–368.

(81) Hratchian, H. P.; Schlegel, H. B. Accurate reaction paths using a Hessian based predictor-corrector integrator. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2004**, *120*, 9918–9924.

(82) Truhlar, D. G. Tunneling in enzymatic and nonenzymatic hydrogen transfer reactions. J. Phys. Org. Chem. 2010, 23, 660-676.

(83) Kuznetsov, A. M.; Ulstrup, J. Proton and Hydrogen Atom Tunneling in Hydrolytic and Redox Enzyme Catalysis. *Can. J. Chem.* **1999**, 77, 1085–1096.

(84) Fridovich, I. Superoxide Dismutases. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 1975, 44, 147-159.

(85) Davies, M. J. The Oxidative Environment and Protein Damage. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* **2005**, *1703*, 93–109.

(86) Hu, C. A.; Delauney, A. J.; Verma, D. P. A Bifunctional Enzyme (Δ^{1} -Pyrroline-5-Carboxylate Synthetase) Catalyzes the First Two Steps in Proline Biosynthesis in Plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **1992**, *89*, 9354–9358.

(87) Delauney, A.; Verma, D. P. S. Proline biosynthesis and osmoregulation in plants. *Plant J.* **1993**, *4*, 215–223.

(88) Delauney, A.; Verma, D. P. S. A soybean gene encoding Δ^1 -pyrroline-5-carboxylate reductase was isolated by functional complementation in *Escherichia coli* and is found to be osmoregulated. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* **1990**, 221, 299–305.

(89) Verbruggen, N.; Villarroel, R.; Van Montagu, M. Osmoregulation of a Pyrroline-5-Carboxylate Reductase Gene in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Physiol.* **1993**, *103*, 771–781.

(90) Mattioni, C.; Lacerenza, N.G.; Troccoli, A.; De Leonardis, A. M.; Di Fonzo, N. Water and Salt Stress-Induced Alterations in Proline Metabolism of Triticum Durum Seedlings. *Physiol. Plant.* **1997**, *101*, 787–792.

(91) Coitiño, E. L.; Tomasi, J.; Ventura, O. N. Importance of Water in Aldol Condensation Reactions of Acetaldehyde. *J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans.* **1994**, *90*, 1745–1755.

(92) Nguyen, M. T.; Matus, M. H.; Jackson, V. E.; Vu, T. N.; Rustad, J. R.; Dixon, D. A. Mechanism of the Hydration of Carbon Dioxide: Direct Participation of H₂O versus Microsolvation. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2008**, *112*, 10386–10398.

(93) Sun, X.-M.; Wei, X.-G.; Wu, X.-P.; Ren, Y.; Wong, N.-B.; Li, W.-K. Cooperative Effect of Solvent in the Neutral Hydration of Ketenimine: An *Ab Initio* Study Using the Hybrid Cluster/Continuum Model. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2010**, *114*, 595–602.

(94) Buxton, G. V.; Greenstock, C. L.; Helman, W. P.; Ross, A. B. Critical-Review of Rate Constants for Reactions of Hydrated Electrons, Hydrogen-Atoms and Hydroxyl Radicals ($^{\circ}OH/^{\circ}O^{-}$) in Aqueous Solution. J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data **1988**, 17, 513–886.

(95) Büssis, D.; Heineke, D. Acclimation of Potato Plants to Polyethylene Glycol-Induced Water Deficit. II. Contents and Subcellular Distribution of Organic Solutes. *J. Exp. Bot.* **1998**, *49*, 1361–1370.

(96) Szoke, A.; Miao, G. H.; Hong, Z.; Verma, D. P. S. Subcellular location of Δ-pyrroline-5-carboxylate reductase in root/nodule and leaf of soybean. *Plant Physiol.* **1992**, *99*, 1642–1649.

(97) Miller, G.; Honig, A.; Stein, H.; Susuki, N.; Mittler, R.; Zilberstein, A. Unraveling Δ^1 -Pyrroline-5-Carboxylate (P5C)/Proline Cycle in Plants by Uncoupled Expression of Proline Oxidation Enzymes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2009**, 284, 26482–26492.

(98) Long, S. P; Humphires, S.; Falkowski, P. G. Photoinhibition of Photosynthesis in Nature. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 1994, 45, 633-662.

Supporting Information

Molecular Mechanisms for the Reaction Between •OH Radicals and Proline: Insights on the Role as ROS Scavenger in Plant Stress

Santiago Signorelli^{1*}, E. Laura Coitiño^{2*}, Omar Borsani¹, and Jorge Monza¹

¹Laboratorio de Bioquímica, Departamento de Biología Vegetal, Facultad de Agronomía, Universidad de la República, Av. E. Garzón 780, CP 12900 Montevideo, Uruguay. ²Laboratorio de Química Teórica y Computacional (LQTC), Instituto de Química Biológica, Facultad de

Ciencias, Universidad de la República, Iguá 4225, Montevideo 11400, Uruguay.

Complete reference for Gaussian09 [77]

M. J. Frisch, G. W. Trucks, H. B. Schlegel, G. E. Scuseria, M. A. Robb, J. R. Cheeseman, G. Scalmani, V. Barone, B. Mennucci, G. A. Petersson, H. Nakatsuji, M. Caricato, X. Li, H. P. Hratchian, A. F. Izmaylov, J. Bloino, G. Zheng, J. L. Sonnenberg, M. Hada, M. Ehara, K. Toyota, R. Fukuda, J. Hasegawa, M. Ishida, T. Nakajima, Y. Honda, O. Kitao, H. Nakai, T. Vreven, J. A. Montgomery, Jr., J. E. Peralta, F. Ogliaro, M. Bearpark, J. J. Heyd, E. Brothers, K. N. Kudin, V. N. Staroverov, R. Kobayashi, J. Normand, K. Raghavachari, A. Rendell, J. C. Burant, S. S. Iyengar, J. Tomasi, M. Cossi, N. Rega, J. M. Millam, M. Klene, J. E. Knox, J. B. Cross, V. Bakken, C. Adamo, J. Jaramillo, R. Gomperts, R. E. Stratmann, O. Yazyev, A. J. Austin, R. Cammi, C. Pomelli, J. W. Ochterski, R. L. Martin, K. Morokuma, V. G. Zakrzewski, G. A. Voth, P. Salvador, J. J. Dannenberg, S. Dapprich, A. D. Daniels, O. Farkas, J. B. Foresman, J. V. Ortiz, J. Cioslowski, and D. J. Fox, *Gaussian 09, Revision A.02*, Gaussian, Inc., Wallingford CT, **2009**.



Figure S1 – Structure, relative stability and reactivity (expressed as hardness, η) corresponding to the stable neutral and *zwitterion* free L-proline isomers (**Pro** and **Pro**_{zw}, respectively) displaying an intramolecular hydrogen-bond, as predicted at the IEF-PCM(water)/M06-2X/6-31G(d,p) level.



Figure S2 – Structure of the pre-reactive intermediate complexes (IC1s) characterized for each reaction channel corresponding to the first H-abstraction process, identified as **Step 1**.



Figure S3 – Structure of the pre-reactive intermediate complexes (IC2s) characterized for each reaction channel corresponding to the successive H-abstraction process (**Step 2b**) at the different **Pro**' radicals.


Figure S4 – **Reconversion of 4-Pro' to Pro by H-abstraction from H₂O₂.** Structures for reactants, TSs and products (**Pro** in the *zwitterionic form*) as obtained at the DFT/PCM level employed in this work for the reaction proceeding from the carboxylate face of the ring (*s-face*). The reaction is quite exergonic ($\Delta G_{rxn} = -10.9 \text{ kcal.mol}^{-1}$ at 298 K) passing through a quasi-linear transition state implying a free energy barrier in solution of $\Delta G^{\#} = 10.7 \text{ kcal.mol}^{-1}$ at 298 K, a value that makes this channel uncompetitive with the second *H-abstraction* by **'OH** leading to unsaturated Δ -**Pro** species and/or radical-radical associative processes yielding **Hyp**.



Figure S5 – Structure of the pre-reactive intermediate complexes (IC3s) characterized for each reaction channel corresponding to direct hydration on the unsaturated Δ -Pro intermediates, Step 3a.

Stop	Site/face of	Pre-reactive	Unimolecular	Bimolecular	Reaction
Step	attack	complex	barrier	barrier	energy
	2	-2.6/5.7	1.1/1.2	-1.5/6.9	-20.1/-22.3
	3s	-6.7/ 2.6	1.7/2.0	-5.1/ 4.6	20 1/ 22 6
	30	-2.1/6.5	-0.9/-0.3	-3.0/6.2	-20.1/-22.0
1	4s	-6.7/ 2.7	1.6/1.5	-5.1/ 4.1	20 1/ 22 8
	40	-1.0/ 6.6	1.0/2.3	0.0/8.9	-20.1/-22.0
	5s	-7.2/1.5	3.9/5.2	-3.3/6.7	18 5/ 20 7
	50	-2.2/6.4	1.3/0.9	-0.9/7.3	-18.3/-20.7
	2				09 2/ 95 0
2-	38	0 	.	-	-98.2/-85.9
2a	4S	8 	-	-	-90.8/-84.0
	38	9 -	-		-100.9/-88.1
-	4s→3	-7.8/3.1	7.7/4.4	-0.1/7.5	00.0/00.4
	4o→3	-1.3/5.5	3.3/6.2	2.0/11.7	-80.0/-80.4
	3s→4	-7.1/ 1.1	4.4/9.5	-2.8/10.6	00.0/00.0
	30→4	-4.0/7.2	5.8/3.9	1.8/11.1	-80.8/ -80.6
(resident)	5s→4	-6.8/1.3	7.5/10.6	0.7/11.9	
2b	$50 \rightarrow 4$	-3.4/8.1	9.8/4.9	6.4/13.0	-79.5/ -80.7
	4s→5	-6.5/3.6	7.8/8.0	1.3/11.6	
	$40 \rightarrow 5$	-0.9/6.1	4 1/10.4	3 2/16.5	-81.2/ -78.7
	$Ns \rightarrow 5$	-6.8/2.5	-2 1/-1.0	-8 9/1.5	
	$N_0 \rightarrow 5$	-2 2/7.1	39/4.4	1 8/11.5	-87.1/- 87.0
	110 75	2.2/1.1	5.7/111	1.0/11.0	
	3-4	-5.7/ 4.4	55.9/ 58.6	50.1/ 62.5	-18.2/-5.4
3a ^b	4-3	-4.9/5.2	55.4/ 57.5	50.6/62.6	-16.5/-4.2
(s_face)	4-5	-4.4/3.3	45.5/ 20.7	41.1/54.0	-17.9/ -5.9
(s-juce)	5-4	- 3.7/ 6.8	31.1/ 58.9	27.4/65.8	-19.7/ -7.4
	5-N	-5.5/4.5	4.0/6.4	-1.5/10.9	-15.4/ -2.6
	3w-4	-2 5/17 4	37 7/40 8	35 2/58 2	-18 2/-5 4
3aw ^c	4w-3	-4 4 /15 6	38 8/42.7	34 3/58 3	-16 5/-4.2
(s-face)	4w-5	-8 7 /11.5	37 5/41.0	28 8/52 5	-17 9/-5.9
(s-juce)	5w-4	-5.1 /15.5	40 0/42 6	34 9/58 1	-19 7/-7 4
	5	-3.1/13.5	70.0/72.0	54.7/50.1	-17.//-/.4

Table S1 – Relative energetics^a for the species involved in Steps 1-3 in terms of enthalpies and free energies (in **bold type**) in aqueous solution at 298.15 K in kcal/mol

^aCalculated respect to reactants of each channel separated at the infinite. ^b3a: direct hydration. ^c3aw: water assisted hydration.



Figure S6 – Water assisted addition of H₂O to C=C in Δ -Pro species to form Hyp. (A) Structure for reactants, TSs and hydroxyproline regioisomers (3-Hyp, 4-Hyp, and 5-Hyp) in the *zwitterionic form* for the reaction proceeding from the carboxylate face of the ring (*s*-face). (B) Gibbs' free energy profiles in aqueous solution at 298.15 K relative to reactants for each of the three water-assisted channels explored.

III. Formación de GABA como consecuencia de las reacciones Pro - OH

Al caracterizar las reacciones entre el OH y la prolina (Cápitulo 2, sección II) sólo se consideraron las abstracciones de H sobre los C, porque el objetivo era establecer la factibilidad de formación de hidroxiprolina. En el artículo que se presenta en esta sección se consideró la posibilidad de que el OH realice la primera abstracción de H en el grupo NH₂⁺ (Signorelli et al., n.d.). Nuestros resultados demostraron que esta reacción tiene una barrera energética más baja que las abstracciones de H unidos a los C (3,0 kcal/mol vs 4,1-8,9 kcal/mol). De todas formas, cuando la energía de las barreras que compiten son menores a 4,5 kcal/mol no hay especificidad entre una u otra reacción, ya que todas se encuentran controladas por difusión. Lo que determinará que el OH reaccione con el H de la prolina unido al N (3,0 kcal/mol) o con el H unido al Cy (4,1 kcal/mol) se debe más a la orientación con la que se encuentren estas moléculas. A diferencia de lo que sucede cuando las abstracciones ocurren sobre los H unidos al C, el electrón desapareado no queda sobre el átomo que sufrió la abstracción, sino que se moviliza espontáneamente hacia el Ca produciendo la liberación del grupo carboxilo como CO₂. La molécula producida es un pirrolín radical que mediante otra abstracción de H por OH, u otra molécula, puede convertirse en el sustrato de la enzima ∆¹-pirrolín deshidrogenasa que lo convierte en ácido γ-aminobutírico (GABA). La acumulación de esta molécula en plantas ocurre en diferentes condiciones de estrés, y al igual que a la prolina se han planteado diversas hipótesis sobre su rol durante el estrés.

La vía principal de síntesis de GABA es a partir del glutamato por actividad de la glutamato deshidrogenasa. Nosotros proponemos una vía alternativa que incluye reacciones enzimáticas y no enzimáticas que colaboran con su acumulación, estableciendo una conexión entre GABA y prolina, dos moléculas que se acumulan durante el estrés en plantas.

Por otra parte, la transformación de Δ^1 -pirrolín en GABA así como las reacciones derivadas de degradar GABA en el ciclo de Krebs, producen poder reductor en forma de NADH.H⁺ y FADH₂. El consumo de NADPH requerido para la síntesis-acumulación de prolina y la generación de NADH y FADH₂ a partir de la formación y catabolismo del GABA contribuyen con una mejor distribución del poder reductor en la planta.

Por último, considerando que las reacciones OH - prolina ocurren principalmente a nivel cloroplástico, el CO_2 liberado por la descarboxilación de la prolina, cuando el ataque ocurre sobre el grupo NH_2^+ , podría ser utilizado en la fijación de CO_2 aportando, aunque mínimamente, al mantenimiento de la actividad fotosintética.

A su vez la fijación de CO₂ consume poder reductor en forma de NADPH y de este modo se generan NADP⁺ para ser utilizado como aceptor final en el fotosistema evitando la generación de ROS por falta de aceptores de electrones fotosintéticos.

Nuevamente estas evidencias aportan elementos para fundamentar la hipótesis de un rol multifuncional de la prolina, con participación a nivel de la actividad fotosintética, la homeostasis redox y en protección frente al daño oxidativo.

Citation: Signorelli S, Dans PD, Coitiño EL, Borsani O, Monza J (2015) Connecting Proline and *y*-Aminobutyric Acid in Stressed Plants through Non-Enzymatic Reactions. PLoS ONE 10(3): e0115349. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115349

Academic Editor: Sergey Shabala, University of Tasmania, AUSTRALIA

Received: August 4, 2014

Accepted: November 22, 2014

Published: March 16, 2015

Copyright: © 2015 Signorelli et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: All relevant data are within the paper.

Funding: Fondo Clemente Estable 6662 Agencia Nacional de Investigación e Innovación (FCE_6662_ANII), Programa de desarrollo de las ciencias básicas (PEDECIBA), http://www.pedeciba. edu.uy/indice.php, SS. Comisión Académica de Posgrado (CAP), http://www.posgrados.udelar.edu. uy/, SS. Sistema Nacional de Investigadores (SNI): http://www.sni.org.uy/, SS PDD ELC OB JM. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript. RESEARCH ARTICLE

Connecting Proline and γ -Aminobutyric Acid in Stressed Plants through Non-Enzymatic Reactions

Santiago Signorelli¹*, Pablo D. Dans², E. Laura Coitiño³, Omar Borsani¹, Jorge Monza¹

1 Laboratorio de Bioquímica, Departamento de Biología Vegetal, Facultad de Agronomía, Universidad de la República, Montevideo, Uruguay, 2 Joint BSC CRG IRB Research Program in Computational Biology, Institute for Research in Biomedicine (IRB Barcelona), Barcelona, Spain, 3 Laboratorio de Química Teórica y Computacional (LQTC), Instituto de Química Biológica, Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad de la República, Montevideo, Uruguay

* ssignorelli@fagro.edu.uy

Abstract

The accumulation of proline (Pro) in plants exposed to biotic/abiotic stress is a well-documented and conserved response in most vegetal species. Stress conditions induce the overproduction of reactive oxygen species which can lead to cellular damage. In vitro assays have shown that enzyme inactivation by hydroxyl radicals (OH) can be avoided in presence of Pro, suggesting that this amino acid could act as an OH scavenger. We applied Density Functional Theory coupled with a polarizable continuum model to elucidate how Pro reacts with OH. In this work we suggest that Pro reacts favourably with OH by H–abstraction on the amine group. This reaction produces the spontaneous decarboxylation of Pro leading to the formation of pyrrolidin-1-yl. In turn, pyrrolidin-1-yl can easily be converted to Δ^1 -pyrroline, the substrate of the enzyme Δ^1 -pyrroline dehydrogenase, which produces γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA). GABA and Pro are frequently accumulated in stressed plants and several protective roles have been assigned to these molecules. Thereby we present an alternative non-enzymatic way to synthetize GABA under oxidative stress. Finally this work sheds light on a new beneficial role of Pro accumulation in the maintenance of photosynthetic activity.

Introduction

When plants are exposed to biotic/abiotic stress, damage on cellular components (proteins, lipids, carbohydrates, and DNA) increase as a result of the overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), singlet oxygen (¹O₂), superoxide anion (O₂·⁻), and hydroxyl radicals ('OH) [1]. The latter is the most reactive species among ROS and can be generated *in vivo* either by Fenton's reaction, in the Haber-Weiss cycle, or through homolysis of H₂O₂ under UV radiation to which plants are highly exposed [2,3]. Despite its short lifetime, the production of ·OH has been detected in intact plants using EPR techniques [4,5].



Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

Hydrogen abstraction, addition, and electron transfer processes are the most common reaction channels for OH, leading to new radicals or closed shell molecular species with lower reactivity [6].

Cellular defense against ROS can benefit from either enzymatic or non-enzymatic antioxidant processes. Proline (Pro) has been considered to be involved in the non-enzymatic antioxidant plant defense [7,8]. Accumulation of Pro in stressed plants, up to 100 times the normal level, has been a well-known fact for more than 40 years [9]. In this condition, Pro can reach a cytosol concentrations of 120 to 230 mM (see reference [10] and references therein). Under drought and high salinity conditions, UV/Vis irradiation, oxidative stress, the presence of heavy metals, or as a response to different kind of biotic stresses [11], Pro accumulation by *de novo* synthesis has been reported to be a feature shared by a wide variety of organisms including bacteria, fungi and plants [12].

Early in 1989, Sminorff and Cumbes showed that enzyme inactivation by OH can be avoided *in vitro* by the presence of Pro, proposing that this molecule might act as a OH scavenger [13]. Later, it has also been suggested that Pro could protect plants from ${}^{1}O_{2}$ oxidation [14,15]. Indirect evidence of such protective roles, emerged comparing oxidative damage on genetically-engineered plants under stress, where transgenes were used to control the production of Pro. Under saline conditions, transgenic plants with increased production and accumulation of Pro were less affected by oxidative damage [16], while plants genetically-unable to produce Pro exhibited a significantly lower tolerance to stress [17]. Recently, direct evidences showed that Pro does not quench singlet oxygen (${}^{1}O_{2}$), as it was thought during several years, concluding that the protective role of Pro against oxidative damage, observed in several plants, could be related to the OH scavenger activity [18].

A pioneer work of Amici *et al.* suggested that 'OH reacts with Pro forming 5-hydroxyproline (5-Hyp), and with 5-Hyp to finally produce Glutamic acid [19,20]. In a recent work, we explored the reactions involving 'OH attack to the different C atoms of Pro to evaluate the formation of 5-Hyp, using a theoretical approach, and suggested that the formation of 5-Hyp is unlikely to occur [21]. We predicted that the reaction should always occur on the carboxylate face (*s-face*) of Pro, to produce either 3,4- Δ -Pro or pyrroline-5-carboxylate (P5C) [21].

In this scenario, the present work aims to evaluate the 'OH-attack on the N atom to assess the competitiveness of this pathway as opposed to those described on the C atoms [21]. We found out that 'OH-attack on the N atom of Pro is competitive with the most favored ones over the C atoms, and can lead to the formation of γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA), which was also reported to accumulate in response to abiotic and biotic stress [22].

Methods

Molecular systems

We explored H-atom abstractions by 'OH from the 4-endo and 5-endo conformer of the zwitterionic form of Pro in aqueous solution. In the 4-endo conformation the C2, C3, C5 and N atoms define almost a plane, while in the 5-endo conformer the C2, C3, C4 and N atoms are almost co-planer. As shown in the Fig. 1, the primary step in the reaction of 'OH with Pro (Step 1) is characterized by the H-atom abstraction by radical attack to the N atom at both faces of the pyrrolidine ring (i.e. from the side of the carboxylate group or from the opposite one, respectively labeled s/o faces). At Step 2 the release of the carboxylic group as CO₂ leads to the formation of the radical pyrrolidin-1-yl (Pyr'). The Pyr' can react again with 'OH -or with other molecules able to abstract hydrogen atom from NH group- to yield delta-1-pyrroline (Δ^1 -Pyr) and water. Alternatively the Pyr' can react with H₂O₂ molecule and produce two closed shell molecules: Pyrrolidine (Pyr), and the acid form of superoxide.





doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115349.g001

Level of theory

The structures of each stable species (reactants, products, pre-reactive intermediate complexes (IC), and transition states (TS)) were fully optimized in aqueous solution at the (U)M06/6-31G (d,p) level [23] coupled with the IEF-PCM polarizable continuum model [24–26]. Calculations were performed without imposing symmetry restrictions and using solute cavities adapted to the molecular shape and built with Bondi radii [27]. An ultrafine pruned grid, having 99 radial shells and 590 angular points per shell was employed for numerical integration in all M06 calculations in order to reduce possible errors in calculating energies and barriers [28]. Expectation values of the spin operator S² were checked to be below 0.76 and 2.01 for doublet and triplet open-shell species, respectively, to minimize spin contamination. The nature of each stationary point was carefully verified by inspection of the eigenvalues of the analytic Hessian in aqueous solution. Thermochemistry was evaluated at 298.15 K relying on the standard treatment for assessing thermal contributions (rigid rotor, harmonic vibrations with no scale factor, etc.) as implemented in the Gaussian09 program [29]. Non-electrostatic contributions (cavitation, dispersion and repulsion) [30,31] to the solvent free energy were also evaluated at 298.15 K. The reaction coordinate of each transition state (TS) was visually inspected by animation of the eigenvector associated to the imaginary frequency. IRC minimum energy reaction paths [32] towards reactants or products were generated with the HPC algorithm [33] including 45 steps for each side with a step size of 2 Bohr/amu^{1/2}. All the representative structures obtained from each side of the reaction path, were thus used as the starting point for optimizing the structure of the corresponding intermediate complexes (IC).

The Natural Bond Orbital (NBO) [34,35] population analysis was performed to evaluate the bonding characteristics between the C_1 - C_2 atoms of reactants, TS, I_C and products. The orthogonal set of localized orbitals obtained through this analysis were also used to compute the Wiberg bond index for the decarboxylation process [36,37].

Single-point calculations at the MP2 frozen core level (using the 6-31G(d,p) basis set) were performed to analyze the spin and electron densities of all the characterized structures. The Atoms in Molecules (AIM) approach [38] was used to follow the spontaneous decarboxylation process, finding the bond critical points between the atoms in the plane of the carboxyl group in Pro.

All the calculations were performed using Gaussian09, rev. A.1 or B.1 [29], while the molecular drawings were built using either Gaussview 5 or VMD 1.9.1 [39]. The AIM analysis was achieved with the AIM-UC program [40].

Results and Discussion

The amine group of Pro is one of the most favored reaction sites for Habstraction by the hydroxyl radical

Four different reaction pathways for the 'OH-attack to the N atom of Pro zwitterion were evaluated. These pathways include, for both 4-endo and 5-endo conformers of Pro, the attack either by the side of the carboxyl group (*s-face*), or its opposite (*o-face*). The corresponding energetic barriers (Table 1) evaluate the competitiveness of these pathways as opposed to those recently described by us [21] on the C atoms. The lowest barriers in terms of free energies for each site of attack are represented in Fig. 2. Remarkably, after the H-abstraction occurs on the N atom of 5-endo Pro, the carboxyl group is destabilized and dissociated from the ring (Fig. 3). The barrier of these reactions are small, lowering when the attack occurs from the *s*-face. Moreover, the barriers related to the *s*-face abstraction over N are lower \sim by 1 kcal/mol than those previously described for the most favorable H-abstractions on C3/C4 atoms (Table 1), all of them near to the diffusion-controlled limit. Pre-reactive complexes, obtained from the ends of the intrinsic reaction coordinate path, are found to be stable in terms of enthalpy (6-7 and 2-3 kcal mol⁻¹ for the s- and o-face respectively). However in terms of free energy these pre-reactive complexes turn unstable due to unfavorable entropic contributions from 2 to 6 kcal mol^{-1} . These results would eventually preclude the possibility of these intermediating complexes to act as kinetic traps, as it was found for other H-abstraction by 'OH from Leucine dipeptide [41].

Hydroxyl attack at the N atom triggers Pro decarboxylation

Taking into account that the 4-endo and 5-endo forms of Pro exist in solution in equal proportions [42], and that the lower energy barriers were found for those species when the attack occurs on the *s*-face, we focused on the s-face reaction pathway for both species to evaluate in detail the structural changes that produce the release of carboxyl group from the pyrrolidine ring. Fig. 3 shows the structure of reactants, intermediate complexes, transition state and products for this reaction.

Site/face	Unimolecular barrier		Bimole barr	cular ier	Reaction energy	
	ΔH	ΔG	ΔH	ΔG	ΔН	ΔG
Ns 4-endo	-0.30	-0.18	-6.4	3.0	-28.2	-30.8
No 4-endo	3.0	3.9	0.58	8.9		
Ns 5-endo	-0.30	0.73	-7.0	3.1	-34.1	-32.0
No 5-endo	3.3	2.7	-0.09	8.7		
	Referer	nce values for C	atoms taken fror	n reference [2	1]	
C2 4-endo	1.1	1.2	-1.5	6.9	-20.1	-22.3
C3s 4-endo	1.7	2.0	-5.1	4.6	-20.1	-22.6
C3o 4-endo	-0.9	-0.3	-3.0	6.2		
C4s 4-endo	1.6	1.5	-5.1	4.1	-20.1	-22.8
C4o 4-endo	1.0	2.3	0.0	8.9		
C5s 4-endo	3.9	5.2	-3.3	6.7	-18.5	-20.7
C5o 4-endo	1.3	0.9	-0.9	7.3		

Table 1. Relative energies (in kcal mol⁻¹) for the species involved in Steps 1 in terms of enthalpies (Δ H) and free energies (Δ G) in aqueous solution at 298.15 K.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115349.t001



Fig 2. Energy profiles for the most favorable reactions according to Table 1. Free energies (in kcal mol⁻¹) relative to the reactants were computed in aqueous solution at 298.15 K. Energies for the H-abstraction at the C atoms were taken from [21].

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115349.g002

Table 2 shows the main structural parameters of the species involved in the Step 1 on *s*-face. Once the abstraction reaction has reached the TS, the distance between the C_{α} and the carboxyl group (C_{α} -COO⁻) increases from 1.529 (TS) to 1.795 Å (Product), in the 4-endo conformation, and from 1.528 (TS) to 2.711 Å (Product) in the case of the 5-endo conformer. This reveals a



Fig 3. Structures involved in the H-abstraction by 'OH from N atom of the 4-endo and 5-endo-Pro. Note that IC_P and IC_P are the intermediary complexes for the reactants and products side respectively.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115349.g003

	4-endo conformation					5-endo conformation				
	Reactive	IC _R	TS	IC _P	Product	Reactive	IC _R	TS	IC _P	Product
Distances (ang	stroms)									
C ₁ -C ₂	1.546	1.536	1.529	1.722 ^a	1.795	1.543	1.535	1.528	1.704	2.711
C ₂ -N	1.510	1.494	1.481	1.382	1.373	1.505	1.495	1.482	1.384	1.397
N-H ₈	1.045	1.051	1.207	2.709	-	1.040	1.052	1.202	2.696	-
C1-O1	1.243	1.241	1.235	1.222	1.219	1.243	1.241	1.236	1.223	1.168
C1-O2	1.258	1.267	1.281	1.231	1.218	1.258	1.267	1.280	1.233	1.168
O ₂ -H ₈	1.808	2.329	2.287	1.825	-	1.847	2.186	2.284	1.786	-
O ₃ -H ₈	-	1.670	1.278	0.978	-	-	1.668	1.285	0.980	-
Angles (degree	es)									
C ₂ -C ₁ -O ₂	115.8	119.2	120.3	112.2	109.4	115.6	119.6	120.6	113.5	92.1
O ₁ -C ₁ -O ₂	128.9	125.5	122.0	135.4	139.9	128.9	125.3	122.0	134.6	173.2
N-C ₂ -H ₁	109.4	109.0	109.5	113.4	115.2	108.1	108.0	108.7	112.4	119.1
N-H ₈ -O ₃	-	163.4	168.4	85.6	-	-	162.1	168.0	86.5	-
Dihedral (degre	es)									
H ₈ -N-C ₁ -O ₂	2.7	26.4	19.1	5.1	-	-8.7	23.9	12.4	8.7	-

Table 2. Selection of main structural parameters involved in Steps 1.

^a Note that major changes are highlighted in bold.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115349.t002

weakening of the C_1 - C_2 bond, while the shortening of the C_2 -N distance, in both conformations, is characteristic of a double bond (Table 2). On the other hand, the angle O_1 - C_1 - O_2 of the carboxyl group becomes less acute (particularly in the 5-endo conformer) and the C = Odistances of these groups become shorter, resembling to the CO_2 molecule. When the abstraction occurred from 5-endo Pro no minima was found on the product side until a complete dissociation of the carboxyl group occurs (the final C_1 - C_2 distance is 2.711 Å, and the value of the O_1 - C_1 - O_2 angle is 173.4°). These results provide strong evidence that the 'OH-attack on the N site of Pro might trigger its decarboxylation, giving the formation of pyrrolidin-1-yl (Pyr[•]). The Pro decarboxylation has also been evidenced experimentally *in vitro* in presence of oxidative species, such as permanganate [43] and copper [44]. In the same way, Bonifacic *et. al.* [45] studied the reaction between 'OH and Gly finding that 'OH attacks occur exclusively on the NH₂ group, leading to the formation of HN[•]-CH₂-CO₂⁻ and ⁺H₂N[•]-CH₂-CO₂⁻. The latter compound decompose (on the nanosecond time scale) to CO₂ and H₂N[•]-CH₂ [45].

Table 3. Wiberg bond index for the C₁-C₂ bond of the 4-endo and 5-endo conformations of proline along the step 1.

	C ₁ -C ₂ bond in 4-endo conformation						
	Reactive	IC _R	TS	IC _P	Product		
Wiberg bond index	0.9117	0.9245	0.9379	0.6385	0.5529		
% relative to reactive	100	101	103	70	61		
		C1-C	2 bond in 5-endo conforma	ation			
	Reactive	IC _B	TS	IC _P	Product		
Wiberg bond index	0.9147	0.9292	0.9434	0.6657	0.0441		
% relative to reactive	100	102	103	73	5		

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115349.t003

To further characterize steps 1 and 2 (see Fig. 1), the H-abstraction and the *a posteriori* decarboxylation were analyzed using the Wiberg indices, spin densities (the difference between the alpha and beta densities) and the AIM approach.

In Table 3 we present the Wiberg index for the C_1 - C_2 bond in both 4-endo and 5-endo conformations along the structures of step 1. As shown, the results are in agreement with the geometrical parameters (Table 2). The C_1 - C_2 bond is slightly strengthened up to the TS, and then quickly weakens being almost completely broken in the product of the 5-endo. In both conformers we exhaustively search for a TS on the decarboxylation process, but all the attempts led to a quick release of the CO₂ group, suggesting that step 2 is barrierless.

The spin density is a good quantum descriptor to study the unpaired electron along the reaction path. As shown in Fig. 4, the unpaired density moves from being delocalized over the oxygen atoms (see IC_R and TS in Fig. 4) to be localized over the $C_2/C\alpha$ and N atoms in the products (see IC_P and Products). During the H-abstraction, the spin density moves from the oxygen atoms (mainly from $^{\circ}$ OH), through the N atom (forming a cationic radical), to the C₂/ $C\alpha$ atom, leading to the decarboxylation of the Pro and the strengthening of the C α -N bond (see Table 2). The final result is the spontaneous formation of a Pyr' and carbon dioxide (clear in the case of the 5-endo conformer), in a barrierless reaction, for which no activation energy is required and no TS can be defined. It is worth mentioning that the decarboxylation occurs differently in the 4-endo and 5-endo forms. The decarboxylation seems to be well defined in the 5-endo. In the 4-endo reaction the spin density does not show a significant differences between IC_P and the product (Fig. 4), although, as mentioned before, the C_1 - C_2 distance slightly increases between these two stable species (see Table 2), suggesting that we found a stable complex, in the product side of the H-abstraction, before decarboxylation (in agreement with the Wiberg indices reported in Table 3). In the latter case, also the AIM analysis reveals the presence of a bond critical point (bcp), suggesting that there still is a covalent bond connecting the carboxyl group to the pyrrolidine ring. This bcp is not present in the product of the 5-endo reaction where the decarboxylation is evident. In the 4-endo form, the Pyr' and the CO₂ molecules seem to be trapped in a local minimum forming a stable complex, which could explain in part the low rate of decomposition observed experimentally [45].

Complementary reactions to obtain closed-shell species

The Pyr[•] can react with different molecules to produce closed shell molecules. Here we suggest two different mechanisms: one involves another H-abstraction by [•]OH from the N atom of the pyrrolidine ring; and the other one involves the H-abstraction by Pyr[•] from hydrogen peroxide (see Fig. 1). In both cases the reaction leads to the formation of Δ^1 -Pyrroline (Δ^1 -Pyr). Note that after decarboxylation it is not possible to define the s- and o-face, and for this reason there is only one possible conformation in the two reactions explored in Step 3 (Fig. 5).

As expected (in Step 3) the reaction with 'OH has a lower energy barrier as well as being more exothermic than the reaction with H_2O_2 (see Table 4). Both proposed mechanisms are likely to occur, and while Step 3a is irreversible, Step 3b can occur in both directions. Once again the intermediate complexes are more stable in terms of enthalpies, but not anymore when entropic contributions are considered.

Connecting Pro to GABA

In plants, Δ^1 -Pyr produced in Step 3a is the substrate of pyrroline dehydrogenase (PYRR-DH) which converts it into γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) [46]. GABA is well-documented to accumulate under stress conditions [47]. For this reason, several protective roles had been assigned to GABA, such as the contribution to the C:N balance, the regulation of cytosolic pH, the



Fig 4. Spin densities and AIM analysis. For the sake of comparison, the same isosurface of value $0.003 |e|/Å^3$ representing the difference between the alpha and beta electron densities was depicted in violet or green, for the 4-endo and 5-endo forms respectively. For the products and the intermediate species on the product side (IC_P), the presence of bond critical points (bcp) was evidenced by means of AIM. The bcp connecting the carboxyl group to the pyrrolidine ring is depicted in violet or green, whereas the remainder bcps are shown in gray. The nuclear critical points (located at the position of the nuclei), the basin paths, and the gradient field are depicted in solid or dashed black lines. The bond paths, defined by the chosen 2D projection (plane), are shown in red.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115349.g004

protection against oxidative stress, the defense against insects, the osmoregulation, and cell signaling [47]. Most of these protective roles have also been attributed to Pro [11]. The principal way in which GABA is synthetized is from glutamic acid, by the enzyme glutamate decarboxylase [22], while a secondary pathway involves polyamines and the formation of Δ^1 -Pyr [46,48]. For example, the CMSII mutant of *Nicotiana sylvestris* has reduced glutamate decarboxylase (GAD) activity, but the GABA content nevertheless increased more than two- fold from the base level when treated with NaCl [49], suggesting that the accumulation of GABA could be mediated by polyamines oxidation. This pathway requires the activity of pyrroline (γ -aminobutyraldehyde) dehydrogenase, an enzyme not produced in stress conditions [48], meaning that GABA formation should be mediated by the accumulation of GABA precursors. Here we propose an alternative non-enzymatic pathway (shown in blue in Fig. 6) in which Pro can contribute to the formation of the GABA precursor Δ^1 -Pyr, giving a possible explanation to connect the simultaneous accumulation of Pro and GABA that occur in stress conditions. We

8/14



Fig 5. Structures involved in Step 3. In Step 3a, the H-abstraction from Pyr^{*} at the N atom by [•]OH produces Δ^1 -Pyr. In Step 3b, the H-abstraction from H₂O₂ by Pyr^{*} produces Pyr.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115349.g005

recently demonstrated that a plastidic glutamine synthetase mutant of *Lotus japonicus* with unaltered glutamate content but lower proline content, had a lower accumulation of GABA in response to osmotic stress when compared with the wt [50].

Biological significance of the reaction of Pro with *OH in plants under stress

In the chloroplasts, the co-localization of Pro, 'OH and H_2O_2 is essential for the proceeding of the reactions described in Steps 1 and 3. In these organelles, the electron leakage of O_2 is the major source of $O_2^{\bullet-}$ [51], which leads to the formation of H_2O_2 by SOD activity in a diffusion-limited reaction. 'OH can be produced from H_2O_2 by Fenton's reaction or by homolytic cleavage under UV exposure. In addition, Pro reaches concentrations of at least 160 mM [52]

Table 4. Relative energies (in kcal mol ⁻¹)	for the species involved in Steps 3 in terms of enthalpies (Δ H) and free energies (Δ G) in aqueous
solution at 298.15 K.	

Step	Site of attack	Attacked by	Unimolecular barrier		Bimolecular Barrier		Reaction Energy	
			ΔH	ΔG	ΔΗ	ΔG	ΔΗ	ΔG
3a	N	•ОН	4.4	5.1	-1.8	8.1	-88.7	-88.7
Зb	C ₂	H ₂ O ₂	5.4	6.6	-6.4	11.7	-5.1	-4.2

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115349.t004



Fig 6. Suggested pathway to connect Pro and GABA and its possible implications in major metabolic processes. Blue lines represent the nonenzymatic reactions proposed to connect Pro and Δ^1 -Pyr by 'OH scavenging. In the non-enzymatic reactions two 'OH are captured and the CO₂ released could enter the C3 cycle. Red and green lines represent catabolic and anabolic pathways respectively. SSA stands for succinic semialdehyde, and AT stands for amino transferases.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115349.g006

ONE

(even in non-stressful condition) into these organelles becoming more abundant than every common antioxidant (i.e.: 0.8–2.4 mM for glutathione; 12–25 mM for ascorbate) [53].

Besides the H_2O_2 production in chloroplasts, H_2O_2 is also generated by photorespiration in the peroxisomes [54]. Other H_2O_2 sources are the copper-containing oxidases and peroxidases, being the latter the main responsible for H_2O_2 production during oxidative burst in stress conditions in plants [54]. Since H_2O_2 has a long lifetime and can diffuse through organelles [55], it can be assumed to be available in all the cell to yield 'OH or react with Pyr'.

Because of the main co-localization of ROS and Pro in chloroplasts, the CO_2 released from Pro accumulates predominantly in these organelles. There, the photosynthetic machinery is able to use CO_2 by fixation through the C3 Cycle (see Fig. 6). Despite being a hypothesis, that will require further experimental confirmations, this localized production of CO_2 could be an advantage for plants under stress conditions (i.e. drought). In such conditions the stomata are close to avoid water loss, limiting the uptake of CO_2 , that leads to a reduction in carbon fixation and the accumulation of reducing power (NADPH). All these combined features will most probably produce ROS by electron leakage. Therefore, it is not unreasonable to think that the CO_2 produced during Pro reactions would help reducing the accumulation of NADPH and the generation of ROS.

Pro synthesis in green tissues was proposed to regenerate NADP⁺, helping in the maintenance of an adequate NADP⁺/NADPH ratio inside the cells [56], and that Pro could translocate to the roots to be catabolized [56]. In addition to the NADPH consumption produced during Pro synthesis, our work suggests that Pro could also help to reduce the NADP⁺/ NADPH ratio, by releasing CO₂ that will enter the C3 cycle and consume NADPH.

On the other hand, it is known that transaminases turn GABA into succinic semialdehyde (SSA) that is then converted to succinate by succinic semialdehyde dehydrogenases (Fig. 6) [57,58]. These reactions, known as GABA shunts, produce substrates of the mitochondrial respiratory chain (succinate and NADH), which ultimately generates ATP [47]. GABA shunts affect the redox balance in the cell, because succinate enters the Krebs Cycle bypassing three sites

of NADH production, thus reducing the NADH/NAD⁺ ratio [49,59,60]. This reduction in NADH/NAD⁺ ratio activates key enzymes of the Krebs cycle [61]. Additionally, it is known that the succinyl-CoA ligase and the α -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase enzymes are degraded under oxidative stress, limiting the ATP production in the Krebs cycle [62]. GABA shunts assure the production of ATP even in stressed conditions, reason why GABA shunts were considered a protection against oxidative stress [47].

Overall, we consider that the non-enzymatic connection between Pro and GABA presented in this work is a reasonable alternative to catabolize Pro obtaining reducing power, ATP, carbon and nitrogen, even in stressed conditions when the catabolic enzymes of Pro are inactivated. This beneficial aspects of Pro and the protective role against 'OH are in line with the multifunctional role that has been assumed for Pro.

Conclusions

Hydrogen abstraction from the N atom of Pro by 'OH radical produces the decarboxylation of Pro, and leads to the formation of Pyr'. This reaction mechanism, proposed herein for the first time, is competitive as opposed to those described previously for the C atoms [21]. These theoretical results are in line with experimental data about amino acid decarboxylation under 'OH attacks. The Δ^1 -Pyr produced by H-abstraction from Pyr' would contribute to the production of GABA under PYRR-DH catalysis, an essential molecule for plants, that also accumulates in stress conditions. Thereby, we proposed an alternative way to synthetize GABA, through a non-enzymatic reaction relevant in plants under oxidative stress. Finally, this work highlights a new beneficial characteristic of Pro accumulation, as the contribution to maintain the photosynthetic activity in stressed plants.

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge Dr. Federica Battistini for the critical reading of the manuscript.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: SS PDD ELC. Performed the experiments: SS PDD. Analyzed the data: SS PDD ELC. Contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools: SS PDD ELC OB JM. Wrote the paper: SS PDD ELC OB JM. Contributed the biological background of the problem: SS OB JM.

References

- Mittler R (2002) Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. Trends Plant Sci 7: 405–410. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=12234732. PMID: 12234732
- Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM (1984) Oxygen toxicity, oxygen radicals, transition metals and disease. Biochem J 219: 1–14. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db= PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=6326753. PMID: 6326753
- Halliwell B (2006) Reactive species and antioxidants. Redox biology is a fundamental theme of aerobic life. Plant Physiol 141: 312–322. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd= Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=16760481. PMID: 16760481
- Renew S, Heyno E, Schopfer P, Liszkay A (2005) Sensitive detection and localization of hydroxyl radical production in cucumber roots and Arabidopsis seedlings by spin trapping electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy. Plant J 44: 342–347. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query. fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=16212611. PMID: 16212611
- Demidchik V, Cuin TA, Svistunenko D, Smith SJ, Miller AJ, et al. (2010) Arabidopsis root K+-efflux conductance activated by hydroxyl radicals: single-channel properties, genetic basis and involvement in stress-induced cell death. J Cell Sci 123: 1468–1479. doi: 10.1242/jcs.064352 PMID: 20375061

- Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM (1990) Role of free radicals and catalytic metal ions in human disease: an overview. Methods Enzym 186: 1–85. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd= Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=2172697.
- 7. Feng Z, Jin-Kui G, Ying-Li Y, W en-Liang H, Li-Xin Z (2004) Changes in pattern of antiozidant enzyma in wheat wxposed to water deficit and rewatering. Acta Physiol Plant 26: 345–352.
- Chen C, Dickman MB (2005) Proline suppresses apoptosis in the fungal pathogen Colletotrichum trifolii. P Natl Acad Sci USA 102: 3459–3464. doi:0407960102 [pii] doi: 10.1073/pnas.0407960102 PMID: 15699356
- Barnnet J, Naylor A (1966) Amino acid and protein metabolism in bermuda grass during water stress. Plant Physiol 11: 1222–1230.
- Ashraf M, Foolad MR (2007) Roles of glycine betaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. Environ Exp Bot 59: 206–216.
- Szabados L, Savouré A (2010) Proline: a multifunctional amino acid. Trends Plant Sci 15: 89–97. doi: 10.1016/j.tplants.2009.11.009 PMID: 20036181
- 12. Chiang H, Dandekar M (1995) Regulation of proline accumulation in Arabidopsis thaliana (L.) Heynh during development and in response to desiccation. Plant Cell Environ 18: 1280–1290.
- Smirnoff N, Cumbes QJ (1989) Hydroxyl radical scavenging activity of compatible solutes. Phytochemistry 28: 1057–1060.
- Alia, Mohanty P, Matysik J (2001) Effect of proline on the production of singlet oxygen. Amino Acids 21: 195–200. PMID: 11665815
- Alia, Saradhi PP, Mohanty P (1991) Proline enhances primary photochemical activities in isolated thylakoid membranes of Brassica juncea by arresting photoinhibitory damage. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 181: 1238–1244. PMID: 1764073
- Hong Z, Lakkineni K, Zhang Z, Verma DP (2000) Removal of feedback inhibition of delta(1)-pyrroline-5carboxylate synthetase results in increased proline accumulation and protection of plants from osmotic stress. Plant Physiol 122: 1129–1136. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd= Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=10759508. PMID: 10759508
- Nanjo T, Kobayashi M, Yoshiba Y, Kakubari Y, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, et al. (1999) Antisense suppression of proline degradation improves tolerance to freezing and salinity in Arabidopsis thaliana. FEBS Lett 461: 205–210. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd= Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=10567698. PMID: 10567698
- Signorelli S, Arellano JB, Melø TB, Borsani O, Monza J (2013) Proline does not quench singlet oxygen: Evidence to reconsider its protective role in plants. Plant Physiol Biochem 64: 80–83. doi: 10.1016/j. plaphy.2012.12.017 PMID: 23384940
- Amici A, Levine RL, Tsai L, Stadtman ER (1989) Conversion of amino acid residues in proteins and amino acid homopolymers to carbonyl derivatives by metal-catalyzed oxidation reactions. J Biol Chem 264: 3341–3346. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db= PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=2563380. PMID: 2563380
- Matysik J, Alia A, Bhalu B, Mohanty P (2002) Molecular mechanisms of quenching of reactive oxygen species by proline under stress in plants. Curr Sci 82: 525–532.
- **21.** Signorelli S, Coitiño EL, Borsani O, Monza J (2014) Molecular mechanisms for the reaction between OH radicals and proline: insights on the role as reactive oxygen species scavenger in plant stress. J Phys Chem B 118: 37–47. doi: 10.1021/jp407773u PMID: 24328335
- 22. Shelp BJ, Bown AW, McLean MD (1999) Metabolism and functions of gamma-aminobutyric acid. Trends Plant Sci 4: 446–452. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd= Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=10529826. PMID: 10529826
- 23. Zhao Y, Truhlar DG (2008) Density functionals with broad applicability in chemistry. Acc Chem Res 41: 157–167. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=18186612. doi: 10.1021/ar700111a PMID: 18186612
- 24. Miertus S, Tomasi J, Mazzanti G, Chiellini EE, Solaro R, et al. (1997) Modelling of the 3-D structure of IFN-alpha-k and characterization of its surface molecular properties. Int J Biol Macromol 20: 85–95. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=9184940. PMID: 9184940
- Cancès E, Mennucci B, Tomasi J (1997) A new integral equation formalism for the polarizable continuum model: theoretical background and application to isotropic and anisotropic dielectris. J Chem Phys 107: 3032–3041.
- Tomasi J (2011) Selected features of the polarizable continuum model for the representation of solvation. WIREs Comput Mol Sci 1: 855–867.
- 27. Bondi A (1964) Van der Waals volumes and radii. J Phys Chem 68: 441–452.

- Wheeler SE, Houk KN (2010) Integration Grid Errors for Meta-GGA-Predicted Reaction Energies: Origin of Grid Errors for the M06 Suite of functionals. J Chem Theory Comput 6: 395–404. PMID: 20305831
- 29. Frisch MJ, Trucks GW, Schlegel HB, Scuseria GE, Robb MA, et al. (2009) Gaussian 09.
- Floris F, Tomasi J (1989) Evaluation of the dispersion contribution to the solvation energy. A simple computational model in the continuum approximation. J Comp Chem 10: 616.
- Floris F, Tomasi J, Pascual-Ahuir JL (1991) Dispersion and repulsion contributions to the solvation energy: Refinements to a simple computational model in the continuum approximation. J Comp Chem 12: 784.
- 32. Fukui K (1981) The path of chemical reactions—The IRC Approach. Acc Chem Res 14: 363–368.
- Hratchian HP, Sonnenberg JL, Hay PJ, Martin RL, Bursten BE, et al. (2005) Theoretical investigation of uranyl dihydroxide: oxo ligand exchange, water catalysis, and vibrational spectra. J Phys Chem A 109: 8579–8586. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db= PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=16834257. PMID: 16834257
- Reed AE, Weinhold F (1983) Natural bond orbital analysis of near-Hartree-Fock water dimer. J Chem Phys 78: 4066–4073. Available: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-36749116113&partnerID=40&md5=058f1bb2481848fcd5550256e2857eb5.
- Reed AE, Curtiss L a., Weinhold F (1988) Intermolecular interactions from a natural bond orbital, donoracceptor viewpoint. Chem Rev 88: 899–926. Available: http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ cr00088a005.
- Mayer I (2007) Bond order and valence indices: A personal account. J Comput Chem 28: 204–221. doi: 10.1002/jcc.20494 PMID: 17066501
- Wiberg KB (1968) Application of the pople-santry-segal CNDO method to the cyclopropylcarbinyl and cyclobutyl cation and to bicyclobutane. Tetrahedron 24: 1083–1096. doi: 10.1016/0040-4020(68) 88057–3
- 38. Bader RFW (1990) Atoms in Molecules: A Quantum Theory. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Humphrey W, Dalke A, Schulten K (1996) VMD: Visual molecular dynamics. J Mol Graph 14: 33–38. doi: 10.1016/0263-7855(96)00018-5 PMID: 8744570
- Vega D, Almeida D (2014) AIM-UC: An application for QTAIM analysis. J Comput Methods Sci Eng 14: 131–136.
- Scheiner S, Kar T (2010) Analysis of the reactivities of protein C-H bonds to H atom abstraction by OH radical. J Am Chem Soc 132: 16450–16459. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=21047072. doi: 10.1021/ja105204v PMID: 21047072
- 42. Kapitan J, Baumruk V, Bour P (2006) Demonstration of the ring conformation in polyproline by the Raman optical activity. J Am Chem Soc 128: 2438–2443. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=16478200. PMID: 16478200
- 43. Seregar VC, Hiremath C V, Nandibewoor ST (2006) Palladium(II) catalysed oxidation of L-proline by heptavalent manganese in aqueous alkaline medium: a free radical intervention and decarboxylation. Transit Met Chem 31: 541–548.
- Hiremath MI, Nandibewoor ST (2006) Kinetics and Mechanism of Ruthenium(III) Catalyzed Oxidation of L-proline by Copper(III): A Free Radical Intervention and Decarboxylation. Russ J Phys Chem 80: 1029–1033.
- Bonifacic' I, Sÿtefanic' I, Hug GL, Armstrong DA, Asmus KD (1998) Glycine Decarboxylation: The Free Radical Mechanism. J Am Chem Soc 120: 9930–9940.
- Flores HE, Filner P (1985) Polyamine catabolism in higher plants: Characterization of pyrroline dehydrogenase. Plant Growth Regul 3: 277–291.
- Bouché N, Fromm H (2004) GABA in plants: just a metabolite? Trends Plant Sci 9: 110–115. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids= 15003233. PMID: 15003233
- Shelp BJ, Bozzo GG, Trobacher CP, Zarei A, Deyman KL, et al. (2012) Hypothesis/review: Contribution of putrescine to 4-aminobutyrate (GABA) production in response to abiotic stress. Plant Sci 193–194: 130–135. doi: 10.1016/j.plantsci.2012.06.001 PMID: 22794927
- 49. Akcay N, Bor M, Karabudak T, Ozdemir F, Turkan I (2012) Contribution of Gamma amino butyric acid (GABA) to salt stress responses of Nicotiana sylvestris CMSII mutant and wild type plants. J Plant Physiol 169: 452–458. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db= PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=22189426. doi: 10.1016/j.jplph.2011.11.006 PMID: 22189426

13/14

- 50. Díaz P, Betti M, García-Calderón M, Pérez-Delgado CM, Signorelli S, et al. (2014) Amino Acids and Drought Stress in Lotus: Use of Transcriptomics and Plastidic Glutamine Synthetase Mutants for New Insights in Proline Metabolism. Amino Acids and Drought Stress in Lotus. pp. 53–67.
- Foyer CH, Descourvières P, Kunert KJ (1994) Protection against oxygen radicals: an important defence mechanism studied in transgenic plants. Plant Cell Environ 17: 507–523.
- Büssis D, Heineke D (1998) Acclimation of potato plants to polyethylene glycol-induced water deficit. II. Contents and subcellular distribution of organic solutes. J Exp Bot 49: 1361–1370.
- 53. Polle A (1997) Defense against Photooxidative Damage in Plants. In: Scandalios JG, editor. Oxidative stress and the molecular biology of antioxidant defenses. North Carolina State University, Raleigh: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- 54. Dat J, Vandenabeele S, Vranova E, Van Montagu M, Inze D, et al. (2000) Dual action of the active oxygen species during plant stress responses. Cell Mol Life Sci 57: 779–795. Available: http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=10892343. PMID: 10892343
- Neill S, Desikan R, Hancock J (2002) Hydrogen peroxide signalling. Curr Opin Plant Biol 5: 388–395. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=12183176. PMID: 12183176
- Sharma S, Villamor JG, Versules PE (2011) Essential Role of Tissue-Specific Proline Synthesis and Catabolism in Growth and Redox Balance at Low Water Potential. Plant Phys 157.
- Dover S, Halpern YS (1972) Control of the pathway of -aminobutyrate breakdown in Escherichia coli K-12. J Bacteriol 110: 165–170. PMID: 4552985
- Dover S, Halpern YS (1972) Utilization of -aminobutyric acid as the sole carbon and nitrogen source by Escherichia coli K-12 mutants. J Bacteriol 109: 835–843. PMID: 4550821
- 59. Fait A, Fromm H, Walter D, Galili G, Fernie AR (2008) Highway or byway: the metabolic role of the GABA shunt in plants. Trends Plant Sci 13: 14–19. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/ query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=18155636. PMID: 18155636
- Fait A, Angelovici R, Less H, Ohad I, Urbanczyk-Wochniak E, et al. (2006) Arabidopsis seed development and germination is associated with temporally distinct metabolic switches. Plant Physiol 142: 839–854. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=16963520. PMID: 16963520
- Poole P, Allaway D (2000) Carbon and nitrogen metabolism in Rhizobium. Adv Microb Physiol 43: 117–163. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt= Citation&list_uids=10907556. PMID: 10907556
- 62. Sweetlove LJ, Heazlewood JL, Herald V, Holtzapffel R, Day DA, et al. (2002) The impact of oxidative stress on Arabidopsis mitochondria. Plant J 32: 891–904. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=12492832. PMID: 12492832

IV. La prolina en la protección frente al daño nitrosativo

Cada año se publican trabajos que hacen referencia a la prolina como antioxidante. En muchos de ellos se la considera como un antioxidante no enzimático de bajo peso molecular, en la misma categoría que el glutatión y el ácido ascórbico (Bandurska et al., 2013; Dinakar et al., 2009; Erdal, 2012; Filippou et al., 2014; Huang et al., 2014; Iqbal et al., 2014; Sekmen et al., 2014; Semida and Rady, 2014; Wilson et al., 2014). En un trabajo publicado en PNAS Chen and Dickman (2005) proponen que la prolina es un potente antioxidante. Sin embargo el hecho de que la prolina no reaccione con el ¹O₂, una especie más reactiva que la mayoría de ROS/RNS, pone en cuestionamiento dicha capacidad antioxidante. Además también hay evidencias de que la prolina tiene poca reactividad con el peroxinitrito (Alvarez et al., 1999), pero estas evidencias no han sido consideradas en el campo de las plantas.

En el artículo que se presenta a continuación, que fue enviado para su publicación en *Annals of Botany*, se puso en evidencia que la prolina no protege frente al O_2^{--} , 'NO, ONOO⁻ y 'NO₂. Estos resultados sumados a los del ${}^{1}O_{2}$, nos permiten demostrar que el rol antioxidante que se le asigna a la prolina es marginal y sólo se limita a la protección frente al OH.

De todas formas no descarta que la acumulación de prolina pueda contribuir en la protección frente al daño oxidativo, algo que está propuesto en muchos trabajos.

En el trabajo se busca aclarar que este efecto es poco probable que se deba a un rol antioxidante directo y se discuten distintos mecanismos por los cuales la acumulación de prolina contribuye a aliviar el daño oxidativo.

Type of article: Research in context

Title: Proline is not directly involved in protection against nitro-oxidative damage mediated by superoxide, nitric oxide and peroxynitrite

Authors: Santiago Signorelli^{1*}, Francisco J. Corpas², Omar Borsani¹, Jorge Monza¹

¹Laboratorio de Bioquímica, Departamento de Biología Vegetal, Facultad de Agronomía, Universidad de la República, CP 12900 Montevideo, Uruguay.
²Group of Antioxidants, Free Radicals and Nitric Oxide in Biotechnology, Food and Agriculture, Department of Biochemistry, Cell and Molecular Biology of Plants, Estación Experimental del Zaidín, CSIC, Apartado 419, E-18080 Granada, Spain.

* Corresponding author: e-mail: ssignorelli@fagro.edu.uy, Tel/Fax: (598) 23553938 / (598) 23562037.

Running Title: Proline is not directly involved in protection against O_2^{-} , 'NO and $ONOO^{-}$

Abstract

- Background and Aims: Proline (Pro) is accumulated in plants exposed to diverse types of stresses. In many of these stresses there is a nitro-oxidative component and for that reason, Pro has been considered to have antioxidant properties. This study evaluates whether Pro has the capacity to protect proteins against peroxynitrite, a molecule with a strong oxidant capacity which can mediate protein nitration.
- Methods: *Lotus japonicus* leaf samples were exposed to SIN-1 (3-morpholinosydnonimine), as peroxynitrite donor, in the presence and absence of 100 mM Pro. We measured the activity of NADP-dependent isocitrate dehydrogenase (NADP-ICDH), an identified protein susceptible to be nitrated, and the protein nitration profile.
- Key Results: The presence of 100 mM Pro did not prevent enzymatic activity decay, suggesting that Pro did not protect against peroxynitrite. The protein nitration profile was not modified in presence of 100 mM Pro. However, the presence of 1 mM urate, a peroxynitrite scavenger, prevented protein nitration evidenced by NADP-ICDH activity and protein nitration profile.
- Conclusion: Pro is not an efficient scavenger of peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻), superoxide (O₂⁻⁻), nitric oxide (*NO) and nitrogen dioxide (*NO₂), revealing that this amino acid cannot protect against many ROS/RNS as has been extensively proposed.

Keywords

Antioxidant; scavenger; ROS; RNS; plant stress; proline; nitro-oxidative stress; superoxide; nitric oxide; peroxynitrite

Introduction

Plants subjected to environmental stresses overproduce reactive oxygen species (ROS) and a family of nitric oxide ('NO) derived molecules, called reactive nitrogen species (RNS). When this overproduction occurs, nitro-oxidative damage and programmed cell death takes place (Corpas and Barroso, 2013; Serrano et al., 2012). In particular, 'NO and superoxide (O_2^{\bullet}) are rapidly combined to form peroxynitrite which is a potent oxidant molecule. In biological conditions the anionic form of peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) coexists with its conjugated acid form (ONOOH), with a pKa \sim 6.8 (Carballal et al., 2014). Usually the term peroxynitrite refers to both peroxynitrite anion (ONOO⁻) and peroxynitrous acid (ONOOH) (Radi, 2012). Peroxynitrous acid spontaneously produces hydroxyl radical ('OH) and nitrogen dioxide ('NO₂) by homolysis (Beckman et al., 1990). The presence of peroxynitrite in plant cells leads to protein nitration, by modification of tyrosine (Tyr) residues into 3-nitrotyrosine (Corpas et al., 2007), and nitration of unsaturated lipids producing nitroalkenes (Fazzari et al., 2014). On the one hand, it was demonstrated that protein nitration, developed in plants exposed to diverse abiotic/biotic stresses, can lead to the inactivation of specific proteins such as ferredoxin-NADP reductase (Chaki et al., 2011a), carbonic anhydrase (Chaki et al., 2013), NADP-isocitrate dehydrogenase (NADP-ICDH) (Begara-Morales et al., 2013), NADH hydroxypyruvate reductase (Corpas and Barroso, 2013), superoxide dismutase (Mn- and CuZn-SOD) (Holzmeister et al. in press) and ascorbate peroxidase (Begara-Morales et al., 2014). On the other hand, plants accumulate proline (Pro) in response to many stress conditions, such as salinity, drought, heavy metals or UV-radiation, among others, reaching a concentration of over 160 mM (Barnnet and Naylor, 1966; Büssis and Heineke, 1998; Szabados and Savouré, 2010). Several hypotheses have been proposed to explain the role of Pro under stress (Dinakar et al., 2009; Kavi Kishor and Sreenivasulu, 2014; Rejeb et al., 2014; Szabados and Savouré, 2010). Some of them

were put forward trying to find a link between Pro and ROS/RNS as both are

produced upon exposure to stress conditions. Along that line of thought, it was

hypothesized that Pro acts as an antioxidant which could protect biomolecules from oxidative damage. Nowadays, it is known that some reactive species, like H₂O₂, O₂⁻ and 'NO produce accumulation of Pro by inducing the expression of Pro biosynthetic genes and repressing its catabolic genes (Rejeb et al., 2014).

Through different in vitro assays Pro was suggested to have antioxidant properties. In 1989, Pro was shown to be an effective 'OH scavenger by protecting against enzyme inactivation (Smirnoff and Cumbes, 1989). Later, it was proposed to have a protective role against singlet oxygen (¹O₂) (Alia et al., 2001, 1991). Then through an *in vivo* assay, Pro was proposed to have a potent antioxidant activity in yeast cells (Chen and Dickman, 2005). Using Arabidopsis knockout mutants for p5cs1, the osmotic inducible gene of Pro biosynthesis, it was observed that the imposition of salt stress produces greater accumulation of H₂O₂ and lipid peroxidation than that observed in wt plants (Szekely et al., 2008). These kinds of works raise the following question: Is Pro playing a role as an antioxidant by reacting with reactive species or through the protection or induction of detoxifying enzymes during stress? None of these properties have been unequivocally demonstrated yet (Trovato et al. 2008; Szabados and Savouré 2010; Signorelli et al. 2013a). Moreover, in case Pro acts as an antioxidant, why is there limited information about the reactivity of Pro and reactive species? Nevertheless, far from being questioned, every year many research papers consider or refer to Pro as a non-enzymatic low molecular weight antioxidant, in the same category as glutathione and ascorbic acid (Bandurska et al., 2013; Erdal, 2012; Huang et al., 2014; Semida and Rady, 2014; Wilson et al., 2014).

Because of the absence of new and direct evidence on the protective role of Pro against reactive species and the mechanisms of reaction, very recently we evaluated the mechanisms in which Pro reacts with 'OH and the products formed. The results revealed that proline can contribute to the scavenging of 'OH by a Pro-Pro cycle without consumption of Pro (Signorelli et al., 2014). Also it was showed that when 'OH attack to Pro by H-abstraction from the amine group, produces the decarboxylation of Pro and the product formed could contribute to the accumulation of GABA (Signorelli et al. in press). Along those lines, we also evaluated the mechanism in which Pro could react with ${}^{1}O_{2}$ and surprisingly we found that Pro does not quench ${}^{1}O_{2}$ (Signorelli et al. 2013*a*) as was considered for many years. Taking into account that after 'OH, ${}^{1}O_{2}$ is the second most reactive specie compared with other ROS/RNS, this finding makes the role of Pro as scavenger of other ROS/RNS less reactive than 'OH questionable.

In this work, we evaluated the potential protective role of Pro against peroxynitrite, O_2^{\bullet} , 'NO and 'NO₂. Our results indicate that Pro does not protect against these reactive species, suggesting that the role of Pro as a general antioxidant needs to be reconsidered.

Materials and Methods

Plant material and crude extracts

Lotus japonicus (Regel) Larsen cv. Gifu seeds were obtained from Ing. Agr. M. Rebuffo, INIA La Estanzuela, Uruguay. Plants were grown as described in Signorelli et al. (2013*b*). Leaf samples were collected and pooled from the first to the seventh expanded leaf. Then, leaves were frozen in liquid N₂ and ground in a mortar with a pestle. The powder was suspended in a homogenizing medium composed of 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 0.1 mM ethylene diamine tetra-acetic acid (EDTA), 5 mM dithiothreitol (DTT) and 0.2% (v/v) glycerol. Homogenates were centrifuged at 20,000 x *g* for 20 min (4°C) and supernatants were used immediately for assays. Samples were passed through a desalting NAP-10 column (General Electric®) to remove low molecular weight compounds.

Protection against protein nitration by Pro: treatments with SIN-1

The molecule SIN-1 (3-morpholinosydnonimine) being a protein-nitrating compound, has been demonstrated to generate equimolar amounts of 'NO and O_2^{+} , which reacts immediately to produce peroxynitrite (Daiber et al., 2004). Leaf extracts were incubated at 37 °C for 2 h with 0, 0.5 and 2.0 mM SIN-1 (Calbiochem) freshly made up before use. To evaluate the potential protecting effect of Pro, leaf samples incubated with SIN-1 were also supplemented with 100 mM Pro. As scavenger control, treated leaf samples with SIN-1 were also supplemented with 1 mM urate (Alamillo and García-Olmedo, 2001). All the samples were passed again through

desalting NAP-10 column to avoid any interference of SIN-1, Pro or urate with the following assays.

Immune-detection of protein nitration

Leaf samples (30 µg of protein) were separated by SDS-PAGE according to the method of Laemmli (Laemmli, 1970) in 12 % acrylamide slab gels (6 % for stacking). One gel was used to determine the protein load by staining with Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250. For Western blot analysis, proteins were transferred to PVDF membranes with a semi-dry Trans-Blot cell (BioRad). Then, membranes were used in cross-reactivity assays with a commercial rabbit polyclonal antibody against 3-nitrotyrosine (SIGMA) diluted 1:3000. For immuno-detection, an affinity-purified goat anti-(rabbit IgG)-horseradish peroxidase conjugate (Bio-Rad) and an enhanced chemiluminescence kit (Clarity Western ECL, Bio-Rad) were used. For detection of chemiluminescence on the membrane a digital imager was used (scanner C-DiGit, Li-Cor).

NADP-dependent isocitrate dehydrogenase activity assay

NADP-ICDH (EC 1.1.1.42) activity was determined spectrophotometrically by recording the reduction of NADP⁺ at 340 nm. The assay was performed with the different treatments, at 25 °C in a reaction medium containing 50 mM HEPES, pH 7.6, 2 mM MgCl₂, 0.8 mM NADP⁺. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 10 mM 2R,3S-isocitrate as substrate (Leterrier et al., 2007). Protein concentration was determined using the Bio-Rad protein assay using BSA as standard.

Statistical analysis

An analysis of variance was performed with data from at least three independent experiments, and means from the results of experiments were compared using Tukey's test at the $p \le 0.05$ level.

Results

To evaluate whether Pro can act as antioxidant and protect against protein nitration, *L. japonicus* leaf extracts were incubated with SIN-1, as peroxynitrite donor, in presence and absence of 100 mM Pro (Fig. 1).



NO₂-Tyr-Protein

Figure 1. Hypothetical protection of Pro to protein nitration. In the scheme we summarize the experimental design to evaluate the capacity of Pro to prevent the process of protein nitration. The molecule SIN-1 (3-morpholinosydnonimine) generates equimolar amounts of 'NO and O_2 - which react to produce peroxynitrite, a strong oxidant molecule which can mediate nitration of tyrosine residues of proteins (NO₂-Tyr-Protein). Urate is used as control because it is a recognized peroxynitrite scavenger.

Recently, the enzyme NADP-ICDH was detected to be a target of nitration and it was demonstrated that this process caused an activity inhibition (Begara-Morales et al., 2013). Therefore, this enzyme activity was measured to evaluate the potential protective effect of Pro on a specific protein. Figure 2 depicts the inhibitory effect of peroxynitrite on NADP-ICDH activity that ranges from 24 % with 0.5 mM SIN-1 to 68 % with 2 mM SIN-1. When 100 mM Pro was added activity also was inhibited, 24 % of inhibition with 0.5 mM SIN-1 and 55 % with 2 mM SIN-1. The addition of 1 mM urate, which is well-known as a peroxynitrite scavenger, was enough to prevent the inhibitory effect of SIN-1 on NADP-ICDH activity (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. NADP-ICDH activity. Leaf samples were incubated with SIN-1 (0.5 or 2 mM) at 37 °C for 2 h in the absence or presence of 100 mM Pro or 1 mM urate. The specific activity of NADP-ICDH without any treatment (C, 100% activity) was 8.2 nmol NADPH . min⁻¹. mg^{-1} protein. Data are means \pm SD of at least three replicates. Same letters indicate that no statistically significant differences (P < 0.05).

Considering that Pro could not prevent the inactivation of NADP-ICDH activity, we evaluated the protein nitration profile to observe if this phenomenon occurred to all proteins. Because the inhibitor effects were greater at 2 mM SIN-1, we chose this concentration to perform the immunoblot analysis of leaf samples probed with an antibody against 3-nitrotyrosine. The addition of SIN-1 caused a significant increase in protein nitration (Fig. 3, upper panel) and the addition of 100 mM Pro did not reduce it (Fig. 3, upper panel). In contrast, the addition of 1 mM urate to samples treated with SIN-1 clearly showed a protective effect against protein nitration since no immunoreactive bands were detected (Fig. 3, upper panel). The protein profile indicating an equal sample loading is shown in Figure 3 (lower panel).



Anti-nitrotyrosine

Figure 3. Immunoblot analysis of *L. japonicus* **protein extract with an antibody against nitrotyrosine.** Upper panel, protein nitration profile obtained by incubation of leaf protein samples with SIN-1 (peroxynitrite donor) in the presence and absence of 100 mM Pro or 1 mM urate. Lower panel, loading control of proteins stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250.

Discussion

Under certain stress conditions such as salinity or drought, higher plants can synthesize high levels of Pro in the milimolar range (Szabados and Savouré, 2010; Trovato et al., 2008). Considering that many of these stresses have a nitro-oxidative stress component, Pro has been suggested to have an antioxidant role (Bandurska et al., 2013; Dinakar et al., 2009; Erdal, 2012; Filippou et al., 2014; Huang et al., 2014; Iqbal et al., 2014; Sekmen et al., 2014; Semida and Rady, 2014; Wilson et al., 2014). We evaluated whether Pro can protect plant proteins against tyrosine nitration mediated by peroxynitrite, a NO-derived molecule which is a strong oxidant molecule (Arasimowicz-Jelonek and Floryszak-Wieczorek, 2011; Ischiropoulos, 2003; Radi, 2004).

The molecule SIN-1 (3-morpholinosydnonimine) has been demonstrated to generate equimolar amounts of 'NO and O_2^{\bullet} , which reacts rapidly to produce peroxynitrite (Fig. 4) (Daiber et al., 2004). The use of SIN-1 is better considered than the direct use of peroxynitrite because it is more representative of a cellular context where 'NO and O_2^{\bullet} are present to form peroxynitrite.

Our results showed that NADP-ICDH activity was reduced by the addition of 0.5 and 2 mM SIN-1 (Fig. 2) which is in concordance with results observed for NADP-ICDH of pea (Begara-Morales et al., 2013). When the leaf sample was incubated simultaneously with SIN-1 and 100 mM Pro, the inhibitory effect of SIN-1 was not prevented (Fig. 2). As Pro could not prevent NADP-ICDH inactivation, this result suggests that Pro does not have a protective role against nitration.

Because nitration does not occur by direct reaction of peroxynitrite and proteins we will described the nitration mechanism in order to analyse the putative scenarios in which Pro could establish a relationship with ROS/RNS (Fig. 4).

The anionic form of peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) is in equilibrium with its conjugated acid form (ONOOH) which decays by homolytic cleavage to 'NO₂ and 'OH with a rate constant of 0.9 s⁻¹ (Fig. 4, *k*b) (Ferrer-Sueta and Radi, 2009). In our experimental conditions, pH 7.4 and 37°C, peroxynitrite anion will be present in a proportion of 80% (Carballal et al., 2014). This form reacts with CO₂ with a rate constant of 1.6 × $10^4 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ (Fig. 4, *k*c), at that temperature, and can yield CO₃⁻⁻ and 'NO₂ (Denicola et al., 1996a). The radicals 'NO₂, 'OH, and CO₃⁻⁻ produced from peroxynitrite can react with Tyr residues to produce the tyrosyl radical ('Tyr) whit rate constants of 3.2 × $10^5 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$, $6.5 \times 10^8 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ and $4.5 \times 10^7 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$, respectively (Fig. 4, *k*c, *k*d and *k*e) (Radi, 2012). Once 'Tyr is produced through any of these pathways, a 'NO₂ can be added to form 3-nitrotyrosine with a rate constant of $3.0 \times 10^9 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ (Fig. 4, *k*g) (Radi, 2012). Uric acid rapidly reacts with 'OH and 'NO₂, with rate constants of $1.0 \times 10^9 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ and $1.8 \times 10^7 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$, respectively (Simic and Jovanovic, 1989) and therefore it can completely inhibit protein nitration (Fig. 4, Uric acid).

Our results demonstrated large amounts of Pro (100 mM) cannot prevent protein nitration in crude extracts of *L. japonicus* leaves (Fig. 3). If Pro reacted directly with peroxynitrite it would reduce protein nitration by reducing the formation of 'OH, CO_3 ' and 'NO₂ (Fig. 4, Scenario 1). Since it did not happen (Fig. 2 and 3) we conclude that Pro does not react efficiently with peroxynitrite, and this result is in accordance with *in vitro* assays which showed that Pro had poor reactivity with peroxynitrite (Alvarez et al., 1999).

Considering that Pro reacts with 'OH with a rate constant of $4.8 \times 10^8 \text{ M}^{-1}\text{s}^{-1}$ (Davies, 2005), half of that of uric acid, formation of 'Tyr by 'OH would be reduced, explaining the slight reduction in protein nitration observed in presence of Pro (Fig. 3). However, in case Pro does not react with CO₃⁻⁻ or 'NO₂, 'Tyr will be formed and a 'NO₂ could be added to it, unless Pro reacts with 'NO₂. Because nitration is observed in presence of Pro, we concluded that Pro does not protect against 'NO₂ and so Scenario 2 of figure 4 is unlikely to happen.



Figure 4. Putative scenarios to analyse protection against RNS/ROS by Pro. At the top we represented the Tyr nitration mechanism by SIN-1 in absence of scavengers. ka, 4.3 x $10^9M^{-1} s^{-1}$; kb, 0.9 s⁻¹; kc, $1.6 \times 10^4 M^{-1} s^{-1}$; kd, $3.2 \times 10^5 M^{-1} s^{-1}$ for 'NO₂ and Tyr; ke, $6.5 \times 10^8 M^{-1} s^{-1}$ for 'OH and Tyr; kf, $4.5 \times 10^7 M^{-1} s^{-1}$ for CO₃. and Tyr; kg, $3.0 \times 10^9 M^{-1} s^{-1}$. Uric acid protection of Tyr niration by scavenging of 'NO₂ and 'OH (marked in green). Below we represented four putative scenarios in which Pro could avoid nitration of Tyr by the scavenging of different molecules (marked in red). Scenario 1, if Pro reacted with peroxynitrite the formation of radicals compounds that form 'Tyr would be reduced. Scenario 2, if Pro reacted with 'NO₂, nitration of 'Tyr would be reduced. Scenario 3, if Pro scavenged 'NO, formation of peroxynitrite would be reduced.

Finally, although O_2^{-} and 'NO react very fast, with a rate constant of 4.3 x $10^9 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ (Fig. 4, *k*a) (Goldstein and Czapski, 1995), the concentration of these molecules in this experiment cannot reach more than the μ M range, while Pro concentration is 100 mM (at least 1000-fold grater). So a hypothetical rate constant for the reaction of Pro

and these molecules in the order of $10^6 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ would compete with the formation of peroxynitrite. Several plant phenols such as delphinidin, epicatechingallate, myricetin, rutin, quercetin, gallic acid and proanthocyanidins have rate constants for reaction with O₂[•] greater than $10^6 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$, i.e. $2.9 \times 10^7 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ for proanthocyanidins (Taubert et al., 2003). A good scavenger of O₂[•] or 'NO, like the molecules mentioned above, would reduce the formation of peroxynitrite and eventually protein nitration (Fig. 4, Scenario 3 and 4 respectively). So as Pro could not prevent protein nitration, we can conclude that Pro does not have the capacity to protect against neither O₂^{•-} or 'NO. This partly explains the absence of evidence for rate constants between O₂^{•-} or 'NO and Pro at physiological conditions.

In accordance with the results of our *in vitro* assay, *in vivo* experiments were carried out to elucidate the protective mechanisms of Pro against saline stress (NaCl 200 mM), revealing that exogenous Pro (20 mM) did not change O₂^{•-} or 'NO levels in tobacco Bright Yellow-2 cells (Banu et al., 2010).

In summary, our work shows that Pro does not prevent protein nitration and only would contribute to reduce 'OH toxicity. In a plant cellular context there are many low molecular weight compounds which can also react non-specifically with 'OH. In this assay low molecular weight compounds of crude extract were removed maximizing the protective role of Pro against 'OH. In addition, peroxynitrite *in vivo* can react directly with several molecules with relatively high rate constants, much higher than the homolysis rate constant, so that the contribution of the 'OH pathway to peroxynitrite toxicity in a cellular context is minimal, and it is considered that most peroxynitrite will react before homolyzing (Alvarez and Radi, 2003). These facts reveal that the cellular context poses a greater challenge for Pro than *in vitro* experiments to prevent protein nitration.

Instead, it is known that Pro contributes to maintaining an adequate redox balance (Sharma et al., 2011). Its biosynthesis generates NADP⁺, which can be used as final acceptor of electrons in the photosynthetic electron chain (Hare et al., 1998). Also the Pro-Pro cycle, produced in the scavenging of 'OH by Pro, contributes to NADP⁺ regeneration (Signorelli et al., 2014). In this way, increased availability of NADP⁺ by

140

Pro accumulation would reduce ROS formation by photosynthetic electron leakage. Lower production of ROS in chloroplasts would result in lower damage of the photosynthetic machinery and therefore in greater tolerance to the stress condition. In contrast, Pro accumulation is known to activate the Pro-P5C cycle which produces ROS by electron leakage in mitochondria (Miller et al., 2009). However, recent evidence suggested that the production of ROS via activation of Pro-P5C cycle may induce antioxidant enzymes giving more tolerance to stress conditions (Khavari-Nejad et al., 2013).

Returning to our question, we consider that it is more likely that Pro accumulation alleviates oxidative damage due to reduction of ROS production in chloroplasts and/or the induction of antioxidant enzymes than because it has antioxidant properties.

Conclusions

Briefly, Pro is not an efficient scavenger of peroxynitrite, 'NO, O₂⁻⁻ and 'NO₂. Further investigation will be required to understand how Pro accumulation can mitigate oxidative damage in stress conditions, either by reducing ROS formation or inducing the expression of antioxidant enzyme genes but not as a general antioxidant.

Funding

This work was supported by Program for Basic Science Development (PEDECIBA) and Sectorial Commission of Scientific Research (CSIC, Uruguay). S.S., O.B. and J.M. are active members of the National System of Researchers (SNI, Uruguay).

Acknowledgments

We thank to Dr. Mariana Sotelo and MSc. Paola Gaiero for the critical reading of the manuscript.

Literature cited

Airaki, M., Sanchez-Moreno, L., Leterrier, M., Barroso, J.B., Palma, J.M., Corpas, F.J., 2011. Detection and quantification of S-nitrosoglutathione (GSNO) in pepper (Capsicum annuum L.) plant organs by LC-ES/MS. Plant Cell Physiol. 52, 2006–2015. doi:pcr133 [pii] 10.1093/pcp/pcr133

- Alamillo, J.M., García-Olmedo, F., 2001. Effects of urate, a natural inhibitor of peroxynitrite-mediated toxicity, in the response of Arabidopsis thaliana to the bacterial pathogen Pseudomonas syringae. Plant J. 25, 529–540. doi:10.1046/j.1365-313x.2001.00984.x
- Al-ghamdi, A.A., 2009. Evaluation of oxidative stress tolerance in two wheat (Triticum aestivum) cultivars in response to drought. Int. J. Agr. Biol. 11, 7–12.
- Alia, Mohanty, P., Matysik, J., 2001. Effect of proline on the production of singlet oxygen. Amino Acids 21, 195–200.
- Alia, Saradhi, P.P., Mohanty, P., 1991. Proline enhances primary photochemical activities in isolated thylakoid membranes of Brassica juncea by arresting photoinhibitory damage. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 181, 1238–1244.
- Al-Sulaiti, A., Blackewell, R., Lea, P., Davies, W., 1990. Capacity for proline accumulation during water deficit and its relation with growth of barley photorepiratory mutants. J. Exp. Bot. 41, 4–14.
- Alvarez, B., Ferrer-Sueta, G., Freeman, B. a, Radi, R., 1999. Kinetics of peroxynitrite reaction with amino acids and human serum albumin. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 842–8.
- Alvarez, B., Radi, R., 2003. Peroxynitrite reactivity with amino acids and proteins. Amino Acids 25, 295–311. doi:10.1007/s00726-003-0018-8
- Arasimowicz-Jelonek, M., Floryszak-Wieczorek, J., 2011. Understanding the fate of peroxynitrite in plant cells--from physiology to pathophysiology. Phytochemistry 72, 681–688. doi:S0031-9422(11)00115-4 [pii] 10.1016/j.phytochem.2011.02.025
- Armengaud, P., Breitling, R., Amtmann, A., 2004. The potassium-dependent transcriptome of Arabidopsis reveals a prominent role of jasmonic acid in nutrient signaling. Plant Physiol. 136, 2556–2576. doi:10.1104/pp.104.046482
- Asada, K., 1999. The water-water cycle in chloroplast: scavenging of active oxygens and dissipation of excess photons. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 50, 601–639. doi:10.1146/annurev.arplant.50.1.601
- Bandurska, H., Niedziela, J., Chadzinikolau, T., 2013. Separate and combined responses to water deficit and UV-B radiation. Plant Sci. doi:10.1016/j.plantsci.2013.09.003
- Banu, M.N.A., Hoque, M.A., Watanabe-Sugimoto, M., Islam, M.M., Uraji, M., Matsuoka, K., Nakamura, Y., Murata, Y., 2010. Proline and glycinebetaine ameliorated NaCl stress via scavenging of hydrogen peroxide and methylglyoxal but not superoxide or nitric oxide in

tobacco cultured cells. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 74, 2043–2049. doi:10.1271/bbb.100334

- Barnnet, J., Naylor, A., 1966. Amino acid and protein metabolism in bermuda grass during water stress. Plant Physiol. 11, 1222–1230.
- Barroso, J.B., Corpas, F.J., Carreras, A., Rodriguez-Serrano, M., Esteban, F.J.,
 Fernandez-Ocana, A., Chaki, M., Romero-Puertas, M.C., Valderrama, R., Sandalio, L.M.,
 del Rio, L.A., 2006. Localization of S-nitrosoglutathione and expression of
 S-nitrosoglutathione reductase in pea plants under cadmium stress. J. Exp. Bot. 57,
 1785–1793. doi:erj175 [pii] 10.1093/jxb/erj175
- Batthyany, C., Souza, J.M., Duran, R., Cassina, A., Cervenansky, C., Radi, R., 2005. Time course and site(s) of cytochrome c tyrosine nitration by peroxynitrite. Biochemistry 44, 8038–8046. doi:10.1021/bi0474620
- Beckman, J.S., Beckman, T.W., Chen, J., Marshall, P.A., Freeman, B.A., 1990. Apparent hydroxyl radical production by peroxynitrite: implications for endothelial injury from nitric oxide and superoxide. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 87, 1620–1624.
- Begara-Morales, J.C., Chaki, M., Sanchez-Calvo, B., Mata-Perez, C., Leterrier, M., Palma, J.M., Barroso, J.B., Corpas, F.J., 2013. Protein tyrosine nitration in pea roots during development and senescence. J. Exp. Bot. 64, 1121–1134. doi:ert006 [pii] 10.1093/jxb/ert006
- Begara-Morales, J.C., Sanchez-Calvo, B., Chaki, M., Valderrama, R., Mata-Perez, C., Lopez-Jaramillo, J., Padilla, M.N., Carreras, A., Corpas, F.J., Barroso, J.B., 2014. Dual regulation of cytosolic ascorbate peroxidase (APX) by tyrosine nitration and S-nitrosylation. J Exp Bot 65, 527–538. doi:ert396 [pii] 10.1093/jxb/ert396
- Bohnert, H.J., Nelson, D.E., Jensen, R.G., 1995. Adaptations to environmental stresses. Plant Cell 7, 1099–1111.
- Bonnecarrere, V., Borsani, O., Diaz, P., Capdevielle, F., Blanco, P., Monza, J., 2011. Response to photoxidative stress induced by cold in japonica rice is genotype dependent. Plant Sci. 180, 726–732. doi:S0168-9452(11)00042-2 [pii] 10.1016/j.plantsci.2011.01.023
- Boyer, J., 1982. Plant productivity and environment. Science (80-.). 218.
- Bray, E.A., 1997. Plant responses to water deficit. Tredns Plant Sci. 2, 48-54.
- Bray, E.A., Bailey-Serres, J., Weretilnyk, E., 2000. Responses to abiotic stresses, in: Buchanan,
 B.B., Gruissem, W., Jones, R.L. (Eds.), Biochemistry and Molecular Biology of Plants:
 American Society of Plant Physiologists. USA, pp. 1158–1203.

- Büssis, D., Heineke, D., 1998. Acclimation of potato plants to polyethylene glycol-induced water deficit. II. Contents and subcellular distribution of organic solutes. J. Exp. Bot. 49, 1361–1370.
- Carballal, S., Bartesaghi, S., Radi, R., 2014. Kinetic and mechanistic considerations to assess the biological fate of peroxynitrite. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1840, 768–80. doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2013.07.005
- Chaki, M., Carreras, A., López-Jaramillo, J., Begara-Morales, J.C., Sánchez-Calvo, B., Valderrama, R., Corpas, F.J., Barroso, J.B., 2013. Tyrosine nitration provokes inhibition of sunflower carbonic anhydrase (β-CA) activity under high temperature stress. Nitric Oxide 29, 30–33.
- Chaki, M., Valderrama, R., Fernandez-Ocana, A.M., Carreras, A., Gomez-Rodriguez, M. V, Lopez-Jaramillo, J., Begara-Morales, J.C., Sanchez-Calvo, B., Luque, F., Leterrier, M., Corpas, F.J., Barroso, J.B., 2011a. High temperature triggers the metabolism of S-nitrosothiols in sunflower mediating a process of nitrosative stress which provokes the inhibition of ferredoxin-NADP reductase by tyrosine nitration. Plant Cell Environ. 34, 1803–1818. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3040.2011.02376.x
- Chaki, M., Valderrama, R., Fernandez-Ocana, A.M., Carreras, A., Gomez-Rodriguez, M. V, Pedrajas, J.R., Begara-Morales, J.C., Sanchez-Calvo, B., Luque, F., Leterrier, M., Corpas, F.J., Barroso, J.B., 2011b. Mechanical wounding induces a nitrosative stress by down-regulation of GSNO reductase and an increase in S-nitrosothiols in sunflower (Helianthus annuus) seedlings. J. Exp. Bot. 62, 1803–1813. doi:erq358 [pii] 10.1093/jxb/erq358
- Chares, C., Phan, C., 1990. Cold acclimation of wheat (Triticum aestivum):Properties of enzymes involved in proline metabolism. Physiol. Plant. 80, 159–168.
- Chaves, M.M., Flexas, J., Pinheiro, C., 2009. Photosynthesis under drought and salt stress: regulation mechanisms from whole plant to cell. Ann. Bot. 103, 551–560.
- Chen, C., Dickman, M.B., 2005. Proline suppresses apoptosis in the fungal pathogen Colletotrichum trifolii. P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102, 3459–3464. doi:0407960102 [pii] 10.1073/pnas.0407960102
- Chiang, H., Dandekar, M., 1995. Regulation of proline accumulation in Arabidopsis thaliana (L.) Heynh during development and in response to desiccation. Plant Cell Environ. 18, 1280–1290.
- Choi, H.K., Mun, J.H., Kim, D.J., Zhu, H., Baek, J.M., Mudge, J., Roe, B., Ellis, N., Doyle, J., Kiss, G.B., Young, N.D., Cook, D.R., 2004. Estimating genome conservation between crop and model legume species. P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101, 15289–15294. doi:0402251101 [pii] 10.1073/pnas.0402251101
- Choudhary, N.L., Sairam, R.K., Tyagi, A., 2005. Expression of delta1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase gene during drought in rice (Oryza sativa L.). Indian J. Biochem. Bio. 42, 366–370.
- Cornwell, T.L., Ceaser, E.K., Li, J., Marrs, K.L., Darley-Usmar, V.M., Patel, R.P., 2003. S-nitrosothiols inhibit uterine smooth muscle cell proliferation independent of metabolism to NO and cGMP formation. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Ph. 284, C1516–24. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00268.2002 00268.2002 [pii]
- Corpas, F.J., Barroso, J.B., 2013. Nitro-oxidative stress vs oxidative or nitrosative stress in higher plants. New Phytol. 199, 633–635. doi:10.1111/nph.12380
- Corpas, F.J., Barroso, J.B., Sandalio, L.M., Distefano, S., Palma, J.M., Lupianez, J.A., Del Rio, L.A., 1998. A dehydrogenase-mediated recycling system of NADPH in plant peroxisomes. Biochem. J. 330 (Pt 2, 777–784.
- Corpas, F.J., del Rio, L.A., Barroso, J.B., 2007. Need of biomarkers of nitrosative stress in plants. Trends Plant Sci. 12, 436–438. doi:S1360-1385(07)00192-6 [pii] 10.1016/j.tplants.2007.08.013
- Csonka, L.N., Gelvin, S.B., Goodner, B.W., Orser, C.S., Siemieniak, D., Slightom, J.L., 1988. Nucleotide sequence of a mutation in the proB gene of Escherichia coli that confers proline overproduction and enhanced tolerance to osmotic stress. Gene 64, 199–205. doi:10.1016/0378-1119(88)90335-6
- Daiber, A., Oelze, M., August, M., Wendt, M., Sydow, K., Wieboldt, H., Kleschyov, A.L., Munzel, T., 2004. Detection of superoxide and peroxynitrite in model systems and mitochondria by the luminol analogue L-012. Free Radic. Res. 38, 259–269.
- Dat, J., Vandenabeele, S., Vranova, E., Van Montagu, M., Inze, D., Van Breusegem, F., 2000. Dual action of the active oxygen species during plant stress responses. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 57, 779–795.
- Davies, M.J., 2005. The oxidative environment and protein damage. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1703, 93–109. doi:S1570-9639(04)00218-3 [pii] 10.1016/j.bbapap.2004.08.007
- Delauney, A., Verma, D., 1993. Proline biosynthesis and osmoregulation in plants. Plant J. 4, 215–223.
- Denicola, A., Freeman, B.A., Trujillo, M., Radi, R., 1996a. Peroxynitrite reaction with carbon dioxide/bicarbonate: kinetics and influence on peroxynitrite-mediated oxidations. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 333, 49–58. doi:10.1006/abbi.1996.0363

- Denicola, A., Souza, J.M., Radi, R., Lissi, E., 1996b. Nitric oxide diffusion in membranes determined by fluorescence quenching. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 328, 208–212. doi:S0003-9861(96)90162-9 [pii] 10.1006/abbi.1996.0162
- Desikan, R., A.-H.-Mackerness, S., Hancock, J.T., Neill, S.J., 2001. Regulation of the Arabidopsis transcriptome by oxidative stress. Plant Physiol. 127, 159–172.
- Díaz, P., Betti, M., García-Calderón, M., Pérez-Delgado, C.M., Signorelli, S., Borsani, O., Márquez, A.J., Monza, J., 2014. Amino Acids and Drought Stress in Lotus: Use of Transcriptomics and Plastidic Glutamine Synthetase Mutants for New Insights in Proline Metabolism, in: Amino Acids and Drought Stress in Lotus. pp. 53–67.
- Díaz, P., Borsani, O., Márquez, M., Monza, J., 2005. Nitrogen metabolism in relation to drought stress responses in cultivated and model Lotus species. Lotus Newsl. 35, 125–134.
- Dinakar, N., Nagajyothi, P.C., Suresh, S., Damodharam, T., Suresh, C., 2009. Cadmium induced changes on proline, antioxidant enzymes, nitrate and nitrite reductases in Arachis hypogaea L. J. Environ. Biol. 30, 289–294.
- Erdal, S., 2012. Androsterone-induced molecular and physiological changes in maize seedlings in response to chilling stress. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 57, 1–7. doi:10.1016/j.plaphy.2012.04.016
- Fazzari, M., Trostchansky, A., Schopfer, F.J., Salvatore, S.R., Sanchez-Calvo, B., Vitturi, D., Valderrama, R., Barroso, J.B., Radi, R., Freeman, B.A., Rubbo, H., 2014. Olives and olive oil are sources of electrophilic fatty acid nitroalkenes. PLoS One 9, e84884. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0084884 PONE-D-13-35378 [pii]
- Feng, Z., Jin-Kui, G., Ying-Li, Y., W en-Liang, H., Li-Xin, Z., 2004. Changes in pattern of antiozidant enzyma in wheat wxposed to water deficit and rewatering. Acta Physiol. Plant. 26, 345–352.
- Ferrer-Sueta, G., Radi, R., 2009. Chemical biology of peroxynitrite: Kinetics, diffusion, and radicals. ACS Chem. Biol. doi:10.1021/cb800279q
- Filippou, P., Bouchagier, P., Skotti, E., Fotopoulos, V., 2014. Proline and reactive oxygen/nitrogen species metabolism is involved in the tolerant response of the invasive plant species Ailanthus altissima to drought and salinity. Environ. Exp. Bot. 97, 1–10.
- Goldstein, S., Czapski, G., 1995. The reaction of NO. with O2.- and HO2.: a pulse radiolysis study. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 19, 505–510. doi:10.1016/0891-5849(95)00034-U

- Gupta, K.J., Fernie, A.R., Kaiser, W.M., van Dongen, J.T., 2011. On the origins of nitric oxide. Trends Plant Sci. 16, 160–168. doi:S1360-1385(10)00253-0 [pii] 10.1016/j.tplants.2010.11.007
- Halliwell, B., 2006. Reactive species and antioxidants. Redox biology is a fundamental theme of aerobic life. Plant Physiol 141, 312–322. doi:141/2/312 [pii] 10.1104/pp.106.077073
- Hare, P.D., Cress, W.A., van Staden, J., 1997. The involvement of cytokinins in plant responses to environmental stress. Plant Growth Regul. 23, 79–103.
- Hare, P.D., Cress, W.A., Van Staden, J., 1998. Dissecting the roles of osmolyte accumulation during stress. Plant Cell Environ. 21, 535–553.
- Holzmeister, C., Gaupels, F., Geerlof, A., Sarioglu, H., Sattler, M., Durner, J., Lindermayr, C., n.d. Differential inhibition of Arabidopsis superoxide dismutases by peroxynitrite-mediated tyrosine nitration. J. Exp. Bot. doi:10.1093/jxb/eru458
- Hong, Z., Lakkineni, K., Zhang, Z., Verma, D.P., 2000. Removal of feedback inhibition of delta(1)-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase results in increased proline accumulation and protection of plants from osmotic stress. Plant Physiol. 122, 1129–1136.
- Hoque, A., Okuma, E., Banu, N.A., Nakamura, Y., Shimoishim, Y., Murata, Y., 2006.
 Exogenous proline mitigates the detrimental effects of salt stress more than exogenous betaine by increasing antioxidant enzyme activities. J. Plant Physiol. 164, 553–561.
- Hoque, M.A., Banu, M.N.A., Nakamura, Y., Shimoishi, Y., Murata, Y., 2008. Proline and glycinebetaine enhance antioxidant defense and methylglyoxal detoxification systems and reduce NaCl-induced damage in cultured tobacco cells. J. Plant Physiol. 165, 813–824. doi:10.1016/j.jplph.2007.07.013
- Hoque, M.A., Banu, M.N.A., Okuma, E., Amako, K., Nakamura, Y., Shimoishi, Y., Murata, Y., 2007. Exogenous proline and glycinebetaine increase NaCl-induced ascorbate-glutathione cycle enzyme activities, and proline improves salt tolerance more than glycinebetaine in tobacco Bright Yellow-2 suspension-cultured cells. J. Plant Physiol. 164, 1457–1468. doi:10.1016/j.jplph.2006.10.004
- Horton, P., Ruban, A. V., Walters, R.G., 1996. Regulation of light harvesting in green plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. doi:10.1146/annurev.arplant.47.1.655
- Hu, C.A., Delauney, A.J., Verma, D.P., 1992. A bifunctional enzyme (delta 1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase) catalyzes the first two steps in proline biosynthesis in plants. P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 9354–9358.

- Hu, Z.-H., Xu, Y.-N., Jiang, G.-Z., Kuang, T.-Y., 2004. Degradation and inactivation of photosystem I complexes during linear heating. Plant Sci. 166, 1177–1183. doi:10.1016/j.plantsci.2003.12.026
- Huang, C., Wei, G., Jie, Y., Wang, L., Zhou, H., Ran, C., Huang, Z., Jia, H., Anjum, S.A., 2014. Effects of concentrations of sodium chloride on photosynthesis, antioxidative enzymes, growth and fiber yield of hybrid ramie. Plant Phys. Biochem. 76, 86–93.
- Iqbal, N., Umar, S., Khan, N.A., Khan, M.I.R., 2014. A new perspective of phytohormones in salinity tolerance: Regulation of proline metabolism. Environ. Exp. Bot. 100, 34–42.
- Ischiropoulos, H., 2003. Biological selectivity and functional aspects of protein tyrosine nitration. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 305, 776–783. doi:10.1016/S0006-291X(03)00814-3
- Islam, M.M., Hoque, M.A., Okuma, E., Banu, M.N.A., Shimoishi, Y., Nakamura, Y., Murata, Y., 2009. Exogenous proline and glycinebetaine increase antioxidant enzyme activities and confer tolerance to cadmium stress in cultured tobacco cells. J. Plant Physiol. 166, 1587–1597. doi:10.1016/j.jplph.2009.04.002
- Jasid, S., Simontacchi, M., Bartoli, C.G., Puntarulo, S., 2006. Chloroplasts as a nitric oxide cellular source. Effect of reactive nitrogen species on chloroplastic lipids and proteins. Plant Physiol. 142, 1246–1255. doi:pp.106.086918 [pii] 10.1104/pp.106.086918
- Kavi Kishor, P.B., Sangam, S., Amrutha, R.N., Sri Laxmi, P., Naidu, K.R., Rao, K.R.S.S., Rao, S., Reddy, K.J., Theriappan, P., Sreenivasulu, N., 2005. Regulation of proline biosynthesis, degradation, uptake and transport in higher plants: Its implications in plant growth and abiotic stress tolerance. Curr. Sci.
- Kavi Kishor, P.B., Sreenivasulu, N., 2014. Is proline accumulation per se correlated with stress tolerance or is proline homeostasis a more critical issue? Plant Cell Environ. 37, 300–311. doi:10.1111/pce.12157
- Khavari-Nejad, R.A., Shekaste Band, R., Najafi, F., Nabiuni, M., Gharari, Z., 2013. The Role of Pro P5C Cycle in chs Mutants of Arabidopsis under Cold Stress 1. Russ. J. Plant Phys. 60, 375–382. doi:10.1134/S1021443713020106
- Kirkman, H.N., Gaetani, G.F., 2007. Mammalian catalase: a venerable enzyme with new mysteries. Trends Biochem. Sci. 32, 44–50. doi:S0968-0004(06)00320-3 [pii] 10.1016/j.tibs.2006.11.003
- Krishnan, N., Dickman, M.B., Becker, D.F., 2008. Proline modulates the intracellular redox environment and protects mammalian cells against oxidative stress. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 44, 671–681. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2007.10.054

- Laemmli, U.K., 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227, 680–685.
- Lawlor, D.W., Cornic, G., 2002. Photosynthetic carbon assimilation and associated metabolism in relation to water deficits in higher plants. Plant. Cell Environ. 25, 275–294. doi:10.1046/j.0016-8025.2001.00814.x
- León, J., Castillo, M.C., Coego, A., Lozano-Juste, J., Mir, R., 2014. Diverse functional interactions between nitric oxide and abscisic acid in plant development and responses to stress. J. Exp. Bot. doi:10.1093/jxb/ert454
- Leterrier, M., Del Rio, L.A., Corpas, F.J., 2007. Cytosolic NADP-isocitrate dehydrogenase of pea plants: genomic clone characterization and functional analysis under abiotic stress conditions. Free Radic. Res. 41, 191–199. doi:770494063 [pii] 10.1080/10715760601034055
- Lidholm, J., Gustafsson, P., öquist, G., 1987. Photoinhibition of photosynthesis and its recovery in the green alga chlamydomonas reinhardii. Plant Cell Physiol. 28, 1133–1140.
- Lv, W.-T., Lin, B., Zhang, M., Hua, X.-J., 2011. Proline Accumulation Is Inhibitory to Arabidopsis Seedlings during Heat Stress. Plant Physiol. 156, 1921–1933. doi:10.1104/pp.111.175810
- Manai, J., Gouia, H., Corpas, F.J., 2014. Redox and nitric oxide homeostasis are affected in tomato (Solanum lycopersicum) roots under salinity-induced oxidative stress. J. Plant Physiol. 171, 1028–1035. doi:10.1016/j.jplph.2014.03.012
- Marshall, H.E., Stamler, J.S., 2001. Inhibition of NF-kappa B by S-nitrosylation. Biochemistry 40, 1688–1693. doi:bi002239y [pii]
- Mateos, R.M., Bonilla-Valverde, D., del Rio, L.A., Palma, J.M., Corpas, F.J., 2009.
 NADP-dehydrogenases from pepper fruits: effect of maturation. Physiol. Plant. 135, 130–139. doi:PPL1179 [pii] 10.1111/j.1399-3054.2008.01179.x
- Mattioli, R., Costantino, P., Trovato, M., 2009. Proline accumulation in plants: not only stress. Plant Signal. Behav. 4, 1016–1018. doi:10.4161/psb.4.11.9797
- Mattioli, R., Marchese, D., D'Angeli, S., Altamura, M.M., Costantino, P., Trovato, M., 2008. Modulation of intracellular proline levels affects flowering time and inflorescence architecture in Arabidopsis. Plant Mol. Biol. 66, 277–288. doi:10.1007/s11103-007-9269-1
- Matysik, J., Alia, A., Bhalu, B., Mohanty, P., 2002. Molecular mechanisms of quenching of reactive oxygen species by proline under stress in plants. Curr. Sci. 82, 525–532.

- McClaran, M.P., Wei, H., 2014. Recent drought phase in a 73-year record at two spatial scales: Implications for livestock production on rangelands in the Southwestern United States. Agric. For. Meteorol. 197, 40–51. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2014.06.004
- Melis, A., 1999. Photosystem-II damage and repair cycle in chloroplasts: what modulates the rate of photodamage in vivo? Trends Plant Sci. 4, 130–135. doi:10.1016/S1360-1385(99)01387-4
- Miller, G., Honig, A., Stein, H., Suzuki, N., Mittler, R., Zilberstein, A., 2009. Unraveling delta1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate-proline cycle in plants by uncoupled expression of proline oxidation enzymes. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 26482–26492. doi:M109.009340 [pii] 10.1074/jbc.M109.009340
- Miller, G., Shulaev, V., Mittler, R., 2008. Reactive oxygen signaling and abiotic stress. Physiol. Plant. 133, 481–9. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3054.2008.01090.x
- Mittler, R., Vanderauwera, S., Suzuki, N., Miller, G., Tognetti, V.B., Vandepoele, K., Gollery, M., Shulaev, V., Van Breusegem, F., 2011. ROS signaling: the new wave? Trends Plant Sci. 16, 300–9. doi:10.1016/j.tplants.2011.03.007
- Molassiotis, A., Tanou, G., Diamantidis, G., 2010. NO says more than "YES" to salt tolerance: Salt priming and systemic nitric oxide signaling in plants. Plant Signal Behav 5, 209–212. doi:10738 [pii]
- Möller, M.N., Lancaster Jr., J.R., Denicola, A., Simon, S., 2008. The interaction of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species with membranes, in: Matalon, S. (Ed.), Free Radical Effects on Membranes. Academic Press Inc., pp. 23–43.
- Müller, P., Li, X.P., Niyogi, K.K., 2001. Non-photochemical quenching. A response to excess light energy. Plant Physiol. 125, 1558–1566. doi:10.1104/pp.125.4.1558
- Noctor, G., 2006. Metabolic signalling in defence and stress: the central roles of soluble redox couples. Plant Cell Environ. 29, 409–425.
- Noctor, G., Foyer, C.H., 1998. ASCORBATE AND GLUTATHIONE: Keeping Active Oxygen Under Control. Annu. Rev. Plant Phys. 49, 249–279. doi:10.1146/annurev.arplant.49.1.249
- Noctor, G., Queval, G., Gakiere, B., 2006. NAD(P) synthesis and pyridine nucleotide cycling in plants and their potential importance in stress conditions. J. Exp. Bot. 57, 1603–1620. doi:erj202 [pii] 10.1093/jxb/erj202
- Nordman, T., Xia, L., Bjorkhem-Bergman, L., Damdimopoulos, A., Nalvarte, I., Arner, E.S., Spyrou, G., Eriksson, L.C., Bjornstedt, M., Olsson, J.M., 2003. Regeneration of the

antioxidant ubiquinol by lipoamide dehydrogenase, thioredoxin reductase and glutathione reductase. Biofactors 18, 45–50.

- Ohad, I., Kyle, D.J., Arntzen, C.J., 1984. Membrane protein damage and repair: removal and replacement of inactivated 32-kilodalton polypeptides in chloroplast membranes. J. Cell Biol. 99, 481–485.
- Parida, A.K., Das, A.B., 2005. Salt tolerance and salinity effects on plants: a review. Ecotox. Environ. Safe. 60, 324–349. doi:S0147-6513(04)00092-2 [pii] 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2004.06.010
- Radi, R., 2004. Nitric oxide, oxidants, and protein tyrosine nitration. P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101, 4003–4008.
- Radi, R., 2012. Protein tyrosine nitration: biochemical mechanisms and structural basis of functional effects. Acc. Chem. Res. 46, 550–559. doi:10.1021/ar300234c
- Rejeb, K. Ben, Abdelly, C., Savouré, A., 2014. How reactive oxygen species and proline face stress together. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 80, 278–284. doi:10.1016/j.plaphy.2014.04.007
- Rigaud, J., Puppo, A., 1977. Effect of nitrite upon leghemoglobin and interaction with nitrogen fixation. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 497, 702–706. doi:0304-4165(77)90291-4 [pii]
- Roosens, N.H., Thu, T.T., Iskandar, H.M., Jacobs, M., 1998. Isolation of the ornithine-delta-aminotransferase cDNA and effect of salt stress on its expression in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Physiol. 117, 263–271.
- Sade, B., Soylu, S., Yetim, E., 2011. Drought and oxidative stress. Afr. J. Biotechnol. 10, 11102–11109.
- Sainz, M.M., D'Apuzzo, E., Omrene, S., Chiurazzi, M., Monza, J., Borsani, O., 2008. A Lotus japonicus transgenic plant silenced in a key enzyme of proline synthesis. XII Reun. Latinoam. XXVII Reun. Argentina Fisiol. Veg.
- Samaras, Y., Bressan, R., Csonka, M., García-Ríos, D'urzo, P., Rhodes, 1995. Proline accumulation during drougth and salinity, in: Environment and Plant Metabolism Flexibility and Acclimation. W.J. Davies Bios Scientific Publisher, UK, pp. 161–186.
- Samuelsson, G., Lonneborg, a., Rosenqvist, E., Gustafsson, P., Oquist, G., 1985.
 Photoinhibition and Reactivation of Photosynthesis in the Cyanobacterium Anacystis nidulans. Plant Physiol. 79, 992–995. doi:10.1104/pp.79.4.992
- Sánchez-Rodríguez, E., Rubio-Wilhelmi, M. del M., Blasco, B., Leyva, R., Romero, L., Ruíz, J.M., 2012. Antioxidant response resides in the shoot in reciprocal grafts of drought-tolerant and drought-sensitive cultivars in tomato under water stress. Plant Sci. In press.

- Sandal, N., Krusell, L., Radutoiu, S., Olbryt, M., Pedrosa, A., Stracke, S., Sato, S., Kato, T., Tabata, S., Parniske, M., Bachmair, A., Ketelsen, T., Stougaard, J., 2002. A genetic linkage map of the model legume Lotus japonicus and strategies for fast mapping of new loci. Genetics 161, 1673–1683.
- Sato, S., Kaneko, T., Nakamura, Y., Asamizu, E., Kato, T., Tabata, S., 2001. Structural analysis of a Lotus japonicus genome. I. Sequence features and mapping of fifty-six TAC clones which cover the 5.4 mb regions of the genome. DNA Res. 8, 311–318.
- Savoure, A., Jaoua, S., Hua, X.J., Ardiles, W., Van Montagu, M., Verbruggen, N., 1995. Isolation, characterization, and chromosomal location of a gene encoding the delta 1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase in Arabidopsis thaliana. FEBS Lett. 372, 13–19. doi:0014-5793(95)00935-3 [pii]
- Sekmen, A.H., Ozgur, R., Uzilday, B., Turkan, I., 2014. Reactive oxygen species scavenging capacities of cotton (Gossypium hirsutum) cultivars under combined drought and heat induced oxidative stress. Environ. Exp. Bot. 99, 141–149.
- Semida, W.M., Rady, M.M., 2014. Presoaking application of propolis and maize grain extracts alleviates salinity stress in common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.). Sci. Hortic. (Amsterdam). 168, 210–217.
- Serrano, I., Romero-Puertas, M., Serrano, M.R., Sandalio, L.M., Olmedilla, A., 2012. Role of peroxynitrite in programmed cell death induced in self-incompatible pollen. Plant Signal. Behav. 7, 1–3.
- Sharma, S., Villamor, J.G., Versules, P.E., 2011. Essential Role of Tissue-Specific Proline Synthesis and Catabolism in Growth and Redox Balance at Low Water Potential. Plant. Phys. 157.
- Signorelli, S., Arellano, J.B., Melø, T.B., Borsani, O., Monza, J., 2013*a*. Proline does not quench singlet oxygen: Evidence to reconsider its protective role in plants. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 64, 80–83.
- Signorelli, S., Casaretto, E., Monza, J., Borsani, O., 2015. Combined abiotic stress in legumes, in: Combined Stresses in Plants. Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, pp. 1–23.
- Signorelli, S., Casaretto, E., Sainz, M., Díaz, P., Monza, J., Borsani, O., 2013b. Antioxidant and photosystem II responses contribute to explain the drought-heat contrasting tolerance of two forage legumes. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 70, 195–203.
- Signorelli, S., Coitiño, E.L., Borsani, O., Monza, J., 2014. Molecular mechanisms for the reaction between 'OH radicals and proline: insights on the role as reactive oxygen species scavenger in plant stress. J. Phys. Chem. B 118, 37–47. doi:10.1021/jp407773u

- Signorelli, S., Corpas, F.J., Borsani, O., Barroso, J.B., Monza, J., 2013c. Water stress induces a differential and spatially distributed nitro-oxidative stress response in roots and leaves of Lotus japonicus. Plant Sci. 201-202, 137–146.
- Signorelli, S., Dans, P.D., Coitiño, E.L., Borsani, O., Monza, J., n.d. Connecting proline and γ-aminobutyric acid in stressed plants through non-enzymatic reactions. PLoS One. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115349
- Signorelli, S., Möller, M.N., Coitiño, E.L., Denicola, A., 2011. Nitrogen dioxide solubility and permeation in lipid membranes. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 512, 190–196.
- Simic, M., Jovanovic, S., 1989. Antioxidation mechanisms of uric acid. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 111, 5182–5718.
- Smillie, R.M., Hetherington, S.E., 1983. Stress tolerance and stress-induced injury in crop plants measured by chlorophyll fluorescence in vivo: chilling, freezing, ice cover, heat and high light. Plant Physiol. 72, 1043–1050.
- Smirnoff, N., 1993. The role of active oxygen in the response of plants to water deficit and desiccation. New Phytol. 125, 27–58. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.1993.tb03863.x
- Smirnoff, N., Cumbes, Q.J., 1989. Hydroxyl radical scavenging activity of compatible solutes. Phytochemistry 28, 1057–1060.
- Souza, J.M., Peluffo, G., Radi, R., 2008. Protein tyrosine nitration--functional alteration or just a biomarker? Free Radical. Bio. Med. 45, 357–366. doi:S0891-5849(08)00212-8 [pii] 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2008.04.010
- Strizhov, N., Abrahám, E., Okrész, L., Blickling, S., Zilberstein, A., Schell, J., Koncz, C., Szabados, L., 1997. Differential expression of two P5CS genes controlling proline accumulation during salt-stress requires ABA and is regulated by ABA1, ABI1 and AXR2 in Arabidopsis. Plant J. 12, 557–569. doi:10.1046/j.1365-313X.1997.00557.x
- Szabados, L., Savouré, A., 2010. Proline: a multifunctional amino acid. Trends Plant Sci. 15, 89–97.
- Szekely, G., Abraham, E., Cseplo, A., Rigo, G., Zsigmond, L., Csiszar, J., Ayaydin, F., Strizhov, N., Jasik, J., Schmelzer, E., Koncz, C., Szabados, L., 2008. Duplicated P5CS genes of Arabidopsis play distinct roles in stress regulation and developmental control of proline biosynthesis. Plant J. 53, 11–28. doi:TPJ3318 [pii] 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2007.03318.x

Taiz, L., Zeiger, E., 2002. Plant physiology, EE. UU. California: Sinauer.

Takahashi, S., Murata, N., 2008. How do environmental stresses accelerate photoinhibition? Trends Plant Sci. doi:10.1016/j.tplants.2008.01.005

- Tanou, G., Job, C., Rajjou, L., Arc, E., Belghazi, M., Diamantidis, G., Molassiotis, A., Job, D., 2009. Proteomics reveals the overlapping roles of hydrogen peroxide and nitric oxide in the acclimation of citrus plants to salinity. Plant J. 60, 795–804. doi:10.1111/j.1365-313X.2009.04000.x
- Taubert, D., Breitenbach, T., Lazar, A., Censarek, P., Harlfinger, S., Berkels, R., Klaus, W., Roesen, R., 2003. Reaction rate constants of superoxide scavenging by plant antioxidants. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 35, 1599–1607. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2003.09.005
- Troll, W., Lindsley, J., 1955. A photometric method for the determination of proline. J. Biol. Chem. 215, 655–660.
- Trovato, M., Mattioli, R., Costantino, P., 2008. Multiple roles of proline in plant stress tolerance and development. Rend. Lincei. 19, 325–346.
- Valderrama, R., Corpas, F.J., Carreras, A., Gomez-Rodriguez, M. V, Chaki, M., Pedrajas, J.R., Fernandez-Ocana, A., Del Rio, L.A., Barroso, J.B., 2006. The dehydrogenase-mediated recycling of NADPH is a key antioxidant system against salt-induced oxidative stress in olive plants. Plant Cell Environ. 29, 1449–1459.
- VandenBosch, K., Stacey, G., 2003. Advances in legume biology. Plant Physiol. 131, 839.
- Wang, S., Liang, D., Li, C., Hao, Y., Ma, F., Shu, H., 2012. Influence of drought stress on the cellular ultrastructure and antioxidant system in leaves of drought-tolerant and drought-sensitive apple rootstocks. Plant Physiol Biochem 51, 81–89. doi:S0981-9428(11)00317-2 [pii] 10.1016/j.plaphy.2011.10.014
- Wang, W.B., Kim, Y.H., Lee, H.S., Kim, K.Y., Deng, X.P., Kwak, S.S., 2009. Analysis of antioxidant enzyme activity during germination of alfalfa under salt and drought stresses. Plant Physiol Biochem 47, 570–577. doi:S0981-9428(09)00060-6 [pii] 10.1016/j.plaphy.2009.02.009
- Wilson, R.A., Sangha, M.K., Banga, S.S., Atwal, A., Gupta, S., 2014. Heat stress tolerance in relation to oxidative stress and antioxidants in Brassica juncea. J. Environ. Biol. 35, 383–387.
- Zhu, J.K., Hasagawa, P.M., Bressan, R.A., 1997. Molecular aspects of osmotic stress in plants. Crit. Rev. Plant Sci. 163, 253–277.

CONCLUSIONES

Capítulo 1. Respuestas a sequía de leguminosas

En las leguminosas forrajeras trébol y lotus, la respuesta antioxidante enzimática y la actividad del fotosistema II contribuyen a explicar su diferente tolerancia-sensibilidad a la sequía cuando las temperaturas son altas.

En estreses combinados las respuestas de las leguminosas son variadas, con efectos aditivos, sinérgicos e incluso antagónicos, comparados a cuando se establecen de manera individual. Como la sequía y altas temperaturas por lo general ocurren simultáneamente, es necesario evaluar las respuestas de la planta en esa condición.

En *L. japonicus* se identificaron 2 genes que codifican para P5CS, enzimas que participan de la vía de síntesis de prolina: *Ljp5cs1* inducible en condición de estrés osmótico y responsable de la acumulación de prolina y *Ljp5cs2* constitutivo.

La sequía induce estrés nitro-oxidativo diferencial en *L. japonicus*: mientras que en raíces es mayor el daño nitrosativo, en hojas es mayor el oxidativo.

Capítulo 2. La prolina en la protección frente al daño nitro-oxidativo

El rol antioxidante de la prolina debe ser reconsiderado en la medida que no protege frente al oxígeno singulete, superóxido, óxido nítrico, peroxinitrito ni dióxido de nitrógeno. Estas evidencias permitirán orientar el planteo de nuevas hipótesis sobre el rol de la prolina en plantas.

La protección que ofrece la prolina como antioxidante está dada por la capacidad de captar al OH, lo que se ve favorecido por la concentración que alcanza la prolina en condiciones de estrés.

Propusimos un ciclo, al que denominamos Pro-Pro, que capta 2 [•]OH y permite la regeneración de NADP⁺ el cual contribuye a mantener la actividad fotosintética y disminuir la generación de ROS por fuga de electrones.

En plantas el GABA se produce por la acción de la glutamato decarboxilasa. Nosotros relacionamos la síntesis y acumulación de GABA con la prolina, a través de otra vía que consiste en la descarboxilación de la prolina por reacción de esta con ^oOH sobre su grupo amino, seguida de dos reacciones.

BIBLIOGRAFÍA

- Airaki, M., Sanchez-Moreno, L., Leterrier, M., Barroso, J.B., Palma, J.M., Corpas, F.J., 2011. Detection and quantification of S-nitrosoglutathione (GSNO) in pepper (Capsicum annuum L.) plant organs by LC-ES/MS. Plant Cell Physiol. 52, 2006–2015. doi:pcr133 [pii] 10.1093/pcp/pcr133
- Alamillo, J.M., García-Olmedo, F., 2001. Effects of urate, a natural inhibitor of peroxynitrite-mediated toxicity, in the response of Arabidopsis thaliana to the bacterial pathogen Pseudomonas syringae. Plant J. 25, 529–540. doi:10.1046/j.1365-313x.2001.00984.x
- Al-ghamdi, A.A., 2009. Evaluation of oxidative stress tolerance in two wheat (Triticum aestivum) cultivars in response to drought. Int. J. Agr. Biol. 11, 7–12.
- Alia, Mohanty, P., Matysik, J., 2001. Effect of proline on the production of singlet oxygen. Amino Acids 21, 195–200.
- Alia, Saradhi, P.P., Mohanty, P., 1991. Proline enhances primary photochemical activities in isolated thylakoid membranes of Brassica juncea by arresting photoinhibitory damage. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 181, 1238–1244.
- Al-Sulaiti, A., Blackewell, R., Lea, P., Davies, W., 1990. Capacity for proline accumulation during water deficit and its relation with growth of barley photorepiratory mutants. J. Exp. Bot. 41, 4–14.
- Alvarez, B., Ferrer-Sueta, G., Freeman, B. a, Radi, R., 1999. Kinetics of peroxynitrite reaction with amino acids and human serum albumin. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 842–8.
- Alvarez, B., Radi, R., 2003. Peroxynitrite reactivity with amino acids and proteins. Amino Acids 25, 295–311. doi:10.1007/s00726-003-0018-8
- Arasimowicz-Jelonek, M., Floryszak-Wieczorek, J., 2011. Understanding the fate of peroxynitrite in plant cells--from physiology to pathophysiology. Phytochemistry 72, 681–688. doi:S0031-9422(11)00115-4 [pii] 10.1016/j.phytochem.2011.02.025
- Armengaud, P., Breitling, R., Amtmann, A., 2004. The potassium-dependent transcriptome of Arabidopsis reveals a prominent role of jasmonic acid in nutrient signaling. Plant Physiol. 136, 2556–2576. doi:10.1104/pp.104.046482
- Asada, K., 1999. The water-water cycle in chloroplast: scavenging of active oxygens and dissipation of excess photons. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 50, 601–639. doi:10.1146/annurev.arplant.50.1.601

- Bandurska, H., Niedziela, J., Chadzinikolau, T., 2013. Separate and combined responses to water deficit and UV-B radiation. Plant Sci. doi:10.1016/j.plantsci.2013.09.003
- Banu, M.N.A., Hoque, M.A., Watanabe-Sugimoto, M., Islam, M.M., Uraji, M.,
 Matsuoka, K., Nakamura, Y., Murata, Y., 2010. Proline and glycinebetaine
 ameliorated NaCl stress via scavenging of hydrogen peroxide and methylglyoxal
 but not superoxide or nitric oxide in tobacco cultured cells. Biosci. Biotechnol.
 Biochem. 74, 2043–2049. doi:10.1271/bbb.100334
- Barnnet, J., Naylor, A., 1966. Amino acid and protein metabolism in bermuda grass during water stress. Plant Physiol. 11, 1222–1230.
- Barroso, J.B., Corpas, F.J., Carreras, A., Rodriguez-Serrano, M., Esteban, F.J., Fernandez-Ocana, A., Chaki, M., Romero-Puertas, M.C., Valderrama, R., Sandalio, L.M., del Rio, L.A., 2006. Localization of S-nitrosoglutathione and expression of S-nitrosoglutathione reductase in pea plants under cadmium stress. J. Exp. Bot. 57, 1785–1793. doi:erj175 [pii] 10.1093/jxb/erj175
- Batthyany, C., Souza, J.M., Duran, R., Cassina, A., Cervenansky, C., Radi, R., 2005. Time course and site(s) of cytochrome c tyrosine nitration by peroxynitrite. Biochemistry 44, 8038–8046. doi:10.1021/bi0474620
- Beckman, J.S., Beckman, T.W., Chen, J., Marshall, P.A., Freeman, B.A., 1990.
 Apparent hydroxyl radical production by peroxynitrite: implications for endothelial injury from nitric oxide and superoxide. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 87, 1620–1624.
- Begara-Morales, J.C., Chaki, M., Sanchez-Calvo, B., Mata-Perez, C., Leterrier, M., Palma, J.M., Barroso, J.B., Corpas, F.J., 2013. Protein tyrosine nitration in pea roots during development and senescence. J. Exp. Bot. 64, 1121–1134. doi:ert006 [pii] 10.1093/jxb/ert006
- Begara-Morales, J.C., Sanchez-Calvo, B., Chaki, M., Valderrama, R., Mata-Perez, C., Lopez-Jaramillo, J., Padilla, M.N., Carreras, A., Corpas, F.J., Barroso, J.B., 2014.
 Dual regulation of cytosolic ascorbate peroxidase (APX) by tyrosine nitration and S-nitrosylation. J Exp Bot 65, 527–538. doi:ert396 [pii] 10.1093/jxb/ert396
- Bohnert, H.J., Nelson, D.E., Jensen, R.G., 1995. Adaptations to environmental stresses. Plant Cell 7, 1099–1111.
- Bonnecarrere, V., Borsani, O., Diaz, P., Capdevielle, F., Blanco, P., Monza, J., 2011. Response to photoxidative stress induced by cold in japonica rice is genotype dependent. Plant Sci. 180, 726–732. doi:S0168-9452(11)00042-2 [pii] 10.1016/j.plantsci.2011.01.023

Boyer, J., 1982. Plant productivity and enviroment. Science (80-.). 218.

Bray, E.A., 1997. Plant responses to water deficit. Tredns Plant Sci. 2, 48-54.

- Bray, E.A., Bailey-Serres, J., Weretilnyk, E., 2000. Responses to abiotic stresses, in:
 Buchanan, B.B., Gruissem, W., Jones, R.L. (Eds.), Biochemistry and Molecular
 Biology of Plants: American Society of Plant Physiologists. USA, pp. 1158–1203.
- Büssis, D., Heineke, D., 1998. Acclimation of potato plants to polyethylene glycol-induced water deficit. II. Contents and subcellular distribution of organic solutes. J. Exp. Bot. 49, 1361–1370.
- Carballal, S., Bartesaghi, S., Radi, R., 2014. Kinetic and mechanistic considerations to assess the biological fate of peroxynitrite. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1840, 768–80. doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2013.07.005
- Chaki, M., Carreras, A., López-Jaramillo, J., Begara-Morales, J.C., Sánchez-Calvo, B., Valderrama, R., Corpas, F.J., Barroso, J.B., 2013. Tyrosine nitration provokes inhibition of sunflower carbonic anhydrase (β-CA) activity under high temperature stress. Nitric Oxide 29, 30–33.
- Chaki, M., Valderrama, R., Fernandez-Ocana, A.M., Carreras, A., Gomez-Rodriguez, M. V, Lopez-Jaramillo, J., Begara-Morales, J.C., Sanchez-Calvo, B., Luque, F., Leterrier, M., Corpas, F.J., Barroso, J.B., 2011a. High temperature triggers the metabolism of S-nitrosothiols in sunflower mediating a process of nitrosative stress which provokes the inhibition of ferredoxin-NADP reductase by tyrosine nitration. Plant Cell Environ. 34, 1803–1818. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3040.2011.02376.x
- Chaki, M., Valderrama, R., Fernandez-Ocana, A.M., Carreras, A., Gomez-Rodriguez, M. V, Pedrajas, J.R., Begara-Morales, J.C., Sanchez-Calvo, B., Luque, F., Leterrier, M., Corpas, F.J., Barroso, J.B., 2011b. Mechanical wounding induces a nitrosative stress by down-regulation of GSNO reductase and an increase in S-nitrosothiols in sunflower (Helianthus annuus) seedlings. J. Exp. Bot. 62, 1803–1813. doi:erq358 [pii] 10.1093/jxb/erq358
- Chares, C., Phan, C., 1990. Cold acclimation of wheat (Triticum aestivum):Properties of enzymes involved in proline metabolism. Physiol. Plant. 80, 159–168.
- Chaves, M.M., Flexas, J., Pinheiro, C., 2009. Photosynthesis under drought and salt stress: regulation mechanisms from whole plant to cell. Ann. Bot. 103, 551–560.
- Chen, C., Dickman, M.B., 2005. Proline suppresses apoptosis in the fungal pathogen Colletotrichum trifolii. P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102, 3459–3464. doi:0407960102 [pii] 10.1073/pnas.0407960102

- Chiang, H., Dandekar, M., 1995. Regulation of proline accumulation in Arabidopsis thaliana (L.) Heynh during development and in response to desiccation. Plant Cell Environ. 18, 1280–1290.
- Choi, H.K., Mun, J.H., Kim, D.J., Zhu, H., Baek, J.M., Mudge, J., Roe, B., Ellis, N., Doyle, J., Kiss, G.B., Young, N.D., Cook, D.R., 2004. Estimating genome conservation between crop and model legume species. P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101, 15289–15294. doi:0402251101 [pii] 10.1073/pnas.0402251101
- Choudhary, N.L., Sairam, R.K., Tyagi, A., 2005. Expression of delta1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase gene during drought in rice (Oryza sativa L.). Indian J. Biochem. Bio. 42, 366–370.
- Cornwell, T.L., Ceaser, E.K., Li, J., Marrs, K.L., Darley-Usmar, V.M., Patel, R.P., 2003. S-nitrosothiols inhibit uterine smooth muscle cell proliferation independent of metabolism to NO and cGMP formation. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Ph. 284, C1516–24. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00268.2002 00268.2002 [pii]
- Corpas, F.J., Barroso, J.B., 2013. Nitro-oxidative stress vs oxidative or nitrosative stress in higher plants. New Phytol. 199, 633–635. doi:10.1111/nph.12380
- Corpas, F.J., Barroso, J.B., Sandalio, L.M., Distefano, S., Palma, J.M., Lupianez, J.A., Del Rio, L.A., 1998. A dehydrogenase-mediated recycling system of NADPH in plant peroxisomes. Biochem. J. 330 (Pt 2, 777–784.
- Corpas, F.J., del Rio, L.A., Barroso, J.B., 2007. Need of biomarkers of nitrosative stress in plants. Trends Plant Sci. 12, 436–438. doi:S1360-1385(07)00192-6 [pii] 10.1016/j.tplants.2007.08.013
- Csonka, L.N., Gelvin, S.B., Goodner, B.W., Orser, C.S., Siemieniak, D., Slightom, J.L., 1988. Nucleotide sequence of a mutation in the proB gene of Escherichia coli that confers proline overproduction and enhanced tolerance to osmotic stress. Gene 64, 199–205. doi:10.1016/0378-1119(88)90335-6
- Daiber, A., Oelze, M., August, M., Wendt, M., Sydow, K., Wieboldt, H., Kleschyov, A.L., Munzel, T., 2004. Detection of superoxide and peroxynitrite in model systems and mitochondria by the luminol analogue L-012. Free Radic. Res. 38, 259–269.
- Dat, J., Vandenabeele, S., Vranova, E., Van Montagu, M., Inze, D., Van Breusegem, F., 2000. Dual action of the active oxygen species during plant stress responses. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 57, 779–795.

- Davies, M.J., 2005. The oxidative environment and protein damage. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1703, 93–109. doi:S1570-9639(04)00218-3 [pii] 10.1016/j.bbapap.2004.08.007
- Delauney, A., Verma, D., 1993. Proline biosynthesis and osmoregulation in plants. Plant J. 4, 215–223.
- Denicola, A., Freeman, B.A., Trujillo, M., Radi, R., 1996a. Peroxynitrite reaction with carbon dioxide/bicarbonate: kinetics and influence on peroxynitrite-mediated oxidations. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 333, 49–58. doi:10.1006/abbi.1996.0363
- Denicola, A., Souza, J.M., Radi, R., Lissi, E., 1996b. Nitric oxide diffusion in membranes determined by fluorescence quenching. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 328, 208–212. doi:S0003-9861(96)90162-9 [pii] 10.1006/abbi.1996.0162
- Desikan, R., A.-H.-Mackerness, S., Hancock, J.T., Neill, S.J., 2001. Regulation of the Arabidopsis transcriptome by oxidative stress. Plant Physiol. 127, 159–172.
- Díaz, P., Betti, M., García-Calderón, M., Pérez-Delgado, C.M., Signorelli, S., Borsani, O., Márquez, A.J., Monza, J., 2014. Amino Acids and Drought Stress in Lotus: Use of Transcriptomics and Plastidic Glutamine Synthetase Mutants for New Insights in Proline Metabolism, in: Amino Acids and Drought Stress in Lotus. pp. 53–67.
- Díaz, P., Borsani, O., Márquez, M., Monza, J., 2005. Nitrogen metabolism in relation to drought stress responses in cultivated and model Lotus species. Lotus Newsl. 35, 125–134.
- Dinakar, N., Nagajyothi, P.C., Suresh, S., Damodharam, T., Suresh, C., 2009. Cadmium induced changes on proline, antioxidant enzymes, nitrate and nitrite reductases in Arachis hypogaea L. J. Environ. Biol. 30, 289–294.
- Erdal, S., 2012. Androsterone-induced molecular and physiological changes in maize seedlings in response to chilling stress. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 57, 1–7. doi:10.1016/j.plaphy.2012.04.016
- Fazzari, M., Trostchansky, A., Schopfer, F.J., Salvatore, S.R., Sanchez-Calvo, B., Vitturi, D., Valderrama, R., Barroso, J.B., Radi, R., Freeman, B.A., Rubbo, H., 2014. Olives and olive oil are sources of electrophilic fatty acid nitroalkenes. PLoS One 9, e84884. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0084884 PONE-D-13-35378
 [pii]
- Feng, Z., Jin-Kui, G., Ying-Li, Y., W en-Liang, H., Li-Xin, Z., 2004. Changes in pattern of antiozidant enzyma in wheat wxposed to water deficit and rewatering. Acta Physiol. Plant. 26, 345–352.

- Ferrer-Sueta, G., Radi, R., 2009. Chemical biology of peroxynitrite: Kinetics, diffusion, and radicals. ACS Chem. Biol. doi:10.1021/cb800279q
- Filippou, P., Bouchagier, P., Skotti, E., Fotopoulos, V., 2014. Proline and reactive oxygen/nitrogen species metabolism is involved in the tolerant response of the invasive plant species Ailanthus altissima to drought and salinity. Environ. Exp. Bot. 97, 1–10.
- Goldstein, S., Czapski, G., 1995. The reaction of NO. with O2.- and HO2.: a pulse radiolysis study. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 19, 505–510. doi:10.1016/0891-5849(95)00034-U
- Gupta, K.J., Fernie, A.R., Kaiser, W.M., van Dongen, J.T., 2011. On the origins of nitric oxide. Trends Plant Sci. 16, 160–168. doi:S1360-1385(10)00253-0 [pii] 10.1016/j.tplants.2010.11.007
- Halliwell, B., 2006. Reactive species and antioxidants. Redox biology is a fundamental theme of aerobic life. Plant Physiol 141, 312–322. doi:141/2/312 [pii] 10.1104/pp.106.077073
- Hare, P.D., Cress, W.A., van Staden, J., 1997. The involvement of cytokinins in plant responses to environmental stress. Plant Growth Regul. 23, 79–103.
- Hare, P.D., Cress, W.A., Van Staden, J., 1998. Dissecting the roles of osmolyte accumulation during stress. Plant Cell Environ. 21, 535–553.
- Holzmeister, C., Gaupels, F., Geerlof, A., Sarioglu, H., Sattler, M., Durner, J., Lindermayr, C., n.d. Differential inhibition of Arabidopsis superoxide dismutases by peroxynitrite-mediated tyrosine nitration. J. Exp. Bot. doi:10.1093/jxb/eru458
- Hong, Z., Lakkineni, K., Zhang, Z., Verma, D.P., 2000. Removal of feedback inhibition of delta(1)-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase results in increased proline accumulation and protection of plants from osmotic stress. Plant Physiol. 122, 1129–1136.
- Hoque, A., Okuma, E., Banu, N.A., Nakamura, Y., Shimoishim, Y., Murata, Y., 2006.
 Exogenous proline mitigates the detrimental effects of salt stress more than exogenous betaine by increasing antioxidant enzyme activites. J. Plant Physiol. 164, 553–561.
- Hoque, M.A., Banu, M.N.A., Nakamura, Y., Shimoishi, Y., Murata, Y., 2008. Proline and glycinebetaine enhance antioxidant defense and methylglyoxal detoxification systems and reduce NaCl-induced damage in cultured tobacco cells. J. Plant Physiol. 165, 813–824. doi:10.1016/j.jplph.2007.07.013

- Hoque, M.A., Banu, M.N.A., Okuma, E., Amako, K., Nakamura, Y., Shimoishi, Y.,
 Murata, Y., 2007. Exogenous proline and glycinebetaine increase NaCl-induced ascorbate-glutathione cycle enzyme activities, and proline improves salt tolerance more than glycinebetaine in tobacco Bright Yellow-2 suspension-cultured cells. J. Plant Physiol. 164, 1457–1468. doi:10.1016/j.jplph.2006.10.004
- Horton, P., Ruban, A. V., Walters, R.G., 1996. Regulation of light harvesting in green plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. doi:10.1146/annurev.arplant.47.1.655
- Hu, C.A., Delauney, A.J., Verma, D.P., 1992. A bifunctional enzyme (delta 1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase) catalyzes the first two steps in proline biosynthesis in plants. P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 9354–9358.
- Hu, Z.-H., Xu, Y.-N., Jiang, G.-Z., Kuang, T.-Y., 2004. Degradation and inactivation of photosystem I complexes during linear heating. Plant Sci. 166, 1177–1183. doi:10.1016/j.plantsci.2003.12.026
- Huang, C., Wei, G., Jie, Y., Wang, L., Zhou, H., Ran, C., Huang, Z., Jia, H., Anjum, S.A., 2014. Effects of concentrations of sodium chloride on photosynthesis, antioxidative enzymes, growth and fiber yield of hybrid ramie. Plant Phys. Biochem. 76, 86–93.
- Iqbal, N., Umar, S., Khan, N.A., Khan, M.I.R., 2014. A new perspective of phytohormones in salinity tolerance: Regulation of proline metabolism. Environ. Exp. Bot. 100, 34–42.
- Ischiropoulos, H., 2003. Biological selectivity and functional aspects of protein tyrosine nitration. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 305, 776–783. doi:10.1016/S0006-291X(03)00814-3
- Islam, M.M., Hoque, M.A., Okuma, E., Banu, M.N.A., Shimoishi, Y., Nakamura, Y., Murata, Y., 2009. Exogenous proline and glycinebetaine increase antioxidant enzyme activities and confer tolerance to cadmium stress in cultured tobacco cells. J. Plant Physiol. 166, 1587–1597. doi:10.1016/j.jplph.2009.04.002
- Jasid, S., Simontacchi, M., Bartoli, C.G., Puntarulo, S., 2006. Chloroplasts as a nitric oxide cellular source. Effect of reactive nitrogen species on chloroplastic lipids and proteins. Plant Physiol. 142, 1246–1255. doi:pp.106.086918 [pii] 10.1104/pp.106.086918
- Kavi Kishor, P.B., Sangam, S., Amrutha, R.N., Sri Laxmi, P., Naidu, K.R., Rao, K.R.S.S., Rao, S., Reddy, K.J., Theriappan, P., Sreenivasulu, N., 2005. Regulation

of proline biosynthesis, degradation, uptake and transport in higher plants: Its implications in plant growth and abiotic stress tolerance. Curr. Sci.

- Kavi Kishor, P.B., Sreenivasulu, N., 2014. Is proline accumulation per se correlated with stress tolerance or is proline homeostasis a more critical issue? Plant Cell Environ. 37, 300–311. doi:10.1111/pce.12157
- Khavari-Nejad, R.A., Shekaste Band, R., Najafi, F., Nabiuni, M., Gharari, Z., 2013. The Role of Pro P5C Cycle in chs Mutants of Arabidopsis under Cold Stress 1. Russ. J. Plant Phys. 60, 375–382. doi:10.1134/S1021443713020106
- Kirkman, H.N., Gaetani, G.F., 2007. Mammalian catalase: a venerable enzyme with new mysteries. Trends Biochem. Sci. 32, 44–50. doi:S0968-0004(06)00320-3 [pii] 10.1016/j.tibs.2006.11.003
- Krishnan, N., Dickman, M.B., Becker, D.F., 2008. Proline modulates the intracellular redox environment and protects mammalian cells against oxidative stress. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 44, 671–681. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2007.10.054
- Laemmli, U.K., 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227, 680–685.
- Lawlor, D.W., Cornic, G., 2002. Photosynthetic carbon assimilation and associated metabolism in relation to water deficits in higher plants. Plant. Cell Environ. 25, 275–294. doi:10.1046/j.0016-8025.2001.00814.x
- León, J., Castillo, M.C., Coego, A., Lozano-Juste, J., Mir, R., 2014. Diverse functional interactions between nitric oxide and abscisic acid in plant development and responses to stress. J. Exp. Bot. doi:10.1093/jxb/ert454
- Leterrier, M., Del Rio, L.A., Corpas, F.J., 2007. Cytosolic NADP-isocitrate dehydrogenase of pea plants: genomic clone characterization and functional analysis under abiotic stress conditions. Free Radic. Res. 41, 191–199. doi:770494063 [pii] 10.1080/10715760601034055
- Lidholm, J., Gustafsson, P., öquist, G., 1987. Photoinhibition of photosynthesis and its recovery in the green alga chlamydomonas reinhardii. Plant Cell Physiol. 28, 1133–1140.
- Lv, W.-T., Lin, B., Zhang, M., Hua, X.-J., 2011. Proline Accumulation Is Inhibitory to Arabidopsis Seedlings during Heat Stress. Plant Physiol. 156, 1921–1933. doi:10.1104/pp.111.175810
- Manai, J., Gouia, H., Corpas, F.J., 2014. Redox and nitric oxide homeostasis are affected in tomato (Solanum lycopersicum) roots under salinity-induced

oxidative stress. J. Plant Physiol. 171, 1028–1035. doi:10.1016/j.jplph.2014.03.012

- Marshall, H.E., Stamler, J.S., 2001. Inhibition of NF-kappa B by S-nitrosylation. Biochemistry 40, 1688–1693. doi:bio022399 [pii]
- Mateos, R.M., Bonilla-Valverde, D., del Rio, L.A., Palma, J.M., Corpas, F.J., 2009. NADP-dehydrogenases from pepper fruits: effect of maturation. Physiol. Plant. 135, 130–139. doi:PPL1179 [pii] 10.1111/j.1399-3054.2008.01179.x
- Mattioli, R., Costantino, P., Trovato, M., 2009. Proline accumulation in plants: not only stress. Plant Signal. Behav. 4, 1016–1018. doi:10.4161/psb.4.11.9797
- Mattioli, R., Marchese, D., D'Angeli, S., Altamura, M.M., Costantino, P., Trovato, M., 2008. Modulation of intracellular proline levels affects flowering time and inflorescence architecture in Arabidopsis. Plant Mol. Biol. 66, 277–288. doi:10.1007/s11103-007-9269-1
- Matysik, J., Alia, A., Bhalu, B., Mohanty, P., 2002. Molecular mechanisms of quenching of reactive oxygen species by proline under stress in plants. Curr. Sci. 82, 525–532.
- McClaran, M.P., Wei, H., 2014. Recent drought phase in a 73-year record at two spatial scales: Implications for livestock production on rangelands in the Southwestern United States. Agric. For. Meteorol. 197, 40–51. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2014.06.004
- Melis, A., 1999. Photosystem-II damage and repair cycle in chloroplasts: what modulates the rate of photodamage in vivo? Trends Plant Sci. 4, 130–135. doi:10.1016/S1360-1385(99)01387-4
- Miller, G., Honig, A., Stein, H., Suzuki, N., Mittler, R., Zilberstein, A., 2009.
 Unraveling delta1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate-proline cycle in plants by uncoupled expression of proline oxidation enzymes. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 26482–26492.
 doi:M109.009340 [pii] 10.1074/jbc.M109.009340
- Miller, G., Shulaev, V., Mittler, R., 2008. Reactive oxygen signaling and abiotic stress. Physiol. Plant. 133, 481–9. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3054.2008.01090.x
- Mittler, R., Vanderauwera, S., Suzuki, N., Miller, G., Tognetti, V.B., Vandepoele, K., Gollery, M., Shulaev, V., Van Breusegem, F., 2011. ROS signaling: the new wave? Trends Plant Sci. 16, 300–9. doi:10.1016/j.tplants.2011.03.007

- Molassiotis, A., Tanou, G., Diamantidis, G., 2010. NO says more than "YES" to salt tolerance: Salt priming and systemic nitric oxide signaling in plants. Plant Signal Behav 5, 209–212. doi:10738 [pii]
- Möller, M.N., Lancaster Jr., J.R., Denicola, A., Simon, S., 2008. The interaction of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species with membranes, in: Matalon, S. (Ed.), Free Radical Effects on Membranes. Academic Press Inc., pp. 23–43.
- Müller, P., Li, X.P., Niyogi, K.K., 2001. Non-photochemical quenching. A response to excess light energy. Plant Physiol. 125, 1558–1566. doi:10.1104/pp.125.4.1558
- Noctor, G., 2006. Metabolic signalling in defence and stress: the central roles of soluble redox couples. Plant Cell Environ. 29, 409–425.
- Noctor, G., Foyer, C.H., 1998. ASCORBATE AND GLUTATHIONE: Keeping Active Oxygen Under Control. Annu. Rev. Plant Phys. 49, 249–279. doi:10.1146/annurev.arplant.49.1.249
- Noctor, G., Queval, G., Gakiere, B., 2006. NAD(P) synthesis and pyridine nucleotide cycling in plants and their potential importance in stress conditions. J. Exp. Bot. 57, 1603–1620. doi:erj202 [pii] 10.1093/jxb/erj202
- Nordman, T., Xia, L., Bjorkhem-Bergman, L., Damdimopoulos, A., Nalvarte, I., Arner, E.S., Spyrou, G., Eriksson, L.C., Bjornstedt, M., Olsson, J.M., 2003.
 Regeneration of the antioxidant ubiquinol by lipoamide dehydrogenase, thioredoxin reductase and glutathione reductase. Biofactors 18, 45–50.
- Ohad, I., Kyle, D.J., Arntzen, C.J., 1984. Membrane protein damage and repair: removal and replacement of inactivated 32-kilodalton polypeptides in chloroplast membranes. J. Cell Biol. 99, 481–485.
- Parida, A.K., Das, A.B., 2005. Salt tolerance and salinity effects on plants: a review. Ecotox. Environ. Safe. 60, 324–349. doi:S0147-6513(04)00092-2 [pii] 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2004.06.010
- Radi, R., 2004. Nitric oxide, oxidants, and protein tyrosine nitration. P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 101, 4003–4008.
- Radi, R., 2012. Protein tyrosine nitration: biochemical mechanisms and structural basis of functional effects. Acc. Chem. Res. 46, 550–559. doi:10.1021/ar300234c
- Rejeb, K. Ben, Abdelly, C., Savouré, A., 2014. How reactive oxygen species and proline face stress together. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 80, 278–284. doi:10.1016/j.plaphy.2014.04.007

- Rigaud, J., Puppo, A., 1977. Effect of nitrite upon leghemoglobin and interaction with nitrogen fixation. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 497, 702–706. doi:0304-4165(77)90291-4 [pii]
- Roosens, N.H., Thu, T.T., Iskandar, H.M., Jacobs, M., 1998. Isolation of the ornithine-delta-aminotransferase cDNA and effect of salt stress on its expression in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Physiol. 117, 263–271.
- Sade, B., Soylu, S., Yetim, E., 2011. Drought and oxidative stress. Afr. J. Biotechnol. 10, 11102–11109.
- Sainz, M.M., D´Apuzzo, E., Omrene, S., Chiurazzi, M., Monza, J., Borsani, O., 2008. A Lotus japonicus transgenic plant silenced in a key enzyme of proline synthesis. XII Reun. Latinoam. XXVII Reun. Argentina Fisiol. Veg.
- Samaras, Y., Bressan, R., Csonka, M., García-Ríos, D´urzo, P., Rhodes, 1995. Proline accumulation during drougth and salinity, in: Enviroment and Plant Metabolism Flexibility and Acclimation. W.J. Davies Bios Scientific Publisher, UK, pp. 161–186.
- Samuelsson, G., Lonneborg, a., Rosenqvist, E., Gustafsson, P., Oquist, G., 1985. Photoinhibition and Reactivation of Photosynthesis in the Cyanobacterium Anacystis nidulans. Plant Physiol. 79, 992–995. doi:10.1104/pp.79.4.992
- Sánchez-Rodríguez, E., Rubio-Wilhelmi, M. del M., Blasco, B., Leyva, R., Romero, L., Ruíz, J.M., 2012. Antioxidant response resides in the shoot in reciprocal grafts of drought-tolerant and drought-sensitive cultivars in tomato under water stress. Plant Sci. In press.
- Sandal, N., Krusell, L., Radutoiu, S., Olbryt, M., Pedrosa, A., Stracke, S., Sato, S., Kato, T., Tabata, S., Parniske, M., Bachmair, A., Ketelsen, T., Stougaard, J., 2002. A genetic linkage map of the model legume Lotus japonicus and strategies for fast mapping of new loci. Genetics 161, 1673–1683.
- Sato, S., Kaneko, T., Nakamura, Y., Asamizu, E., Kato, T., Tabata, S., 2001. Structural analysis of a Lotus japonicus genome. I. Sequence features and mapping of fifty-six TAC clones which cover the 5.4 mb regions of the genome. DNA Res. 8, 311–318.
- Savoure, A., Jaoua, S., Hua, X.J., Ardiles, W., Van Montagu, M., Verbruggen, N., 1995.
 Isolation, characterization, and chromosomal location of a gene encoding the delta 1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase in Arabidopsis thaliana. FEBS Lett. 372, 13–19. doi:0014-5793(95)00935-3 [pii]

- Sekmen, A.H., Ozgur, R., Uzilday, B., Turkan, I., 2014. Reactive oxygen species scavenging capacities of cotton (Gossypium hirsutum) cultivars under combined drought and heat induced oxidative stress. Environ. Exp. Bot. 99, 141–149.
- Semida, W.M., Rady, M.M., 2014. Presoaking application of propolis and maize grain extracts alleviates salinity stress in common bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.). Sci. Hortic. (Amsterdam). 168, 210–217.
- Serrano, I., Romero-Puertas, M., Serrano, M.R., Sandalio, L.M., Olmedilla, A., 2012. Role of peroxynitrite in programmed cell death induced in self-incompatible pollen. Plant Signal. Behav. 7, 1–3.
- Sharma, S., Villamor, J.G., Versules, P.E., 2011. Essential Role of Tissue-Specific Proline Synthesis and Catabolism in Growth and Redox Balance at Low Water Potential. Plant. Phys. 157.
- Signorelli, S., Möller, M.N., Coitiño, E.L., Denicola, A., 2011. Nitrogen dioxide solubility and permeation in lipid membranes. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 512, 190–196.
- Signorelli, S., Casaretto, E., Sainz, M., Díaz, P., Monza, J., Borsani, O., 2013*a*. Antioxidant and photosystem II responses contribute to explain the drought-heat contrasting tolerance of two forage legumes. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 70, 195–203.
- Signorelli, S., Corpas, F.J., Borsani, O., Barroso, J.B., Monza, J., 2013b. Water stress induces a differential and spatially distributed nitro-oxidative stress response in roots and leaves of Lotus japonicus. Plant Sci. 201-202, 137–146.
- Signorelli, S., Arellano, J.B., Melø, T.B., Borsani, O., Monza, J., 2013c. Proline does not quench singlet oxygen: Evidence to reconsider its protective role in plants. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 64, 80–83.
- Signorelli, S., Coitiño, E.L., Borsani, O., Monza, J., 2014. Molecular mechanisms for the reaction between 'OH radicals and proline: insights on the role as reactive oxygen species scavenger in plant stress. J. Phys. Chem. B 118, 37–47. doi:10.1021/jp407773u
- Signorelli, S., Casaretto, E., Monza, J., Borsani, O., 2015. Combined abiotic stress in legumes, in: Combined Stresses in Plants. Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, pp. 1–23.
- Signorelli, S., Dans, P.D., Coitiño, E.L., Borsani, O., Monza, J., n.d. Connecting proline and γ-aminobutyric acid in stressed plants through non-enzymatic reactions. PLoS One. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115349

- Simic, M., Jovanovic, S., 1989. Antioxidation mechanisms of uric acid. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 111, 5182–5718.
- Smillie, R.M., Hetherington, S.E., 1983. Stress tolerance and stress-induced injury in crop plants measured by chlorophyll fluorescence in vivo: chilling, freezing, ice cover, heat and high light. Plant Physiol. 72, 1043–1050.
- Smirnoff, N., 1993. The role of active oxygen in the response of plants to water deficit and desiccation. New Phytol. 125, 27–58. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.1993.tb03863.x
- Smirnoff, N., Cumbes, Q.J., 1989. Hydroxyl radical scavenging activity of compatible solutes. Phytochemistry 28, 1057–1060.
- Souza, J.M., Peluffo, G., Radi, R., 2008. Protein tyrosine nitration--functional alteration or just a biomarker? Free Radical. Bio. Med. 45, 357–366. doi:S0891-5849(08)00212-8 [pii] 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2008.04.010
- Strizhov, N., Abrahám, E., Okrész, L., Blickling, S., Zilberstein, A., Schell, J., Koncz, C., Szabados, L., 1997. Differential expression of two P5CS genes controlling proline accumulation during salt-stress requires ABA and is regulated by ABA1, ABI1 and AXR2 in Arabidopsis. Plant J. 12, 557–569. doi:10.1046/j.1365-313X.1997.00557.x
- Szabados, L., Savouré, A., 2010. Proline: a multifunctional amino acid. Trends Plant Sci. 15, 89–97.
- Szekely, G., Abraham, E., Cseplo, A., Rigo, G., Zsigmond, L., Csiszar, J., Ayaydin, F., Strizhov, N., Jasik, J., Schmelzer, E., Koncz, C., Szabados, L., 2008. Duplicated P5CS genes of Arabidopsis play distinct roles in stress regulation and developmental control of proline biosynthesis. Plant J. 53, 11–28. doi:TPJ3318
 [pii] 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2007.03318.x
- Taiz, L., Zeiger, E., 2002. Plant physiology, EE. UU. California: Sinauer.
- Takahashi, S., Murata, N., 2008. How do environmental stresses accelerate photoinhibition? Trends Plant Sci. doi:10.1016/j.tplants.2008.01.005
- Tanou, G., Job, C., Rajjou, L., Arc, E., Belghazi, M., Diamantidis, G., Molassiotis, A., Job, D., 2009. Proteomics reveals the overlapping roles of hydrogen peroxide and nitric oxide in the acclimation of citrus plants to salinity. Plant J. 60, 795–804. doi:10.1111/j.1365-313X.2009.04000.x
- Taubert, D., Breitenbach, T., Lazar, A., Censarek, P., Harlfinger, S., Berkels, R., Klaus,W., Roesen, R., 2003. Reaction rate constants of superoxide scavenging by plant

antioxidants. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 35, 1599–1607. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2003.09.005

- Troll, W., Lindsley, J., 1955. A photometric method for the determination of proline. J. Biol. Chem. 215, 655–660.
- Trovato, M., Mattioli, R., Costantino, P., 2008. Multiple roles of proline in plant stress tolerance and development. Rend. Lincei. 19, 325–346.
- Valderrama, R., Corpas, F.J., Carreras, A., Gomez-Rodriguez, M. V, Chaki, M., Pedrajas, J.R., Fernandez-Ocana, A., Del Rio, L.A., Barroso, J.B., 2006. The dehydrogenase-mediated recycling of NADPH is a key antioxidant system against salt-induced oxidative stress in olive plants. Plant Cell Environ. 29, 1449–1459.
- VandenBosch, K., Stacey, G., 2003. Advances in legume biology. Plant Physiol. 131, 839.
- Wang, S., Liang, D., Li, C., Hao, Y., Ma, F., Shu, H., 2012. Influence of drought stress on the cellular ultrastructure and antioxidant system in leaves of drought-tolerant and drought-sensitive apple rootstocks. Plant Physiol Biochem 51, 81–89. doi:S0981-9428(11)00317-2 [pii] 10.1016/j.plaphy.2011.10.014
- Wang, W.B., Kim, Y.H., Lee, H.S., Kim, K.Y., Deng, X.P., Kwak, S.S., 2009. Analysis of antioxidant enzyme activity during germination of alfalfa under salt and drought stresses. Plant Physiol Biochem 47, 570–577. doi:S0981-9428(09)00060-6 [pii] 10.1016/j.plaphy.2009.02.009
- Wilson, R.A., Sangha, M.K., Banga, S.S., Atwal, A., Gupta, S., 2014. Heat stress tolerance in relation to oxidative stress and antioxidants in Brassica juncea. J. Environ. Biol. 35, 383–387.
- Zhu, J.K., Hasagawa, P.M., Bressan, R.A., 1997. Molecular aspects of osmotic stress in plants. Crit. Rev. Plant Sci. 163, 253–277.

APENDICE

Potenciales secuencias p5cs en L. japonicus

Secuencias proteicas de L. japonicus homologas a la P5CS A (717 aa) de A. thaliana:

Mouse-over to show define and scores. Click to show alig	nmente			
Color Key for Alignment S	Color Key for Alignment Scores			
≺40 40−50 50−80	80-200	>=200		
lcll1_				
0 100 200 300 400	500	600 700		
	Score	E		
Sequences producing significant alignments:	(bits)	Value		
<u>chr1.CM0147.210.r2.m</u> - phase: 0	<u>915</u>	0.0		
<u>chr2.CM0011.280.r2.m</u> + phase: 0	<u>648</u>	0.0		
<u>LjSGA 032463.1</u> + phase: 0 /pseudo/partial	377	e-104		
LjSGA 006172.2 + phase: 2 /partial	354	8e-98		
<u>chr2.CM0803.760.r2.m</u> - phase: 2 /partial	<u>216</u>	3e-56		
<u>chr4.CM0179.70.r2.a</u> - phase: 0 /partial	<u>204</u>	7e-53		
LjSGA 045289.1 + phase: 0 /pseudo/partial	<u>202</u>	5e-52		
<u>LjSGA 136569.1</u> - phase: 1 /pseudo/partial	<u>169</u>	3e-42		
LjSGA 053689.1 - phase: 2 /partial	<u>121</u>	1e-27		
LjSGA 068114.2 - phase: 1 /partial	<u>117</u>	2e-26		

Distribution of 10 Blast Hits on the Query Sequence

Secuencias proteicas de L. japonicus homologas a la P5CS B (726) de *A. thaliana*:

Distribution of 10 Blast Hits on the Query Sequence



<u>chr4.CM0179.70.r2.a</u> - phase: 0 /partial	<u>215</u>	4e-56
<u>LjSGA_045289.1</u> + phase: 0 /pseudo/partial	<u>206</u>	3e-53
<u>LjSGA 136569.1</u> - phase: 1 /pseudo/partial	<u>179</u>	3e-45
<u>LjSGA 053689.1</u> - phase: 2 /partial	<u>124</u>	1e-28
<u>LjSGA_068114.2</u> - phase: 1 /partial	<u>119</u>	3e-27

Secuencia Ljp5cs 1:

>chr1.CM0147.210.r2.m - phase: 0

ATGGATCCTACCCGAGCTTTTGTCAAGGGTGTCAAGCGTGTTGTCGTCAAGGTTGGAACAGCTGTGGTT ACTCGAAGTGATGGAAGATTAGCATTGGGAAGAATAGGAGCTCTCTGTGAGCAGCTTAAAGAACTAAAT ATGAAGGGGTATGAGGTTATATTGGTGACTTCAGGTGCAGTTGGTCTTGGCCGCCAAAGACTAAGATAT CGCAGATTAGCCAATAGCAGCTTTTCTGATCTTCAGAAGCCGCAAGGAGAACTTGATGGCAAAGCATGT GCAGCTGTTGGGCAGAGTAGTCTCATGGCCCTATATGATATCATGTTTAGCCAGCTTGATGTGACTTCA TCCCAACTTCTAGTGAATGATGGGTTTTTTAGGGATACAGGTTTCAGAAAACAACTATCAGATACTGTG AACTCATTATTAGATTTAAGGGTTATCCCCCGTTTTCAATGAAAATGATGCTGTTAGTACTAGGAAGGCA CCATATGAGGATTCTTCTGGAATATTCTGGGATAATGACAGCTTGGCTGGTCTATTGGCTCTGGAACTT AAAGCTGACCTCCTTGTTTTATTGAGTGATGTTGAGGGCCCTTTACAGTGGCCCTCCAACTGATCCAAAG TCAAAGTTAATTCACACATATGTAAAAGAAAAACATCAAACAGAAATTACTTTTGGAGACAAGTCAAGA TTGGGAAGAGGTGGTATGACTGCCAAAGTTAATGCTGCTGTTTGCTCTGCCTATGCTGGCACACCTGTG ATTATTACTAGTGGCTATGCAACAAATAACATCATGAGAGTGCTTCAAGGAGAAAAAATTGGTACTGTC CGTGATAGTTCTAGAAGACTTCAGATTCTAAATTCTGAAGAGAGGAGGCAAATATTGCTAGATATGGCT GATGCATTAGAGAATAATGATAGTATGATAAGGCTTGAGAATGGAGCTGATGTTGCTGATGCAGAAGAG GCTGGATATGAGAAATCATTGATATCACGTTTAACCCTGAGACCCGAAAAGATGTCTAGTCTTGTAAAG TCTGTTCGCATGCTGGCAGACATGGAAGAACCCATTGGTCAGATGATAAAGAGAACTGAGCTAGCAGAT GAACTCATCCTGGAGAAAATATCATGTCCTTTGGGTGTATTTCTGGTTATATTTGAGTCTCGGCCTGAT GCTCTTGTTCAGATAGCTGCATTGGCAATAAGAAGTGGAAATGGTTTACTGCTTAAAGGAGGAAAGGAA GCCAAACGGTCAAATGCAGTCCTACACAAGGTCATTACATCAGTTATTCCTGATAAAGTTGGTAACAAA CTTATCGGGCTTGTAACTTCAAGAGAAGAAGAAATTCCAGATCTGCTCAAGCTTGATGACGTGATAGATCTT GTGGTCCCTAGAGGCAGTAGTAAACTTGTTTCTCAAATCAAGGCTTCAACAAGGATTCCTGTTCTTGGT CATGCTGATGGAATATGCCATGTATATGTTGATAAAACAGCTAATATGGATATGGCAAAGAAGATTGTT TCAGAAAATGGTGGACTTGAAGAACTTGTTGCTGAACTCCAACGTGAAGGTGTTCAACTATATGGTGGA TCAAAAGCTAGTGCCTTGTTAAATATCACTGAAGCAGACACTTTTCATCATGAGTATAGTTCACTGGCT ACTGAATGCATTGTTACAGAAGACTGTGAAGTTGCTAAAACTTTCTTAAGTCAAGTTGACAGTGCTGCT GTATTCCACAATGCAAGTACAAGGTTTTGTGATGGAGCACGCTTTGGGCTTGGTGCAGAGGTTGGAATA AGCACAAGCAGAATTCATGCCCGTGGCCCTGTAGGAGTTGAGGGGTTATTATCAAATAGATGGATATTG AGAGGGACGGGACAAGTGGTAGATGGCGATCGAGGGGTCACTTATACTTACAAGGAACTGCCAATAAAA GCATAA

Secuencia Ljp5cs 2:

>chr2.CM0011.280.r2.m + phase: 0

ATGTTTCTGCAGGATTCTTCTGGAATATTTTGGGATAATGATAGTTTATCTGCTTTATTGGCTCTGGAG TTACAAGCCGATCTTCTTGTTTGTTGAGTGATGTTGAAGTCTTTATATTGGCCCTCCAATCTAGGGTG GGAAGAGGTGGAATGACAGCCAAAGTAAAAGCTGCTGTTCATGCTGCTGAGGCTGGCATTCCTGTTATT ATTACCAGTGGTTTTGCAGCTGAAAGCATCATTAACATTCTCCCAAGGACAACGTATTGGAACCCTCTTC CATAAAGATGCACATGAGTGGACCCCATTAAAAGAGGTTGATGCACGCGAGATGGCTGTTGCAGCCCGG GAATGTTCCAGACGGCTTCAGGCATTATCTTCAGAAGAGAGGAAACAAATTTTACTAAAAATAGCTGAT GGATATGAAAAATCTTTGGTGGCTAGGCTAGCTTTAAAACCTGTGAAGATTGAAAGCCTTGAGAACAAC TTGCGAATTATTGCAAATATGGAAGAACCAATTGGCCAAGTATTAAAACGAACTGAGCTTTCAGATGGG CTAATTTTGGAGAAAACATCATCTACTTTGGGAGTTCTCCTGATTGTTTTTGAGTCTCACCCTGAGGCA CTAGTACAGAGAGCTTCCTTGGCAATCAGAAGTGGGAATGGACTTCTCTTGAAAGGAGGCAAGGAAGCT TTGCGATCAAATGCAATTTTGCACAAAGTAATTACTGAAGCCTTACCAGATACTGTTGGTGGAAAACTT ATTGGACTTGTGACGTCAAGAGCAGAAATTCATGAACTGCTTAAGCTGGATGACGTAATTGATCTGGTG ATTCCAAGAGGCAGCAATAAACTTGTATCTCAGATCAAGAGTTCCACAAAAATTCCCGTTTTGGGTCAT GCAGATGGAATTTGCCACGTCTATGTTGATAAGTCTGCTAACGCAGGAGATGGCAAGGAAGATTGTACTG GATGCAAAAGTAGATTATCCAGCAACCTGCAATGCCATGGAAACACTTCTTGTGCACAAGGAATTAATA GAGAAAGGTTGGCTTAATGATATTATAGTTGACCTACAAACGAAAGGTGTTGCATTATATGGAGGACCA ACTGTTGAAATTGTGGATGATGTGCATGCAGCTATTGATCATATAAATCTTTATGGAAGTGCACATACT GATTGCATCGTTGCAGAAGATCATGAAGCAGCTGATGTGTTCCTACGCCAAGTAGACAGTGCGGCTGTT TTTCACAATGCAAGCACAAGATTTTGTGATGGGGCACTATTCGGACTAGGTGCAGAGGTTGGAATAAGT ACAAGCAGGATTCATGCTCGAGGTCCAGTTGGAGGTTGAAGGACTGTTGACAACAAGATGGTATGAGCTG GTACTGGTGATCATTATAATGCTTAAGAAACAGTACAAATGGAGTATTATACAACTAACAATTTCATTC TGTCTCTTGGTTAATATTATGTACTTGAATGTCACTAATCACTTTTGCATGAGGAATGAAAGATTTATC ATTCATATAAAATTAATCTATATGTGCTAA